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THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

In modern democratic countries, political control is not easily
achieved through military power or propaganda. However, by the use
of deception and psychological warfare, the public, political elite and
local military forces may be deceived into supporting the policies of a
major power. Mass media is thus manipulated not by propaganda, but
by deception.

Following the stranding of a Soviet Whiskey-class submarine in 1981
on the Swedish archipelago, a series of massive submarine intrusions
took place within Swedish waters — later described as the first Soviet
military initiative against a west European state since the Berlin crisis.
After a dramatic submarine hunt in 1982, a Swedish parliamentary
commission stated that six Soviet submarines had ‘played their games’
in the Stockholm archipelago — one even in Stockholm harbour. The
Swedish government protested strongly to the Soviet Union, and rela-
tions between the two countries were icy for several years afterwards.
Today, however, the evidence for these alleged Soviet intrusions
appears to have been manipulated or simply invented. Classified doc-
uments and interviews cited in this book point to covert Western
rather than Soviet activity. This is backed up by former US Secretary
of Defense Caspar Weinberger, who stated, in a Swedish television
interview reproduced in this book, that Western ‘testing’ operations
were carried out regularly in Swedish waters, and by former British
Navy Minister Sir Keith Speed, who has confirmed the existence of
such operations. Royal Navy submarine captains have also admitted to
having carried out top-secret operations in the Swedish archipelago.

Ola Tunander’s revelations in this book makes it clear that the United
States and Britain ran a ‘secret war’ in Swedish waters to test Sweden’s
capability and will in the 1980s. Within a couple of years, the number
of Swedes perceiving the Soviet Union as a direct threat had increased
from 5-10 per cent (in 1980) to 45 per cent (in 1983). In the same
period, the number of Swedes viewing the Soviets as unfriendly
increased from 30 per cent to more than 80 per cent. This Anglo-
American ‘secret war’ was a deception operation aimed at exerting
political influence over Sweden. It was a risky enterprise, but, as the
Swedish polls show, perhaps the most successful covert operation of
the entire Cold War.
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Foreword

On 1 October 1982, after four years as chief of division at the Swedish
Defence Staff, I entered my new position as Chief of Stockholm
Coastal Defence. I took over responsibility for an ongoing wartime
forces exercise with 4,000 men in the archipelago, including Special
Forces, patrol vessels, mine troops and artillery forces. My first
meeting with my new staff was interrupted by a report of a submarine
periscope deep inside the archipelago at Musko naval base. I can-
celled the meeting and contacted the regional commander. An inten-
sive anti-submarine operation began, which went on for two weeks.
This incident influenced Swedish coastal defence activities for the rest
of the 1980s.

We had been anticipating Soviet submarines in connection with an
impressive US naval visit to Stockholm in the last days of September
1982. On earlier occasions, Soviet or Warsaw Pact submarines had fol-
lowed our Western visitors below the surface, also in our territory. We
believed the Coastal Defence exercise and our presence in the archi-
pelago would give us an advantage in our battle with intruding sub-
marines.

After a few days of submarine hunting, we were authorized to use
our heavy mines against the intruder as long as no civilians were in
danger. We detonated mines on 7 and 11 October, in both cases just
after clear indications of a passing submarine. The order was not to
sink but to stop (or damage) the submarine and force it to the surface.
After the 11 October detonation, we received indications of repair
works on a damaged submarine. Two days later, we had indications of
a submarine once again approaching the mine barrage, but despite full
control of the surface, the Commander-in-Chief ordered a ceasefire.
Two hours after the submarine had passed the mine barrage we were
once again authorized to use force.

As Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence, I mobilized considerable
resources in an attempt to force a submarine to the surface. My task
was to rebuff any intruder within my area of responsibility; the nation-

X



FOREWORD

ality of the intruding submarines was not my concern. However, like
the Submarine Defence Commission, I was convinced that the sub-
marines originated from the Warsaw Pact. Ola Tunander’s research
has provided a new basis for settling the question of the intruder’s
nationality. This is particularly evident for the above incident at the
mine barrages in October 1982. Tunander presents a credible account
for the course of events: a Western submarine was released during a
five-hour ceasefire. Tunander’s research, presented in this book, is
groundbreaking and should lead to a re-evaluation of the conclusions
from earlier analyses.

Brigadier-General Lars Hansson

Former Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence
June 2003

xi



Series Editor’s Preface

Just as the Cold War between the United States and NATO and the
Soviet Union and its Warsaw Pact allies was beginning to wind down,
a bizarre series of events took place in the Baltic. First, an old Whiskey
submarine of the Soviet Union’s Baltic fleet, allegedly carrying
nuclear-tipped torpedoes, ran aground on some rocks that were well
inside Sweden’s territorial waters. Shortly afterwards, there occurred
a series of strange events in which a number of Swedish citizens, and
some military personnel too, began to report seeing signs of mysteri-
ous submarines nosing about in Sweden’s inland waters. This sparked
off a long ‘submarine summer’ of alarms and concerns.

Around the world, commentators took up their pens to speculate
about what it could all mean. First, there was a debate about whether
there really were submarines about, or whether it was all the product
of fevered imagination and media hype. At some stages, the Swedish
submarine issue threatened almost to become another version of
Scotland’s preoccupation with the Loch Ness monster. Second, there
were those who assumed that if there were indeed submarines in
Sweden’s waters, then they must be Soviet ones. This in turn led to
much debate about what the Soviets meant by this. Was it perhaps a
coded warning to Sweden not to become too friendly to NATO in the
new strategic environment that was rapidly unfolding? Was it free-
lance political activity by some of the murkier elements of the Soviet
system over whom Mr Gorbachev had less than perfect control? Was
it, alternatively, elements in the Baltic fleet who wanted their sub-
mariners to get in some realistic practice?

There was even the quite serious suggestion that this was prepara-
tion for a Spetsnaz campaign to get people ashore to decapitate the
Swedish government and air force in the event of an East—West crisis,
in which Sweden seemed likely to be moving away from its position
of neutrality and getting too friendly with the West. Evidence for this
kind of interpretation was, of course, bolstered by the original
‘“Whiskey-on-the-rocks’ affair and by the certain fact that similar
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SERIES EDITOR’S PREFACE

events were taking place elsewhere, most obviously of course by the
submarines of the North Korean navy.

As this issue dragged on, people on all sides of the argument
became frustrated by the absence of proof one way or another and by
the miasma of truth and counter-truth that began to envelope the
whole issue. Indeed, some even accused the Swedish government and
navy of deliberately playing down their anti-submarine measures,
partly for the best of humanitarian reasons and partly because they did
not want any ‘proof’, since this could lead to a major crisis and a
wholesale re-evaluation of what non-alignment in peace and neutral-
ity in war actually meant in those confusing times. For their part, the
Soviet authorities and their Russian successors have steadfastly denied
any involvement in the whole affair, except of course for the original
incident.

Gradually, the issue died away as the Berlin Wall came down and the
Cold War ended, but with this book Ola Tunander with the aid of access
to hitherto classified sources and his association with the latest formal
and official investigation by Ambassador Ekéus has re-examined the
old evidence, looked at the new and come up with an alternative expla-
nation for Sweden’s ‘submarine summer’ which many of his readers
will find quite startling. Some will agree with his conclusions, some will
not — but all will want to know still more. Either way, with this book
the debate upon these strange events will certainly begin a new phase.

Geoffrey Till
Series Editor
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1. Scandinavia, with Sweden, Norway and Denmark, plus Finland and the Baltic
coastline of the Soviet Union, Poland, East Germany and West Germany. The
marked area around Stockholm shows the area covered by Map 2.
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Introduction

The submarine incidents in Swedish waters during the early 1980s had
an enormous impact on the Swedish mentality and perception of
threat. After a Soviet Whiskey submarine was stranded in the archi-
pelago close to the Swedish naval base of Karlskrona in October 1981,
a number of submarine intrusions took place deep inside the densely
populated Swedish archipelagos. The government ‘found proof’ of
large, coordinated submarine operations along the Swedish coasts,
and, after one of the most dramatic submarine hunts — in Hérsfjirden
in the Stockholm archipelago in 1982 — the government protested
strongly against the Soviet intrusions. The Parliamentary Submarine
Defence Commission Report stated that six submarines (including
three midgets) were believed to have ‘played their games’ among the
islands of the Stockholm archipelago — four of them in the Harsfjirden
area, close to Sweden’s Naval Base East at Musko. In addition, one
submersible was observed in the waters of central Stockholm just a few
hundred metres from the royal palace, and one midget submarine was
able to crawl on the sea floor, as if the Soviets had been coming with
‘sub-surface tanks’ to attack Sweden from below.!

In a report for the US Air Force from 1990, Gordon McCormick
writes:

Since 1980, Swedish sources indicate that an average rate of between 17
and 36 foreign operations are being conducted per year . . . For the first
time Soviet intruders began to penetrate into the heart of Sweden’s
coastal defence zones, including the harbours and the country’s major
naval bases. More often than not, these operations now involved the use
of multiple submarines, mini-submarines, and combat swimmers oper-
ating in a coordinated manner.” (italics in original)

Within a couple of years, the number of people in Sweden who per-
ceived the Soviet Union as a direct threat increased radically. In the
decade up to 1980, between 5 and 10 per cent of the population
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looked at the Soviet Union as a direct threat, while in 1983, after the
official report on the Hérsfjirden hunt had been published, more than
40 per cent perceived the Soviet Union as a direct threat. During the
same period, the percentage of people viewing the Soviet Union as
hostile increased from around 30 per cent to more than 80 per cent
(see below). Sweden changed drastically.

The military leadership reported a large number of submarine
observations in the early and mid-1980s: in 1982, there were seven
certain, 15 probable and a large number of possible observations; in
1983, there were six certain and 41 probable observations; in 1984,
there were 11 certain and 20 probable observations; and, in 1983,
there were seven certain and 33 probable observations. They stated,
beyond doubt, that tracks had been left on the sea floor by bottom-
crawling vessels and that divers had been carrying out sabotage on
sub-surface military installations.?

The submarine hunts were major media events. During a two-week
hunt in Hérsfjirden, 750 journalists from all over the world visited the
Navy Press Centre. They filmed helicopters and small Swedish attack
crafts carrying out complex operations against the intruder and drop-
ping large numbers of depth charges. The anti-submarine war entered
the living room of every Swede, and many people believed that
Sweden was already at war with the Soviets. The submarine hunt was
front-page news in US and European newspapers, and the Swedish
Commander-in-Chief, General Lennart Ljung, talked about using ‘war
methods in peace time’.* Altogether five mines were used and 47
depth charges were dropped during the submarine hunt. This was the
first time mines had been used against an enemy since the Second
World War. The mine troops and the Air Force were ready to sink the
intruding submarines, and Prime Minister Olof Palme said that the
state responsible for the intrusions had to consider that Swedish mil-
itary forces might sink a submarine in Swedish waters.’

After one mine explosion, the Swedish Navy Press Officer said: “We
are looking for something we believe is a seriously damaged subma-
rine lying helpless on the sea floor.”® Air-defence missiles were moved
up to the area. Officers told me that, for the first time, they felt that
they had been put into a battle situation. Suddenly, just two days after-
wards, the whole submarine hunt was seemingly over: the military
press centre was closed down and there were no more official com-
ments, though the government decided to appoint a parliamentary
commission to investigate the incident. A month and half later, the
newly appointed Minister of Defence, Borje Andersson, left his job
and his apartment in Stockholm. He said that he ‘felt homesick’ and
that Stockholm was too large a city for him. No further government
statements on the incident were made until half a year later, when the
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parliamentary commission presented its conclusions about six Soviet
submarines that had operated in the Stockholm archipelago.

In a study for the US Office of the Secretary of Defense, Lynn M.
Hansen writes that the Harsfjirden operation — with three midget sub-
marines and three conventional diesel submarines acting as mother-
submarines — was a ‘Spetsnaz operation’ (i.e. a Soviet special forces
operation), and he continues:

[In connection with the presentation of the Submarine Defence
Commission Report,] another special Soviet submarine action took
place in the territorial waters in the area of Sundsvall, a strategic port
and key node in the ground transportation system in the Gulf of
Bothnia. On the Norwegian side, the Soviet special operations were
taking place at virtually the same time in the Hardanger Fjord . . . [In
order to be able to move forward with conventional forces,] the Soviets
have been undertaking the special Spetsnaz operations in both Sweden
and Norway so that they can move quickly and decisively in achieving
naval supremacy in the Baltic Sea by neutralizing Swedish defenses . . .
Despite the almost comical nature of Soviet ineptness during the
“Whiskey on the Rocks’ incident and the intriguing image of mini-subs
crawling along the bottom of the Stockholm Channel within a stone’s
throw of the royal palace, there was nothing funny about any of these
activities.”

From early 1984, Swedish Defence Minister Anders Thunborg was
given daily briefings about the submarine intrusions as if there were
continual reports from the front. Swedish defence authorities seemed
to think in terms of a permanent secret war launched against the
country. The submarine hunts of the 1980s, particularly the 1982
Haérsfjirden hunt and the subsequent Karlskrona hunt in early 1984,
were traumatic events that were formative for Swedish security think-
ing and for international perceptions about Sweden. Sweden was
believed to follow the path of ‘flexible neutrality’, adapting to the
dominant power in the region. Many people saw a parallel between
Sweden’s ‘allowing’ submarines in its territorial waters in the 1980s
and Sweden’s behaviour during the Second World War, when the
Swedish government ‘allow[ed] the use of Swedish soil for the passage
of German troops on their way to Finland’.® In 1987, Milton
Leitenberg wrote for the Washington-based Center for Strategic and
International Studies:

Between 1980 and 1986 — depending on the accounting criteria used —
the Soviet Union carried out some 100 to 200 submarine incursions

within Swedish territorial waters. Many of these took place deep in
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internal waters, often in the immediate proximity of major Swedish
naval bases and within the perimeters of restricted security zones . . .
That these incursions have continued over an extended period of time
has led to suggestions that their intention may have been either primar-
ily or secondarily to exert political pressure on Sweden. The aim of such
pressure would have been to effect changes in Swedish neutrality or
foreign policies or to force Sweden to acquiesce to Soviet military
movements within its territory both in times of peace and of war . . .
The operations are the first Soviet military—political initiatives against
a Western European state since the Berlin crisis of 1960-1961.°

Still, only on two occasions — after the stranded Whiskey submarine in
October 1981 and, in April 1983, after the presentation of the parlia-
mentary report on the Harsfjirden submarine incident — did the
Swedish government point to the Soviet Union and protest against
Soviet intrusions. The Hérsfjarden incident was the only submarine
hunt during which Swedish authorities allegedly discovered evidence to
prove Soviet involvement. In 1985, after four years of continued
reported submarine intrusions, Foreign Minister Lennart Bodstrém
told the mass media that only in two cases had it been proven that these
sub-surface operations originated from the Soviet Union, and that it was
impossible to protest against an intruder that had not been identified.
The public, however, was convinced that all of the intrusions originated
from the Soviet Union and that the government was adapting to Soviet
pressure. According to journalists criticizing Bodstrém, the Foreign
Minister even seemed to express scepticism about the Harsfjirden inci-
dent and the Submarine Defence Commission Report that had already
pointed to the Soviets. Bodstrom’s statements were perceived as unac-
ceptable. A few months later, after a harsh political debate, Prime
Minister Olof Palme had to sacrifice his Foreign Minister.°

The Hérsfjirden hunt started less than two weeks after the Social
Democratic Party won a parliamentary election. The controversial
Prime Minister Olof Palme had returned to power. In the 1970s, Palme
had been an irritant to the USA. Now, in the early 1980s, he had
launched a campaign in support of the Sandinistas in Nicaragua and the
ANC (African National Congress), the MPLA (Movimento Populas da
Libertagao de Angola) and FRELIMO (Frente de Libertacao de
Mogambique) in southern Africa. This was disturbing to the Reagan
regime in the USA, as well as to some industrial and military leaders in
Sweden. Palme also supported a campaign for a Nordic Nuclear
Weapons-Free Zone and initiated a Western—Soviet dialogue on secur-
ity and disarmament — the Palme Commission — which was totally unac-
ceptable to the USA and NATO. Since the 1950s, the Swedish Prime
Minister had been a guarantee of Sweden’s close ties to the USA and of
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US access to Swedish territory in wartime.!' Now, in the 1980s, Prime
Minister Palme could seemingly no longer be trusted. For the USA, this
led to a dangerous situation. Supported by West German Social
Democrats, Olof Palme and the Palme Commission even tried to extend
a Nordic Nuclear Weapons-Free Zone to central Europe (see the final
report of June 1982),'> which became a major problem to the US secur-
ity elite. Secretary of State General Alexander Haig expressed his deep
worries. In a book on the future of conflict, the former Director of the
CIA and Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger expressed worries
about West Europeans turning their backs on the USA."3 In the same
book, William Taylor, Director of Political-Military Studies at the
Center for Strategic and International Studies, said that West Germany
was moving towards a ‘neutral’ position, and he warned Europe of pos-
sible ‘Swedenization’.'* In the USA, Olof Palme’s Sweden became a
symbol of a new European ‘neutralism’ seemingly adapting to Soviet
military strength.

However, these Olof Palme initiatives of the early and mid-1980s
were largely unsuccessful, particularly his ideas about a reorganized
security system for Europe. The submarine incidents made Palme’s
initiatives look pathetic. His global political initiatives and his
European and Nordic disarmament initiatives were no longer cred-
ible. While telling others how to solve their security problems, he
wasn’t able to defend the integrity of his own country. In practical
terms, the Swedish example became devaluated. In Sweden, the ‘sub-
marine war’ was followed by an intense conflict between Social
Democratic political leaders on the one hand and some industrial and
military leaders on the other. The ‘submarine war’ totally changed
politics in Sweden. It placed the Social Democrats on the defensive
and mobilized large parts of the population against the Soviet threat.
Conservative Party leader Ulf Adelsohn stated on TV that this was the
first time since 1809 that Swedish soldiers had confronted foreign sol-
diers on Swedish soil.'> Within a couple of years, the Swedes’ reluc-
tance to increase defence spending changed radically: while only
15-20 per cent were in favour of increased military spending in the
1970s, this figure changed to almost 50 per cent after the submarine
incidents had started (see below).

After the Hérsfjirden incident, Ulf Adelsohn claimed that the Chief
of Staff had ordered the release of a submarine.'® In 1987, Brigadier-
General Lars Hansson, Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence and the
individual responsible for the minefields during the submarine hunt in
the Stockholm archipelago, said in an interview that he had been forced
by the military leadership to let a submarine escape. He believed there
was a Soviet spy in the top leadership.'” During the submarine hunt,
the Italian news agency Ansa said that the Swedes were negotiating in

5



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

Geneva with a foreign power responsible for the intrusions, which
would explain the release of a submarine. The Social Democratic State
Secretary for Foreign Affairs, Pierre Schori, denied any such negotia-
tions, but Ansa claimed to know the positions and the names of the
Swedish negotiators.'® In 1986, Professor John Erickson, a British
scholar, Soviet specialist and adviser to the Swedish Submarine Defence
Commission, appeared on Swedish TV saying that the Swedes had
released a submarine after negotiations with the Soviets.!”

Within the military forces, naval officers turned against the Prime
Minister, and, in the autumn of 1985, a number of naval officers pub-
licly stated that they no longer had trust in him. According to these
officers, the Prime Minister no longer took the Soviet threat seriously
enough. Former army chief Lieutenant-General Nils Skold said that
this group believed that ‘Sweden, in practical terms, was at war with
the Soviet Union.”?® Ever since the Second World War, Sweden had
been divided between different elites with different loyalties. Now,
this division led to a clash, and not only in the use of words.

In the 1980s, Soviet responsibility for the massive submarine intru-
sions was evident. The stranded Whiskey submarine in 1981, the
Hérsfjirden incident in 1982 and the subsequent parliamentary com-
mission’s pointing to the Soviet Union in 1983, and the threatening
Soviet rhetoric and military build-up during these years led to worries
not only in Sweden. In 1990, Gordon McCormick from the US Rand
Corporation wrote: ‘“The submarine campaign and related Soviet oper-
ations ashore can be satisfactorily interpreted only within the context
of Soviet military interests and likely wartime goals in Scandinavia and
the Baltic area’ (italics in original).?!

The same year, Jack Anderson and Dale van Atta, writing in the
Washington Post, argued that Soviet operations in Sweden were an
argument for distrusting the intentions of Gorbachev. Referring to
CIA sources, they wrote:

Mikhail Gorbachev is actively courting Western Europe, but the rela-
tionship is not all sweetness and glasnost. Soviet mini-submarines and
combat frogmen continue to violate the waters of neutral Sweden more
than 30 times a year, making US intelligence agencies wonder what
Gorbachev is up to . . . In 1982, the Soviet naval Spetsnaz (special
forces) conducted operations near Sweden’s largest naval base at
Musks. One of the Soviet mini-subs penetrated deep enough into
Swedish waters to lay just off Stockholm . . . Another huge operation
occurred in 1984, when the Swedes recorded more than 600 detections
of foreign intruders in the waters near Karlskrona naval base. There
were conventional submarines, small diver vehicles, frogmen and mini-
subs. The Swedish army brought out grenades and machine guns to
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repel what they suspected were Soviet frogmen . . . US intelligence offi-
cials expected that the strange forays would taper off when Gorbachev
came to power in 19835, but they didn’t. The incidents have continued
at a rate of 30 or more a year, and they have become even more daring
... One has to conclude that Gorbachev is not in control of the strange
forays, or that he sanctions them in the interest of gathering more infor-
mation. The latter is the more likely.??

For the Washington Post, or rather its CIA sources, the Soviet opera-
tions in Sweden became a proof of Soviet aggressiveness even after the
fall of the Berlin Wall. Today, these large and coordinated submarine
operations along the Swedish coast, deep inside the Swedish archipel-
agos, with midget submarines and special force divers appearing
among the Swedish summer houses, have become more of a mystery.
Almost nothing has come out of the Russian military system, which has
been leaking information on many other secret operations from the
Cold War. It is now clear that the alleged evidence presented to prove
Soviet involvement in connection with the Hérsfjirden submarine
hunt was invented for political reasons. In this dramatic submarine
hunt, which was presented as the final proof of the Soviets’ extremely
provocative nature and demonstrated that all other intrusions most
likely originated from the USSR, the Swedes had nothing on the
Soviets. Rather, the evidence that has since emerged points in another
direction. These high-profile submarine operations appear as a form of
psychological warfare. They may possibly have been what William
Taylor suggested: ‘Psychological operations to induce the government
and/or population to resist Soviet intervention or psychological oper-
ations to undercut support of an undesirable government.’?

This volume presents analysis of the submarine incidents, together
with some hypotheses that are still unconfirmed but which point in the
direction of an ambitious Western deception operation. Appendix I con-
sists of a presentation of the people involved in the submarine hunt, the
documents used in this study and a number of the individuals I have
interviewed. I present a compilation of material from formerly classified
documents (war diaries, private diaries, internal reports, intelligence
briefings, and notes from senior officers and government officials) and
from interviews with officers from Sweden and from various NATO
countries directly involved in these kinds of operations. It seems that the
classified documents totally invalidate the view presented in the official
documents. However, interviews with the people involved make this
picture even more clear, especially since the most sensitive information
was most likely never put down on paper. After some debate in the
Swedish mass media (and particularly after an interview on Swedish TV
with former US Secretary of Defense Caspar Weinberger), the Swedish
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government appointed former UN inspector in Iraq and former Swedish
Ambassador to Washington, Rolf Ekéus, to investigate the issue. Ekéus
invited me as an expert to analyse some of the background for these
operations, and thus this volume is written as my own book, but early
drafts were also made as an internal report to the Ekéus Investigation.

Chapter 2 deals with the background for the submarine hunt: the
so-called Operation NOTVARP (Operation Seine Sweep). Officially,
the hunt started after a periscope had been seen in Hairsfjirden
on 1 October 1982. This, however, is not true. Secretly, an anti-
submarine operation or exercise was planned several months in
advance. This Operation NOTVARP was prepared in detail in late
September, with US naval ships, including the cruiser USS Belknap,
acting as a bait to lure Soviet submarines into a trap, but seemingly
also with a Western submarine to trigger the hunt. On 26 September,
a small submersible was observed in the waters of central Stockholm
‘within a stone’s throw of the royal palace’ and just a few metres from
the US naval ships. This, most likely US, submersible was probably the
same vessel that, three days later on 29 September, was seen close to
the Stockholm harbour a few kilometres further out. Swedish Navy
forces were now preparing for an anti-submarine exercise that was
due to start early in the morning the following day and were waiting
at a narrow passage outside Stockholm. Some hours later a small sub-
marine or submersible turned up in the pre-planned area. Sweden did
not have such midget craft at the time, and the Soviets would never
have carried out an exercise in collaboration with the Swedes. Thus,
it seems more likely that this was a US submersible brought to
Stockholm by the US naval ships a couple of days earlier. A Swedish
boarding detail of 15 naval special force troops — supposed to take
control of the submarine — was fetched by helicopter and brought to
the area even before the first confirmed observation of a submarine
took place. In the naval base war diary, a submarine was described as
‘not Warsaw Pact’. The naval base war diary states: ‘not to be reported
to the Commander of the Eastern Military District and not to be
reported to the Commander-in-Chief’.

Chapter 3 consists of a ‘war diary’ for the Harsfjirden anti-
submarine warfare operation. The following passage summarizes
what can be concluded from an examination of the evidence. On
1 October, two conscripts observed a periscope at close range for
more than a minute. The submarine seemingly announced its presence
deep inside the restricted area close to the naval base of Muské as if
it wanted to trigger a submarine hunt. Chief of Staff Bror Stefenson
ordered the information division to prepare for a press centre with up
to 500 journalists. During the following days, a number of observa-
tions were made of periscopes, submarine sails and submarines on the
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surface, almost as if the intruder wanted to play with the Swedes.
During the next two weeks, possibly six foreign submarines (includ-
ing three midgets or small submersibles) seem to have operated in the
Stockholm archipelago. Four of these operated deep inside the
Swedish waters close to the naval base of Muské. Two — possibly three
— submarines were damaged, one perhaps seriously. All of these sub-
marines appear to have originated from a NATO country. On
5 October, a small submarine (about 40 metres) and a small bottom-
crawling submersible may both have been lightly hit by depth charges.
On 7 October, a submarine just outside the submarine net may have
been hit by six depth charges. It was saved by a ceasefire in the after-
noon. On 11 October, a submarine was damaged, perhaps seriously,
by a mine explosion further out at Milsten. During some dramatic
hours, it was repaired on the sea floor. Evidence pointed to a Western,
possibly US, submarine. The sound signature of the propeller and
repair works were tape-recorded. Both tape recordings have since
been edited, and other significant information has been blotted out.
During this anti-submarine warfare operation, Chief of Staff Vice-
Admiral Bror Stefenson gave several orders that in practical terms
released two Western submarines. The second submarine was let out
at Milsten during a five-hour ceasefire on the night of 13—-14 October.
A drop of 16 depth charges was stopped seconds before the launch.
This submarine had a damaged propeller, and the sound signature was
also tape-recorded on this occasion. However, as early as the morning,
it had been decided that this passage had not taken place. At lunch,
the Minister of Defence was informed that the mine barrage was indi-
cating wrongly. The Commander-in-Chief was probably never
informed about any of the more sensitive details.

In Chapter 4, I present some reflections about the hunt. Most of the
organizers of the secret anti-submarine warfare operation probably
believed it was a trap for Soviet submarines, and almost everybody
involved believed they were hunting Soviet submarines. However, all
intelligence briefings of the time speak of low levels of Soviet activity
in the Baltic Sea area, and nothing points to any Soviet interest in
the damaged submarines in the Stockholm archipelago. In addition,
investigation of the sea floor revealed caterpillar tracks from a bottom-
crawling vessel believed to originate from an unknown Soviet midget
submarine. However, while such submersibles did exist in the West, a
Soviet version was not confirmed. The tape-recorded propeller sound
was believed to be evidence of a Soviet submarine. However, when
these Swedish crown jewels — the recordings — were investigated more
closely, they had been polished down to nothing. All important infor-
mation had been removed from the tapes. Already shortly after the
Hiérsfjarden incident, Norwegian Military Intelligence, on analysing
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the tape, found that the submarine recorded was not a Soviet one, con-
ventional or nuclear. Indeed, they believed it was a Western submarine.
Later, the Americans confiscated the Norwegian copy of the tape. One
hour after the mine explosion, the submarine sent up a yellow/green dye
just 150 metres from the place of the explosion, indicating that it was a
US submarine or at least under US command. Though kept very secret,
the operation seems to have been a Western — US/UK — operation to test
Swedish capability and will and to deceive the Swedish government,
military officers and public in order to convince them about the reality
of the Soviet threat. On the Swedish side, the operation may have been
run by the Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson, and perhaps by
the Chief of the Naval Base Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard, under
the supervision of the Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg.
Afterwards, Western involvement was covered up by Stefenson and by
his and Rudberg’s private ‘chief of intelligence’, Commander Emil
Svensson, who wrote an extensive secret report prepared for the mili-
tary leadership, the parliamentary commission and the government.
However, almost all sensitive information had been distorted or
removed. The Commander-in-Chief and the Commander of the
Eastern Military District were probably never informed about the most
secret aspects of the operation. The former was believed to have too
close ties to the government, and he was not trusted to run the show.
Henry Kissinger was impressed by the Swedish government’s show of
force and its release of a submarine without causing loss of face to the
responsible party. However, the Swedish government was seemingly
not informed at all. Afterwards, Stefenson became Chief of Staff to King
Karl Gustaf and a Swedish ‘four-star admiral’; Rudberg was already the
secret Swedish top-liaison to NATO and Commander-in-Chief in exile
in the event of Sweden being occupied; and Svensson soon was
appointed military assistant to Conservative Prime Minister Carl Bildt.

In Chapter 5, I present the Swedish Parliamentary Submarine
Defence Commission Report, which concluded that six Soviet subma-
rines had been operating in Swedish waters. This led to a strong
Swedish protest against the Soviet Union. However, immediately after
the submarine hunt, at a military briefing for Prime Minister Palme,
Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson explained the submarine activ-
ity as ‘a testing of Swedish capability and will’, in line with US state-
ments about Western submarine activity. Later, the Submarine
Defence Commission and its military expert, Vice-Admiral Stefenson,
presented a very different explanation: Soviet operative planning for
wartime contingencies. Publicly, there was no doubt about the Soviet
responsibility. However, nobody in the Swedish government was con-
vinced by the evidence presented by the Swedish Defence Staff. ‘But
what could we do?’ Defence Minister Anders Thunborg said. “We
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could not dive ourselves. We had to trust the military officers respon-
sible for this.”?* In the Swedish government note to the Soviet Union
in autumn 1983, Swedish Defence Staff presented a number of
‘proofs’ of Soviet responsibility, including statements about signal
intelligence and tape-recorded propeller sounds. In the early 1990s,
Prime Minister Carl Bildt tried to convince Moscow about Soviet
responsibility for the intrusions by letting his military adviser Emil
Svensson hand over one of the above-mentioned tape recordings,
which suggests that he had not been informed about the Norwegian
analysis pointing to a Western submarine. Svensson handed over a
sequence of submarine sounds, but nobody seemed to know when
they had been recorded on the tape. He also gave Moscow a tape
recording of a suspected propeller sound from 1992. This latter
sound, however, was later believed to originate from a swimming
mink, and, when this was revealed, the Social Democratic Minister of
Defence at the time, Thage G. Peterson, appointed a new Submarine
Commission. This 1995 Submarine Commission found out that all
evidence for Soviet intrusions presented by the Defence Staff and the
1983 Commission had been manipulated or just invented. Despite the
fact that the Swedish Signal Intelligence had nothing on the Soviets,
the Defence Staff (under Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson) insisted that
the contrary was the case.?® This in turn, according to former Prime
Minister Ingvar Carlsson, had been an important argument for the
strong Swedish government protest against the Soviet Union in
1983.2¢ Thage G. Peterson asked himself why the USA was never
interested in Sweden’s submarine problem, and he quotes Secretary of
Defense William Perry’s comment on the submarine intrusions: ‘If
there is a submarine, it doesn’t have to be Russian.’

In Chapter 6, I discuss possible Soviet, West German, British,
French, US and even Italian submarine operations in Swedish waters.
The Soviets are believed by many to have operated in Swedish coastal
waters both for training operations and for preparations for wartime
contingencies. But many of the submarine operations in the 1980s
were demonstrative. They showed periscopes, sails and surfaced sub-
marines in densely populated areas. This fits neither with training oper-
ations nor with war preparations. Soviet lack of interest in the
damaged submarines in the Stockholm archipelago also seems to rule
out Soviet involvement. When a Soviet Whiskey-class submarine
became stranded in southern Sweden in 1981, the Soviet Navy made
a powerful demonstration of force. The following year, during the
Hiérsfjiarden incident, there was nothing of that. This led to the hypoth-
esis of possible West German involvement. In the event of war, the
West Germans would have difficulty operating their submarines in the
Baltic Sea without using Swedish coastal waters. The West Germans,
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however, were believed to use their numerous port visits to small ports
along the Swedish coast primarily to carry out such training for
wartime contingencies. Even though I am in no way excluding Soviet
or West German intrusions, such activity cannot explain the very high-
profile operations in Sweden in the 1980s. Submarines on the surface
deep inside the Swedish archipelagos cannot be explained as war prep-
arations, but rather as a kind of psychological warfare and testing of
Sweden’s defences. Now, several years later, British Royal Navy sub-
marine captains have admitted that they carried out top-secret opera-
tions in Swedish waters, that they entered the Baltic Sea submerged
through the Danish Straits (which is confirmed by high-ranking Danish
officers) with submarines rebuilt for landing of special forces, and that
approval was granted at a ministerial level for every single operation.
The Prime Minister’s Office was briefed regularly about the risks, and
the operations along the Swedish coast were perceived as even more
secret than operations in Soviet waters. Former British Navy Minister
Sir Keith Speed and former Chief of Defence Intelligence Sir John
Walker confirmed the existence of these operations. Speed spoke about
‘penetration dive exercises’ deep within Swedish waters. He was speak-
ing in terms of trying to get in and surface almost in the Stockholm
harbour. The point was: ‘How far could we get without you being
aware of it?’?” Walker said that they tested Swedish defences and they
were allowed ‘a certain amount of intrusions within a given period’.
In a 15-minute interview, former US Secretary of Defense Caspar
Weinberger stated that these operations were carried out ‘regularly’ in
Swedish waters. ‘Besides from that one intrusion of the Whiskey-class
submarine, there were no violations, no capabilities of the Soviets,” said
Weinberger; but Soviet submarines, he continued, ‘can get in where
they are not wanted, and that is exactly why we made this defensive
testing’.?’ According to high-ranking officers, US special forces used
Soviet uniforms, Soviet weapons and communication systems, and
even a Soviet Whiskey-class submarine to carry out a successful mas-
querade. In these operations, US Navy SEALs could not be identified
as US forces and, on the Swedish side, only a couple of informal con-
tacts loyal to the USA were informed. Einar Ansteensen, the éminence
grise of the Norwegian Foreign Ministry, told me that a US submarine
was damaged in Harsfjirden. It was a sad story, he said. Senior US offi-
cials have confirmed this incident, and a high-ranking CIA officer
described it as ‘something of an underwater U-2’. The operations seem
to have been run by a CIA-DIA liaison office. They were political oper-
ations: primarily psychological warfare operations aimed at changing
Swedish public opinion.

Chapter 7 discusses the US and British secret war against Sweden
in the 1980s. Both the USA and the UK seem to have run secret sub-
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marine operations in Swedish waters in order to train their own
forces, to train Swedish coastal defences and to test Swedish capabil-
ity and will to resist a Soviet attack. The Swedish forces became
much more alert and much less a ‘nine-to-five military defence’.
Primarily, however, these US/UK secret operations changed public
opinion in Sweden and made Swedish officers and the general public
more aware of the Soviet threat. As with the events during the inten-
sified US-Soviet competition of the 1950s, when ghostlike US mili-
tary aircraft over Sweden created a storm of Swedish reactions
against the ‘Soviet’ intruders, ghostlike US/UK submarines in the
1980s totally manipulated public opinion, and government and mil-
itary forces in Sweden and made it difficult for the Swedish govern-
ment to maintain an independent policy. In the first minute of a war,
US special forces masquerading as attacking Soviet Spetsnaz forces
would make the Swedes turn to the Americans and let US aircraft
strike the Central Front and the Soviet heartland from Swedish air-
bases. This secret US/UK submarine war should primarily be under-
stood as a deception operation to control Sweden politically and to
render impotent the anti-US policies of Swedish Prime Minister Olof
Palme. Palme’s disarmament initiative and his vision about common
security and a Nuclear Weapons-Free Zone received little support
and proved unrealistic because he was unable to defend himself
against ‘Soviet aggression’. The Swedish Navy’s bombing of ‘Soviet’
submarines in its internal waters also became the background for the
political transformation of Europe in the 1980s. In democratic coun-
tries, political control is not easily attained by traditional forms of
warfare, not even by the use of traditional propaganda methods.
However, through deception and psychological warfare, the public,
the political elite and local military forces may be deceived into sup-
porting the politics of a major power. By letting special forces mas-
querade as ‘the other side’ while attacking a target force or a target
country, one may be able to create ‘real experiences’ that will influ-
ence the emotions, objective reasoning and behaviour of that
country. It is possible to manipulate the mass media not by propa-
ganda but by deception, and in the 1980s even the most critical jour-
nalists and academic scholars were deceived by the masquerade. By
masquerading as the perceived enemy, US special forces have been
able to manipulate public opinion in order to change the behaviour
of governments. This policy option may be the most important alter-
native to the use of force in democratic countries. The US Joint
Doctrine for Special Operations states that one should create ‘indi-
cators’, messages tailored to a selective foreign audience ‘to influence
the emotions, motives, objective reasoning, and ultimately the beha-

viour of foreign governments’.?’
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In this sense, the operations in Swedish waters, and not least the
Hérsfjirden operation, may have been the most successful covert
psychological operation of the Cold War. However, the Harsfjarden
operation was also an extremely risky enterprise. If one particular
lieutenant-colonel, Sven-Olof Kviman, had had live shells available
when a submarine surfaced on 4 October (which he very nearly did
have), if the same local commander had chosen to interpret a
Commander-in-Chief order about when to give fire with the mines a
little bit differently on 11 October (which a less cautious commander
might have done) and if the same commander had decided not to
follow a ceasefire order on 13 October (which his immediate superior
considered) while a submarine passed out over the mines, two (pos-
sibly three) US submarines might have been sunk in the Stockholm
archipelago within a period of a couple of days, which would have
been more than in any other military conflict since the Second World
War. We may have to thank Sweden’s Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral
Bror Stefenson, for preventing such a catastrophe. It seems that CIA
Director William Casey was playing for high stakes.
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The Background: Operation NOTVARP

The submarine hunt in Harsfjirden, close to Muské Naval Base,
started on 1 October 1982. Less than two weeks earlier, on
19 September, the Social Democratic Party had won the parliamentary
elections. The new government was due to replace the previous
Centre and Liberal Party government on 8 October. Whereas Prime
Minister Filldin’s government was on its way out, the new govern-
ment of Olof Palme had not yet been established. Despite rumours in
the mass media about which ministers Olof Palme was going to
appoint, the new government did not yet exist.

This change in political leadership was supplemented by a major
reshuffling of positions among the military personnel. On 1 October,
the Chief of Staff, the Commander of the Eastern Military District
and the Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence were all new appoint-
ments. The same was the case with the Chiefs of Operations for the
Defence Staff, the Eastern Military District and Naval Base East. Most
of Sweden’s military chiefs responsible for defence against a foreign
coastal operation in eastern Sweden were replaced on that very day.
Thus, the operations were initiated on a day when Sweden was most
vulnerable to an enemy attack, as if somebody wanted to demonstrate
this vulnerability to the Swedes.

Already in spring and summer 1982, a number of submarine inci-
dents had occurred within Swedish waters. There was clear evidence
of submarine activities and several indications of midget submarines
operating deep inside the Swedish archipelagos, though the intruders
had disappeared by the time Swedish naval forces arrived on the scene.
There was a feeling within the Swedish Navy that they always arrived
too late. Of course, the Navy could not be everywhere. On the other
hand, naval commanders wanted to put an end to these activities and
looked for alternative strategies. They wanted to show that the Soviet
Union could not do as it pleased in Swedish waters. Chief of the Naval
Analysis Group Commander Emil Svensson came up with the idea of
creating a trap. The only chance of success, he believed, would be if
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the Swedish Navy was able to concentrate its anti-submarine forces in
a certain area, where it was believed the Soviet submarines would turn
up and be lured into a trap. According to Christer Larsson’s interview
with Commander Svensson and Commander Anders Hammar, former
Chief of the First Submarine Division, a preliminary plan was made
and the go-ahead was given by Chief of Staff Bengt Schuback, Chief of
the Coastal Fleet Bror Stefenson, Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence
Brigadier-General Sven-Ake Adler and Chief of First Helicopter
Division at Berga Commander Eric Hagstrom as early as July or
August 1982. Nothing was written down on paper, and everything was
kept extremely secret.! Intensive preparations for this exercise,
Operation NOTVARP (Operation Seine Sweep), were made in
September. The Chief of the Naval Base, Rear-Admiral Christer
Kierkegaard, gave a Naval Staff briefing to about ten commanders
involved (including Brigadier-General Adler and his successor,
Brigadier-General Lars Hansson) a few days before the operation was
to start. Of these central figures, Kierkegaard and Adler are dead, but,
according to Hagstrom, a conversation with Schuback, Stefenson and
Adler took place shortly before Operation NOTVARP started. They
discussed, among other things, measures against midget submarines
and the experience of operations in Swedish waters earlier the same
year. Hagstrom, Adler and primarily Stefenson (as Chief of the Coastal
Fleet) assigned forces for the operation. Admiral Schuback said that he
did not remember a specific meeting, but the operation ‘was run by
Chief of the Coastal Fleet [Rear-Admiral Bror Stefenson]’, he said. The
naval base war diary states that Admiral Stefenson, as the only high-
ranking officer, was briefed in the afternoon of 30 September.? In
2000, when Commander Lars-Erik Hoff, former Chief of Staff at the
naval base, started checking what could be declassified about
Operation NOTVARP, he turned to retired Admiral Bror Stefenson,
who said that everything was still very secret. Stefenson seems to have
been the high-ranking officer ‘running the operation’. However,
according to Stefenson’s testimony for the Ekéus Investigation, he was
never informed until afterwards.?

Emil Svensson’s idea was to profit from the US port visit to
Stockholm in late September. The US Navy ships would be used as bait
to attract Soviet submarines. Kanholmsfjirden (or rather the sailing
routes into Stockholm further north) would be sealed off with subma-
rine nets and mine barrages in an attempt to ‘deny the submarines the
possibility of escape’. The Coastal Fleet mobilized several vessels with
depth charges and passive and active sonar. The First Helicopter
Division at Berga was put on alert. Coastal Defence personnel acti-
vated the magnetic sensors of the mine barrages. However, personnel
were not informed about the background for the operation.* From
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early September, sophisticated listening devices, able to identify sub-
marines, were set up. A boarding detail was mobilized to take care of
the submarine. According to Svensson and Hammar, all this was set up
as a secret trap for Soviet submarines.® This general idea has been con-
firmed to me by Deputy Chief of Defence Staff Intelligence
Commander Bj6érn Eklind and by the local Coastal Defence Comman-
der (Boarding Detail), then Colonel Lars-G. Persson. According to
Lars-G. Persson and Commander Bengt Gabrielsson, this was a real
anti-submarine warfare operation, but it was also planned as a secret
anti-submarine warfare exercise for the Swedish Navy.®

In early to mid-September, NATO had carried out a naval exercise,
NORTHERN WEDDING, as training in landing operations in
Denmark and Norway. On 17 September, this exercise was succeeded
by an exercise in the Baltic Sea, BOLD GUARD. On 25 September,
when this exercise was finished, some of the US vessels went on a port
visit to Stockholm, while others, a cruiser and a frigate, went to
Helsinki. The US cruiser USS Belknap, the frigate USS Elmer
Montgomery and the US Navy depot ship USS Monongabela stayed in
Stockholm from 25 to 27 September. After lunch on 27 September,”
they left for another naval exercise in the Baltic Sea, US BALTOPS,
which ended on 2 October. The political elite was primarily occupied
by the change of government. Military matters did not have first pri-
ority. To the military elite, however, the US port visit was an impor-
tant event. It brought a lot of people to the ships. It was the most
impressive port visit for years, and, very secretly, the US vessels served
as a bait to attract Soviet submarines for Operation NOTVARP. This
is at least how it is described by two of the planners of the operation,
Commander Svensson and Commander Hammar.?

However, Operation NOTVARP did not start until the early hours
of 30 September, while already at 14.00 on 28 September the US ships
were at a position southeast of Gotland,’ not far from the Soviet Baltic
coast. The idea of using the US ships as a bait does not fit with the actual
timetable. The trap was set up several days after the bait had left the
area. Furthermore, the early observations do not fit with Soviet subma-
rines. According to a couple travelling on a small ferry boat at 14.00 on
26 September, they saw a small silver-grey periscope in the waters at
Kastellholmen in central Stockholm only a few metres from US cruiser
Belknap and frigate Elmer Montgomery and not more than a few
hundred metres from the royal palace. They reported that the periscope
was 35-40 centimetres high and 10-15 centimetres in diameter.
Indeed, several people saw this periscope. It turned around and dis-
played its aperture, and a detailed drawing of the periscope was made
by the couple on the ferry boat.!® This incident is not mentioned in
General Lennart Ljung’s diary, and it may not have been reported to him
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5. Submarine indications in the Stockholm area 26-30 September.
Observations of periscopes and a submarine sail as well as magnetic indications in
mine barrages in the Stockholm area 26-30 September. The periscope seen on
26 September was close to the US ships in the very centre of Stockholm, a few
hundred metres from the Royal Castle.
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because the small submarine might have been part of a routine security
arrangement for the US ships: there is a long tradition of sabotage in
foreign harbours,'! and US ships would routinely have a sub-surface
presence — usually in the form of divers — to protect the ships from sab-
otage. The periscope seen close to the ships was most likely not that of
a Soviet submarine, and, half a year later when the issue was brought up
by the Submarine Defence Commission, General Ljung also indicated
that there was a link to the US ships (see below).!? The small submer-
sible might have been released from the US tanker Monongahela, which
could easily have been adapted for such a purpose.

In the afternoon of the following day, the US ships left Stockholm.
On 28 September, they participated in the naval exercise in the Baltic
Sea far away from Stockholm. However, at 13.10 on 29 September, a
small submarine sail was seen at Liding in the Stockholm harbour,!? a
couple of kilometres further out from where the first observation had
taken place. The observer saw bubbles, the water was seemingly boiling,
and then, for ten seconds, something dark grey, with an antenna — a
small submarine sail, 1 metre high and 1.5 metres wide — before it dis-
appeared.'* Most likely, the ‘small submersible patrolling the US ships’
had been left on its own in order to exercise its way out from Stockholm
in the area already pre-planned for Operation NOTVARP This
occurred on the day before that operation started. Preparations were
already more or less finalized. From 09.35 on 28 September, Swedish
submarines were not allowed to operate submerged west of a line fol-
lowing the outer archipelago. West of this line, the order was ‘one
minute between blank ammunition and live ammunition’.'> From the
following day, Swedish forces were deployed along the sailing routes to
Stockholm harbour and all the way out to Kanholmsfjirden. The naval
base war diary contains the following entry:

18.05 . . . Tomorrow morning, exercise will take place in interesting
area . . . Highest alert within the framework of NOTVARP
Concentration of force to the northern area . . . At 20.44, telephone

conversation with CSjoop [Commander Bengt Gabrielsson, Chief of
Naval Operations, Eastern Military District], who informs about
MBQO’s [Commander, Eastern Military District, Lieutenant-General
Gunnar Eklund] order to CSK [Brigadier-General Sven-Ake Adler] via
CKAT1 [Colonel L.-G. Persson] about reconnaissance at Oxdjupet will
start 22.00 as well as deployment of a patrol vessel.'

At 22.00, forces for the mine barrages were deployed at the narrow
channel at Oxdjupet, Vaxholm, outside Stockholm harbour. They
were waiting for magnetic indications from a submarine. ‘The subma-
rine was expected,” wrote Colonel Lars-G. Persson, Chief of the
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Coastal Defence Regiment KA1, in his diary,'” though this does not
mean that he or any of the above-mentioned commanders knew why
it was expected.

At 01.00 on 30 September, a radar echo was followed for a ‘long
time’ by a police boat at Liding6, '8 close to the spot where a small ‘sub-
marine tower’ had been observed 12 hours earlier. Colonel Persson
and others believed that this was a real anti-submarine warfare oper-
ation, and Persson was ordered to deploy forces for the mine barrages.
A boarding detail — a special force to seize the submarine — was already
mobilized and was fetched by helicopter at 01.30. The decision would
have been taken just an hour earlier but before the first confirmed
observation at 01.00. Patrol boats and additional officers and reserves
were also deployed.!” ‘At 01.12, from Night Officer at the Defence
Staff: order one helicopter with depth charges start immediately . . .
Helicopter 1II starts in 15 minutes . . . At 02.55, CKA1 [Colonel
Persson]: one patrol vessel with depth charges at 15 minutes’ readi-
ness.” By early morning on 30 September, all forces involved in
Operation NOTVARP had been deployed.?°

Around 02.00, Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bengt Schuback called
Commander-in-Chief General Lennart Ljung. There had been two dif-
ferent reports of a small submarine on the surface at Lidingd, close to
Stockholm harbour.?! Admiral Schuback told me that it was a police
boat that observed the submarine. There was also a civilian observa-
tion and a radar indication registered by the police boat. It is most
likely the same submarine that provoked a magnetic indication in
Oxdjupet, further out.

At 05.05, telephone call from CSjsop Milo O [Commander
Gabrielsson]: magnetic indication [in the mine barrages]. We start heli-
copter. At 05.07, highest alert. [The Naval Analysis Group Report wrote
that the object was going out from Stockholm.]?2 At 05.40, COrIBO
[Chief of Naval Base East] order [to fast attack craft Mysing]: go imme-
diately to Oxdjupet . . . [One helicopter] in the area for one hour.
Conversation between E[mil] Svensson — M[auritz] Carlsson [Chief of
Intelligence Naval Base East]: ‘a possible submarine in Oxdjupet.
Proposal: maximum force now’. At 06.30, Conversation with CKA1
[Colonel Persson] about the situation. At 07.15, the helicopter Y71: no
contact . . . At 08.05, conversation with CSjéop [Commander
Gabrielsson] about proposal to deploy [more] forces for visual recon-
naissance in the archipelago (45 places) and for activating the mine bar-
rages. Telephone from H. Neckman [Deputy Chief, First Helicopter
Division]: Helicopter 6 is flying in the area from Oxdjupet and further
out 09.00-11.00. At 08.25, conversation with Commander [Emil]
Svensson about more ‘eyes’ . . . At 08.40, conversation with crew for
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[reconnaissance aircraft] GYP: starts 10.30 to cover the [sailing routes]
Furusundsleden, Kanholmen, Dalardleden as well as the entrances to the
Stockholm archipelago . . . At 10.08, report from [Chief of Naval
Intelligence, Lieutenant-Colonel] R[olf] Malm (police boat): radar echo
at Liding6 at 01.00. May fit with later indications . . . At 10.40, called
CSjoop [Commander Bengt Gabrielsson] and proposed contact between
him and Commander Svensson before the final starting up with pickets.
At 11.40, [the helicopters] Y69 and Y71 on 10 min alert. One helicop-
ter 6 starts 13.00 and covers the sailing routes from Oxdjupet and
further out up to 15.00 . . . At 12.18, received telegram from the
Commander of the Eastern Military District [Lieutenant-General
Eklund]: ‘Reconnaissance against submarine’ . . . At 14.08, the Chief of
KA1 [Colonel L.-G. Persson] reports about a new indication. Order to
Chief of First Helicopter Division: ‘Submarine hunt with sonar in
Trilhavet’ [outside Oxdjupet]. Start Y71. Y69 on 10 min alert’.?}

In the evening of 29 September, it was said that an ‘exercise’ would
take place the next morning. At 22.00, personnel were deployed at the
mine barrage at Oxdjupet (Vaxholm) to wait for the submarine. Forces
were deployed, and others were put on high alert even before the first
confirmed observation of a submarine. About 01.00, there were indi-
cations further in from Stockholm harbour — probably from the same
‘small US submersible’ that had been left behind by the US ships. A
police boat had followed a radar echo ‘for a long time’.>* At 05.00, a
submarine may have passed the mine barrage at Oxdjupet, and the
submarine hunt — with helicopters, patrol boats and a fast attack craft
— started in the sailing routes out from Oxdjupet. At 14.00, there was
supposedly a new indication in the mine barrage at Oxdjupet. A heli-
copter carried out anti-submarine operations with sonar similar to the
operations of nine hours earlier. In the evening, there were indications
from Kanholmsfjirden, further out.

It is always very difficult to say anything for sure about all these
technical indications and visual sightings, but one or possibly two small
US submersibles seem to have exercised an escape operation while
Swedish anti-submarine forces exercised a submarine hunt. It is very
unlikely that Swedish military authorities would have been willing to
use force against a Swedish submarine. Furthermore, from 28
September, Swedish submarines were not allowed to operate sub-
merged in the archipelago. On the other hand, a Warsaw Pact subma-
rine would never have been used in an exercise, and it is unlikely that
the presence of such a submarine would have been known in advance.
All the preparations on 28-29 September indicate that somebody in
the Swedish military leadership knew that one or two foreign subma-
rines were going to exercise their way out from Stockholm. There are
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several reports of a submarine in Stockholm harbour on its way out.
Thus, the submarine(s), or small submersible(s), seem to have been
dumped by the US ships in Stockholm harbour and then exercised
its/their way out. This hypothesis is supported by the above-mentioned
statement of General Ljung, in which he is worried about a link
between the submarine and the US naval ships visiting Stockholm.

Alongside the indications from Stockholm harbour and further
out, there were further indications of submarine activity from
Sandhamn and from the area outside the Stockholm archipelago. On
29 September, the naval base war diary records two possible subma-
rines — one of them close to Korsé (at Sandhamn) in the outer archi-
pelago and one further out (perhaps outside Swedish territorial
waters). The Naval Analysis Group Report refers to a visual sighting
at 14.10 of waves and a black shadow at Korso. At 22.25, the fast
attack craft Mode reported signals®® possibly indicating a Soviet sub-
marine radar (‘Smoop Plate’) outside the Swedish archipelago (see
below). The naval base war diary states:

[At 14.40 on 29 September, order: two helicopters for submarine hunt
east Kors6. The submarine further out] may try to attract attention
[from anti-submarine warfare forces, so the first one would be able to
act more freely]. Decision: a helicopter for submarine hunt to the Korso
area between 15.00 and 18.00 . . . In the evening: reconnaissance —
radar, visual and sonar — in the area. One helicopter on 5§ minutes’ alert
at Berga. Another helicopter on 30 minutes’ alert . . .

At 12.35 [on 30 September], Mode reports from DQ 4317, bearing
060 degrees: radar indication, ‘Snoop Plate’ [possibly Warsaw Pact sub-
marine radar] at 12.20. At 13.18 . . . GYP reports oil patch at [the
island] Svenska Bjorn [from the same bearing outside the Stockholm
archipelago]. At 12.00 new thin oil. At 13.15, the oil is gone.
Conversation with Commander Svensson: ‘typically deceptive behavi-
our. Perhaps active support has been given to the inner submarine
[Kors6-Sandhamn] that has difficulties’. . . At 17.00, Rear-Admiral Bror
Stefenson is briefed by B. [Lieutenant-Commander Bjérn] Ljungren. At
17.40, received telegram from the Commander of the Eastern Military
District [Lieutenant-General Eklund]: ‘Guidelines’. Answer [from
Naval Base]: “We will not change our instructions’. [At 19.35, Mode
from position DQ 4317 (same position as 12.20) reports West German
submarine radar bearing 034 degrees. Visual and radar reconnaissance.
No ship. At 20.05, new report from Mode: West German submarine
radar (from the same position). Visual and radar reconnaissance. No
ship.]?® At 20.12, signal reconnaissance contact. Asked for classifica-
tion. [From Mode:] . . . Cannot be classified. Not Warsaw Pact . . . At
21.26, from Mode: most likely West German submarine. Has been in
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contact with SC [SCOrIBO Commander Lars-Erik Hoff, Chief of Staff,
Naval Base East]. Should not be reported in the organization ‘yet’. Been
in contact with Emil [Svensson]: Possible West German submarine at
‘Kanan’ [Kanholmsfjiarden close to Korsé and Sandhamn]. It will not
interfere with NOTVARP. Has to be investigated within the framework
of VHT [verksambhet (‘activity’), probably referring to NOTVARP]. Not
to be reported to the District Commander [Commander of the Eastern
Military District] nor to the Commander-in-Chief. Decision: Y69 will
carry out submarine hunt in Kanholmsfjirden with start from south —

radio silence. Emil Svensson will participate in a planning meeting at
13.00.%7

There was one indication of a possible Warsaw Pact submarine radar
late at night on 29 September and one at lunchtime on 30 September.
An oil patch was observed. No more contacts were made. Both of
these radars were later described as possibly being outside Swedish
territorial waters, or at least outside the Swedish archipelago. In the
evening of 30 September, two ‘submarine radar’ were identified as
belonging to a West German submarine. One is described as possibly
being outside Swedish territorial waters.?® According to the naval base
war diary, one submarine radar was identified as being ‘not Warsaw
Pact’: in other words, a Western submarine. According to the 1995
Submarine Commission Report, the observation of possible West
German submarine radar may have originated from Swedish territo-
rial waters. However, it may have been confused with the radar of a
civilian vessel,?’ even though the fast attack craft Mode denies possible
confusion with any ship: ‘No surface vessel was observed visually or
on radar.”® Commander Bj6érn Eklind, Deputy Chief of Defence Staff
Intelligence, told me that a radar was identified as a West German
‘submarine radar’, but it may have been confused with a civilian
Furuno radar. Naval signal intelligence instruments at the time were
not able to make this distinction. Furthermore, it is possible to
manipulate a radar so that it will give the characteristics of the other
side’s equipment. He had once himself modified his radar to show the
characteristics of a Warsaw Pact radar while proceeding along the
Lithuanian and Latvian coasts (see below). There was no confirmed
radar observation of either a NATO or a Warsaw Pact submarine, as
indicated by the war diary, he said. Commander Eklind made military
briefings on signal intelligence for the Parliamentary Submarine
Defence Commission in the winter of 1982-83.

The naval base reaction, however, is interesting: firstly, the alleged
non-Warsaw Pact submarine did ‘not interfere with’ the operation;
secondly, the incident was not to be reported to the Commander-in-
Chief and the Commander of the Eastern Military District. The
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Commander-in-Chief was informed about the reported submarine at
Liding6 in the middle of the night, but in the case of the reported
Western submarine he was explicitly not to be informed. Chief of
Naval Operations at the Eastern Military District, Commander Bengt
Gabrielsson, said that he had not heard about it, but added that there
was much the naval base never informed them about. Commander
Lars-Erik Hoff, Chief of Staff at the naval base, says that there was
never a clear indication in Kanholmsfjirden, and that it was simply
natural not to report this incident to higher commands.>! However,
there have been hundreds of more or less clear indications of subma-
rine activity and in no other case was it written ‘not Warsaw Pact’ and
‘not to be reported to the Commander-in-Chief’. Furthermore, Hoff
could not answer why an alleged Western submarine did ‘not inter-
fere’ with NOTVARP, because the NOTVARP operation is still con-
sidered top secret. He said that NOTVARP referred to the nets north
of Kanholmsfjirden and argued that the helicopter started from the
south to make the submarine go north into the net.3?

The Submarine Defence Commission (1983) argued that the
Sandhamn-Korso submarine was most likely the mother-sub that
received the small submarine that passed out from Stockholm.?3 This
is possible, and there were supposedly indications of a docking oper-
ation in Kanholmsfjirden a couple of days later.>* However, in that
case it is not very likely that any of these submarines were from the
Soviet Union, which was the conclusion made by the Submarine
Defence Commission. The report from the Commission did not
discuss Operation NOTVARP, because, according to its secretary
Michael Sahlin, they did not want to reveal a concept that the Navy
might use on later occasions.?

Chief of KA1, Colonel Lars-G. Persson, wrote in his diary: “The sub-
marine was expected. I was commanding a boarding detail [of naval
special forces] — under the Commander-in-Chief and the Chief of
Stockholm Coastal Defence - to seize the submarine. This operation is
still very secret and I cannot write about it here.’3¢ During the night of
29-30 September (at 01.30), more than 35 hours before the first offi-
cial observation of a submarine in Hérsfjirden and half an hour before
the Commander-in-Chief General Lennart Ljung was informed about
a submarine at Lidingo, special forces for seizing the submarine had
already been deployed and put on high alert. There is no doubt that
the organizers of NOTVARP anticipated a submarine, a real subma-
rine. NOTVARP was planned both as an exercise for anti-submarine
warfare and as a trap for Soviet submarines. However, if NOTVARP
had been primarily a trap for Soviet submarines going for the US Navy
bait, the final preparations would have been made at least five days
earlier, when the US ships entered the Stockholm archipelago.
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The preparations for the hunt and the extreme readiness during
these days may have alerted local commanders to real and imagined
submarines. But, without a real submarine, the whole NOTVARP
operation ran the risk of ending up as a failure, with loss of prestige
for the Navy. On the other hand, if the bait or a couple of friendly sub-
marines were used to trigger the hunt, success was guaranteed. In a
memorandum signed by the Chief of the Naval Base, Rear-Admiral
Christer Kierkegaard, his Chief of Staff, Commander Lars-Erik Hoff,
and the Chief of the Operative Section of the Naval Base, Commander
Rolf Blomquist, NOTVARP is described as an anti-submarine warfare
exercise:

[NOTVARP was] an ‘exercise’ carried out in the area north of
Jungfrufjirden for special training of forces during the ongoing KFO
[wartime forces exercise]. They were particularly training in submarine
hunting with limited distribution of information to the participants and
regional staff personnel. Furthermore, certain principles of leadership
- operational and tactical leadership — were exercised. This exercise was
carried out until 13.00 on 1 October.?”

In other words, NOTVARP seems to have been an anti-submarine
warfare exercise that the local forces and the regional staff were not
informed about. They were obviously to believe that it was a real sub-
marine hunt. Theoretically speaking, a Swedish submarine could have
played a foreign submarine during this exercise, but there is nothing
about this in the naval base war diary, and, as already mentioned, it is
highly improbable that the Swedes would have used forces with live
ammunition against their own submarines. However, the submerged
passage(s) at Oxdjupet at 05.00 and possibly at 14.00 on
30 September were clearly anticipated. It may very well have been one
or possibly two small US submersibles that, for example, the US depot
ship Monongahela had ‘dumped’ in Stockholm harbour a couple of
days earlier (neither Belknap nor Elmer Montgomery has space for car-
rying a midget, though Monongabela does). If this is the case, there
must have been an agreement between (somebody in) the Swedish
Navy and US Naval Command. Operation NOTVARP - understood
as a trap for Soviet submarines — was kept extremely secret. Perhaps
there was an even more secret aspect to the operation: that it was a
secret Western test of Swedish anti-submarine warfare capability.
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The Hérsfjirden Hunt: A War Diary

Friday 1 October
The submarine hunt in Kanholmsfjirden continued until 09.00. The
naval base war diary states that there were some signs of submarine
activity in the morning.! At lunchtime, two conscript soldiers in a
transport boat made a visual sighting of a submarine periscope. The
surface was calm. According to Commander Rolf Blomquist, Chief of
Section 1 (Operations) at Naval Base East, these soldiers were travel-
ling in a small boat in northern Hérsfjirden when suddenly they had
a clear view of a periscope at a distance of a few metres. The entry for
12.55 in the naval base war diary records the instruction: “Tpb 457
stay where you are, observe and report.” At 13.05, Tpb 457 was asked
to report its position DQ 0904.2
The Naval Analysis Group Report states that two observers, L and
J, were travelling in a boat from Mirsgarn-Furuholmen to Vitsd at
12.50 (when they observed a periscope entering Hérsfjirden at the
northern entrance at Alvsta Lingholmar):

200-300 metres from Furuholmen, L and ] saw a 0.2-0.3-metre-high
wave making a V going towards Berganis. J saw two dark pipes (0.3
metres high, flat top, 0.1 metres in diameter, and distance from each
other about 1-1.5 metres) going towards Berganis. J observed them for
about one minute. After this, the two pipes [periscopes] turned towards
Kiringholmen [in the south]. Both L and ] estimated the speed at §
knots. Wlhiskey], Z[ulu], Q[uebec], R[omeo], and F[oxtrot] all have
two periscopes with flat tops. For the Wlhiskey], Z[ulu] and Q[uebec]
the internal distance is 1-1.5 metres).’

This seems like a clear observation of a submarine. However, some of
the information is confusing. Why did the submarine show two peri-
scopes close to an observer and for a period of a minute or more?
Furthermore, why did it use both periscopes at the same time? There
was no reason for this. Also, the attack periscope is often thinner than
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the main periscope, in order to make the submarine as stealthy as pos-
sible during an attack, but this does not fit with the description. Thus,
it is possible or rather likely that one of these ‘periscopes’ was a short-
wave antenna or other mast, which makes the estimates made by the
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Analysis Group irrelevant. It is also clear that the Naval Analysis
Group only discussed possible Soviet submarines, and did not con-
sider Western submarines, even though several such submarines would
have matched the details gathered in the interviews with the two
observers. In the Naval Analysis Group Report and in the internal
Navy report on the submarine hunt (the Grandin Report), this sight-
ing is classified as a ‘certain submarine’.* Officially, this was the first
observation of a submarine during the hunt, and this incident suppos-
edly triggered the whole submarine operation. The Parliamentary
Submarine Defence Commission stated that the observers had seen
‘two periscopes’ belonging to a ‘conventional submarine’.> At 13.00,
immediately after this observation of a submarine in Harsfjiarden,
Operation NOTVARP came to an end.®

This information does not tell us much about the submarine other
than that it entered Hérsfjirden through the 200-metre-wide north-
ern entrance. There was a report of a possible periscope at Galo at
15.00 on 30 September,” indicating that this submarine may have
waited outside while preparing to enter Hérsfjirden. On 1 October,
the Naval Analysis Group Report states that, at about 14.00, an object,
a possible periscope, was observed for five minutes going southwards
at a speed of 5-7 knots close to Fjaderholmarna in Mysingen not far
from the northern exit of Harsfjirden.® This may indicate that this
submarine left the area the same way it came in immediately after-
wards. According to the Submarine Defence Commission, the ‘con-
ventional submarine’, which had shown its periscopes, probably had
left the area immediately after this observation.’

The Submarine Defence Commission also writes that at least one
other submarine/submersible had been in Harsfjirden, when this con-
ventional submarine made its visit. In the morning, there had been indi-
cations from one small vessel at Djupviken.!? At lunch, there was a report
of an echo from the same area.!! In the evening, the Coastal Fleet Staff
ship Visborg reports about a radar echo with 5-6 knots north-northwest
of Enstenarna close to Djupviken/Nisudden.!? This ‘vessel” may have
entered Harsfjirden already two days earlier. The Naval Analysis Group
writes that, ‘at 04.30 on 29 September, the destroyer Halland observed
an unknown object at S6dra Skramsdsund’ at the entrance to the narrow
southern channel into Harsfjirden at Musko Naval Base.!? The captain
of the Halland, Commander Hans von Hofsten, said there was a distinct
echo and something looking like a rowing-boat turned upside down.
This was not a conventional submarine, though it was possibly a small
submersible.'* Half an hour later, the magnetic sensors at Musk Naval
Base registered a passage at Skramsosund.'

On 1 October, a third possible submarine may have entered Hérs-
fjirden. Commander Rolf Blomquist told me that, during the night
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before, a Swedish naval vessel had seen a submarine sail south of S6dra
Skrams6sund. The crew on the Swedish vessel thought that this was a
Swedish submarine and did not take it very seriously. However, they
found out soon afterwards that there had been no Swedish submarine
in the area. This was also a foreign submarine and clearly a small vessel.
At 18.13 on 1 October, there was a ‘clear magnetic indication’ and a
‘diffuse shadow’ at the shallow 100-metre-wide S6dra Skramsosund, '
which may indicate that a small submarine entered Hérsfjirden from
the south.

On 1 October, according to the diary of General Lennart Ljung,
the military leadership’s reaction was initially hesitant, but more
certain information arrived. The hunt was escalated by the deploy-
ment of helicopters and by preparations for sealing off the entire area.
One depth charge was dropped. Information regarding the develop-
ments was passed on to the Ministry of Defence, and State Secretary
for Defence Sven Hirdman briefed Prime Minister Filldin.!” Two heli-
copters were put into operation in the area, and sonar buoys were
deployed, one in northern Hérsfjarden (the listening-post at Berga
tower) and one in southern Hérsfjirden (the listening-post at the naval
base at Musko). Five motor boats covered the exits and the centre of
Haérsfjirden, and the area was sealed off with submarine nets to make
passage in and out of Harsfjirden more difficult.!® The naval base war
diary continues:

[At 17.00, helicopter] Y64 made sonar contact with possible submarine
east Ldnggarn. . .. At 17.43, Y64 reports: depth charge dropped. [Two
depth charges dropped at Brogaholmen south of Langgarn at 17.34 and
17.42]1Y ... At 18.13, clear magnetic indication at Sédra Skramsgsund.
Diffuse shadow. Difficult to see. At 18.16, order: start towards
Skramsosund. At 18.18, Skagul leaves OHM [the naval base] towards
[S6dra] Skramsdsund. At 18.37, MB 404 replaces MB 410 at Sodra
Skramsdsund. At 18.45, the Commander-in-Chief reports about an
analysis group at the disposal of COrlBO [the Naval Analysis Group is
deployed at Naval Base East to support Rear-Admiral Christer
Kierkegaard]. At 19.30, a barrier with weapons plus buoys [and nets]
deployed between Alvsta Langholmar and Lingholmsgrund [at the
northern exit]. Hera is outside the barrier to warn potential traffic. At
20.05, briefing captain of Capella about the barrier at Alvsta
Langholmar - Lingholmsgrund as well as submarine Sj6hunden
[deployed surfaced] west Ldngholmsgrund . . . At 22.45, from night
officer: Visborg reports contact with unknown radar echo north-
northwest Enstenarna. Clear echo with 5-6 knots.2’

Only one Swedish submarine, Sjéhunden, was deployed, and Sjohdsten
was ready to replace it. Lieutenant-Commander Nils Bruzelius, former
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Chief of the Submarine Division in Karlskrona, proposed to the staff
of Naval Base East that they could use his three, more modern,
Nicken-class submarines to cover the exits of Harsfjirden and
Mysingen with their sonars. This would have given the anti-submarine
forces more advanced sonars.?! However, the naval base was not inter-
ested in this proposal, Bruzelius said.

On 1 October, there were seemingly indications from perhaps two,
possibly three, submarines in Harsfjarden (one submarine that entered
Haérsfjirden at lunchtime and possibly left the area soon afterwards;
one small submersible, which may have entered Harsfjirden two days
earlier, left traces at Langgarn and at Nisudden; while a third, small
submarine may have entered Hérsfjirden from the south around
18.00). There was possibly still some sub-surface activity in the area
of Kanholmsfjirden and Sandhamn. The Naval Analysis Group
Report refers to a triangular object seen in Kanholmsfjirden at
18.00.22 The submarine that entered Harsfjirden from the north
seemingly announced its presence for more than a minute by showing
its periscope(s) at close range for the observers. Commander Nils
Bruzelius told me that a submarine only has to put up the periscope
for a few seconds and not more than centimetres above the surface.
Once, on an exercise, he passed through a narrow channel in the
archipelago with the whole staff waiting for him at a certain time at a
certain place, but nobody saw him. The behaviour of this Harsfjarden
submarine, supposedly showing ‘two periscopes’ for a minute or more
close to the major Swedish naval base of Muskd, indicates that it
wanted to demonstrate its presence, he said. To operate like this in an
area with only two narrow exits and only one of them more than 15
metres deep (100 metres wide) makes no sense if the intention is not
to play with the Swedes and provoke a submarine hunt. It is also inter-
esting to note that, a few hours after this first observation of a subma-
rine in Harsfjirden, Chief of Staff Bror Stefenson ordered the
information division to prepare for a press centre with up to 500 jour-
nalists as if he immediately understood that this incident was going to
be of international importance.?? Also at this time, Chief of Naval Base
East Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard was given the Chief of the
Navy’s analysis group — the special intelligence group — as a support
in the operation. Geographically, the group, including Commander
Emil Svensson, Commander Anders Hammar and Lieutenant-
Commander Nils-Ove Jansson, was located with the Intelligence Staff
at the naval base and was able to use the base’s intelligence officers. A
fourth member of the group, Lieutenant-Colonel Rolf Malm, was
with the Defence Staff. The group was supported by intelligence per-
sonnel at Musko Naval Base. These were the liaison officer to the
Chief of the Navy, Commander Sten Swedlund, as well as Lieutenant-
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Commander Ebbe Sylvén and Lieutenant-Commander Maurits
Carlsson. The latter was Chief of Intelligence at the naval base.

Saturday 2 October
At 04.50, while still dark, a low submarine sail or rather the top of a sail
was observed for 10 minutes at a distance of 100-200 metres in the
Oxelesund archipelago some 75 km southwest of Muskd. Lights were
turned off when another boat approached it. After some minutes, the
submarine left its position and went out towards Hivringe. It was fol-
lowed by a boat at a speed of 6 knots.>* The Naval Analysis Group
Report states that there had been several indications in that area, and
this activity is described as a separate operation.”® In southern
Hérsfjarden, there were several possible submarine contacts. There
were low-frequency sounds (a propeller?) and radar echoes in northern
Harsfjirden. Five?® or eight?” depth charges were dropped (the latter
figure may possibly include the use of blank ammunition). ‘At 09.52,
GYP reports IR [infra-red] contact east Langgarn. At 11.10, one depth
charge dropped towards oil patch and air boil-ups at Jungfruhuvud
[south-east Linggarn].”?® Three depth charges were dropped between
11.08 and 11.12 in the same area.?’ The naval base war diary says:

At 12.11, Y64: depth charge dropped [at Jungfruhuvud] . . . At 14.30,
divers investigated. They report: a rock. At 14.35, the tower at Berga
reports: cavitation sounds for 2 minutes registered by the northern
buoy. Order: Sjhunden high alert . .. At 15.10, from Urd: clear sonar
contact [at Furuskaten; at 14.19, Urd had sonar contact northeast
Furuskaten, east Langgarn®’] (in bearing 244°), distance 500 metres,
possible submarine . . . At 15.30, Y64 drops blank depth charge on
Urd’s contact, depth 32 metres . . . At 15.58-16.00, Y64 drops [live]
depth charges [at Furuskaten] . . . At 17.08, from Viktaren: sonar
contact, possible submarine, 0.5M [nautical miles] north-northwest
Furuskaten. Helicopter ordered to investigate. At 17.15, GYP has IR
contact in the water between Langgarn and Linsman in bearing 150°
[north-northwest Furuskaten], ideal IR weather. At 17.20, order to
Y71: go towards Furuskaten to investigate Viktaren’s and Urd’s con-
tacts . . . At 18.40, from Mode: still contact, drops one depth charge
... At 19.00, order to First Helicopter Division: live depth charge
should be dropped without former use of blank ammunition . . . At
19.41, from Mode: checked the place of detonation. Only fish. At
23.05 from Bevb 321: radar echo between Mirsgarn and Nisudden.
Nothing in the night-vision scope.3!

A meeting took place between Commander-in-Chief Lennart Ljung,
Chief of the Navy Per Rudberg and Chief of Staff Bror Stefenson.?? At
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19.00, the naval base received the order to use live depth charges
without previous warning. The US BALTOPS exercise in the Baltic Sea
(which had started on 27 September) came to an end. The first public
statement was made at 23.30 on the Saturday night.3?
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Sunday 3 October
There were several indications — radar echoes, sonar contacts and
optical observations of waves from possible submarines — in the area
around Sandhamn and in Hérsfjirden. Three depth charges were
dropped at the southern exit of Hérsfjirden.’* The naval base war
diary contains the following entries:

At 04.59, from MB 477 . . . echo 400 metres east of Dock One [at
Musko Naval Base]. Disappeared when spotlight was turned towards it
... At 05.51, from 477: echo between Olangsund and S. Frisholmen.
Disappeared, but came back 300 metres from land. At 06.05, from 477:
clear echo 100-150 metres north of Lngholmen . . . At 13.20, waves
and whirlpools at Lingholmen—Ostra Stendérren at 12.45. Nothing on
the surface. At 13.25, from Visborg: intermittent radar echo at the
northern tip of Enstenarna . . . [Analysis of oil samples made. Results
according to Attachment 20.35 At 13.45, magnetic indication at Sédra
Skramsdsund [at Muskd Naval Base]. Nothing on the surface. To
Snapphanen: go immediately to Skramsésund . . . At 13.55, Y69 on its
way. At 14.25, Y69 reports: sonar contact at Gullboda [close to the
former position] . . . At 15.05, depth charge dropped, no detonation
... [At 15.37, another depth charge dropped.3¢] At 15.40, Y69 returns
to base. The second bomb detonated . . . At 19.30, from 651: clear
radar echo towards Jungfruhuvud, after that waves. Intermittent radar
echo for 35-40 seconds . . . At 19.46, clear echo and air boil-ups south
of Jungfruhuvud. The echo moved towards the south . . . Helicopter
starts . . . At 20.13, 651 reports radar echo towards north entering
Olangsund . .. At 21.05, from 651: clear echo west Jungfruholmen.. . .
At 21.27, patch of mud in the water outside Dock Three.?”

According to General Ljung, one depth charge was dropped after
sonar contact in Hérsfjirden. The Defence Staff discussed the possibil-
ity of setting up a press centre.?® Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson
went to the naval base ‘to deliberate with the naval base chief and the
information officer . . . [It was decided to set up] a press centre in the
gym hall of Berga naval base.”?® Two depth charges were dropped.*’

During the day, there were several indications of submarines in
southern Hérsfjirden, as well as a report from northern Hérsfjirden.
The magnetic indication at S6dra Skrams6sund and the following
sonar contact at Gullboda (Muskd) indicate that a midget or other
small submersible may have entered Hirsfjirden from the south.
Depth charges were dropped. The shallow channel, which was less
than 100 metres wide, would have made it difficult for a conventional
submarine to enter submerged.

The analysis of the oil samples mentioned above is believed to give
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clear evidence about the origin of the submarine. In Norway, this
method was used to distinguish between Soviet and Western subma-
rines, because of the different kinds of oil used in the Soviet Union
and many Western countries. However, in the Naval Analysis Group
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Report, the attachment about the oil-sample analysis does not state
anything about the origin of the o0il.#! Furthermore, in the case of
Haérsfjarden, the oil analysis was never used to prove the existence of
a Soviet submarine.

Monday 4 October
There were three observations of submarine sails, and several sonar and
radar contacts as well as air boil-ups. Twelve depth charges were
dropped, and oil (covering 2,500 square metres) appeared on the
surface.*? Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg approached
Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence Brigadier-General Lars Hansson
and said that they suspected midget submarines.*> The Norwegian
Commander-in-Chief, General Sven Hauge, arrived for an official visit
in Sweden. This tied up the Swedish defence leadership for a couple of
days.** Colonel Persson wrote in his diary:

Clear [visual] observation of periscope . . . The special force boarding
detail and myself are fetched immediately by helicopter. They believe the
submarine will soon turn up on the surface . . . [but as] soon as the heli-
copters start to hover the submarine hides, making the helicopter blind.*

The naval base war diary states:

At 05.13, report from Gullboda: alarm at Skramsdsund [magnetic indi-
cation], nothing on the surface. A helicopter ordered to go [to
Skramsosund] . . . At 05.46, [helicopter] Y69 in Skramsosund . . . [At
09.10, visual observation of submarine sail at Dalar6.4¢] At 09.20 . . .
observed with binoculars. It is moving slowly [see below] . . . At 10.435,
from Chief of Ekipage [Chief of Musk6é Harbour]: oil outside Dock
Three. Intensified reconnaissance . . . At 10.57, MBO [Commander,
Eastern Military District] briefing: first, a naval special force company
with 325 men and 40 canoes will most likely be available for COrlBO
[Chief of Naval Base East, Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard] during
the day; second, 40 night-vision scopes are on their way to COrIBO
. . . [At 12.06, helicopter has sonar contact (high Doppler) at
Nisudden.*’] . . . From 13.20, the helicopter Y71 dropped depth
charges after air boil-ups [500 metres from Nisudden, 1,500 metres
from Enstenarna (one at 13.20, one at 13.38 and two at 13.46)] ... [At
14.30, helicopter has sonar contact (high Doppler) at Linsman.*%]
At 15.03, oil patch south of Enstenarna 50 X 50 metres. At 15.07, from
Y71: the oil patch corresponds to where depth charges were dropped
... At 15.10, fishing with Malin [signal transmitter with a magnet (see
below)] . . . At 16.03, Urd reports about a sonar echo 2/10 north of
Furuskaten . . . At 16.07, to Y70: go to the contact . .. At 16.11, Y70
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is ordered to drop volley of depth charges against visual contact. . . At
16.16, Y70 has dropped two depth charges [500 metres north
Furuskaten]. Y70 makes another attack. At 16.18, SC [Chief of Staff,
Naval Base East, Commander Lars-Erik Hoff] informs MBO
[Commander of the Eastern Military District] and OB [Commander-in-
Chief] . . . At 16.25, Y71 is ordered to drop three depth charges
[dropped 16.27 and 16.30]... At 17.09, Viktaren has dropped 4 depth
charges on Urd’s contact [350 metres north-northeast Brudhill at
Furuskaten.*’] ... At 18.18, report from Coastal Defence troops at KO
[Sandhamn]: suspicious sub-surface object . . . [At 18.15 to 18.20,
visual observation of submarine sail at Sandén (Sandhamn).’?] At
19.00, from Mode: ‘certain submarine’ at DQ 5218 [close to
Sandhamn]. [At 18.45 to 19.00, Mode has sonar contact (high Doppler
at Farfars grund, Sandhamn). First blank ammunition and then two
depth charges.’'] At 19.06, to Mode. Order: drop one depth charge. At
19.12, from Mode: one depth charge dropped. At 19.15, from Mode:
another depth charge dropped. At 19.17, from Mode: lost contact . . .
At 20.45, the hospital ready at Berga [Naval College] . . . At 22.05,
report to night officer about clear observation of a surfaced submarine
going from Simpviken (Risdal) towards west [in Milbyfjirden-
Harsfjirden north of the naval base]. At 22.49, from Hebe: clear echo
northwest Kdringholmen 200-300 metres.*?

The Naval Analysis Group Report contains the following: ‘At 09.10,
visual observation of submarine sail at Dalaré (“possible subma-
rine”).”>3 In the attachment, it is stated that this was not just a subma-
rine sail but a submarine on the surface seen in a narrow passage
between Jutholmen and Aspon, close to Dalardo. It was observed for 15
seconds and was travelling at an estimated speed of 6-8 knots. The
depth at this spot is 12 metres, but it had to pass through a 25-metre-
wide channel with less than 10 metres depth on each side. The observer
had some familiarity with Swedish submarines, and has stated that it
was not a Whiskey, of which she had seen pictures. Lieutenant-
Commander Nils-Ove Jansson, Chief of Naval Intelligence and a
member of the Naval Analysis Group, made a report, suggesting that
the observer had confused a surfaced submarine with the top of the sail
of a Romeo-class submarine (77 metres, two propellers). This seems
far-fetched. The length of the submarine was reported to be two-thirds
that of the local Orné ferry (28 metres and 37 metres), which would
make a submarine with a length of 20-25 metres, and most likely 25
metres because the propeller area would not be surfaced. The
observer’s drawing shows something in the middle of the small sail
(perhaps the identification number), a high mast at the very end of the
sail or rather just behind the sail, and some specially marked dark
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objects — three small squares — on top of the hull.>* These markings
identified by the observer do not belong to any Soviet submarine, but
are seen on US and Italian submarines (cf. Strazza Navigation active
sonar equipment for narrow waters). The mast just behind the sail is
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only found on some small Italian submarines, the size of which is con-
sistent with the estimated length of the observed submarine. The small
Italian submarines would fit very well in the very narrow and shallow
waters at Dalarg. This is not proof of an Italian involvement, but it is
interesting that this, the only observation of a surfaced submarine in
daylight, does not appear in the Submarine Defence Commission
Report or in any other open source.

In the evening, according to this report, there was a clear observa-
tion of a submarine at Sandhamn further out. Two depth charges were
dropped.’® The local Coastal Defence commander, Lieutenant-
Colonel Sven-Olof Kviman, told me that a large submarine sail — a
‘huge wall’ — turned up close to the shore only a few metres from his
people at Sandhamn. He gave orders to prepare for an artillery attack
— to lay a carpet of shells — but the submarine submerged before live
shells had been brought up from storage. The attack boat Mode was
sent out. It made contact with the submarine and dropped depth
charges at Farfars Grund. This observation is confirmed by the 1982
internal Navy report made by Rear-Admiral Grandin and by the 1995
Submarine Commission Report. In the internal Navy report, this sub-
marine is described as a ‘certain submarine’.>

The Naval Analysis Group Report has an attachment covering this
incident as it is described by an observer, W. The report states that:

At 18.15 [dusk], at the western shore of Sandén opposite to
Skotkubben, W observes a ship. It is heading straight towards W with
its lights on. The distance between the side-lights is about 2 metres and
they are 6 metres above the sea. The top-lights are about 1 metre
above the side-lights. There is no light in the back. When the ship
passes west of Skotkubben, W sees a square [submarine] sail. The
height of the sail is about ten metres. The sail is higher than it is wide.
The ship is travelling at high speed (about 15 knots). The powerful
diesels make a forceful motor sound. W looks for the front and the
back of the ship, but there is nothing. W sees waves behind the sail,
but nothing in front of it. At 18.20, the sail disappears behind the
northern tip of Sandén.’”

This five-minute observation of a submarine sail is in all documents
described as the sighting of a ‘certain submarine’. The observer still con-
firms the ‘huge square submarine sail’. The distance between the lights
and the height of the sail may be very approximate, but the indication
of a conventional submarine with a large and high sail is very clear.
However, no Soviet submarine at the time had a sail that would look as
though it were higher than it was wide, while several Western subma-
rines had such a design. For example, Soviet Whiskey, Juliet, Foxtrot
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and Golf submarines all have a rather flat sail, while several British and
US submarines have sails that are both large and high. This was never
considered by the Naval Analysis Group.

There were a number of visual observations of submarines during
this period. In the Harsfjairden-Sandhamn area, there were four visual
observations of a submarine sail or of submarines on the surface (one
on 30 September and three on 4 October) and one or two at periscope
depth (1 October and 4 October) — all deep inside the Stockholm
archipelago. This appears to be a major provocation. Some of these
sightings were very clear observations. The periscope on 1 October
came so close to the Swedish vessel that observed it that it almost
seemed to announce its presence, and it did not dive immediately. In
the four cases when the submarine was showing its sail (or even the
whole submarine), the provocation is even more obvious.

These submarines seemingly demonstrated their presence, as if
they wanted to play with the Swedes, as if they wanted to trigger the
submarine hunt to test Sweden’s capability and will to defend itself. It
is difficult to understand why the Soviets would want to do such a
thing. Such an open demonstration would tend to strengthen Swedish
resolve. Rather, these observations point to a testing of Swedish will
and readiness by Western submarines. Both the Dalaré observation
and the Sandhamn observation seemingly point to Western subma-
rines. At the very least, while there is no proof of this, it is indeed the
case that the statements made by the Naval Analysis Group about
Soviet submarines are unfounded. As with what happened on
1 October, the Naval Analysis Group only discussed possible Soviet
submarines and did not consider the possibility of Western subma-
rines. Then, after these incidents, the most publicized submarine hunt
in Swedish waters started.

Tuesday 5 October
On Monday night, Swedish Navy and Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson
had given a dinner for foreign guests, including foreign defence atta-
chés, at Berga Castle (at Berga Naval College). About 22.00, Stefenson
called the chief of the Navy Information Division, Commander Sven
Carlsson, who was in a neighbouring building. Stefenson ordered him
to draft a press release about the opening of a press centre in the
College’s gym hall on 5 October. Commander Carlsson drafted a dra-
matic statement, but, to his surprise, Vice-Admiral Stefenson rewrote
it, making it even more dramatic. It was sent out at midnight at
00.08.°% The press centre opened two hours after midnight, at
02.00.>? In the morning, a large number of journalists arrived at Berga
and from there they had an excellent view of the submarine hunt. The
‘invasion’ of foreign correspondents forced Berga Naval College to set
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10. 5 October.

up 30 telephone lines and to make the gym hall into temporary lodg-
ings for hundreds of journalists.®® Commander Hans von Hofsten told
the press that the submarine might be a smaller vessel able to crawl on
the sea floor.®! Huddinge hospital had six ambulances on high alert
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(and the possibility of 20). The hospital was prepared to receive 20
seriously injured and 40 slightly injured submariners.®> During the
day, there were further air boil-ups, oil patches and sonar contacts.
Twelve depth charges were dropped.®® The naval base war diary
records the following;:

At 01.01, alarm. Helicopter starts towards [the small island of]
Lansman after observation of air boil-ups. Fishing with Malin [a signal
transmitter that can be attached to the submarine by a strong magnet.
The cord to] Malin was cut loose 0.1M [nautical mile] south of
Linsman . . . At 01.20, 321 reports: heavy air boil-ups a couple of
hundred metres south of Linsman. Viktaren towards the contact.
Helicopter [Y71] in the air in ten minutes . . . At 01.32, Malin attached
[to a submarine] (?) ... At 02.07, [report from] Bevb 321: fishing [with
Malin]. ‘Boiling water’ 2/10 from Langgarn [south of Linsman].
Fishing in the area. The cord to Malin cut off 7-8 metres from the end.
[From naval base]: in which direction did the cord go? From Bevb 321:
towards position k bearing 330 degrees, towards Linsman . . . at
01.25-01.30 . . . At the contact, the depth of Malin was 4-5 metres
above the sea floor . . . At 03.17, Urd report: Malin contact towards
Linsman . .. At 03.23, to Urd: Do you maintain the contact? Answer:
Yes. [At 03.32, Urd reports: Malin’s position more than 1 kilometre
north-northeast of Linsman towards Nisudden. Later, at 13.56, mb
464: Malin contact at Ndsudden. Y71 investigates. In the evening, at
21.49, areport was given that the cord to Malin was cut off.] It was cut
by a sharp object. Not our own propeller. It was most likely cut off by
a submarine propeller.®4

In other words, the Swedish forces went out ‘submarine fishing’,
trying to get a submarine on the hook. In the early hours of 5 October,
they succeeded. Malin was attached to a submarine and, according to
the war diary, two hours later the Swedish forces received contact with
Malin more than a kilometre north of the place where it was dropped
and could follow the movements of the submarine for more than 15
minutes.

According to the Naval Analysis Group Report, ‘the cord [to
Malin] was made of thick nylon. It is impossible that the “fisherman”
could have held the rope if it had fastened somewhere. The rope must
have been cut off, for example by a propeller.” According to the Naval
Analysis Group, this was possibly by Bevb 321’s own propeller, but ‘it
is not possible to rule out that it was cut off by a submarine pro-
peller’.% The authors of this document, Commander Emil Svensson
and Commander Sten Swedlund, disregarded all the information
mentioned above. The naval base war diary continues:
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At 07.15 from lookout [at Muské]: air bubbles and surge waves
outside the docks . . . At 08.20, [signal intelligence contact from
Visborg (the ship of the Chief of the Coastal Fleet Rear-Admiral Jan
Enquist at Vitsa close to Berga): “West German submarine radar’®®]. At
08.22, report from First Helicopter Div: Leader Boat 95 has reached
the position . . . At 08.40, Y70 in the air. At 08.42, all have reached
the position . . . At 08.50, from Y70: sonar echo with Doppler close
to Visborg 500 metres northwest of Alvsta Lingholmar . . . At 08.58,
Y70 has lost contact [with the object] . . . At 09.08, Y70: 250-300
metres east Ekholmen. Y70 can direct Snapphanen for the drop . . . At
09.10, Y46 reports: oil bubbles at Djupviken [at Nisudden, north of
Linsman]. One Malin dropped. At 09.11, from Y46: new oil patch at
the same place . . . At 09.16, Y70 reports: Snapphanen not able to drop
depth charge [it was used by FRA as a signal intelligence platform, but
this was not known by the officer giving the orders®’] . . . At 09.20,
fresh oil spill, fishing with Malin. At 09.21, . . . ‘the oil spill is moving’
... At 10.08, from MB 95: the echo ranger indicates . . . At 10.35,
from MB 95: echo 15 metres above sea floor, length 35-40 metres,
height 6 metres . . . At 11.16, Bevb 321 plus boat with divers stays for
investigation . . . At 11.40, Y69 keeps contact . . . At 11.47,Y69 directs
Viktaren for the dropping of one depth charge m/33 . .. At 11.50,
from Viktaren: depth charge dropped . . . At 12.15, from Y69: depth
charge dropped [at oil patch at Nisudden.®® At 12.33-12.36, from
Y70: two depth charges dropped at the same place. At 12.46-12.47,
from Viktaren: four depth charges dropped (three detonated) 350
metres from Nisudden®]. At 12.48, from Y46: the detonation hit in
the right area . . . At 12.52, from Y71: after last drop, large suspicious
oil patch . .. [At 13.05-13.19, from Y71: light-green patch 100 metres
northwest Kiringholmen 700 metres from Nisudden. The green patch
was first observed at 12.55. It had disappeared some time later when
Y71 passed next time.”’] At 13.30, to Y71: use mechanical sounder
100 northwest Kiringholmen . . . At 13.50, to Y70: submarine hunt at
Kéringholmen. At 13.56, Malin contact at Ndsudden . . . At 14.09, 464
has seen a black ‘hill’ [object] at Nisudden, towards Enstenarna. At
14.11, Y71: 500 m northeast Nisudden. Looks like mud in the water
... At 14.15, from 464: a 75-cm-long object 20 cm above the surface
. . . At 14.30, from Y71: contact. At 14.32, order from Y71 to
Viktaren: drop . . . At 14.40, from Viktaren: one depth charge
dropped.”!

This submarine hunt was carried out a few hundred metres from land,
while hundreds of journalists followed the events from the new press
centre at Berga. TV cameras followed the spectacular ‘battle’. This was
a TV war — like the Gulf War of 1991, though on a much smaller
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scale and with an evasive opponent. Deputy Chief of Defence Staff
Intelligence Commander Bjorn Eklind, who was sceptical of the whole
operation, told me that the oil spills might have originated from old
oil dumps. There is a lot of oil on the sea floor in Harsfjirden, he said.
A detailed investigation of the sea floor, carried out in late October,
found a number of oil drums in the area, but also parallel tracks from
a bottom-crawling vessel.”> Thus, we cannot say anything for sure
about the oil spills, though fresh thin oil seems difficult to explain as
caused by old oil dumps. The first oil patches appeared before depth
charges were dropped, and ‘moving oil spill’ may rather indicate a
moving submarine. A Malin signal transmitter moving more than one
kilometre definitely indicates a submarine. Sonar echoes, Doppler and
forceful air boil-ups also indicate the presence of a submarine. The
reading from one echo — indicating an object 35-40 metres in length
and 15 metres above the sea floor — together with leaking oil possibly
indicates a damaged small submarine. The green patch in the water
indicates a signal, a dye sent up from the submarine. A black object on
the surface — some 0.75 metres in length, 0.2 metres above the surface
and with no sail — indicates a small submersible. Yet nothing of this
appears in General Ljung’s diary or in the Submarine Defence
Commission Report — as if it never was reported outside the Navy.

The figures relating to the echo reading of the other submarine — 6
metres high, 35-40 metres long and 15 metres above the sea floor
— are approximate, but the estimates are supposedly more or less
correct. These figures have been confirmed by intelligence personnel
at the naval base. This may possibly indicate a West German, Danish,
Italian or US submarine. The submarine radar indication at 08.20 was
interpreted as a West German submarine, though the instruments used
by the Swedish Navy for identifying a radar were not very reliable.
Furthermore, the hulls of West German submarines were made of a
low-magnetic steel alloy, and Malin would not necessarily have been
able to attach itself to this. The Italian and US submarines are possible
alternatives. At the time, there were, to my knowledge, no Soviet sub-
marines between 20 and 55 metres long. The Soviet Quebec subma-
rine (probably no longer operational in 1982) was 56 metres long.
The estimated length of 35-40 metres would therefore seem to rule
out a Soviet submarine.

Between 12.15 and 12.47, several depth charges were dropped
against this submarine. At 12.46, four heavy depth charges were
dropped, and three of these detonated. At 12.48, Y46 reports that the
depth charges detonated in the right area. A large oil patch appeared
and the submarine may have been lightly damaged. At 12.55, a light-
green area appeared on the surface some 700 metres southeast of this
spot, close to the island of Kiringholmen.” It is not very shallow here,
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and the incident provoked a search for a submarine for more than an
hour. It seems to have been a green dye, a chemical substance sent up
as a signal from the submarine to communicate its condition and posi-
tion, a practice employed at the time by both US and British subma-
rines, or possibly by any Western submarine in a US-commanded
operation. Soviet submarines did not use this kind of chemical sub-
stance: they had other ways of signalling (see below).

Between 14.09 and 14.15, motor boat 464 reported sighting a 75-
centimetre-long black object 20 centimetres above the surface, and
close to this place an area of mud in the water. The Naval Analysis
Group Report mentions an oval object with the same dimensions
400-500 metres northeast of Nisudden. The object is described as
looking like a ball partly below the surface, and was observed for five
seconds. The observer headed towards the object and reported on it.
The Naval Analysis Group reported that the object had been observed
earlier.”* These details do not suggest a submarine sail but rather a
small submersible — possibly the one that left ‘tank-like tracks’ on the
sea floor in the same area, and on other occasions stirred up mud in
the water. Two weeks later, parallel ‘tank-like tracks’ were recorded
on video, and they were very clear. These tracks must have originated
from a small submersible, one much smaller than 35-40 metres.
According to an independent study of the sea floor, these tracks in
Djupviken close to Nisudden were evidence of a small tracked sub-
mersible that operated in the area sometime in the first half of
October.” (This may also have been the same vessel that was observed
by the Halland at S6dra Skrams6sund, possibly entering Hérsfjirden
on 29 September.) A few minutes after this vessel had gone down into
the water again, at 14.30, Y71 reported contact, seemingly with the
same object, also northeast of Nisudden.”® At 14.40, the Viktaren
reports having dropped one depth charge (against the contact). It
should be noted that lots of information in the war diary has been
‘blacked out’; in addition, more sensitive issues are often not even put
down on paper.

The Submarine Defence Commission Report says that the bottom-
crawling midget submarine may have been damaged by a depth
charge, though without mentioning when this may have happened.””
However, no other incident in the naval base war diary supports this
statement. The captain of the fast attack craft Viaktaren, Lieutenant-
Commander Lars Wedin, says that he knew nothing about what hap-
pened afterwards. He just received instructions about the position and
dropped the depth charge. However, an intelligence officer at the
naval base confirmed to me that the small bottom-crawling submer-
sible may have been damaged at this time. I was interested in this inci-
dent because, in 1984-85, I had had a conversation with a diver who
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had been diving in Harsfjirden. He said that a Swedish fast attack craft
had dropped one depth charge — as happened on the above-mentioned
occasion — and by ‘mistake’ made a perfect hit. When the diver
reached the bottom, he found a damaged midget submarine. After
this, the diver was put ashore and forced to sign papers that would not
allow him to speak to anyone about it. When he did — and I was due
to see him the following day — he was removed from his position and
from Stockholm within one day. He was thereafter unwilling to speak
about the incident.

I have not been able to have the diver’s first version confirmed.
However, a local officer confirmed the diver’s position in Hirsfjirden,
and another commander told me that one or two of these divers were
borrowed by intelligence personnel to carry out a special mission
during the Harsfjirden hunt. But if it is true that the Swedish Navy
had evidence of a damaged submersible in Hérsfjirden, it is difficult
to believe that it was a Soviet one. The Navy would have done any-
thing to prove a Soviet presence. According to the naval base war
diary, the indications continued during the evening of 5§ October:

At 19.50, from 409 at Dock One: An object close to the destroyer at
the western side of Skramsé. A low object, 2 metres long and 10 metres
from the ship [possibly canoe from Swedish naval special forces] . . . At
21.55, light below the surface at Dock Three. Increased reconnaissance
... At 22.12, from Helicopter Division: low-frequency sound from
buoy [at Mirsgarn and echoes in the Mirsgarn area] . . . At 22.16, still
light under the water at Dock Three. A boat is going out to investigate
... At 23.17, all divers have left the sea. At 23.31, from Chief First
Helicopter Division [Commander Eric Hagstrom]: low-frequency
sounds, passive sonar buoy at Mirsgarn.”® [From Naval Analysis Group
Report: tape recording of low-frequency sound, possibly from propel-
ler with low turns per minute.”]

At 22.00, a diver or small submersible with spotlights seems to have
investigated the area at Muskd Naval Base. Lights were seen below the
surface for up to 20 minutes. Colonel Lars-G. Persson wrote in his diary:

During the night, 19 canoe patrols and 10 observation posts were
deployed all over Harsfjirden. The waters were covered by 40 night-
vision scopes, while all the naval vessels had turned off their engines
and listened passively . . . We saw nothing. As a submarine captain, I
would probably have been frightened to silence by the silence.®’

At 21.47, Stockholm Coastal Defence received an order from MBO
(Commander of the Eastern Military District): ‘Deploy immediately
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forces for mine barrages MS1, MS2 and MS3 [Mailsten 1, 2 and 3]
with personnel from Ox [Oxdjupet] and Sal and Sa2 [Sandhamn 1
and 2].”%! General Ljung wrote in his diary:

At 07.30, T called [State Secretary Sven] Hirdman and demanded a
meeting with [Defence Minister Torsten] Gustafsson at 09.15 to brief
him about the submarine incidents. At 09.15, the meeting started at the
Defence Minister’s Office with Hirdman, myself, [Chief of Staff]
Stefenson and the submarine expert officer [Commander Emil]
Svensson from the naval base . . . The minister agreed on the necessity
of using force — to force the submarine to the surface.3?

Later, at 14.40, the Commander-in-Chief and the Chief of Staff gave
a briefing to a high-level meeting, including Prime Minister Thorbjérn
Filldin, Minister of Foreign Affairs Ola Ullsten, Minister of Justice
Carl-Axel Petri, Minister of Defence Torsten Gustafsson, State
Secretary for Defence Sven Hirdman, Acting State Secretary for
Foreign Affairs Ulf Dinkelspiel, Conservative Party leader Ulf
Adelsohn, Prime Minister-elect Olof Palme and the Social Democrat
Ingvar Carlsson. There were no objections to the decision to force the
submarine to the surface. The participants expressed unity over
detaining the submarine once in Swedish military possession.®? Sven
Hirdman stated just after this incident that they all had a common
understanding that the intrusions were unacceptable, that the subma-
rine should be forced to the surface, that this might damage the sub-
marine and risk the lives of the crew and that the submarine should
be detained if surfaced.?* Defence Minister Torsten Gustafsson stated
publicly: ‘It seems that the only way to force the submarine to the
surface is to damage it . . . If foreign powers believe that they can enter
Swedish waters safely, they take a great risk.”®®

On 5 October, there were a number of clear indications of subma-
rines, and even some indications of Western submarines, but none of
these indications appeared in the Naval Analysis Group Report. Some
of the most important information from the war diary was not
included in the Naval Analysis Group Report. The commander of the
group, Commander Emil Svensson, appeared together with the Chief
of Staff and the Commander-in-Chief at a meeting at the Ministry of
Defence to brief the Defence Minister and his state secretary.
Commander Emil Svensson was not just any analyst: he had a special
role during the NOTVARP operation and, immediately after the
Hérsfjirden submarine hunt started, he was in practical terms assigned
the role of Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson’s ‘chief of intelligence’ at the
naval base to cover the operation.
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Wednesday 6 October
During this day, 300 journalists turned up at the Navy Press Centre at
Berga, of which 70 were foreign correspondents (22 from the USA).
The next day, there were about 100 foreign correspondents. On one
particular day, there were 500 journalists at Berga at the same time,
and altogether 750 received accreditation cards from the Swedish mil-
itary authorities.?® The New York Times, Washington Post, Times and
Stern as well as TV channels like ABC, NBC and CBS were all
present.” The submarine hunt was front-page news. Every day, the
New York Times and other major newspapers had one or two stories
about the Swedish submarine hunt.®® Commander Sven Carlsson from
the Navy Information Division said that his ‘private guess’ was that
the submarine originated from the Soviet Union.?” Journalists wrote
first about one Soviet submarine deep inside the Swedish archipelago,
later about two or more.”® Commander Hans von Hofsten stated that
the anti-submarine rockets of the destroyer Halland would have been
more precise and much more efficient than the depth charges. In spite
of this, the Halland was retired on the very day that the Hérsfjirden
hunt started. Von Hofsten was upset. According to him, the naval base
and the military leadership were not willing to use necessary force.”!
During the morning of the same day, one heavier depth charge was
dropped. Later that day a boil-up was observed. Mobile air-defence
forces, Swedish special forces and military police were deployed.®?
The naval base war diary reports:

At 02.40, nets deployed between Rorholmen-Lilla Stenholmen-Stora

Stenholmen-Langholmen . . . [At 08.14, sonar echo at Ekeby
Nisudden.”®] At 08.17, from Y70: one depth charge dropped [at
Enstenarna] . . . At 08.43, after analysis of sonar contact 150-200

metres from buoy [Mirsgarn], bearing 150 degrees: 5- to 10-metre-
long echo at a depth of 11 metres, not at 25 metres . . . At 09.21, from
Mysing: oil patch in bearing 137 degrees 1,000 metres from [southeast
of] Oxné Udde (DQ 124 035). The patch includes seaweed and air
bubbles. From naval base: take oil samples . . . [At 11.50, helicopter
sonar ‘bottomed’ at Frinsholmen 15 metres above the bottom.’* At
12.40, Swedish submarine rescue vessel] Belos passes Landsort [arrives
in the Stockholm archipelago from Karlskrona] . .. At 16.56, from 406:
oil outside Dock Three . . . At 19.04, from Mysing: report 18.55 clas-
sified as larger vessel . . . At 20.15, from Lieutenant-Commander
Heilborn: oil and whirlpools at Dock Two, as well as magnetic indica-
tions . . . At 20.16, from Berga Naval College: [radar] echo between
Berganis and Furuholmen. Disappeared suddenly . . . At 20.52 from
Mysing: radar echo in bearing 038 degrees. Distance 2,600 metres from
Langholmsgrund. At 21.05, the echo is gone . . . At 21.36, from 751 at
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Frinsholmen between Jungfruhuvud-Mirsgarn [should be Linggarn]:
large patch of scum. Not from our boat . . . At 21.42, hurry on, very
strong air boil-up. [Continued for 5-10 minutes (not methane) in the
same area as the sonar had ‘bottomed’ 15 metres above the sea floor.?’]
Order to Mysing: go immediately to north Jungfruhuvud . . . At 22.37,
from Commander S. Hecker [Berga Naval College]: echo at buoy 42
... At 23.05, from Berga Naval College: the echo has disappeared and
the object that was also seen by binoculars is no longer visible.®

This day, 6 October, was not such a dramatic day as some of the
others. Only one depth charge was dropped. Some kind of small sub-
mersible or midget submarine seems to have operated in the area of
Mirsgarn-Nisudden, perhaps up to Berganids. Sub-surface activity
seems also to have taken place in the area of Jungfruhuvud and
Frinsholmen®” and possibly at Musko Naval Base, while one or two
indications from another possible submarine were reported from the
area outside the northern exit.

Colonel Lars-G. Persson writes in his diary that a group under the
command of Lieutenant-Colonel Sven-Olof Kviman was set up at
Milsten to cover the southern exit of Mysingen. The mine barrages
were still used for reconnaissance.’® The Stockholm Coastal Defence
Staff Report states:

[at] 23.39, order from MBO: first, CSK deploys forces for MS1, MS2
and MS3 [Milsten mine barrages 1, 2 and 3], KO1 [Korso 1] and LB1
and LB2 [Lingbilingen 1 and 2]; second, deploy special force and
reconnaissance force; third, in cooperation with OrIBO [Naval Base
East] and CSeM [Chief Central Air Section] prevent [the foreign
power] from gaining control of the submarine; fourth, place patrol
boats at the disposal of COrIBO [Chief of Naval Base East] in agree-
ment with COrlBO; fifth, receive platoon 2 X 40 men from KI/FO 44;
sixth, receive air-defence forces from Lv3 at BOS [Berga Naval
College]; seventh, after order, from 16.00 tomorrow, deploy mine
barrage . . . [northern exit]; eighth, receive reconnaissance force from
[the regiments] P10, I1 and Ing1.%

General Lennart Ljung writes in his diary that, at 07.55, the West
German Defence Attaché, Lieutenant-Colonel Bachelin, handed over
a very urgent message from Hamburg. The Commander-in-Chief
himself immediately went to the office of the Prime Minister. At
09.00, General Ljung presented the telegram to Prime Minister
Filldin. They both questioned the basis for the information in the tele-
gram, and decided that it should not influence the direction of the
ongoing activities. Filldin, however, told General Ljung to inform the
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new Prime Minister, Olof Palme. At 09.30, the Commander-in-Chief
met Olof Palme in parliament. Both pledged their support. “We will
continue in Harsfjiarden as before.”1?

I spoke with Thorbjérn Filldin, who did not want to talk about the
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telegram because it ‘concerned the relationship to a foreign power’.
He did not ‘remember’ anything of its content, he said. Chief of Staff
Vice-Admiral Stefenson said that he had ‘no recollection of such a tele-
gram, and adds that if it had implications for the hunt he would have
known’.1%! T also spoke with Colonel Bachelin, who said that the tele-
gram had been sent from Bonn to the Swedish Defence Staff and that
he had been contacted by Vice-Admiral Stefenson. The two of them
had also spoken with General Ljung. According to Bachelin, a man in
Hamburg — an alleged Soviet civilian captain — had said that the sub-
marines in Swedish waters were armed with nuclear weapons and
would detonate their bombs if attacked by the Swedes. Bachelin told
me that the captain had earlier come up with false information. ‘It was
a mistake to send this telegram,” he said. This is one — and perhaps the
most likely — interpretation. Another interpretation would be that a
Soviet or Western submarine was desperately trying to get out and
needed a ceasefire from the Swedish authorities, which the threat of a
nuclear detonation might possibly help to establish. For example, the
submarine that was under heavy fire on the previous day might have
needed a ceasefire in order to escape. In that case, the telegram would
have been the result of a (US, British, Italian or West German) decep-
tion operation (see below). It might also have been a test to see if
Sweden would back out in the event of a nuclear threat. Ljung’s and
Bachelin’s versions do not conflict on any essential points. However,
Stefenson’s and Bachelin’s versions are contradictory.

General Ljung informed Filldin that he had to go to Kristianstad
to accompany the Norwegian Commander-in-Chief, General Sven
Hauge, to the command of the Southern Military District, with Vice-
Admiral Bengt Schuback as host. General Ljung left Stockholm at
12.45. He kept an aircraft on alert in Kristianstad in case he had to
return suddenly. He had a meeting with Hauge until 21.00, when he
returned to Stockholm. At 23.00, he briefed Foreign Minister
Ullsten.'? In an interview, Hauge stated that Norway was better
equipped to hunt submarines because of its frigates and NATO mem-
bership.!% In Stockholm in the evening, Prime Minister Filldin, State
Secretary Hirdman and Acting State Secretary Dinkelspiel discussed a
possible announcement by the government, but, to quote Hirdman,
‘we decided at the last minute to wait, because we had no information
concerning the nationality of the intruding submarine’.!® In other
words, the government had no clear view on the nationality issue — at
least, they were not convinced that it was a Soviet submarine.

Thursday 7 October
Just before midnight, there was a report about an intermittent radar
echo west of the northern tip of Skramsé (at Muskd Naval Base)
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12. 7 October.

close to the retired destroyer Hilsingland. There was also some oil
on the surface close to the destroyer. At 01.30 there was a report
about bubbles in the water north of Skramsg,!%> and the war diary
continues:
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At 02.46, 751 observes something looking like an antenna [in the
water] close to the destroyer. Biscayan is going there . . . At 04.15, from
Stenqvist: Biscayan has seen lights on board Hgd [the destroyer
Hilsingland] . . . At 04.20, voices and torches on board Hgd. [To] the
reconnaissance force: You are not allowed to enter the ship until it is
light . . . At 05.58 from Linton: reconnaissance force at Hgd has not
seen anything. The island will be searched by dogs, when it is light . . .
At 08.16, deputy CE [Chief of the Harbour] reports: the dogs have
searched northern Skramso. Nothing to report. There is thin oil outside
Dock Three.!0¢

In the night, there was some sub-surface activity at Musko Naval Base
at Skramso close to the retired destroyer Hdalsingland. There were
seemingly even people on board the empty ship. Later, the sea-floor
investigation found parallel tracks of a small tracked submersible
under the retired destroyer Smdland at Mirsgarn in northern
Haérsfjarden. Intelligence personnel believed that this submersible had
been hiding under the destroyer to avoid ships (Mb 95 and others)
with echo sounders that covered the area. The empty destroyers might
have been used as a base for the submersibles and their crews. The
reconnaissance force or the special force for that matter was not
allowed to enter the ship until it was light almost two hours after the
observation. This ‘cautious policy’ would indicate a commanding
officer who either avoided any risk or actually knew that the destroy-
ers were involved in something that he couldn’t touch.

At 10.30, two observers reported the top of a small submarine sail
(1.5-2 metres wide and 0.2 metres above the surface) going eastwards
at a speed of 10 knots north of Kors6 (at Sandhamn). The observers
also reported a 0.5- to 1-metre periscope or mast on the sail.!?” The
estimated high speed is untypical for such a small vessel. Either the sail
is larger or the estimated speed is too high or both. The high periscope
or rather mast may indicate a small sail with a fixed mast or a mast
erected from a vertical position, which supports the hypothesis of
mini-submarine of under 30 metres. This is certainly not the same sub-
marine as the one with a ‘10-metre-high’ sail, which was observed in
the Sandhamn area on 4 October.

Concurrently with this incident, the Belos investigated the area of
the submarine hunt at Nisudden by using the remote-controlled video
camera Sjougglan (Sea Owl). An officer on Belos said that Sjougglan
passed over a parallel track on the sea floor, which led to an area of
black mud in the water, seemingly stirred up by the above-mentioned
bottom-crawling submersible. He also said that, in the sea-floor inves-
tigation on 20 October, the tracks of Sjougglan were found to have
crossed the tracks of the bottom-crawling submersible. Belos’s inves-
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tigation, however, was interrupted at lunchtime by dramatic develop-
ments at the northern exit of Hérsfjirden. A submarine was believed
to be forcing its way through the nets out to Mysingen. Colonel Lars-
G. Persson, commander of the special force boarding detail, wrote in
his diary that he was on his way to Muské for a meeting with the staff
of the Eastern Military District but had to turn around, because of a
(submarine) breakout, or attempted breakout, at the northern exit. !
The naval base war diary records the following:

At 12.56, from Coastal Defence boat 410: the buoys [linked to the sub-
marine net between] at Lingholmsgrund and Alvsta Lingholmar are
moving. Hercules is ordered to support 410. At 12.59, to Viktaren: go
immediately to Alvsta Lingholmar-Lingholmsgrund. At 13.00, Y70
goes to the area. At 13.01, [order] to Y70: hover east of the buoys. At
13.07, Y68 starts and asks for order. Replace Y70 and receive order
from Y70. At 13.09, Y44 in the air. Order: cover the net at
Langholmsgrund . . . At 13.40, from 410: the buoys have moved 50
metres towards east, against the wind, and then back and another 50
metres west of their original position . . . At 13.47, to Mysing: attack
with depth charge. [At 13.49-13.53 Mysing drops two depth charges
at DQ 128 037 northeast Bergholmen. No detonation.] . . . At 14.10,
from Mysing: bearing 098 degrees, distance 900 metres, sonar echo,
low Doppler, depth 20 metres . . . Order [from naval base]: attack with
four depth charges. At 14.12, from Mysing: two depth charges in the
water. At 14.13, four depth charges in the water — three detonated. At
14.15, four detonated. Last position: DQ 130 036 [1.5 km northeast
of Bergholmen] . . . At 14.535, oil spill to the surface at Bergholmen. At
14.56, 448 drops Malin at Bergholmen [against oil patch] . .. At 15.04,
from Y68: Malin is sending where it was dropped . . . At 15.11, [the
helicopter] Y64 in the air. Contact with Malin northwest of
Bergholmen. Y64 is going there . . . At 15.19, contact with Malin. Belos
is ordered to prepare divers for investigating Malin at Bergholmen . . .
At 15.25, submarine sail, with something white on the sail, at Berganis.
Alarm: submarine sail at Berganis. E[mil] Svensson briefed . . . At
15.57, contact with Malin. Y68, Y64 are trying to keep contact with
Malin. Order [from naval base]: cease fire. Also to Viktaren. At 15.58,
from naval base: units in western Hérsfjirden are given right to fire
[because of submarine at Berganis] . . . At 16.12, from Belos: we have
no position for the divers. Order to Viktaren: Give Malin’s position to
Belos . . . At 16.31, Belos’s divers in the water at Bergholmen . . . At
16.43, from Y68: Doppler echo [between Berganis and Alvsta
Lingholmar]. At 16.45, from Y68: one depth charge dropped. At
16.48, from Belos: the divers are in the water. Nothing to report. At
16.50, order to Belos: go to position east Lingholmsgrund. Prepare for
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the deployment of divers . . . At 17.15, order to Belos: anchor east of
the net at Lingholmsgrund-Alvsta Langholmar. The divers are to inves-
tigate the net. Check if the submarine has tried to force its way through
...At 17.46, from Belos: we can start to dive at 18.15 . . . [At 18.31,
to Belos: same order as 17.15] . . . At 18.40, from Belos: ‘Shall we
report in plain language?’ From naval base: I will come back [to youl].
At 18.47, Belos proposes that permission to dive is granted until task is
carried out.'”?

Doppler and sonar echo at a depth of 20 metres indicated the pres-
ence of a submarine. The moving submarine nets — first in one direc-
tion and immediately afterwards in the other — might also have
indicated submarine activity (the nets were replaced on 8-9 October,
which suggests that they were damaged). Lieutenant-Commander
Hans Kalla, attack diver and later captain of the Belos (1985-87), told
me that there were big holes in the submarine nets, which has been
confirmed by intelligence personnel. After the dropping of six depth
charges targeted on the echo at Bergholmen (or 1.5 km northeast of
Bergholmen and almost 3 km east of the nets), the submarine seemed
to leak oil. Malin was dropped at Bergholmen. General Ljung writes:
one Malin ‘was allegedly attached [to the object] and is now sending
signals’.!1? The war diary indicates that Malin was possibly attached
to a submarine. A few minutes later, there was a new contact with
Malin. The position was now reported as northwest of Bergholmen,
and a helicopter proceeded to the location. This helicopter, Y64, made
contact at 15.19. At 15.57, the helicopter was still reporting contact
with Malin, but the helicopters and the small attack craft Viktaren
were ordered to cease fire by the naval base.

Y64 hovered over the ‘object’ for 40 minutes. Fifteen years ago, 1
was told by a conscript from Harsfjirden that a helicopter had
hovered over a submarine for 40 minutes without receiving any
orders. He believed that the leadership — or perhaps Prime Minister
Thorbj6rn Filldin — had been indecisive and that the helicopter had
to leave because it was short on fuel. The helicopter, however, had to
leave because of a ceasefire. Neither Thorbjorn Filldin nor General
Ljung seems to have been consulted. Ljung was preoccupied with the
use of mines and about the possible breakout through the nets (see
below). Both he and Filldin decided to escalate the operation, not to
de-escalate it. [t was the naval base — or perhaps the most senior officer
at the base, Vice-Admiral Stefenson — which was first ‘indecisive’ and
then went for a ceasefire. After this, the Viktaren was ordered to give
Malin’s position to the Belos. At that point, this was northwest of
Bergholmen. Half an hour later, the Belos’s divers went into the water
where Malin had been located. However, according to the Chief
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Diving Officer, Ingemar Lundell, they found no submarine.!'! The
Belos was soon ordered to check the nets. The captain of the Belos
asked if he should report in coded or ‘plain language’.

Dagens Nyheter reported: ‘Divers checked the damaged submarine
net. It was found to be cut. A submarine had broken through. A mili-
tary hospital was made ready to receive people from a damaged sub-
marine.’!'? Lieutenant-Colonel Hikan Séderlindh, Chief of OPG,
Chief of Operations Defence Staff (OP2), told me that, according to
his information, the most serious incident — directly linked to
Hérsfjiarden — took place on 7 October after the drop of depth charges
at the northern exit.

General Ljung’s diary notes that CM (Chief of the Navy Vice-
Admiral Rudberg) had been out in Hérsfjirden (either the night before
or during the preceding day). The helicopter division reported,
according to Rudberg, that the submarine might have been able to
escape. There were still high spirits. At 10.00, Ljung had a meeting
with Rudberg and Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson. They
briefed General Ljung about the submarine hunt and discussed pos-
sible preparations for a de-escalation of the hunt and new develop-
ment programmes.!''> At 14.10, Ljung wrote: ‘COrIBO [Chief of
Naval Base East Rear-Admiral Kierkegaard]: submarine breakout at
the northern passage. One depth charge dropped. Target lost.”!1* At
14.30, General Ljung decided to use mines against the intruding sub-
marine.

At 14.30, SCO [Chief of Staff of the Eastern Military District, Major-
General Gustaf Welin] requested authorization for using mine barrages
against submarine. Answer: ‘Yes.” At 14.30, I briefed Prime Minister
Thorbjoérn Filldin about my decision and he consented (‘T understand.
Carry on.’). At 14.35, Palme’s secretary is given a message for Palme (at
press conference). At 14.40, Hirdman is informed about my decision.
At 15.00, [Lieutenant-Commander Carl-Johan] Arfvidson [Chief of the
Naval Unit at the Defence Staff Operations Division] reported about
mine detonated west of Nattaré [Milsten]. Oil patch. At 15.10, Chief
of Staff [Vice-Admiral Stefenson] from Musks Naval Base: possibly
mistake at Nittars. COrlBO [Rear-Admiral Kierkegaard]: KA1 [Coastal
Defence Regiment] activates mine barrages in the north. At 15.20, order
from Commander-in-Chief to Stockholm Coastal Defence and to Naval
Base East via [Hakan] Séderlindh [Chief of OPG, Defence Staff
Operations]: only use mines when there is no risk to civilian traffic.'®

Gustafsson and Andersson, the incoming and outgoing ministers of
defence, met to discuss the situation. Vice-Admiral Stefenson travelled
to Berga and Harsfjirden by helicopter after lunch when the situation
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became tense at the northern exit at 13.00. He contacted Ljung from
Muské at 15.10 and stayed at the naval base for six hours'!'® — as
though he wanted to run the show as a local commander.

Ulf Adelsohn, the leader of the Conservative Party, noted in his
diary that General Ljung called him around 15.00: “The submarine
had gone straight through the net.”''” At 15.30, General Ljung wrote
that the breakout would be confirmed within an hour. At 15.50, Ljung
briefed Hirdman and Filldin: breakout still not confirmed. At 16.00,
he wrote that it was most likely that there had been a breakout. The
Belos was going there with divers, which could take some time. At
19.30, there was still no information about the nets.'!® Several times,
between 14.10 and 19.30, General Ljung asked if the breakout had
been confirmed, but the Belos did not start checking the nets until
18.30, perhaps even later. The following day (8 October), General
Ljung wrote that it had not been possible to investigate the nets on
7 October because the Belos had been investigating Malin, which was
attached to another object.!'” Despite his repeated inquiries, the
Commander-in-Chief was not informed about the nets in the after-
noon, the evening or the night of 7 October. On the following day, he
was informed that the nets were going to be checked on that day
instead. According to an officer close to General Ljung, Ljung sent his
own intelligence people to the naval base because he did not trust the
reports he was receiving from there.

A parallel observation of a submarine in the afternoon in northern
Haérsfjirden is interesting. This observation is reported in General
Ljung’s diary, in the naval base war diary and in the Naval Analysis
Group Report. Ljung wrote: ‘At 16.05, visual sighting: periscope at
Berganis.’!?? According to the naval base war diary, the observation
was made at 15.25 (40 minutes before Ljung was informed), but the
war diary mentioned a ‘submarine sail with something white on the
sail at Berganis’.!?! After this visual observation, a helicopter received
a Doppler echo and a depth charge was dropped. This is not just an
observation of a periscope. This is, except for the incidents at Liding6
on 29 September and Dalar6é on 4 October, the only reports of sub-
marine sails in daylight. A submarine with a damaged periscope may
have had to surface its sail in order to prepare for a breakout some
hours later (which seems to have taken place at 20.25-20.45), or the
submarine may have surfaced because it wanted to help another sub-
marine in trouble, which would fit well with what happened at
Bergholmen at more or less the same time. It is, however, very risky
to surface in such a way when one is on the wrong side of the narrow
passage.

But how could a square submarine sail with some detail become
simply a ‘periscope’ in General Ljung’s diary? And why did it disap-
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pear from all open sources? This submarine sail appears neither in the
Submarine Defence Commission Report (1983) nor in the 1995
Submarine Commission Report. At the naval base, this incident
created an alarm: a submarine sail in daylight is remarkable: ‘At 15.25,
submarine sail with something white on the sail at Berganis. Alarm.
Submarine sail at Berganis. E. Svensson is briefed.”'?? In other words,
this information went directly to the Chief of the Naval Analysis
Group, Commander Emil Svensson, which gives an indication of his
special role during the hunt. He was immediately informed, and
through him most likely Vice-Admiral Stefenson. Stefenson would
then have told the Commander-in-Chief, General Ljung, about the
‘periscope’. Thus, the information went straight up, but was for some
reason modified. There is no indication that this information went
through the formal hierarchy, through the Eastern Military District or
the Chief of Operations at the Defence Staff. Commander Bengt
Gabrielsson, Chief of Naval Operations, Eastern Military District,
says that he was informed neither about a periscope nor of a subma-
rine sail on 7 October. He wrote large parts of the material for the
Submarine Defence Commission Report, and the war diary for the
Eastern Military District was used for writing this report. It is there-
fore natural that the Submarine Defence Commission Report includes
nothing about a submarine sail on 7 October. This information never
reached the commission, he said. However, the Submarine Defence
Commission also had access to Commander Svensson’s classified
report from the Naval Analysis Group. This report states: ‘At 15.20,
an object observed optically west of Alvsta LAingholmar (classification:
possible submarine — not submarine).”'?* There are no details.

In an attachment to this document, Svensson mentioned a three- to
four-metre dark square object. The top of the sail was rugged, possibly
because of masts or other instruments. Svensson interpreted the ‘white
on the sail’ as ‘white bow-waves’, and he concluded: ‘such behaviour
is unlikely for a submarine in this area’.’?* Despite a detailed report
and a Doppler echo he was not willing to give the observation a high
priority. True, neither the behaviour of the submarine nor the descrip-
tion of the sail seemed to fit with any Soviet submarine but rather with
the 35- to 40-metre submarine reported on 4 October. This is no
proof of Western involvement, but it is still remarkable that this infor-
mation — as with the Liding6 and Dalaro submarines (the only reports
of a submarine sail in daylight) — did not appear in any open sources
afterwards.

The naval base war diary continues:

At 20.25 . .. the net between Alvsta Lingholmar and Lingholmsgrund
is moving 100 metres towards east. To fast attack craft: go immediately
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... At 20.30, to Chief of First Helicopter Division: start one helicopter
... At20.45, from [MB] 457: the buoys [of the net] are moving against
the wind . . . At 21.35, [the helicopter] Y72 reports possible submarine,
low Doppler, speed 8 knots [south Oxné Udde; classified by the Naval
Analysis Group Report as ‘certain submarine’].'? . .. At 21.38, order to
Viktaren: prepare for drop of four depth charges . . . At 21.44, Viktaren
towards Soderhill . . . At 21.50, from Y72: contact [object] at high speed
north of Snappudd . . . At 21.56, from Y72: just north of Norrhill . . .
At 22.01, from Y72: 500 metres northeast Norrhill . . . At 22.27, from
Viktaren: 0.5M northeast Mysingeholm . . . At 22.41, from Viktaren:
probable submarine. At 22.42, from Y72: certain submarine . . . Order
from naval base: drop four depth charges. From Viktaren: target lost
... At 22.52, from Viktaren: sonar contact, no Doppler, possible sub-
marine. At 22.54, from Viktaren: attack. At 22.55, sonar contact lost
... At 23.02, order from the naval base: cease fire. At 23.03, from
Viktaren: Does this mean that I should stop and go back? Answer [from
naval base]: Maintain contact. At 23.05, from Viktaren: New contact,
what shall we do? Answer [from naval base]: maintain contact. At 23.06,
contact Mysingeholm in bearing 034 degrees, 1,400 metres. [From
Viktaren: certain submarine — possible submarine] . . . At 23.12, order
from OB [Commander-in-Chief] via MBO [Commander of the Eastern
Military District]: only one depth charge at the time against confirmed
indication. Ceasefire for the Coastal Defence mine barrages . . . At
23.26, from OB: provisional ceasefire for the mine barrages. At 23.28,
Viktaren moves south . . . At 23.35, from Mysing: clear echo in bearing
153 degrees, 200 metres from southern tip of Mysingeholm. At 23.46
from Viktaren: contact at southern tip of Mysingeholm.!2¢

According to the Submarine Defence Commission Report, a fast
attack craft had sonar contact with a submarine after the ceasefire had
been declared. The captain was not permitted to drop depth charges
and saw this as a missed opportunity.'?” The ceasefire was ordered by
the Commander-in-Chief on the recommendation of the Chief of
Staff, Vice-Admiral Stefenson (see below). This was the second time
on 7 October that the Viktaren received a ceasefire order when it
seemingly was in contact with a submarine. In the 1982 internal Navy
report, the latter submarine is described as a ‘certain submarine’.!?® In
both cases, Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson seems to have taken the
initiative to end the hunting. The captain of the Vaktaren, Lieutenant-
Commander Lars Wedin, said that, in the first case, the ceasefire was
ordered because of diving in the area. In the second case, it was a
general ceasefire. He added that he had had a clear echo from a sub-
marine in the latter case, but he was denied permission to do anything.
He was never informed about the reason for the ceasefire. ‘I dropped
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more depth charges then anybody else during the submarine hunt, but
I knew nothing about what actually happened’, he said. ‘I just got the
position from the helicopter about where to drop. The journalists
knew more than we did. We got our information from the TV.’

Vice-Admiral Stefenson’s cautious measures contrast with General
Ljung’s order to the mine barrages to stop the submarine by force. Up
until this point, mines had only been used in wartime. To decide to
activate the mine barrages was a clear escalation of the operation.
Thus, two seemingly contradictory decisions were taken almost simul-
taneously, but the decision makers were not the same in each case.
General Ljung’s decision was taken when Vice-Admiral Stefenson was
on his way to Hérsfjirden or had just arrived at Berga. Commander
von Hofsten (at Berga) writes that he received a telephone call and the
caller asked for Stefenson because mines had been detonated at
Milsten. Stefenson rushed to the telephone. ‘The first thing he said:
“We had an agreement about not using the mines.”’?° Von Hofsten is
dead and he never did reveal who called him. But if von Hofsten’s
quote about an ‘agreement’ is correct he is talking about somebody
with commanding authority for the mine barrages, who is close
enough to Stefenson to call him at von Hofsten’s office. This would
rather indicate a senior naval officer at the Eastern Military District,
because neither Brigadier-General Lars Hansson nor General Ljung
himself would have done it. Hansson says that Vice-Admiral Stefenson
came up to him on another occasion and asked who had given him the
right to use the mines, seeming both upset and critical. Nothing indi-
cates that Stefenson was consulted about this decision.

The sequence of events was as follows: Lieutenant-Colonel Jan
Svenhager, Chief of Staff, Stockholm Coastal Defence, and his chief,
Lars Hansson, had made a request to General Lehander about getting
approval for using the mine barrages. A few minutes after the believed
‘breakout’ at the net, Major-General Gustaf Welin, Chief of Staff,
Eastern Military District, turned to General Ljung and requested the
use of mines against the enemy submarine.'* Major-General Welin
says that he and his chief, Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander, dis-
cussed the issue and decided to turn to the Commander-in-Chief to get
approval for using the mines. Captain Goran Wallén, the most senior
naval officer at the Eastern Military District, was accordingly not con-
sulted. After Lehander’s decision, Welin called General Ljung to get
approval. The answer was ‘yes’.!3! General Ljung then turned to Prime
Minister Thorbjorn Filldin. While Vice-Admiral Stefenson went to the
naval base to de-escalate the operation, the chiefs of the Coastal
Defence and the Eastern Military District turned to General Ljung to
escalate the operation or rather to prepare for an escalation at Milsten.

The contrast between the two decisions is interesting. In the
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morning, Vice-Admiral Rudberg and Vice-Admiral Stefenson had
already proposed a de-escalation of the hunt, a policy Stefenson seem-
ingly was carrying out in the afternoon and during the following week,
while the Coastal Defence and, to some extent, the Eastern Military
District went for an escalation. There was a struggle between the two
sides about the use of mines, while the use of depth charges, which pri-
marily was under the control of the naval base, was reduced from 45
in the first week to two the following week. Different people influenced
General Ljung, which reflects two different ‘power networks’, which
would be more clearly visible in connection with the use of mines at
Milsten in the coming days. After some initial misunderstandings and
technical problems, Milsten soon became the hot spot of the subma-
rine hunt. The Milsten war diary for 7 October states the following;:

At 14.20, from COrIBO [Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard]: Alarm,
possible breakout [through the nets at Alvsta Lingholmar]. At 14.30,
from CSK [Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence, Brigadier-General Lars
Hansson]: order to activate the mines. Stop the submarine. All troops
are briefed. Order: [The trigger for the mines barrage turned to] auto-
matic against submarine. Conversation with OrIBO about getting boats
to stop civilian traffic. [At 14.48, repeated order: the system should be
switched to automatic.’®?] At 14.50, mine detonation at CM [MS2 at
Misknuv]. Milsten demanded boats to control the civilian traffic. We
got two boats. Stop all civilian traffic. From COrIBO: helicopter on its
way ... At 16.10, from CSK [Hansson]: do not stop civilian traffic. Stop
submarine on its way out, but do not sink it. Graduated use of force
[turn off the sensor signals a couple of times before detonating the mine;
automatic trigger turned off] . . . At 16.45, after some controversies:
civilian traffic to pass through Danziger Gatt. [The civilian traffic was let
out through the more shallow eastern passage on the eastern side of
Milsten. The shallower water would make it impossible for a submarine
to pass out under a civilian ship. The deeper western side was closed for
civilian traffic, because here a submarine might be able to hide under a
civilian vessel and thereby escape] . . . At 18.36, detonation of mine RN
LI [MS3 at Yttre Garden]. At 18.39, indication MS1. No measures
taken. At 18.40, detonation of mine RN LI. At 18.47, radar disturbances
Yttre Girden—Mailsten. At 19.05, disturbances ended . . . At 21.45, from
CSK [Hansson]: Possibly another attempt to break out [through the nets
at Alvsta Lingholmar]. At 23.20, from MBO [Commander of the
Eastern Military District, Lieutenant-General Lehander]: cease fire.'33

Brigadier-General Hansson’s version fits rather well with the Milsten
war diary. Hansson went out to Musko Naval Base in the afternoon.
He was informed by Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard, chief of the
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naval base, that a submarine had just passed out of a narrow channel
(a submarine net was damaged) and they had dropped six depth
charges in an effort to force the submarine to the surface. Kierkegaard
also said that Hansson had received approval from the Defence Staff
to use the mines. Hansson immediately called Lieutenant-Colonel
Sven-Olof Kviman at Milsten and gave him an order to use the mines
against the approaching submarine. Soon, two mines exploded at
Meilsten and later another two mines were detonated. !

The commander at Milsten, Sven-Olof Kviman, says that the first
two mines exploded automatically after the triggering mechanism had
been turned to ‘automatic’. He had, despite warnings, been given the
order to switch the triggering mechanism from manual to automatic.
Some of the new ‘floating mines’ were very sensitive and could deto-
nate unintentionally when changed to automatic because a mine might
move over iron ore in the earth’s crust. This is probably what hap-
pened, according to Kviman. Milsten received the order to switch to
automatic at 14.30 and allegedly a repeated order at 14.48.135 Kviman
argued that, soon after having been changed to automatic, at 14.50,3¢
two floating mines exploded west of Mésknuv.

The naval base war diary states that ‘at 18.36 and 18.40, two mines
were detonated . . . At 18.56, transport boat 321 reported strong radar
disturbances between Yttre G&rden and Masknuv [Milsten]. Totally
disturbed . . . At 19.05, the disturbances gone.’'3” ‘Because of a very
careful check of the surface at the mine barrage [it was almost dark]
and because of demand to receive the right to use force, a relatively
long time passed between indication and detonation . . . Because of
the late detonation a possible submarine would not have been
damaged’ and ‘FMV concludes that the indication has been caused by
a vessel below the surface’.!3® The disturbances took place just south
of 321 in the area of the mine barrage a few hundred metres from the
boat. Transport boat 477 reported a very clear radar echo — as large
as 321 — visible three times, each time for some 20 seconds, a few
hundred metres south of 321 exactly in the area where the distur-
bances took place. After a few minutes, just after 19.00 when 321
approached the echo at a distance of a couple of hundred metres, the
echo disappeared.’?® A clear radar echo (most likely a submarine)
appeared just north of the mine barrage, while radar disturbances
were directed towards north as if this vessel was blinding the radar of
321 and was transmitting and receiving signals after having survived
the passage of the mine barrage 15 minutes earlier. This behaviour is
typical for a submarine that needs instructions from a commanding
authority. If there was a submarine that had provoked the indication
in the mine barrage, it would have survived because the mines were
not detonated until about 60 seconds after the ‘passage’.!4°
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The same incidents are described by General Ljung. At 15.00,
Carl-Johan Arfvidson at the Defence Staff Operation Division
reported a mine detonated west of Nittard (this is not correct;'*! he
had been informed by the Chief of Staff at Muskd, Commander Lars-
Erik Hoff, who had just called him). At 15.10, Chief of Staff Vice-
Admiral Stefenson reported from Muské that the mine at Nittar6 had
possibly detonated by mistake, probably as a result of bad wiring.
Rear-Admiral Kierkegaard activated additional mine barrages in the
north (Oxnd Udde-Stora Stenholmen).'*> Another set of depth
charges and three mines were discharged at Mailsten, outside
Haérsfjirden, without results. At 19.30, Vice-Admiral Stefenson was
still at the naval base. He reported that there was no information
about the submarine nets (even though the Belos had reported to the
naval base about the nets one hour earlier). At 22.00, he called
General Ljung (from Stockholm):!*? three mines had been triggered
manually after indications (this was not correct). In his call to Ljung,
Stefenson proposed a ‘provisional ceasefire’ for the mine barrages and
for the dropping of volleys of depth charges in order to guarantee
security and calm down the operational personnel at the naval base.!**
Ljung writes: ‘Order according to Stefenson’s proposal.”’'*’ According
to the Milsten war diary, a ceasefire order for the mine barrages was
received at 23.20.'¢ The Submarine Defence Commission Report
states that the ceasefire was declared at 23.30.1%7

Friday 8 October
The submarine classified as a ‘certain submarine’ on the previous
evening at Mysingeholm may have gone further south in the night,
perhaps towards Ostra Roko. At 02.38-02.58, Mysing and
Viktaren have several contacts with an echo 2-3 kilometres north
of Ostra Réko in southern Mysingen.’!*® The naval base war diary
continues:

At 06.38, from Skarprunmarn: [magnetic] indication in both lines.
Something is on its way from Sandhamn to Kanholmsfjirden . . . At
09.28, Belos ready. Has checked the [submarine] nets. Report by tele-
phone. No divers in the water . . . [At 12.50, from Visborg at Vitsa: hill
in the water towards Arsta Havsbad, 2-3 knots, visible for one minute,
0.4-0.5 metres high and 1 metre in diameter.'*] At 13.10, from
Visborg: strange echo at Vitsd . . . To Mode . . . Check radar echo and
waves outside Visborg . . . At 13.28, Y72 in the air. Y71 in the air. [A
number of oil patches reported during the day] . . . At 16.40, from hel-
icopter division: heard intermittent knocking sounds from the sonar
buoy [at the northern exit of Harsfjirden] . . . At 18.03, Blidé reports
about radar echo at low speed in southern Hérsfjirden between
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Vitsgarn and Kiringholmen . . . At 18.52, helicopter division reports:
the knocking sounds are still there. Also heard by Sjohunden . . . At
21.03, from Viktaren: strange knocking sound in bearing 270 degrees.
My position 2/10 north of Bergholmen.!*?
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For the evening, the naval base war diary states:

[At 19.05-19.40, radar echoes and scraping sounds towards the net at
Alvsta Ldngholmar at the northern exit of Harsfjirden.] At 19.10, from
Sjohunden (west of the choke point]: the scraping sounds are becom-
ing stronger . . . At 19.35, from Sjohunden: intermittent radar echo in
bearing 047°, distance from the net 290 metres. Going towards the net.
Scraping sounds . . . At 19.40, helicopter on its way. To Mode and
Viktaren [on the eastern side of the net]: high alert, indications [report
21.06: at 19.40, x-band notation, possible submarine, position 0.3M
west Oxné Udde (on the eastern side of the net)]. At 19.47, from
Sjohunden: very strong indication. I want a helicopter . . . 19.58, Y71
in the air . . . At 20.10, from Blid6 (passive sonar): sounds like divers
breathing, position 0.3M south Kiringholmen . . . At 20.47, Y71
returns [no contact].’!

In the morning, one submarine may have gone towards the southern
exit of Mysingen, towards Milsten. At lunchtime, most likely a small
submersible went westwards in northern Harsfjirden. Later, there was
a report from southern Hérsfjirden. From 16.40 until at least 21.00,
there were several reports of knocking sounds in the area close to
Bergholmen outside the northern exit of Harsfjirden. In other words,
the sounds seemed to originate from the same area that Malin had
been located in the day before. The knocking sounds possibly indi-
cated repair work on the submarine damaged the day before. On the
other hand, there were still visual observations from inside
Hérsfjirden and, later, a number of sonar contacts, radar echoes and
then strong indications at the net, and scraping sounds indicating
another passage or perhaps a breakout attempt. These indications
point to a submersible or midget submarine, not the submarine that
went south in the morning and not the one that possibly was damaged
the day before. The sea-floor investigation found something believed
to be a print from the keel of a midget that had been crawling along
the sea floor through the passage between Huvudholmen and Alvsta
Langholmar. There were seemingly marks from a keel with propeller
marks on either side.!*> However, Cato and Larsson are more scepti-
cal about this observation.!33

In the morning, the provisional ceasefire from the previous night
was terminated. This decision was taken by General Ljung after the
morning meeting. Ljung writes:

At 08.00, briefing: conversation with Chief of the Navy [Rudberg] and
Chief of Staff [Stefenson]. At 08.30, [new] order: volleys of depth
charges according to the MBO rules [end of ceasefire]. Right to use fire
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for the mine barrages in daylight under the condition of safety on the
surface [this decision did not reach Milsten until 10.20]. At 08.30,
Palme was called and briefed. At 09.00, Adelsohn called. He was
briefed. He was irritated and wanted to know [referring to the mine
explosions at 18.36 and 18.40 on 7 October] why the mines had been
detonated [behind the submarine and] not directly under the subma-
rine.3* I explained, firstly, that it was not clear if it actually was a sub-
marine that had passed over the mine; secondly, that the policy was still
not to sink but to seriously damage the submarine. He seemed to be irri-
tated and asked if I had given such orders. I had not done that. I also
told him that, but that I supported the view as to when to give fire.!>

The Milsten war diary describes the decision to end the ceasefire:

At 10.20, order from CSK [Brigadier-General Hansson]: right to use
force during daylight in clear visibility. Not against surface targets.
Another patrol vessel arrives after lunch. CSK will take over the
command from Coastal Defence Staff after lunch. Order from CSK: no
graduated use of force [the mine is to be detonated directly under the
submarine]. At 10.50, order on fire: prevent submarine from passing.!*¢

Dagens Nyheter mentioned a radar contact in Harsfjarden; the subma-
rine rescue vessel Belos was investigating the northern exit; a hospital
close to Hérsfjirden was made ready to receive wounded and dead
submariners; and a number of ambulances were sent to Berga.!’’

At 12.00, Olof Palme returned to office as Prime Minister after six
years in opposition. He introduced his new government, with former
trade union leader Lennart Bodstrém as Foreign Minister and the local
Social Democratic leader Bérje Andersson as Defence Minister. Both
of these appointments came as a surprise, and they indicated that Olof
Palme himself wanted to play the dominating role in foreign and secur-
ity policy."® Palme appointed Ingvar Carlsson as Deputy Prime
Minister and the former Social Democratic State Secretary for Defence,
Ulf Larsson, as his own secretary. Kjell-Olof Feldt became Minister of
Finance. In his inaugural speech, Olof Palme said: ‘Swedish territory
will be defended with all available means.’!*® According to Aftonbladet,
Palme also said that Sweden ‘under certain circumstances might
destroy the submarine’.'®® At 16.00, the Commander-in-Chief and the
Chief of Staff had a meeting with the new Minister of Defence Bérje
Andersson and his State Secretary, Per Borg. At 17.00, the Minister,
Borg and the Chief of Staff went to Muskd Naval Base. ¢!

During the period 6-8 October, Rolf Andersson from FMV
(Swedish Defence Material) made the final calibration of the new
bottom-fixed sonar system at Milsten MAFU (Navy’s Experimental
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Equipment). After several submarine incidents during the summer,
Stockholm Coastal Defence had decided to supplement the magnetic
systems of the mine barrages with acoustic ones. A system was bought
from a Norwegian company, Ocean Research (later bought by Simrad).
On 31 August and 1 September, five microphones were deployed along
a line south of the mine barrages in Danziger Gatt (southeast of
Milsten from Torskboden and eastwards). Nos 1 and 5 were attached
by nylon cords, one to an underwater buoy (2 metres above the
bottom) and the other to the sea floor. Nos 2, 3 and 4 were placed on
platforms on the sea floor (about 1 metre above the bottom). In
September, Andersson visited Milsten every week in order to calibrate
the system. All activities in the waters around Milsten were followed
and tape-recorded from a small house in the southeastern corner of the
island of Milsten. On 6-8 October, Andersson made the final calibra-
tions for this system together with two representatives from Ocean
Research. On 9 October, this sonar system set up by FMV and
Stockholm Coastal Defence was referred to as ‘some FOA tests’.!6?
This sonar system was going to play a major role in the following days.

Saturday 9 October
Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff writes:

At 08.00, order from CSK [Brigadier-General Lars Hansson]: 2.1)
Command Persson [Colonel Lars-G. Persson] shall in cooperation with
COrIBO [Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard] prevent submarine from
getting out. In cooperation with COrIBO and CSeM prevent foreign
power from capturing the submarine. Be prepared to receive air-
defence forces from Lv3. Two hours readiness . . . For reconnaissance
tasks, take orders from COrlBO. 2.2) Command Kviman shall prevent
submarine from breaking out. Act as commander for Milsten and for
mine barrages MS1, MS2 and MS3 [Milsten 1, 2 and 3], LB1 and LB2
[L&ngbidlingen 1 and 2], for the sensor cable station at Stora
Stenholmen, for the reconnaissance boats 73 and 77 and for transport
boat M . . . 4) The mine barrages have the right to use fire during day-
light with clear visibility . . . At 15.15, CSK order: mine troops shall be
ready to start to deploy mine barrage at [the northern exit of
Hirsfjirden] 06.00 on 10 October.'¢3

The naval base war diary states that, during the night, new submarine
nets had been deployed at the northern exit of Harsfjarden:

At 00.45, nets set out between Rérholmen and Lilla Stenholmen and

between Stora Stenholmen and Lingholmsgrund on the inner side of
and attached to earlier nets. The net between Alvsta Ladngholmar and
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Stora Huvudholmen is in production and will be put out in the morning

of 9 October . . . [In the early morning, there were several echoes and

magnetic indications. At 01.20, Mode and ATB2 reported intermittent
radar echo 2/10 north of Lilla Huvudholmen] . . . At 06.15, from
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Milsten: clear visibility. We activated the mine barrages. At 07.00, from
[ammunition transport boat] ATB2 . . . strange indication in the echo
ranger. Something passed under the boat . . . At 11.29, from
Stenholmen: abnormal magnetic indication.!®*

In the afternoon at 15.15, a periscope was observed in Jungfrufjiarden,
and, at 16.15, there were two different observations of a periscope
east of Nimdo.' The Naval Analysis Group Report states: ‘At
15.13-15.16, optical observation of “pipe” [periscope] in Jung-
frufjairden. At 16.16, two observations of object southeast Vistra
Kyrkskir (east Nimdo) . . . At 20.15, GYP has IR contact north of
Nimdo.’ 1% The periscope or mast was described as dark and 1 metre
high, and the diameter was compared to the mast of a sailing boat
(about 0.2 metres). The observers at southeast Namdo described a
small, dark, narrow submarine sail going out at a relatively high speed.
The sail was reported to be extremely narrow (2 metres high and 0.5
metres [sic] wide) but wider at the base.'¢” If we accept this observa-
tion, we should rather think in terms of a small, narrow submarine
seen from behind, but the sail would be 1 metre, not 0.5 metres, wide.
The high mast and the narrow sail fit with the report from Dalar6 on
4 October.

General Ljung wrote about observations in Jungfrufjirden and at
Bulleron east of Nimdé.!%® These observations indicate that the sub-
marine was coming from Jungfrufjirden, or rather from Mysingen
and Dalard, and was entering open sea outside Bullerén. In the 1982
internal Navy report, this submarine was described as a ‘certain sub-

marine’.'®® The naval base war diary reported about a periscope at
15.05.170

At 15.45, [Coast Guard reconnaissance aircraft] GYP is sent to
Jungfrufjirden-Fjiderhillan-Smadalard. At 15.55, helicopter [Y72]
towards Jungfrufjirden. Observation south of Ostra Stendérren . . . At
16.17, Y72 reached its position. Cooperation with GYP. [At 17.30,
Defence Staff report about suspicious object seen at 16.16 at Ekholmen
Nimdo . . . Classification: possible submarine] . . . At 16.50, from
Sjohunden: transmission 4 ping per second 100 kHz for 20-30 seconds
... At 17.42, Blido reported: sonar contact [in Harsfjirden], possible
submarine between Kiringholmen and Mirsgarn. Helicopter on
highest alert. At 17.46, from Blido: position Kiringholmen, sonar
contact, motor sound. At 17.51, from Sjohunden: metallic sounds

direction Furuholmen [close to Mirsgarn] . . . At 18.01, from Blidé:
sonar contact close to Flygviken [Mirsgarn] . . . At 18.09, from Y71:
position Mirsgarn . . . At 18.37, new net between Alvsta Lingholmar

and Langholmsgrund . . . At 18.46, from Blido: first contact position
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DQ 080 025 and last contact DQ 082 035 [Blido reported that a sub-
surface object had moved from one position in the area between
Kéringholmen and Mirsgarn to another position off Mirsgarn closer
to Furuholmen] . . . At 19.08 . . . from Blido: after first contact lost,
clear propeller sound — with low turns per minute — for 10 seconds.. . .
At 22.34, from Blid6: echo at the distance of 150 metres . . . At 23.43,
from Stenholmen: [magnetic] indication. Nothing on the surface. At
23.45, to Mode and Snapphanen: probable passage at Stenholmen—
Oxnd Udde [at the northern exit of Hirsfjirden].'”!

Several clear indications on 9 October point to a submarine passing
Jungfrufjirden, Nimdofjirden and later Bullerén further out.
According to Commander Bjorn Eklind, Deputy Chief of Defence
Staff Intelligence, this submarine was believed to have passed out from
Mysingen through its northern exit at Dalaré on the night of 8-9
October. It was believed to have followed the western side of Orn6
Island (Ornostrémmar) to reach Jungfrufjirden. This channel is
narrow and shallow, less than 10 metres deep at its most shallow
point. If this submarine was the same as the one attacked outside the
nets on 7 October, it would have had to surface when passing Dalaro,
as did the submarine on 4 October. After this exit, there are still
several indications of a midget in northern Harsfjirden between
Mirsgarn and Kiringholmen. The submarine nets between Alvsta
Langholmar and Langholmsgrund were damaged in the afternoon on
7 October, and new nets were deployed at 18.00 on 9 October. Late
in the evening of 9 October, there was a probable passage between
Stenholmen and Oxn6é Udde (the northern choke point) a few
hundred metres east of the nets. This may have been the same small
vessel that had tried to pass out the night before. No serious incident
seems to have taken place on 9 October.
The Naval Base East intelligence report for 9 October states:

1. Briefing 09 12 00. 1.1. Foreign Naval Vessels: There are no known
foreign naval vessels in the area except for possible submarines. British
frigate F72 Ariadne visits Copenhagen 7-12 October. 1.2. Foreign State
Vessels: The Soviet Prof. Uchov has permission to pass southern
Kvarken on 10 October to visit Pited [some 1,000 kilometres further
north]. Return on 14 October. 1.3. Warsaw Pact Merchant Ships: At
12.30, Soviet ML Volgobalt 126 [position] at 12.00 CP 5030 destina-
tion Gdynia. No other ships in the area. 1.4. Conclusion: The naval
vessels and signal intelligence ships that were active in the early part of
the week participated in the celebration of Constitution Day on
7 October. After this, Warsaw Pact merchant ships appear to have taken
over signal intelligence tasks. 1.5. Foreign Submarine Activity: Since
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27 September, there have been a large number of reports of foreign sub-
marines. Our analysis concludes that, in addition to the object (prob-
able submarine) in Harsfjirden, there has most likely been one
submarine in the Sandhamn area. It is also possible that one submarine
has been in Mysingen. We have received indications that one subma-
rine may have passed through the northern barrier [the net at Alvsta
Langholmar]. Investigation of the barrier and other indications point
to the possibility that one submarine still operates inside the barrier
[COrIBO INT/CorlBO, from the Chief of the Naval Base, Rear-Admiral
Christer Kierkegaard].1”?

This intelligence report is not very alarming. The sharp contrast
between this report about low Soviet activity and the dramatic subma-
rine hunt in Hérsfjirden is striking. There is no Soviet mobilization of
force. If we believe the Swedish Navy was hunting Soviet submarines,
it is difficult to understand why these dramatic incidents were not
reflected in Soviet behaviour in the Baltic Sea. However, the events are
more easy to understand if we think in terms of Western submarines.

At 12.00, Brigadier-General Hansson, Chief of Stockholm Coastal
Defence, was ordered to appear at the office of the Commander-in-
Chief, General Lennart Ljung. When he arrived, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson and the Commander of the Eastern Military District,
Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander, were also present in the room,
but the Chief of the Navy, Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg, was not. There
was, according to Hansson, no fighting spirit. The Commander-in-
Chief and the Chief of Staff were gloomy. Hansson says that he was
ordered not to use the mines unless he had indications from the mag-
netic sensors of at least three mines. The larger the ship or submarine,
the larger the magnetic field, which would cause a greater number of
mines to indicate and a larger number of lamps to turn on in the
control room, he argued.!'”> Many submarines, however, are more or
less demagnetized, and they will create only a small magnetic field and
provoke indications from perhaps just one or two mines.'’# Hansson
believed that this order would have made it possible for a submarine
to pass out without the personnel at Milsten being able to do any-
thing. Hansson was also ordered not to use the mines at night even
though their night-vision scopes made it possible to see any surface
vessel in darkness. According to Hansson, Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral
Stefenson said: “We don’t want to have a massacre of submariners.”!”’

General Ljung’s version is a little bit different:

At 12.00, meeting at the Defence Staff building with CFst [Chief of
Staff Bror Stefenson], MBO [Bengt Leander], CSK [Lars Hansson]. We
discussed the question of the use of mines in the submarine hunt. My
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decision was: Continued prohibition against activating mines in dark-
ness or poor visibility (reason: security on the surface); if a submarine
passes the mine barrage, we will allow detonation of a single mine
directly under the submarine; additional fixed mines will be deployed
at the northern choke point [see above]; start a legal investigation on
how information about the fixed mines at M:lsten has leaked out; CFst
will find out about some FOA [Defence Research Establishment] tests
[with sonar systems mentioned on 8 October].'7®

After having read Ljung’s diary, it seems obvious that the experience
of 7 October and the talk with Adelsohn the day before might have
provoked the meeting. Ljung seems to have changed his views about
where the detonation should be, allowing the ‘detonation of a single
mine directly under the submarine’. The mine should now be deto-
nated without the personnel turning off the signal. This appears as
more of a ‘hardline policy’. At 13.40, Milsten actually received such
an order. ‘Order from CSK [Lars Hansson]: use of force in daylight
and clear visibility. No delay [they should no longer turn off the
signal]. Fire with one mine.”'”” Ljung does not mention any restric-
tions other than that of the ceasefire during the night. ‘At 18.05, to
[the mine barrages at Milsten] MS1 and MS3: cease fire because of
darkness . . . At 18.30 to MS2: cease fire.”!”8

At Milsten, Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman decided that this order
was not technically feasible. To avoid further mistakes — such as what
happened when the system was turned to automatic on 7 October —
they had to turn off the signal at least once, twice to be on the safe
side. Instead of demanding three indicating mines, which was of no
relevance, they interpreted the order as meaning that they should turn
off the signal twice and then, on the third time, give fire. This pro-
cedure might damage the submarine but not necessarily sink it.
Kviman said that Hansson and the staff meeting had misunderstood
the problem. The sensor signals of one mine had to be turned off to
check if there was a constant magnetic field over the mine, not just
some problem with the magnetic sensor system. On 7 October,
Milsten had followed an order that led to unnecessary mine explo-
sions, and they had been criticized for what happened afterwards.
They were not going to let the same thing happen once more.

Hansson was upset after the meeting at Ljung’s office. He did not
understand the mood of his superiors. The new night-vision scopes
had been proved to be efficient in darkness. The command at Milsten
had tested the control of the surface by towing a small rowing-boat to
the other side of the narrow passage. The experiment had been satis-
factory. In daylight, one could monitor the narrow passage without
binoculars. With the new night-vision scopes, one had full control of
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the surface even in darkness. A ceasefire in darkness would just make
the submarine hunt more difficult. Something seemed to have hap-
pened during the last day or two that had changed the mood of the
military leadership. Vice-Admiral Stefenson also spoke with Hansson
in confidence in a separate room. He said: ‘There are rumours about
a NATO submarine. We have to stop those [rumours].” Hansson was
surprised. Two days earlier, in an interview for Aftonbladet on the
national origin of the submarine, Hansson had said: ‘“We can only
make guesses ranging anywhere from a Russian submarine left behind
after the US naval visit to a NATO submarine that wanted to test
us.’'”? However, he had heard nothing about a possible NATO
involvement, either before or after Stefenson brought it up.

The above information forces us to look once again at the previ-
ously mentioned telegram from the Italian news agency Ansa, which
was also on 9 October. This stated that the Swedes were negotiating
with a foreign power in Geneva. In the early 1980s, it was ‘obvious’
that this foreign power was the Soviet Union, and Sweden was
believed to have negotiated a release of one or more submarine(s) with
them. Still, this information was never taken seriously. If the foreign
power was a NATO country, such negotiations would be more easy to
explain. At the time, the Italian radio news actually talked of Swedish
negotiations with a NATO country.'8 I later spoke to a source of this
information. He said that there were two Swedes in Geneva (one
industrialist and one military officer, but no one from the Foreign
Ministry). The meeting had taken place on 8 October. He claimed that
the original source was Italian Military Intelligence (SISMI) and con-
firmed that the submarine(s) originated from the USA. On the US side,
there were two military officers and two civilians at the meeting.
There was also an Italian representative present, a lieutenant-colonel
from SISMI. This telegram is still not confirmed, but a possible Italian
involvement in Hérsfjirden — with, for example, one or two Italian
special force submarines operating together with US submarines
under US general command — might explain an Italian presence in
Geneva. In high-risk operations, the USA may prefer to use forces
from other nations, and the Italian naval special forces were indeed
qualified for the task.

Another fact that supports this hypothesis is the presence of the
large US tanker Mormacsky (210 metres). In the afternoon
(14.30-16.00) of 9 October, the reconnaissance aircraft GYP reported
nine civilian ships altogether outside the southern Stockholm archi-
pelago, including a couple of Swedish and Finnish ships, a Danish and
a Dutch ship, and the US tanker Mormacsky.'®! The latter has been
used by the US Navy and the CIA as a support ship for covert opera-
tions, and it is most probably able to transport smaller submarines or
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submersibles in a hidden hangar below the surface similar to what was
done during the Second World War (see below on Italian operations).
If this ship was supposed to pick up one or two of the smaller subma-
rines, it might have been necessary to have a meeting, for example in
Geneva, to facilitate a release of these submarines before the ship was
supposed to pass the area.

Sunday 10 October
Between 00.00 and 01.15, the naval base war diary reported on the
continued submarine hunt with several indications, including mag-
netic indications close to the net at Alvsta Lingholmar.

At 01.20, Pingvinen reports: echo between Alvsta Lingholmar and
Arsta Havsbad. Moving slowly towards [bearing] 040 [degrees (north-
east). After this, several further indications]. At 01.58, Pingvinen
reports: lost contact . . . At 02.15, IR contact east of Gunnarstenarna
in bearing 089 degrees, distance 7,500 metres [southeast of
Milsten].'82 . . . At 05.30, about contact 02.15: may be periscope . . .
At 05.48, from Sjohunden: echo in bearing 346 degrees, distance 840
metres [west Alvsta Ldngholmar]. At 05.55, from Sjohunden: increase
of low-frequency sounds on my microphone [propeller sounds?] . . . At
13.31, the Commander-in-Chief reports: the Chief of the Navy places
the mine diver division [under the command of Kent Pejdell] at the dis-
posal of the Commander of the Eastern Military District . . . At 14.09,
[from Sjohunden]: transmissions at 100 kHz. [At 14.16, Sjéhunden
reports about special sonar for sub-surface transmitting.]'$3 . . . At
15.40, report from a reconnaissance aircraft: a bow of waves moving
towards southwest between Sjohunden and Berganis [at 14.00].184 . . .
At 16.00, [Chief of the Naval Base] asks for analysis of the photos taken
...At 18.57, from 514: indication on the radar 100 metres south of
Oxné Udde. .. At 21.45, [magnetic] indication. At 21.47, to Mode and
Snapphanen: search at Stora Stenholmen — Oxnd udde [at the northern
exit of Harsfjirden].!8’

The waters between Alvsta Langholmar and Arsta Havsbad are no
deeper than 20 metres — in some parts just 10-15 metres deep. New
indications in the area appeared in the afternoon. We are thus talking
about a submersible or a midget still operating in Harsfjarden. An IR
contact (and a possible periscope sighting) was made southeast of
Milsten at the Swedish territorial border. A submarine seemed to be
‘parked’ outside the final checkpoint at Milsten. At the northern exit
of Harsfjirden, there were also registered very high frequency (VHF)
signals that may have been used by the submarines for communica-
tion with a land-based network.

75



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

Arsta havebad

10 October

@ Submaring indication
15.03 Tirme

F ok 1 o
de e Ahan &
!';:i ??\ A -':'N."L']-'-E""-H-ﬁ a7 ing =
f; '1s ¥ gt v SR &
* E T k) 52
ﬂ o o, -\?‘."ﬁ = = L3
o e e
. f
&1 [
= o 1o
#i G e i o
= "
s
i« 02.15
L & Gidh - e
() Crarirarsslenarna ﬁ a

2 ki

15. 10 October.

At 02.55 Miilsten reported an aircraft without navigation lights
over Yttre Garden. Between 01.00 and 03.30, a large civilian ship,
Dalasand/Dalsund, was anchored in the area of Orngrund-Ostra Roko
4 kilometres north of Milsten. The captain reported that it had
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anchored to fill its tanks,'8¢ which is unusual for a commercial ship.
Afterwards, we were not able to find the ship in any public register.
The Chief of the Information Division, Commander Sven Carlsson,
said later that he was informed that a large crane had operated in the
area at this time (later, after the hunt, the submarine rescue vessel
Belos commuted between Masknuv (see 11 October) and the area of
Ostra Réko-Orngrund).'87 At 23.40, TP79 reports IR contact at Orn-
grund (in Mysingen [in the same area]) ’188 One submarine was pos-
sibly ready to leave Mysingen at Milsten for the open sea (see 11
October).

At Milsten, civilian traffic had had to pass on the eastern side of
the island - through Danziger Gatt — since 16.45 on 7 October,
because on the deeper western side a submarine might hide under a
ship when passing out. Before leaving Nynidshamn or before passing
the area, pilot authorities gave the captains of the merchant ships strict
orders to follow the eastern route. For 10 October, the Milsten war
diary reported that the ceasefire in darkness ended at 05.25 for MS1
and MS2 and at 05.45 for MS3.1%°

At 10.55, [the West German merchant ship] Borkum Riff was 5 km
north of Milsten . .. At 10.59, indications from radar and from lookout
that Borkum Riff would not go through Danziger Gatt. Called OrlBO
[Naval Base East] to make the pilots stop the ship. Tried to contact the
pilots via telephone (engaged). Tried to contact the ship via VHF (no
answer). Sent out a patrol vessel to stop Borkum Riff. No answer via
radio. At 11.03, Borkum Riff passed the mine barrage. Three mines
indicated (M3sknuv). Two mines indicated 50 metres behind the ship,
but the one in the middle was not turned on. Conclusion: distur-
bances.!??

I discussed this with Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman, who said that there
may have been disturbances in the magnetic field that explained this
incident. On the other hand, the West German captain acted in a
strange way. At 11.10, the naval base war diary confirmed this passage
and the lack of radio contact.””! At 21.50, the Milsten war diary
reported a clear indication in the magnetic sensor system. The mine
barrage indicated at 21.35. At 22.00, a report was sent to Naval Base
East about the possible passage of a submarine.'*?

Lennart Ljung’s diary mentions a Polish submarine rescue vessel (or
assumed submarine rescue vessel) on route in the Baltic Sea towards
the Gulf of Finland. A radio amateur, who recorded the transmission
and delivered the tape to the Swedish Signal Intelligence Agency
(FRA), intercepted its radio traffic. On the tape could be heard:
‘Permission to rise to depth 8 metres?” FRA made an immediate
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request to the Eastern Military District for night-vision air surveil-
lance. The request was denied, but Vice-Admiral Stefenson over-
turned this decision. The air surveillance resulted in nothing. FRA
analysed the tape: it did ‘not concern submarines’.!%3

Monday 11 October
Just after midnight, at 00.12, Naval Base East asked Milsten to iden-
tify an echo at Ostra Roko. “There are two echoes. One at DP 04 55
[at Orngrund, close to Ostra R6ko, in the area in which an IR contact
had been received just before m1dn1ght] Bevb [73]: Nothing on the
surface.”’* This seems to have been a submarine ready to leave
Mysingen at Milsten. At 03.10, the naval base war diary reported a sta-
tionary echo at DP 1248 (3.5M south of the island of Grin) southeast
of Milsten (in the area in which an IR contact and a possible periscope
sighting had been reported one day earlier (see above)). A patrol boat,
Bevb 77, was sent to the area and reported that there was nothing on
the surface where a constant echo had been showing for three hours.!*’
From the night of 10 October, a sub-surface object, most likely a sub-
marine, was ‘parked’ outside Milsten in Swedish territorial waters
(close to the territorial sea border) at the main exit from the Stockholm
southern archipelago. This submarine may have been deployed to
support a submarine in the Hérsfjirden/Mysingen area or possibly to
receive a midget from this area. The newspaper Expressen quoted a
high-ranking Swedish officer as saying that a ‘NATO submarine’ (but
not a West German submarine) was ‘parked’ outside Milsten at the ter-
ritorial sea border.’® A British or US submarine seems to have been
deployed outside Milsten from at least 10 October.

In Hérsfjirden, there were still some indications of sub-surface
activity. The Naval Analysis Group Report speaks about ‘visual obser-
vation of a “pipe” [periscope] in Milbyfjirden [between Muské and
Herron] at 06.00-07.00’."7 The ‘dark pipe’ was seen for 20-30
seconds before it disappeared. One minute later it appeared 50-100
metres further south.’® This indication is not found in the naval base
war diary, which contains a report of an oil patch and an echo east of
Bergholmen from about 05.00.'? The same war diary states:

At 06.52, 752 reports: intermittent echo . . . in the oil patch [at the
northern exit]. At 07.00, clear magnetic indication at Stenholmen. At
07.42, Viktaren reports: will pass the [sensor] cable [at the northern
exit] in one minute . . . At 08.16, Viktaren reports: possible submarine

. . east of Bergholmen. At 08.17, from Viktaren: new position bearing
104 degrees, distance 2,000 metres east of Bergholmen. At 08.20, order
to Viktaren: start fishing with Malin . . . At 08.32, from Gullboda: alarm
from the sensor cable at Skramsosund [at the southern exit]. At 08.39,
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alarm in the other direction . . . At 11.32, Gullboda reports: ‘something
white’ turned up [in the water] outside Risdal [Milbyfjirden]. Distance
150 metres. [Fast VIP boat] Smuggler goes out to check it . .. At 12.25,
visual report from Berga: high narrow object [periscope?] at Linsman.
Going towards west. TV 105 investigates . . . At 15.33, from Sjohunden
[at the northern exit of Hérsfjirden]: pulses of several hundred kHz
[possibly indicating VHF communication between submarine and other
foreign forces (see above) . . . At 18.55, from Mysing: radar echo 0.2M
north-northwest of Snappudd [about 2,000 metres east-southeast of
Bergholmen] . .. At 19.03, from Mysing: echo is moving in bearing 010
degrees [towards north].2%0

Indications in the sensor cables at the southern entrance to
Hérsfjirden, and observation of a periscope and of ‘something white’
on the surface close to Musko Naval Base may indicate that a partly
white submersible (which would tend to indicate a Western vessel) was
still operating in southern Hérsfjirden. There were several indications
of a possible submarine at the northern exit going towards Mysingen.
None of these observations were reported in the Naval Analysis
Group Report.

At Milsten, the ceasefire during darkness ended at five o’clock
(MS1 at 04.45, MS2 at 04.50 and MS3 at 05.00).2%! Just before mid-
night, an IR contact was received at Orngrund,?°? some 4 kilometres
north of Misknuv/Milsten. After midnight, an echo indicating a sub-
marine was received from the same area.? It seems that a submarine
was ready to leave Stockholm archipelago at Milsten. From 04.56, the
Milsten sonar system operator registered short low-frequency sounds
(25-800 Hz) with 30-second intervals. [According to the submarine
sound expert at Milsten, Anders Karlsson, this is typical sound from
a submarine propeller working in short intervals to avoid detection.]
At 06.35, a report was made to Commander Emil Svensson at Naval
Base East. These low-frequency sounds continued irregularly up to
lunchtime.?%* At 10.30, the personnel at Milsten registered a bang.?%
At 10.31, Milsten reported a loud bang. The naval base war diary
states that this originated from the US reconnaissance aircraft SR-
71.2% The Submarine Defence Commission Report says that a bang
was heard at 11.00, originating from a US aircraft.??” At 10.37, the
Commander of Naval Base East ordered one helicopter for a subma-
rine hunt at Milsten.??® At 11.10, the bottom-fixed sonar system at
Milsten registered a ‘ping’, an active sonar, either from a helicopter
or from a foreign submarine.?"

At 12.20, the personnel at the mine station at Masknuv/Milsten reg-
istered a clear indication in the mine barrage west of Milsten (MS2).
The magnetic sensors of a mine some 75-100 metres west of Masknuv
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16. 11 October.

indicated a submarine, a magnetic field passing out from Mysingen.
There was nothing on the surface. The sensor signals were turned off
twice, but the magnetism was still present, indicating a clear magnetic
field for ten seconds; this was most likely a conventional submarine,
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the Commander at Milsten, Lieutenant-Colonel Sven-Olof Kviman,
said. The Milsten war diary states:

At 12.20, mine detonated at MS2 [at Masknuv] after several [magnetic]
indications that were not possible to turn off. Depth 37 metres. One
indicating mine. At 12.23, report to OrlBO [Naval Base East]. At 12.32,
report to Stockholm Coastal Defence.?'?

The naval base war diary states: ‘At 12.24, from Milsten: Mine deto-
nated at Masknuv.’?!! The Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff report
contains the following;:

At 12.30, Command Kviman reports: 1-2 mines detonated at MS2.
Detonation at 12.25 by MS2 (G1M2) after three indications. The first
two indications were turned off. After that, the system was turned to

automatic and the main switch was turned to ‘on’.2!2

Immediately after this incident, Captain Per Andersson, Deputy
Commander at Milsten, wrote a special report:

[Telephone conversation 12.17-12.22 between Captain Per Andersson
and Captain Johan Eneroth (E), the local commander of the mine
troops MS2.] At 12.20, I could hear the alarm from the mine instru-
ments starting to howl. E said immediately: ‘Indication in one mine — 1
am turning it off.” E turned off the indication. The howl from the alarm
stopped while the button was pushed in. After that I could once again
hear the alarm howling. E said then that he would turn it off once again,
and the howling stopped while the button was pushed in. E said then
that it was impossible to turn it off. I intended to give fire. I ordered E
to detonate the mine. Time from first indication to detonation: about
10 seconds.

The fact that I, as a superior commander, was having a telephone
conversation with the chief of the mine barrage when the incident
started is irrelevant, because he already had the right to use fire and he
would have acted in the same way without my order. When question-
ing E afterwards, he reported that there had been no disturbances of
this mine and that it was not possible to turn the indication off. In order
to detonate the mine, he acted in the following way: the system was
turned to automatic and the main switch was turned to ‘on’. Because
the indicating object was within reach of the sensors of the mine, the
mine was detonated automatically.

My conclusion: there were no disturbances of the indicating mine.
The fact that the indication was still present after having been turned
off several times must be understood as meaning that something within
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the range of the sensors was affecting them. A mine sensor that is dis-
turbed will usually return to normal after 0.5 seconds. What caused the
indication, a submarine, torpedo or other metallic object, is not yet
clear.?!3

Most probably, a demagnetized submarine was passing the mine
barrage, and the submarine was probably damaged by the mine explo-
sion. This view is supported by the Grandin Report, which states: ‘A
reasonably demagnetized submarine passing straight over [the mine
barrage] at low speed will create 1-2 indications [or indicate in one or
two mines].”?!* The explosion of the 600-kilogram mine created a
pillar of water some 60 metres above the surface, Lieutenant-Colonel
Kviman told me. Not only Milsten but also the underground naval
base at Muské 15 kilometres north was shaking. According to
Commander Rolf Blomquist, Chief of the Operational Section, Naval
Base East, you could feel the explosion several tens of kilometres from
the place of the incident. At the Seismological Institute in Uppsala,
some 100 kilometres further north, the explosion was registered to
have taken place at 12.22.10.2%

Anders Ohman, Dagens Nybeter journalist and former civilian
captain, was in the town of Nynishamn. He heard the mine explo-
sion at Milsten and understood what had happened. The windows
in Nyndshamn were vibrating. He immediately got a boat and a
photographer, and they went out to Milsten. One hour after the
explosion, they arrived with their boat at the waters between Yttre
Garden and Milsten, southwest of Masknuv. They went into a
bright-yellow patch 20 X 30 metres, a yellow chemical substance that
they believed came from the mine explosion. Afterwards, they went
home disappointed at not having seen the submarine. In Dagens
Nybeter this yellow patch and a radio buoy (believed to have been
discovered north of Milsten by the Swedish Coast Guard) were
linked to the incident. A former submarine captain was interviewed,
and both the yellow patch and the buoy were believed to originate
from a damaged submarine. Dagens Nybeter had listened to (and
even tape-recorded) a military radio conversation about this radio
buoy between the naval base and a helicopter ordered to take a
photograph of the buoy (see below).2!¢

The Milsten war diary states that:

Naval Base East was briefed about the mine explosion at 12.23 and
Stockholm Coastal Defence at 12.32. At 12.40, transport boat 334 was
sent out to search. At 12.55, report from Naval Base East, reconnais-
sance flight [GYP] has seen thin oil [on the surface]. At 12.57, patrol
boat 77 is sent out.?!”
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The naval base war diary continues: ‘At 12.57, GYP reports: mud from
the sea floor and thin oil at Masknuv, bearing 330 [degrees], distance
6/10. Drifting with the wind.”?!® GYP used the metric system at the
time, which means that the oil patch was 600 metres north-northwest
of Mésknuv, drifting north. At 13.05, Bevb 77 left Milsten to take oil
samples after the mine explosion.?'? ‘At 13.12, report to Milsten: light
helicopter [Y46] will arrive for reconnaissance at 13.30 . . . At 13.46,
from Y46: negative report. Returned to base [Berga].’*?° Anders
Ohman and his photographer Folke Hellberg would most likely have
arrived in the area around 13.20-13.30. Minutes afterwards, Ohman
and Hellberg went into a small, bright-yellow patch of 20 X 30 metres
(green at a distance against the blue sea (see below)). They saw the
yellow substance at a distance of 1 metre. At 13.45, about 15 minutes
later, the helicopter Y46 observed a green-coloured area in the water
(according to Y46’s drawing about 50X 150 metres) at Méasknuv
‘about 10 metres from land’ — north-northwest of the small island.??!
Some time after 13.25, probably at 14.00, Chief of Masknuv mine
barrage (MS2) Captain Johan Eneroth wrote in his war diary: ‘a
yellow cloud in the water 200 metres north, extension 300 X 100
metres. Report to VM [Milsten].”?*> To the officers at Milsten,
however, it looked more greenish. The Milsten war diary states:

At 14.09 from MS2 [Masknuv], green-coloured area in the water north
of [Masknuv. It covers an area of] 300 X 100 metres. Drifting towards
Nlorth]. Was small from the beginning; expanded. [After ‘expanded’,
the hand-written version states something unreadable and then] green
... At 14.35,28 . .. order: take samples.??*

I have spoken with the three most relevant commanding officers at
Milsten/Masknuv, Lieutenant-Colonel Sven-Olof Kviman, Captain
Per Andersson and Captain Johan Eneroth, who all confirm a green,
yellow-green or yellow-green-grey patch. Andersson said that they
went out (in a boat at 14.35) to collect the yellow/green substance by
using a couple of clean towels. Ambassador Rolf Ekéus’s report notes
that no result from this analysis has been found. However, ‘it was
noted when samples were taken that the layer of the patch was thin,
that the patch kept together, was floating as a film on the surface for
hours, and that it consisted of a fine substance that did not mix with
water’. It was described as ‘artificially green’.2?

At 14.30, GYP reported from Milsten[-Méasknuv]. At 14.35, the
Chief of Naval Base East ordered ‘a light helicopter [Y46] to take a
photo of the green patch on the water at Masknuv’.?2° Y46 went back
to Masknuv and took 36 pictures of the patch. At 15.00, personnel on
Y46 made a drawing of the expansion and movement of the patch.??”
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Y46 states: ‘the patch had [now at 15.00] moved further north since
we were there last time [13.45]: about 1 kilometre’,>? and, according
to the drawing, expanded from 50 X 150 metres to about 150 X 450
metres.”?’ After the naval base had been informed, its Chief of Staff,
Commander Lars-Erik Hoff, called about the green patch to
Lieutenant-Commander Carl-Johan Arfvidson at OPG’s Naval Unit at
the Defence Staff, who reported to his Chief of Staff.

At 14.47, the sonar system registered low-frequency sounds, 20—
100 Hz for 15 seconds [seemingly propeller; one minute and a half
before this, a bang]. At 15.30, the green patch still visible.
Concentrated. At 16.00, it is still there. At 16.08, from the sonar oper-
ator: at 16.05, low-frequency sounds for 25 seconds.?3°

After that, there were no further reports of the yellow/green patch. It
was probably more or less dissolved. The artificially yellow/green patch
indicates a dye from a submarine giving a signal about its condition and
position. The first position of the dye indicates that a probably
damaged submarine was hiding maybe 100 metres south-southwest of
Maisknuv. The use of a yellow/green dye also indicates that this was a
Western submarine, or rather a submarine under US command, which
would pick up the signal from a satellite (see below).

At 15.00, the journalists at the Berga Press Centre were asked by
Commander Carlsson to elect among themselves a small group to go out
with the Navy. (This decision was criticized by a superior command.)?3!

Anytime now, we can go out to look at the submarine . . . You have to
choose a TV team, a radio journalist, a photographer and a newspaper
journalist, [Carlsson] said. They have to represent the others. We can
only bring a small group with us to look at the possible submarine.?3?

The Milsten war diary continues:

At 16.30 [from Naval Base East], Belos will arrive at Milsten at 19.00.
At 17.30, order from the Commander-in-Chief at 16.40: ceasefire for
[the mine barrages] MS1, MS2, MS3, LB1, LB2 and Ox [Lingbilingen
1, Langbilingen 2 and Oxdjupet] until investigation is made . . . At
18.30, from Chief Stockholm Coastal Defence [Lars Hansson]: end of
ceasefire. At 19.20, LB1 reports: explosion is shaking the rocks. At
20.48, from Belos . . . Order to MS2 and MS3 to turn off the electrical
system for the mine barrages.?** At 20.50, Belos arrives at the place of
the mine explosion.?3*

The bottom-fixed sonar system registered a lot of sounds during the
night, apparently work on a damaged submarine. The Milsten war
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diary and the naval base war diary state that, at 21.25, the sonar
system station registered ‘hammering’ sounds or ‘metallic hammer-
ing’, which was ‘tape-recorded’. Two patrol vessels went out to the
area. At 21.50, they were supported by helicopter Y68.%3° During the
night, knocking sounds, metallic sounds and, from 22.45, high-
frequency sounds (12.5-20 kHz) could be heard. Some of these
sounds continued more or less irregularly for the whole night and the
next morning (see below). General Ljung says in his diary: ‘Mine deto-
nated at Milsten — directly under [the indicating object/submarine] —
green patch. Ceasefire for the mine barrages until investigation is
made.”?3¢ By saying that the mine was activated ‘directly under’ the
submarine, General Ljung implied that the submarine may have been
damaged or even sunk. The next day, he wrote in his diary: ‘In the
afternoon, no new information on a possibly sunk submarine.”?3”

However, it is important to note that Ljung’s comment, ‘mine det-
onated at Milsten — directly under — green patch’, was not written on
11 October. It was clearly inserted afterwards. A detailed study of
Ljung’s hand-written text indicates that this was inserted in the after-
noon of 12 October.?*® Even though Milsten reported everything to
Naval Base East and Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff, and even
though they supposedly reported to the Defence Staff, General Ljung
made no notes about a ‘seriously damaged submarine’ until up to 24
hours after the incident took place. In the morning, General Ljung was
informed (as usual by Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson and Chief
of the Navy Vice-Admiral Rudberg) that nothing serious seemed to
have happened and that the Chief of the Naval Base, Rear-Admiral
Kierkegaard, lacked the optimism of the information division.
According to Stefenson and Rudberg, there was no submarine that
triggered the mine explosion. This is also the conclusion made by
Commander Emil Svensson and the Naval Analysis Group.

While Ljung, since 7 October, had in general been preoccupied
with the force of the mine weapon and had demanded to be continu-
ously updated on the current events, he was now, on 11 October,
seemingly not informed about the results of the mine explosion — what
he himself described as a ‘possibly sunk submarine’ — until the follow-
ing day. Perhaps it is not until Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence
Lars Hansson personally briefed the Commander-in-Chief that this
information was noted in the diary. The information about the sub-
marine passage, where the fire was given, about the green patch and
about ‘a possibly sunk submarine’ seems to have been blocked by a
couple of senior officers, most likely the same officers who had already
briefed Ljung on the incident.

Furthermore, the typed version of Ljung’s diary for 11-12
October is not the same as the hand-written version. The typed
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version is ‘corrected’, extended and given a different meaning.?*’
Contrary to what Ljung writes in his hand-written text, the typed
version says that there was ‘no sign of a damaged submarine’, and that
the indication from the mine barrage was just ‘another indication’.
The typed version also has a sentence discussing the problems with the
mines: “The mine explosions are mysterious.” The typed version says
that the green patch was checked by the Belos the same evening, indi-
cating that it was nothing of interest. Finally, the ceasefire was ordered
on recommendation of the Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral Bror
Stefenson. Somebody seems to have influenced Ljung to ‘correct’ his
diary to bring it more in line with the official version. All statements
indicating a damaged, or even seriously damaged, submarine — partic-
ularly statements pointing to a Western submarine — were changed.
The Naval Base East intelligence briefing for 11 October states:

COrIBO [Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard] briefing 11 October
1982. 1. Briefing about the Activity of Foreign Powers. 1.1. Foreign
Naval Vessels: There are no known foreign naval vessels in the area
except for possible submarines. 1.2. Foreign State Vessels: Danish
fishery research vessel Dana is visiting Vistervik until 11 October 1982.
1.3. Warsaw Pact Merchant Ships: At 12.30, SU [Soviet] merchant ship
in DP3518 K=011, V=9 SU Volgobalt IE6 corr. position DM2740 k
IES. No other ships in the area. 1.4. Conclusion: Known indications
point to normal activity for the time of the year. 1.5. Foreign Submarine
Activity: Since 9 October, additional reports of foreign submarines.
The analysis concludes that except for the one in the Harsfjirden area,
possible submarine(s) have been found in the Sandhamn area.?*?

This intelligence report is not very alarming. The sharp contrast
between this report about low Soviet activity and the dramatic inci-
dents with damaged submarines is striking. There is no Soviet mobil-
ization of force, unlike what happened when a Soviet Whiskey
submarine had been stranded outside Karlskrona one year earlier.
What happened in Hérsfjirden and at Milsten was much more dra-
matic, but the Soviet Navy had normal low activity for the time of the
year. If anything, this is an indication that the damaged submarine did
not originate from the Soviet Union.

Tuesday 12 October
During the night of 11-12 October, the bottom-fixed sonar system at
Milsten registered metallic sounds, apparently work on or in a
damaged submarine, and this continued irregularly for more than
12 hours. Around 21.25 on 11 October, it was possible to hear work
with a hammer. Later, there were knocking metallic sounds and high-
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frequency sounds. In the morning, there were propeller sounds, and
something was shuffling and scraping against the sea floor. The com-
manding officer at Milsten, Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman, said in a
TV interview: ‘[after the mine explosion on 11 October] we had
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recorded sounds that indicated repair works. We heard hammer-

ing several times from some kind of activity below the surface.”?*! The
Milsten war diary states:

At 21.25 [on 11 October], hammering registered by the sonar system.
At 21.45, two patrol boats were sent out to the area between MS
[Milsten] and YG [Yttre Garden]. [From 22.45, there were high-
frequency sounds (12.5-20 kHz) that continued irregularly for a couple
of hours]?*? . . . At 01.30, the sonars register sounds similar to a boat
with low activity and in a stationary position. At 01.47, the knocking
sounds continue. Earlier reported high-frequency sounds (12.5-20
kHz) have now disappeared. The weather is better, which gives better
possibility for listening. Low-frequency sounds (propeller?) . . . At
03.10, increase up to 20 kHz from the sonars. At 03.40, alarm from the
sonar operators, 20 kHz up to 90 dB . . . At 05.00, Belos is leaving the
area. At 06.25, [from the sonar operators: sub-surface] detonation, 90
dB. The lookout on the surface has not heard anything. Nor has the
lookout at MS1. NTM [COrlIBO] informed . . . At 08.21, from the
sonars: a motor (weak propeller sounds). At 08.35, the sonar operators
report: scraping sounds [against the sea floor], metallic sounds, knock-
ing sounds. At 08.50, the same as 08.35, and going on continuously. At
09.05, [the sonar operators] report: continuous indications from 06.52
to 09.05. After that, silent . . . At 10.07, the ceasefire for [the mine bar-
rages] MS1, MS2 and MS3 is over in daylight and clear visibility [order
from the Commander-in-Chief] . . . At 13.38, from the sonar operators:
propeller sounds (?) at low activity. Running time about two minutes.
After that metallic sounds.?*

The naval base war diary confirms several of these pieces of informa-

tion:

At 21.35, report from Milsten: at 21.25, metallic hammering regis-
tered by the sonar system. Tape-recorded. At 21.45, report to MBO
[Commander of the Eastern Military District]. Also to OB
[Commander-in-Chief], CM [Chief of the Navy], CFK [Chief of the
Coastal Fleet]. At 21.50, [the helicopter] Y68 sent to Milsten. Free sub-
marine hunt south-southeast of Milsten [should be south-southwest of
Miilsten (see CMS HWD)]. At 22.17, Y68 arrived. At 22.20, [Y68]
returns because of technical problems. New helicopter [Y70] starts at
Berga ... At 01.45, [from Milsten]: continuous knocking and scraping
sounds with variations in amplitude . . . At 03.10, Y70 starts free sub-
marine hunt south of Milsten . . . At 05.15 Y70 returns to base . . . At
06.16, Belos reports position: northern entrance [Alvsta-Langholmar at
the narrow passage Harsfjirden-Mysingen]. At 06.25, some kind of
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sub-surface detonation is registered by the sonar system at Milsten
90 dB. At 06.40, Belos in Hérsfjirden. Back to the place for earlier
activity . . . At 09.35, helicopter is ordered to locate the knocking
sounds at Milsten. At 09.40, the sonar system still registers scraping
sounds . . . At 13.45, [Milsten] reports propeller sounds. At 13.56, hel-
icopter on test flight. Ordered to go to the area of Masknuv.2*

All these knockings sounds, scraping sounds, high-frequency sounds
and metallic hammering were originally taped and analysed by the
sonar operator Rolf Andersson from FMV and by Anders Karlsson from
the Swedish submarine Sjéhdsten. Andersson had set up and calibrated
the microphones during September and early October. He visited
Milsten every week (see 8 October). He knew the background sounds
and sound environment at Milsten very well. What he heard in the
night of 11-12 October was exceptional. He confirms the above state-
ments in the war diaries. In his report from the same night, it is stated:

At 21.25, hammering for one minute with 5—6 blows.. .. At 22.45, high-
frequency sounds 12.5-20 kHz. Two sharp [metallic-sounding] blows.
A couple of high-frequency spikes 16-20 kHz. [After this] 12.5-20 kHz
[periodically until 01.44]. 23.14, light rain. At 23.53, 12.5 Hz tone
from helicopter. [Just around midnight] 12.5-20 kHz. [Just after mid-
night] Thuds and low-frequency tone. Helipcopter at a distance of 3
kilometres. Ferry going out from Nynidshamn. 00.30, Ferry [passing].
01.04, sharp [metallic] knocking sounds. 01.25, thuds. 01.33, thuds.
01.44, high-frequency 12.5-20 kHz [After 02.00, Andersson was
replaced for the night].?%

The high-frequency sounds for shorter periods in the area between
12.5 and 20 kHz were exceptional. Rolf Andersson had never experi-
enced this, either before or after this incident. A sound expert from
Norwegian Military Intelligence said that this frequency (12.5-
20 kHz) might indicate work with a high-speed cutting tool, as if the
submarine diver had cut loose steel plates (from a damaged outer hull,
see below) that disrupted the movement of the submarine. The fre-
quency 12.5-20 kHz might indicate an angle grinder, another special-
ist told me. Between 21.25 and 01.30, there were a lot of metallic
knocking sounds and somebody might have been working with a
cutting tool on and off in the waters of Milsten. Between 03.10 and
03.40, this work continued. According to the Milsten war diary, the
sound was by the end of this period up to 90 dB.?*¢ There is no natural
explanation for these sounds, and they must have originated from a
source rather close to the microphones. All of these hammering, metal-
lic and knocking sounds, thuds, high-frequency sounds and sub-surface
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explosions indicate a seriously damaged submarine repaired during the
night after the mine explosion on 11 October.

During the night, Kviman went out to the Belos, where he gave a
secret briefing for the captain, Lieutenant-Commander Bjorn Mohlin,
about the hammering and other works on a damaged submarine. Chief
of the Coastal Defence Regiment KA1, later Lieutenant-General Lars-
G. Persson, also confirms these knockings sounds and hammering.
This information is confirmed by Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence,
Brigadier-General Lars Hansson, and by his Chief of Staff, Lieutenant-
Colonel Jan Svenhager. At 22.05 on 11 October, the Stockholm
Coastal Defence Staff Report writes: ‘Command Kviman reports
about 5-6 hits with a hammer from the sonar system at Milsten.”?*’
The war diaries also speak about continued activity in the morning;:
metallic and knocking sounds, a propeller sound, a sub-surface explo-
sion, and shuffling and scraping (against the sea floor). Shuffling and
scraping, along with knocking sounds, had been registered at Milsten
the whole morning. At 09.35, the naval base sent a helicopter to locate
these sounds.?*® However, according to the Milsten war diary, these
sounds had stopped exactly half an hour earlier.

In the Z interview, Lars Hansson said that, after the hit on the sub-
marine, they had heard ‘clear metallic knocking sounds as if somebody
was repairing something in the water’. But when he told General
Ljung and Vice-Admiral Stefenson about this, they were not interested
in the information. ‘It could be anything,” they said.?*® The local com-
mander Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman, the submarine sound expert
Karlsson and the sonar operator Andersson reported to Brigadier-
General Hansson and Lieutenant-Colonel Svenhager at the Coastal
Defence Staff in Vaxholm, who reported to the Commander of the
Eastern Military District, Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander in
Stringnds, who reported to the Commander-in-Chief General
Lennart Ljung (usually via the Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror
Stefenson). When Lars Hansson had been to Muské and Milsten and
briefed by Kviman, he went back to Vaxholm via the Defence Staff in
Stockholm and spoke directly with the Chief of Staff and the
Commander-in-Chief (without detailed information being given to
Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander at the Eastern Military District).
Stefenson, however, was not interested in this information. It was not
included in the Submarine Defence Commission Report. What the
submarine sound expert had reported — his detailed analysis about
work on a damaged submarine during the night and in the morning —
was met with Stefenson’s: ‘It could be anything.’

On 12 October, General Ljung seems to have been informed about
the work on a damaged or ‘possibly sunk submarine’ directly through
Hansson, but Stefenson would be the one who kept Ljung continu-
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ously informed. Ljung’s hand-written diary for 12 October states: ‘In
the afternoon, no new information on a possibly sunk submarine.’?*°
In other words, he was informed that indications existed perhaps even
up to lunch, but not in the afternoon. Indirectly, he confirms the infor-
mation from the sources at Milsten as well as the fact that he was
informed by Hansson at this very time. At 09.00 General Ljung
briefed Defence Minister Borje Andersson.! Toivo Heinsoo,
Andersson’s political adviser and close associate, says now that a pos-
sibly damaged or sunk submarine was in their focus for a couple of
days. The hammering during the night was an important indication.
He also remembered the green patch. He said that they considered the
situation to be serious and discussed how to act in relation to the
foreign power and the media if the damaged submarine were found,
but that they never got the indications confirmed. It seems that both
the Minister of Defence and the Commander-in-Chief believed in a
possibly damaged or even sunk submarine. On the same day, General
Ljung made a public statement: ‘Anyone who violates Swedish neutral-
ity and Swedish territory is taking a great risk. The only way for us to
demonstrate this is to use force. I am sorry.’>>?

I do not know to whom this apology was made. When Prime
Minister Olof Palme briefed the Conservative Party leader Ulf Adelsohn
a couple of days after this incident, Palme talked about a ‘seriously
damaged submarine’ (in Swedish, ‘havererad’; see below).?** Swedish
Navy spokesman Commander Sven Carlsson said: ‘The mine that
exploded yesterday may have sunk a submarine.’”>** He also said: “We
are looking for something we fear is a seriously damaged submarine
lying helpless on the sea floor.’?>* There is no doubt that some people
in the military leadership believed in a damaged — or possibly even sunk
— submarine and that the green patch was linked to this incident.

The Belos had arrived at 20.50 the day before and had been at
Milsten all night. They investigated the mine barrages and the place
of the mine detonations. The Belos tried to use the remote-controlled
video camera Sj6ugglan, but was not able to locate the submarine. “We
never found the submarine’ and ‘we never used the divers’, the captain
of the Belos, Lieutenant-Commander Bjérn Mohlin, said. It was
impossible to anchor because of the risk of mine explosions, and the
stream made it difficult to carry out the operation. ‘Belos was given
one square at the time, and the submarine could easily have hidden
somewhere else’, he said. Captain Rodrik Klintebo, Chief of the First
Submarine Flotilla, which was responsible for the Belos, says that he
gave the Belos an area to investigate with a radius of 300 metres
around the place of the mine explosion. Most of the time was used to
check the area around the detonated mines. The Belos also checked
the mines that had exploded on 7 October in the area close to Yttre
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Garden. This was done for a few hours during the night. At 05.00, the
Belos was removed from Milsten to search for an unexploded depth
charge in Hérsfjirden. At 06.15, the Belos informed the naval base
that she had arrived at the northern entrance of Harsfjarden. At 14.45,
the naval base war diary states that the Belos had been searching for a
dud - an unexploded depth charge - since dawn.?’¢

Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman told me that the Belos reported several
steel plates on the sea floor, close to the place of the mine explosion.
In his technical report of 12 October, Kviman wrote:

Belos investigated the area during the night. About 100 metres from the
mine barrage (outside [south of]) the place where the mine was deto-
nated, Belos found something that was classified as metal objects about
ametre in size . . . Belos’s Sea Floor Investigation at Mdsknuv: After det-
onation of mines at MS2 (Ma&sknuv) and MS3 (Yttre Girden [on
7 October]), Belos made an [active] sonar investigation according to
[enclosed] drawing. Within an area 150 metres south of Mésknuv, Belos
found probable metal objects of various sizes (with a diametre of 1-1.5
metres). Belos tried to use Sjéugglan to identify the objects. However,
it was not possible to anchor [because of the mine barrage, the stream
and bad weather]. Because of this, Belos did not succeed in getting
Sjougglan down to investigate the sea floor. A new investigation with
Sjougglan should be done as soon as possible, when weather conditions
have become better or, later, when the incident is over.?¥”

This report was received at 16.45 by the naval base?® and by
Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff, who sent it to MBO [Commander
of the Eastern Military District].?” The drawing showed these 1- to
1.5-metre metal objects about 100 metres south-southwest of
Miésknuv, 150 metres southeast of the place of the mine explosion,
which is identical to the place where the yellow/green patch appeared
according to our calculations made below.

The captain of the Belos, Lieutenant-Commander Mohlin, con-
firms that they found some kind of steel plates outside Masknuv, but
they were not able to identify what these were. General Lennart Ljung
wrote in his hand-written diary: ‘Belos in Danziger Gatt [actually on
the western side of Milsten, but the whole area around Milsten is
often called Danziger Gatt]. The divers: possible steel plates on the sea
floor. Later found to be oil drums.”?¢? Ljung’s typed diary states: ‘Belos
now in Danziger Gatt. Possible steel plates on the sea floor. Later
found to be most likely without interest.’?!

General Ljung seemed first to confirm that steel plates or possible
steel plates had been found, but later the same day (12 October) he
seemed to have received information suggesting oil drums, or at least
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something of no interest. This is, however, very different from the
report given by the Belos and Milsten. This report states that metal
objects of different sizes (a diameter of 1-1.5 metres) were found in
an area 100-150 metres south of Masknuv. However, the bad weather
made it difficult to use the remote-controlled video camera Sjéugglan,
which made it impossible to investigate what kind of metal objects
these were. In other words, General Ljung received a second and
totally unfounded report about oil drums that contradicted his first
report, but no investigation had been done in the meantime. A senior
officer close to Ljung might falsely have informed him that these metal
objects were not steel plates but oil drums.

Lieutenant-Commander Hans Kalla, former submarine officer,
attack diver and later captain of the Belos (1985-87), told me that one
of the first things that might happen in the event of a mine explosion
is that some steel plates of the submarine would blow off. This even
happened to him once during some rough weather conditions. A mine
might easily blow parts of the outer hull off, he said. However,
without checking out if the possible steel plates belonged to a subma-
rine, the Belos was removed from the area. No investigation was
carried out until several days later when Belos was able to use
Sjougglan to take pictures of such a rectangular plate on the bottom.
One officer I spoke with confirms that he had looked at the prints of
the pictures taken by Sjéugglan. He did not know what kind of steel
plates they were, and it is not clear to me what happened to them
afterwards.

The Belos was not sent to Milsten until seven hours after the inci-
dent; and even though the Belos believed that it had found steel plates
at the very same place as the yellow/green patch appeared, possibly
indicating a damaged submarine, and even though the sonar system
still registered work on the damaged submarine, the Belos was, after
a few hours’ search in darkness, removed from Milsten for a routine
operation to clear up after the submarine hunt in Harsfjirden, some-
thing that could easily have been done the following day. Existing
technical evidence should have made it possible to locate the subma-
rine perhaps southwest of Milsten — actually, in the area where the
search for the submarine took place after the hammering late in the
evening on 11 October. The Belos was not investigating this area.

General Ljung’s version is even more confusing: At 12.30, two
mines were detonated in Danziger Gatt after indications.’ In the hand-
written text, the words ‘two mines’ were underlined.?®> The same
information was given to Dagens Nyheter and was printed in the news-
paper the following day.?%3 It seems that, unlike on the previous day,
two mines were detonated after submarine indications. In the after-
noon, the Belos was, according to Ljung, still investigating the sea

93



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

floor at Milsten.?®* General Ljung as well as Dagens Nyheter seem to
have been misinformed, perhaps by a senior officer on the staff,
because every local officer knew that no mines had been detonated.
Furthermore, Ljung was never told that the Belos had already stopped
investigating the Milsten area before dawn and had instead been
transferred to Hirsfjarden for a routine task to search for a dud.

Dagens Nybeter reported that they had tape-recorded a radio con-
versation between the naval base and a helicopter. An emergency buoy
had been found north of Milsten.?®> The Dagens Nyheter journalist
responsible for this article told me that most of the military commu-
nication and orders were given on open frequencies. The Dagens
Nybeter journalists were sitting in a house close to Harsfjirden, and
they recorded everything of interest, including the communication
after lunch between the naval base and a helicopter about a radio buoy
found not far from Milsten in southern Mysingen. The naval base
described details of a yellow radio buoy to the helicopter referring to
information from the Coast Guard. The helicopter was ordered to
take a photo of this buoy. It was believed to have broken loose from
the submarine. I have not found any clear confirmation of this inci-
dent. However, according to the naval base war diary, GYP, the Coast
Guard reconnaissance aircraft, had patrolled the Milsten area before
lunch, and at lunch a helicopter was sent for a ‘test flight’ in the
area.?®® Neither Coast Guard nor the Defence Staff was able or willing
to deny Dagens Nybeter’s story. The Coast Guard denied that they had
had a ship in the area, but they had an aircraft and that fits with Dagens
Nybeter’s story.>®”

The war diaries state that the afternoon was relatively silent, with
very few sounds registered by the sonars. At 13.38, the sonar opera-
tor reported two minutes of propeller sounds. A helicopter was sent
to the area.?®® However, there was seemingly very little activity. For
several hours, the Milsten war diary does not report any sounds from
the sonars. At 16.00, there is a report about air boil-ups and oil on the
surface at Vistergrund, south-southwest of Milsten.?%” After that, the
Milsten war diary reports:

At 16.30, twittering (squeaking) sounds with intervals of seconds. The
sonar operator on his way. [According to the submarine sound expert,
these may have been sounds from a propeller at low speed, working at
intervals for short periods of time — as if the submarine was trying to
move from its hiding place as silently as possible.] At 17.10, the sound
is still there and has become stronger, 2,000-6,000 Hz [still in inter-
vals]. At 17.48, less than 1,000 Hz. At 17.56, BevB 77 is sent out to
search [for the submarine]. Naval Base East is briefed. At 18.00, heli-
copter on its way [from Berga] . . . At 18.30-18.55, helicopter arrives.
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Cooperation with HB 7 [T.R. Nilsson, captain of Bevb 77]. According
to the tape-recorded sounds, the object is most likely a submarine that
has gone out from VM [Milsten].?”°

The protocol for the speaker channel (of the tape recording) states: ‘at
17.50, it is strong . . . [Clear] over the whole register. Conclusion:
probable submarine.”?’! The tape recording at about 18.00 was
described later, by the Naval Analysis Group Report of late October,
the Grandin Report of December, and in the note to Moscow,
10 October 1983, as evidence for a ‘certain submarine’.?’> The sub-
marine was seemingly moving towards the microphones and then
passed the microphones out from Milsten. This information in the
Milsten war diary is confirmed by the war diary of Naval Base East:

At 16.45, Milsten reports a new sound from the sonars since 16.30:
twittering and squeaking, not metallic, sounds with a few seconds’ inter-
val . .. At 17.13, Milsten reports that the twittering sound has contin-
ued intermittently for 30 minutes . . . It has become stronger. At 17.45,
telegram from CSK [Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence, Brigadier-
General Lars Hansson]: submarine incident. At 17.52, from Miilsten:
according to [sonar operator Anders] Karlsson from [submarine]
Sjohisten: possible submarine. One helicopter is sent to the area.
Another helicopter is made ready to replace it in one hour . . . At 18.00,
from Milsten: [certain] submarine with a speed of 1-2 knots, closest to
microphone no. 5. ... At 18.20, a patrol vessel at Torskholmen [should
be Torskboden southeast of Milsten, close to microphone no. 1] pre-
pares to drop depth charges [on the submarine] . . . 18.28, the [helicop-
ter] Y69 is in contact with Milsten. At 18.30, SC [Naval Base Chief of
Staff, Commander Lars-Erik Hoff] briefs COrIBO [Chief of the Naval
Base, Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard]. At 18.37, to Y69, interesting
area DP0451 R1 [beyond microphone no. 5]. At 18.45, briefing for the
MBO [Commander of the Eastern Military District, Lieutenant-General
Bengt Lehander] . . . At 19.53, the helicopter Y69 is replaced by Y70.
[No more contacts are registered by the war diary.]>”3

At 18.00 on 12 October, there was clear evidence of a submarine, and
a recording of propeller sounds was made. According to the Milsten
war diary, this submarine sound was followed at least up to 18.30,
perhaps up to 18.55, at which point the submarine went out from
Milsten. All this information was immediately reported both to Naval
Base East at Muskd, to the Commander of the Eastern Military
District and to the Chief of the Stockholm Coastal Defence, who all
reported it to the Defence Staff in Stockholm. The Chief of Staff, Vice-
Admiral Bror Stefenson, was often informed before the Eastern
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Military District. He was most likely informed no later than 19.00
(but probably already around 18.30). At 21.00, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson visited General Ljung’s home to inform him about the inci-
dent.?”* In other words, three hours after clear evidence of a subma-
rine had been registered, and more than two hours after the submarine
had disappeared, Stefenson informed Ljung at his home. After that,
both of them returned to the Defence Staff. Minutes later, the cease-
fire for the mine barrage in Danziger Gatt came to an end. There was
no longer a ceasefire in darkness. During the night, two hours after
the submarine had left Swedish waters, the ceasefire was ended.
According to the Submarine Defence Commission Report, this was
because of ‘clear indications of a submarine’.?” It seems that General
Ljung had given a green light for the use of mines for something that
happened several hours earlier.

In the report from Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff, the following
entry is recorded:

At 20.00, CKA1 [Colonel Lars-G. Persson] reports to MBO
[Commander, Eastern Military District]: possible submarine is moving
close to the mine barrages. The local commander has as good control
of the surface during the night as during the day. Proposes right to use
fire. At 21.17, from MBO: CSK [Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence]
has the right to use fire for MS1 when demanded by Chief of Naval
Base.?’¢

The report from Colonel Persson was received by the Eastern Military
District at least one hour after the incident had taken place, and the
decision by the Commander of the Eastern Military District seems to
have been slow. In other words, this process seems to have been par-
allel to Stefenson’s briefing of General Ljung. When Ljung and
Stefenson arrived at the Defence Staff, they may both just have been
informed that the Commander of the Eastern Military District,
Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander, had taken this decision. On the
other hand, neither Stefenson nor Ljung found reason to overrule it.
The submarine was out and the ceasefire was over. It is interesting,
however, that it was the Commander of the Eastern Military District,
as on 7 October, who proposed and now decided about the right to use
fire for the mine barrages, while it was always Vice-Admiral Stefenson
who proposed — or in some cases even decided about — the ceasefires.

According to Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman, no new ceasefire in
darkness was declared until the next night. The submarine seemed to
have left the area and, soon afterwards, the ceasefire was over, almost
as if there had been a causal relationship. The Milsten war diary
states:
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At 21.28, end of ceasefire for [the mine barrage] MS1, when demanded
by COrlIBO [Chief of Naval Base East]. At 22.35, report from [Naval Base
East], end of ceasefire for NM (MS1). [There is no limitation on this right
to use force and no report about a new ceasefire during the night.]?””

The naval base war diary states: ‘At 21.35 a telegram from MBO
[Commander of the Eastern Military District] about end of ceasefire.. . .
At 22.31, end of ceasefire for MS1 in agreement [with Milsten].”?”® In
other words, there were clear indications of a submarine for 36 hours.
There was evidence of (repair) works for several hours, and this was
most probably on a damaged submarine. There was even clear evidence
of asubmarine at the end of this period. Two hours after all this was over,
the ceasefire in darkness was terminated. According to the Submarine
Defence Commission Report, ‘one exception to the rule [about a cease-
fire in darkness] was made around 21.00 on 12 October . . . because of
clear indications of a submarine’.?” This is false information.

General Lennart Ljung wrote about Stefenson’s visit and the
recorded submarine sound at Milsten:

At 21.00, CFst [the Chief of Staff, Bror Stefenson] turned up at my
home after having visited CM [Chief of the Navy, Vice-Admiral Per
Rudberg]. FOA’s sonar system at Milsten has received a positively

certain contact with a submarine at a distance of 1,000 metres outside
the minefield. We both went to MSB [the Defence Staff].28¢

Per Rudberg confirms that Bror Stefenson visited his place before he
went up to General Ljung. Rudberg and Ljung were neighbours at
Skeppsholmen in central Stockholm, and Stefenson went to Rudberg
to discuss the issue and to ‘be given a boost’ [in Swedish, ‘rdgiryggen’]
before visiting General Ljung, Rudberg said. The passage, according
to Lennart Ljung, was about 1,000 metres south of the mine barrage,
which is a relatively good estimate. This would mean close to, and not
more than, 100-200 metres from the microphones. Still, there is
something mysterious in Ljung’s comment. A large number of radar
and sonar contacts were made during the submarine hunt in
Haérsfjirden. A sonar contact, or even a recording of the motor sound
of a submarine, may not explain why the Chief of Staff, late in the
evening and in person, first went to the Chief of the Navy, then to the
home of the Commander-in-Chief and, later at night and together
with the Commander-in-Chief, to the Defence Staff. This is even more
remarkable when we know that the sonar system had registered work
on a damaged submarine the whole night before and during the
morning of the same day — work that had been going on for more than
24 hours. The sonar contact on 12 October may have included some
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very sensitive information that could not be mentioned over the tele-
phone and could not wait until the next day. And why did Stefenson
need ‘a boost’ before presenting the case to the Commander-in-Chief?
Why was it important to discuss this issue and have a common under-
standing with Vice-Admiral Rudberg before bringing it up with
General Ljung?

If the submarine was from the West, Stefenson’s behaviour is more
easy to explain. A Norwegian senior intelligence officer said to me that
soon after this incident two representatives from FOA came to
Norwegian Military Intelligence underwater division and analysed the
tape: ‘It was not a Soviet submarine’, he said. ‘“We believed it was a
Western submarine.” Later, this officer said: “This was not a known
Soviet submarine. It was neither a conventional nor a nuclear Soviet
submarine. We did not have information on the midgets.” On the other
hand, according to several sources (see below), this was not a midget
submarine. The Norwegians in fact believed that it was a Western sub-
marine. However, nothing of the Norwegian information turned up
in the Submarine Defence Commission Report. The second
Submarine Commission Report of 1995 contains a long discussion
about the incident, but no information regarding a Norwegian analy-
sis. This report only discusses the Swedish Navy analysis and the FOA
analysis (see below).?8! Today, Vice-Admiral Rudberg denies that the
Norwegians analysed the tapes or that the Navy had any contact with
the Norwegians concerning the sonars.

Wednesday and Thursday 13-14 October
At the daily press conference at 18.00 at the Berga Press Centre, the
Commander-in-Chief, General Ljung, and the Chief of the Navy, Vice-
Admiral Rudberg, appeared together with the Navy press spokesman
Sven Carlsson and the Chief of the Naval Analysis Group,
Commander Emil Svensson. Svensson showed a tape with a ‘ping’
from an active sonar believed to originate from a submarine. General
Ljung said that ‘the likelihood of a submarine’s still being in
Haérsfjarden is very small, but they are still searching in the outer archi-
pelago and we will not rule out the possibility that there are several
submarines’.?82 The Chief of the Navy, Per Rudberg, appointed Rear-
Admiral Gunnar Grandin to make an analysis of the submarine
hunt.?83 The Conservative Party leader Ulf Adelsohn called the Chief
of Staff and said: ‘Now, we have let the submarine run . . . You have
been too lenient.”?%* According to the naval base war diary, there was
still some sub-surface activity close to Muské Naval Base. At 21.03 a
reconnaissance boat observed a clear radar echo at the docks and, half
an hour later, there was mud on the water.?%
At Milsten, the night became dramatic, but there were also some
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indications in the early morning and during the day of 13 October.
The Milsten war diary states:

At 02.40, the sonar system registers propeller sound with high turns
per minute . . . At 07.05 Nst [according to hand-written original
‘Nssr’ (Radar)?#¢] reports similar disturbances to earlier [cf. 19.00 on
7 October]. Distance up to 7,000 [1,000] metres . . . [At 11.00, indi-
cation in echo ranger west Klovskir in Danziger Gatt, up to 500
metres north of the mine barrage.?8’] At 14.05, the weather is getting
worse. Visibility less than half the entrance at CM and RM [MS2 and
MS3 between Milsten and Yttre Girden]. Ceasefire for CM and RM
when the weather gets worse. At 15.00, ceasefire limited because of
weather conditions. However, all mine barrages have the right to use
force for the three groups close to land . . . At 17.40, ceasefire for CM
and RM. At 19.00, [better weather, but despite darkness end of cease-
fire] right to use force for MS3 [certain mine groups], MS2 [certain
groups] and MS1 [certain groups]. At 19.30, HB7 [T.R. Nilsson, Bevb
77] left for visual reconnaissance at MS1, MS2 and MS3. [He started
with MS1. Conclusion: clear vision.] At 20.05, ceasefire from OB [the
Commander-in-Chief] in darkness and poor visibility for MS1, MS2
and MS3.288

At dusk, the order for Milsten from the previous night (at 22.35) of
using the mines in darkness for MS1 was still in force. From 19.00
there was, according to Milsten, no ceasefire in darkness. Despite
darkness but because of better (but still relatively bad) weather condi-
tions, a partial ceasefire for all mine barrages was introduced at 19.00.
Milsten and Stockholm Coastal Defence had since the previous
Saturday requested the right to use force in darkness because the
night-vision scopes meant there was no difference between day and
night. At 19.30, Bevb 77 went out to tow a small rowing-boat to the
other side of the narrow passage of Danziger Gatt. The visibility in
the area was clear. Milsten had full control of the surface, and the
Commander at Milsten, Sven-Olof Kviman, intended to give the right
to use all the mines of MS1. After that, he was going to check the vis-
ibility for MS2 and MS3. However, a new order from OB (or rather
from the Defence Staff) about a ceasefire was received at 20.05.

At dusk at 17.00 Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence Lars
Hansson requested the right to use force in darkness for MS1 and
MS2. The Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff report states:

At 17.00, CSK [Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence] requests right to
use fire for MS1 and MS2. At 17.49: from MBO [Commander of Eastern
Military District]: right to use force for MS1 and MS2 according to
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MBO order 11.07, 12 October [ceasefire in darkness (this order was
never transmitted to Milsten)]. At 18.22, OB [Commander-in-Chief] to
[or via] MBO . . . right to use fire in daylight and clear visibility for MS1,
MS2 and MS3 [ceasefire in darkness]. Otherwise, reconnaissance.
Commander Stockholm Coastal Defence asks for clarification. From
MBO: [order changed to] at clear visibility, right to use fire for MS1,
MS2 and MS3 [no ceasefire in darkness]. At 20.15, MBO reports new
clarification: right to use fire in daylight and clear visibility.?%’

The order from the acting Commander-in-Chief (Vice-Admiral
Stefenson) about the right to use force in ‘daylight and clear visibility’
was, at 18.22, immediately changed by MBO to ‘clear visibility’. All
the mine barrages at Milsten had the right to use force to stop the sub-
marine even during the night, which was recognized by Milsten with
the order of 19.00. Milsten received no order about a ceasefire in
darkness until 20.05. We may dispute if MBO had the rlght to change
the order from the Chief of Staff. MBO was the operative command
responsible for giving orders about the right to use fire, but this was
debated afterwards. At 20.05 (Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff
received the order at 20.15), Defence Staff sent the same ceasefire
order as at 18.22 directly to Milsten, and just informed MBO and
CSK afterwards, probably because of the above-mentioned ‘obstruc-
tions’ from MBO and CSK. Despite the fact that the command at
Milsten said that they had full control of the surface even during the
night, and despite the fact that Milsten’s control of the surface had
been recognized on the previous night and was recognized by MBO
and CSK, an order for a ceasefire was given.?*°

According to the commander at Milsten, Sven-Olof Kviman, he
received the same ceasefire order from four different points in the
chain of command: directly from the Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson, at the Defence Staff in Stockholm; from MBOj; from Naval
Command East at Musko; and from CSK, Brigadier- General Lars
Hansson. Hansson conﬁrms his order and says that he considered
refraining from following the order. He believed that Stefenson might
be cooperating with the Soviets to release the submarine. According to
an interview with Hansson, he told Kviman: ‘if you receive indications
of a submarine approachmg the mine barrage, call me and we will
decide what to do’.2°! This lack of trust and MBQO’s change of the
Commander-in-Chief order at 18.22 were most likely the reasons for
the Chief of Staff’s direct orders to the local commander at Milsten.
The same 18.22 order was actually sent directly to Milsten at 20.05.
Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman immediately called Chief of Staff Bror
Stefenson. Milsten had just had a small testing boat in the channel to
check visibility. They had total control of the surface. According to
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Goran Wallén’s quote from Stefenson’s diary, Kviman had also said
that they had indications in the sonars, and all this influenced Stefenson
who decided to terminate the ceasefire later the same night.?%?

The order at 18.22 was given more than one hour (and the order at
20.05 was given almost three hours) after the Commander-in-Chief
had left for Berga Press Centre and while he still was at Berga (he trav-
elled back to Stockholm at 22.00).2°3 Nothing is mentioned about this
order in General Ljung’s diary, even though Ljung paid attention to and
was involved in all other ceasefires for the mine barrages.?** This order
was not given by General Ljung but by the commander in charge on
this evening, Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson, and he gave this
order seemingly without consulting the Commander-in-Chief himself.
Furthermore, it was given without any preparation. According to
sources at the Defence Staff, this was the only order during the
Hérsfjarden hunt that was given as a command without being prepared
at OPG (Defence Staff Operations). Vice-Admiral Stefenson just gave
the order as a straight command. Other ceasefires for the mines were
ordered by the Commander-in-Chief on the recommendation of the
Chief of Staff. In this case, the Chief of Staff gave the order himself.

Minutes after eight o’clock, the local commander Sven-Olof
Kviman called Vice-Admiral Stefenson, who used a 25-minute tele-
phone conversation to convince Milsten that a new ceasefire had to
be accepted. After that, Stefenson’s subordinate and Kviman’s friend
from Coastal Defence, Lieutenant-Colonel Hikan Séderlindh, called
Kviman to convince him to follow orders. According to other officers
at the Defence Staff, Stefenson had said that Kviman might blow up a
fishing boat. Stefenson had given the impression that Kviman did not
have full control of the surface. This was not the view of MBO and
CSK. By giving orders, by personally trying to convince Kviman and
by using his friends, Stefenson tried to secure a guarantee that the
mines would not be used. The ceasefire was not terminated until five
hours later. It seems as if Vice-Admiral Stefenson wanted to be directly
in charge of what happened at Milsten during these hours.

During the evening, Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman called Naval Base
East at Muské several times to get approval for using the mines, but
it was not possible to have the ceasefire lifted. Instead, Kviman
ordered two patrol boats and one transport boat with 16 depth
charges to take position south of Milsten and south of Danziger Gatt
to wait for the approaching submarine. He also prepared for a heli-
copter to lead the attack. If Milsten was not allowed to use mines,
they still had the right to use depth charges. Without reporting to
higher commands, Kviman intended to lay a ‘carpet’ of depth charges
over the submarine. Nothing of this was put down in the Milsten war
diary, and Naval Base East was never directly informed.?**
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However, the log-book and the war diary for Bevb 77 states: ‘At
22.55, has reached position 1 nautical mile south of Milsten to be pre-
pared to drop depth charges on order from helicopter.’**® Five
minutes later, the submarine passed the mine barrage. The Milsten
war diary states: ‘At 23.00, from NH [Lieutenant Bengt Olsson]: the
mine barrage [MS1 Danziger Gatt (east of Milsten)] indicates. Report
to NTM [COrlBO]. The sonar system indicates. Helicopter
arrives.”?”” The naval base war diary has the following: ‘At 23.00, VM
[Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman] reports: indications in the mine
barrage. Nothing on the surface. Increasing noise in the sonars. At
23.02, Y69 ordered to go to the contact.””® On the speaker channel
on the tape, Anders Karlsson states:

at 23.02, starting recording because of indication in the mine barrage
north of the sonar system. Increased noise (10 dB) for two minutes, par-
ticularly for lower frequencies. Not possible to classify. [A minute and
a half later:] rather strong dB increase on 16 Hz [low-frequency, pos-
sibly propeller].?%°

Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman’s technical report from the following day
states: ‘It was the sixth mine group that indicated. The submarine
passed just east of the main sailing route [and just east of the shallow
area in the middle of Danziger Gatt; see figure].”3% Kviman himself
told me:

At 23.00, the mine barrages indicated a submarine. The magnetic field
was constant over the mines. It turned on five mine lamps in the control
room. The sensor signals were turned off twice. There was no reason
to turn them off more than that. Despite the fact that it was obvious
that a submarine had passed over the mine barrages, they were denied
the use of the mines.3?!

The Grandin Report states that, on 20 October, a test was made with
a Swedish submarine passing at an angle of 45 degrees over the same
mine barrage. The results were exactly the same as those during the
passage at 23.00 on 13 October. The Grandin Report concludes: ‘This
indication [on 13 October] must accordingly be understood as a very
likely passage of a sub-surface vessel over or in the immediate vicinity
of the mine barrage.”3%?

When Deputy Chief of MS1, Lieutenant Bengt Olsson, called
Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman to report the passage, he heard submarine
sound expert Anders Karlsson report about the propeller sound: ‘120
turns per minute’. Karlsson described to me how the submarine was
moving forward in intervals of 10-15 seconds and then stopping in
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order to avoid detection. The whole sequence was tape-recorded. A
propeller blade or propeller axis was damaged, and this was clearly
registered on the tape.

Immediately after the submarine had passed the mine barrage, the
naval base ordered a helicopter to go to the contact. Lieutenant-
Colonel Kviman ordered the helicopter to lead the three small patrol
boats to carry out a massive drop of depth charges. Once again,
Kviman asked for the right to use fire for the mine barrages. At
00.10, Stockholm Coastal Defence requested the right to use fire for
the mines.3? On the speaker channel of the tape, Anders Karlsson
stated:

I continue the tape-recording. Y69 is in contact with a submarine . . .
We had a couple of cavitation sounds. Conclusion: submarine increas-
ing speed. [Half a minute later:] cavitation sounds. [Two minutes later,
about 00.15] Helicopter prepares for a drop. [Four minutes later:]
Submarine, increasing amplitude. [Four minutes later:] I cannot hear
the submarine. [Six minutes later:] the submarine has started again. It
is moving forward slowly. [Six minutes later:] It seems that the subma-
rine is going with five-six-seven-eight turns with the propeller and then
stops. He is possibly going very close to the sea floor.3%

The helicopter made contact with the submarine, and the patrol boats
prepared the drop. However, the helicopter pilot pushed the wrong
button (for the lift and not for fire), and no depth charges were
dropped. After that, the helicopter lost contact. The Milsten war
diary states that this incident took place at 00.15 and goes on to say:

At 00.30, the sonar operator reports: still contact . . . At 00.35, from
the sonar operator: contact . . . the sonar operator concludes that the
propeller axis of the object is damaged. At 01.06, the helicopter
receives contact south Milsten, and [Milsten] receives the right to use
fire for the mines. NM [MS1] is informed.3%

In other words, despite darkness, five hours after the ceasefire was
declared and two hours after the submarine had passed the mine bar-
rages, the ceasefire was over. The Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff
report states:

At 01.00, MBO [Commander of the Eastern Military District]
announces: right to use fire for MS1 after consultations with COrlBO
[Chief of Naval Base East]. At the same time, Command Persson [see
10 October] is calling about another order, now from the Defence Staff,
about right to use fire for the mines.3%
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The naval base war diary confirms this submarine passage at 23.00,
the immediate action, the following submarine hunt and the end of
the ceasefire at 01.00, and states:

At 23.00 indications in the mine barrage. Nothing on the surface.
Increasing noise in the sonars [‘At 12.33 (on 14 October), Milsten con-
firms five indicating mines. The signal appeared again after having been
turned off’.3%7] At 23.02, [the helicopter] Y69 ordered to go to the
contact. 23.10, Y69 is in Danziger Gatt . . . At 23.55, [the helicopter]
Y70 on its way to Milsten. From Y69: a very clear echo. From MS
[Milsten]: helicopter reports submarine in bearing 180 degrees, dis-
tance 1.2M from Néttardhals [2.5 kilometres south of Nittars] . . . At
00.01, Y69 and Y70 receive the right to use depth charges . .. At 00.19,
Y69 receives the order: drop depth charge. At 00.21, Y69 leaves the
area . . . At 00.25, MS [Milsten] to Y70: the submarine is moving
forward by intervals towards the deepest area. At 00.31, MS [Milsten]
still has contact [with the submarine] . . . At 00.34, from MS [Milsten]:
the submarine has increased speed . . . At 00.53, Milsten has lost
contact. At 00.55, Y70 has 15 minutes left in the area. At 01.00, CSK
[Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence] has received the right to use the
mines [the ceasefire is over].3%

According to the Milsten war diary and the naval base war diary, this
submarine hunt continued up until lunchtime on 14 October. On the
speaker channel on Tape 4, Anders Karlsson stated:

At 01.19.00, continued tape recording of submarine. It is now 01.19.
The amplitude of the submarine has first decreased and then increased
to the present relatively high level. At 01.22.55, the helicopter is now
preparing for an attack. At 01.25.30, the boats are coming here for the
drop. Before this, I am going to turn off the whole system . . . The hel-
icopter had contact [with the submarine] at microphone no. 5, which
died. It is very likely that the submarine passed close to the microphone
— so close that the fuse melted. After the detonation, the system was
turned on. The noise level is back to normal. The low-frequency sounds
are back to normal. They decreased to about 30 dB.3%

The Milsten war diary states:

At 01.09, report from the sonar operator: the object is moving forward
slowly. Helicopter Y69 informed. At 01.13, the sonar operator: the
contact is stronger. At 01.14, Y70 returns. The speed of the object
increases. Report to helicopter. At 01.16, from the sonar operator: the
contact is stronger . . . At 01.18, the object is quiet . . . At 01.19, the
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object is moving forward by intervals. Y69 is informed. Check with NH
[MS1]. Mine barrages [MS1 Bengt Olsson, MS2 Johan Eneroth], the
sonar operator [Anders Karlsson] and the lookout follow on radio. At
01.21, the patrol vessels are led by Y69 + [transport boat] TpbS. The
distance between the patrol vessels discussed. HB7 [T.R. Nilsson on
Bevb 77] takes the lead. At 01.24, Y70 gives the frequency.3'?

According to Sven-Olof Kviman and T.R. Nilsson, the vessels pre-
pared for a massive drop of 16 depth charges (two patrol vessels with
six bombs of 105 kilos and the smaller transport boat with four bombs
of 55 kilos). The helicopter had contact with the submarine and was
going to give the order to the three vessels. At 01.30, the submarine
hit or passed in the immediate vicinity of microphone no. 5 (belong-
ing to the sonar system at Milsten). The Milsten war diary states:

At 01.30, one of the microphones (no. 5) out of order. At 01.32 . . .
According to Y69, contact close to A = the microphone [no. 5]. Contact
close. From the sonar operator: in spite of this, no contact [in the
microphone]. Y69 reports: the microphone is eliminated. The sonar
operator receives order to close down the system. No. 5 may have been
hit [the microphone was fixed by a strong elastic nylon cord between
the sea floor and a buoy less than two metres above the sea floor, Rolf
Andersson said]. Reported to Y69. From patrol vessel: three depth
charges ready. From Y69: increase the speed. [Anders Karlsson tells
how he could hear on the radio how the helicopter reported: ‘150
metres left, 100 metres left, 50 metres left.” Just at this very moment,
the helicopter received an order from the naval base to use only two
depth charges.] From NTM [the naval base]: you are allowed to use two
[depth charges]. At 01.37, Drop! HBS [George Gustafsson at Bevb 73]
is disturbed [by the naval base] so the order ‘Drop’ is not received. He
hears ‘Don’t drop’ and drops them later . . . At 01.40, only HBS
dropped two.3!!

This incident is confirmed by the naval base war diary: ‘At next
contact, drop two depth charges’, and, at ‘01.40, two depth charges
detonated’. At 02.02, the Commander of the Eastern Military District
was informed about the dropping of depth charges.?!> The massive
drop of 16 depth charges was interrupted by an order from the naval
base to drop just two. The order was given when there were fewer
than 100 metres left, T.R. Nilsson said. According to one participant,
a voice suddenly appeared on the frequency, and the helicopter and
the patrol vessels did not know who gave the order. They were dis-
turbed and asked the voice to leave the frequency.

When describing this case, the Grandin Report discusses a drop
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against a ‘certain submarine’ at 01.38 (helicopter contact). The report
states:

Because of interruption from the naval base, the drop was delayed and
limited to just two depth charges in relation to the planned drop of six
[actually 16] . .. The dropping of depth charges has to be done mas-
sively to have a reasonable chance of success.’!?

After Vice-Admiral Stefenson and Vice-Admiral Rudberg had gone for
a de-escalation on 7 October, no drop of depth charges was ordered
by the naval base (see above). When the Command at Milsten ordered
a massive drop, the naval base limited the operation so that there was
no ‘reasonable chance of success’, to use the words of the Grandin
Report. The Milsten war diary continues:

At 01.40, from HBS: both of them exploded. At 01.43, nothing from
the microphones. Only our own vessels . . . No low-frequency sounds
[no propeller]. The vessel may have been damaged, or keeps totally
silent, or the microphones are damaged for lower frequencies . . . At
02.35, [the fast attack craft] Kaparen has arrived to ordered position.
The role of the ceasefire and the end of the ceasefire are discussed with
CKA 1 [Chief of the Coastal Defence, Vaxholm, Colonel Persson] and
with night officer OrIBO [Naval Base East]. At 02.39, the helicopter
Y68 arrives in the area. At 02.44, from the sonar system: two knocking
sounds. At 03.00, CSK [Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence, Brigadier-
General Hansson] is contacted about the ceasefire. He is briefed about
the incident . . . At 03.08, consultations with OrIBO about landing hel-
icopter Y68 at Milsten (Y70 out of order) . . . At 03.20, poor visibility
because of rain. At 03.22, the sonar operator reports: several knocking
sounds close to [microphone] no. 4. Sonar personnel should brief Y68
when landing . . . At 03.50, OrIBO asks for position to let Belos start
search for the object. The weather is getting worse . . . At 05.30, Belos
searches for the object, while the helicopter hovers and tries to receive
contact in case something tries to move for protection because of the
noise of Belos. If contact is received the helicopter will direct the attack
craft [Kaparen] for a drop . . . At 07.12, from Milsten (direct contact
with Belos): go to DP 047 504 and search in an area with a radius of
0.5M...At 10.31, from the sonar operator: possible submarine, echo,
2 pings . . . At 10.46, the object is moving. Y71 is informed. At 10.48,
from sonar operator: possible submarine . .. At 10.55, from the sonars:
silent again. Y71 is informed. At 10.56, Y71 asks for last position of the
object. Answer: 1,000 metres southwest Vitingen.3!4

There were no more sounds from the submarine and no more con-
tacts. [t may at this point have been on its way out to open sea, out of
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reach of the microphones. The naval base war diary has a similar pres-
entation of the incidents:

At 03.30, from the sonars at Mélsten: rattling sounds . . . sounds similar
to the closing of a scuttle or a door [submarine hatch (Anders Karlsson)]
...At03.41,Y69 in the air. At 03.45 . . . Belos ordered to go to Milsten
[from Hérsfjirden] . . . At 07.45, Belos arrives. At 09.00, Belos contin-
ues searching southwest of Vitingen . . . At 11.00, from Milsten: micro-
phone contact for the previous half-hour (since 10.35). The submarine
has been moving since 10.46 (cavitation sounds). Conversation with
the captain of Belos [Bjérn Mohlin]. Search in an area 1 X 1M with the
centre being the location of the microphones . . . The submarine will
have to be 500-1,000 metres from the microphone for the sound to be
registered. Order to put continuous helicopter pressure on the area.
[No more contact mentioned.]3?

The submarine most likely left the area around 10.45, and at 11.00 it
was out of reach of the microphones. The Stockholm Coastal Defence
Staff report states:

At 04.15, from OrlBO [the naval base]: submarine is confirmed.
Helicopter has classified object in Danziger Gatt as ‘submarine’. At
01.35, two depth charges dropped. At 03.45, sound classified as
coming from submarine. At 08.50, SCSK [Chief of Staff, Stockholm
Coastal Defence, Lieutenant-Colonel Jan Svenhager] makes a report to
MBO about muddle-headedness in orders about the use of force [for
the mine barrages]. At 17.20, OB order to MBO about the right to use
force for the mine barrages. At 18.30, MBO order about right to use
force for MS1, MS2 and MS3 under the condition of clear visibility and
no risk to civilian traffic.31

At 17.20 on 14 October, the ceasefire in darkness was terminated. A
new order about ceasefire in darkness was not given until 17.00 on
21 October.?1” After the submarines had passed out, there was a per-
manent right to use force at night for a week. On 13 October, both
war diaries state that there were clear indications of a submarine and
that the submarine passed the mine barrage at 23.00 without person-
nel being allowed to do anything. The five-hour ceasefire for the mines
as well as the order about only dropping two depth charges most likely
saved the submarine. The internal Swedish Navy investigation by
Rear-Admiral Gunnar Grandin ef al. stated:

The amount of force used was limited by the number of depth charges
local commanders were allowed to drop in every single case . . . The
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number of depth charges allowed [in the single drops] shows that super-
ior command totally lacked necessary technical competence for such a
detailed planning of the operations . . . Ceasefires for [the mines at
Milsten] were also given by higher commands without competence and
knowledge . . . On a couple of occasions the order about ceasefires —
for depth charges as well as for mine barrages — may have positively
contributed to letting the submarine(s) escape.3!®

There is no doubt about a submarine passage, for several reasons.
Firstly, the magnetic sensors of the mine barrages indicated a sub-
surface object — most likely a submarine — that passed the mines. This
was a clear indication — ‘a very likely passage’, to quote the Grandin
Report. Secondly, the microphones at Milsten indicated a ‘certain sub-
marine’ moving forward by intervals. The speed and the turns per
minute were registered. The vessel had a damaged propeller blade or
propeller axis (or the blade was scraping a damaged propeller shroud).
There were clear cavitation sounds. Thirdly, the helicopter sonars indi-
cated a submarine and had contact with the submarine several times.
The helicopter classified the vessel as a ‘certain submarine’. Fourthly,
the sound of the closing submarine hatch at 03.30 could not be con-
fused with other sounds, which make it possible to classify the object
as a ‘certain submarine’. Fifthly, one microphone (no. §) was hit by the
submarine or passed by the submarine at a distance of a metre or less,
an event confirmed by the sonar operators involved, as well as by
Brigadier-General Hansson. When the submarine’s position was given
as ‘close to the microphone’, the sonar system received its maximum
signal, the fuse for no. 5 blew and the microphone died. There is no
object that could have provoked such an event other than a submarine
or submersible operating very close to the bottom. According to
general rules, this submarine should be classified as a ‘certain subma-
rine’. Later, Lieutenant-General Persson characterized this submarine
as a ‘certain submarine’.*!” The Grandin Report also described it as a
‘certain submarine’.>?? Between 02.45 and 03.30, there were reports
of several knocking sounds and the closing of a submarine hatch. The
sonar operator Anders Karsson interprets this as a docking operation.
After that, the submarine kept quiet for several hours. Around 10.45,
it was moving (cavitation sounds). It most likely left the area and went
out of reach of the microphones, out to open sea.

Commander-in-Chief General Lennart Ljung wrote in his diary on
14 October:

01.00, CFst [Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson] called. Contact
with bottom-fixed sonars in Danziger Gatt [Milsten]. Also sonar
contact from helicopter. The mine barrages indicated submarine. Two
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depth charges dropped. The results are not yet clear. At the time, there
was a ceasefire for the mine barrages (‘daylight and clear visibility’).
CFst went to MSB [the Defence Staff]. I stayed at home3?! [to be con-
tacted by telephone].32?

Ljung confirms the version of the two war diaries — that all systems indi-
cated a submarine — and, immediately after Ljung had been informed
about this, the ceasefire was terminated at Milsten. According to the
personnel at Milsten, they once again received the right to use the
mines at 01.06, two hours after the submarine had passed the mine bar-
rages. A five-hour ceasefire at the time of the most clear passage of a
submarine and after that a denial of a massive drop of depth charges
against the same submarine appeared absurd to the personnel. As
already indicated in the war diaries, the Commander at Miilsten,
Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman, was upset. The naval base and Stockholm
Coastal Defence were contacted. Two days later, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson went to Milsten by helicopter to talk with the personnel,
according to Kviman (Stefenson arrived at 13.50).323 It seems to have
been important to Vice-Admiral Stefenson to calm down the personnel,
and particularly Kviman. Stefenson sent Kviman’s wife hundreds of red
roses and a letter of thanks saying that her husband was still needed.

The Submarine Defence Commission Report gives a very different
version. The ceasefire for the mines in darkness was declared at 23.30
on 7 October.

After that, the order was to use fire only in daytime. This ceasefire was
in effect until 14 October (at 01.00), when conditions for the right to
use fire safely in the night had been achieved, because of better control
of the surface in darkness. Before this, one exception to the rule was
made around 21.00 on 12 October, when there were clear indications
of a submarine similar to what happened on 14 October.32*

This statement is misleading in every respect. Milsten had received its
night-vision scopes on 8 October.3?* Nothing had changed Milsten’s
capability to control the surface after that. From 9 October, Chief of
Stockholm Coastal Defence Lars Hansson requested the right to use
force even in darkness. The confirmed indications from 12 October
were around 18.00 (actually 16.30-18.30, possibly 18.55) and not at
21.00. The ceasefire for MS1 ended at 21.30 (or, formally speaking,
at 22.35) on 12 October, just after Vice-Admiral Stefenson had visited
General Ljung and informed him about clear indications of a subma-
rine — more than two hours after the submarine had left the area. For
the night of 12-13 October, there was no ceasefire during darkness. A
partial ceasefire was declared for a couple of hours (17.10-20.05) on
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13 October, because of bad weather and poor visibility. At 18.22, the
Eastern Military District stated clearly that there was no ceasefire in
darkness for MS1, MS2 and MS3.32¢ A new ceasefire, however, was
declared at 20.05. This ceasefire ended at 01.00 or, at Milsten, at
01.06, just after Stefenson had called General Ljung and informed him
about clear indications of a submarine and two hours after the subma-
rine had passed the mine barrages. As on 12 October, the indications
on 13-14 October took place two hours earlier. In other words, these
two ceasefires were both terminated more than two hours after clear
indications of submarines had terminated. Somebody has presented
consistently false information to the Submarine Defence Commission.
The Commission Report states that ‘there was no indication of a sub-
marine’ on 13 October,??” and ‘the commission has found no evidence
that a submarine would have passed out over the mine barrages in con-
nection with a ceasefire’.3?® This false information was also reported
by the Naval Analysis Group under Commander Emil Svensson, and
it was most likely given to the commission by its military expert, the
officer who gave these orders, Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson.

Vice-Admiral Stefenson did not call General Ljung until two hours
after the submarine had passed the mine barrages. He told Ljung about
clear indications of a submarine. After this, at 01.00, the ceasefire was
ended and Stefenson went to the Defence Staff. The Ekéus
Investigation stated:

After his conversation with the commander at Milsten [Lieutenant-
Colonel Kviman], the Chief of Staff checked with the relevant com-
manders and, at about 01.00 in the night, he decided to accept the
request for the right to use fire [in darkness]. He briefed the
Commander-in-Chief about his decision.’?

This is Admiral Stefenson’s own version. Chief of Stockholm Coastal
Defence Lars Hansson was never contacted, and all the others are
dead. The only individual the commission spoke to was Bror
Stefenson. The conversation between Kviman and Stefenson took
place immediately after the order was given at 20.05. Stefenson could
easily have contacted the relevant commanders and ended the cease-
fire before 21.00. Instead, he waited for another four hours.
Stefenson’s activity during this night contrasts with his late order
to end the ceasefire and late call to General Ljung, as though Stefenson
wanted to keep Ljung uninformed until the submarine was out.
Nothing indicates that Ljung had been informed about the ceasefire.
The Grandin Report states that the orders about ceasefires did not
follow the usual routines.?3° The whole incident was obviously impor-
tant enough to force the Chief of Staff back to his office just after mid-
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night. There is no doubt that he, at the time, believed these indica-
tions. As early as the following morning, however, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson denied any passage at Milsten. He did not inform the
Submarine Defence Commission about the passage and has denied the
existence of the passage in interviews afterwards (see below).?3!
Neither did he mention the counter-order that prevented the massive
dropping of depth charges that supposedly saved the submarine.

At 08.00, General Lennart Ljung had a meeting at the Defence
Staff. He wrote in his diary: ‘Discussion [with Chief of Staff, possibly
also Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Rudberg]: are the mines manip-
ulated because the mine barrages indicate a submarine (but possibly
no submarine)? Electronic disturbances?’3? After interviews with
Vice-Admiral Stefenson, Fredrik Bynander wrote about this meeting:
‘An upset discussion took place.’??3 In other words, General Ljung was
then given information, most likely by Stefenson (and possibly Vice-
Admiral Rudberg), that in all respects contradicted the information he
had been given seven hours earlier (at 01.00). Stefenson woke him up
in the night to tell him about a serious situation and a ‘certain subma-
rine’, and then — a few hours later — it was just ‘electronic disturbances’
even although all the information from the local commanders still sup-
ported the fact that it was a ‘certain submarine’. There was also the
technical evidence of the tape-recorded propeller sound. Either
Stefenson totally manipulated the information to the Commander-in-
Chief or they together reached a manipulated conclusion. However,
the second alternative is not very likely, because why would General
Ljung in that case have entered the information about Stefenson’s tele-
phone call in his diary in the first place? It seems that Stefenson, and
possibly Rudberg, had decided that this passage did not take place.
The ceasefire would be too difficult to explain.

After two interviews with Vice-Admiral Stefenson (but none with
General Ljung), Fredrik Bynander states:

Personnel on the site had been confused over what directives were in
effect when a strong indication was received and consequently did not
fire. Ljung and Stefenson were certain that no ceasefire rule was in
effect at the time of the alleged escape.33

Stefenson ordered the ceasefire having consulted with — or, more
likely, without having consulted with — General Ljung, but Ljung was
clearly informed at 01.00. To argue that there was no ceasefire from
20.05 to 01.06 is absurd. It is in every respect contradicted by the
Milsten war diary, the naval base war diary, the Stockholm Coastal
Defence Staff report and by interviews with regional and local person-
nel involved.
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Deputy Chief of Defence Staff Intelligence Commander Bjérn
Eklind has told me that Vice-Admiral Stefenson asked him about the
technical possibilities for manipulating the mines and whether there
were indications of Soviet use of these techniques. After an hour or
two Eklind came back to Stefenson and presented some limited evi-
dence for Soviet experiments and the technical possibilities for this.
At 13.45, General Ljung briefed Defence Minister Bérje Andersson
and told him that it was suspected that ‘the mines may be indicat-
ing erroneously’.?3 Borje Andersson was informed that there was
no clear indication of a submarine. The ‘certain submarine’ about
which General Ljung was briefed 12 hours earlier no longer existed.
It seems as though Vice-Admiral Stefenson or Vice-Admiral Rudberg
had decided that the passage did not take place. Toivo Heinsoo,
Borje Andersson’s close associate and political adviser at the
Ministry of Defence, told me that they several times received reports
about strong indications, but afterwards there was no confirmation.
Lieutenant-Colonel H&kan Soderlindh, Chief of OPG at the
Defence Staff, has said that the criticism of the ceasefire on
13-14 October (and of Stefenson) did not take into account the
security—political consequences of the sinking of a submarine. The
leaders with the final responsibility had to consider this problem.
After allegations that this submarine might have been a Western sub-
marine, Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman said that this would explain
Vice-Admiral Stefenson’s behaviour.3¢ Brigadier-General Lars
Hansson said to me in 2002 that he now had more respect for Vice-
Admiral Stefenson’s orders after having understood that it was a
Western submarine. However, he felt that he should have been
informed about it beforehand.

The passage at 23.00 (not at 23.01 or 23.02) indicates that the sub-
marine had orders to pass out at a certain hour within a given (five-
hour) time window. According to an experienced admiral I have
consulted, a five-hour time window is appropriate for such an opera-
tion. And if you receive an order to pass at a certain hour, you will do
that, he said. You wait until the right minute before you pass the mine
barrage. The passage at exactly 23.00 is a clear sign of a pre-planned
operation, this admiral said. This view has been supported by other
senior submarine officers. This, however, presupposes that a ceasefire
had been established giving enough time for the passage. This might
explain why the Chief of Staff started to operate as a local commander
and why a lot of strange decisions were taken at the Defence Staff,
which even made Brigadier-General Hansson believe that Vice-
Admiral Stefenson was cooperating with the Soviets. Ambassador Rolf
Ekéus found that the pages covering this incident in the Defence Staff
(OPG) war diary (from the afternoon of 13 October to after one
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o’clock in the morning of 14 October) had disappeared in both the
hand-written and the typed versions. 337 The tape recording had also
dlsappeared The 20-minute recording had either been demagnetlzed
or just cut out, said Arne Asklint, who investigated this issue for the
Ekéus Commission (see below).

Three months later, General Ljung wrote in his diary that Henry
Kissinger had said: ‘it was smartly done by the Swedish government
to release the submarine the way they did’.33® Of course, by first dam-
aging the submarine and then covertly releasing it, Sweden would
have been able to demonstrate its resolve to defend its territory
without causing a foreign power to lose face. But this does not make
sense if the foreign power was the Soviet Union. It seems as though
Kissinger was speaking about a Western, or rather US, submarine that
Sweden had released after having first damaged it. Kissinger’s knowl-
edge about the case may indicate that the submarine originated from
the USA. However, the officers who tried to damage the submarine
were hardly the same as those who tried to release it. And the govern-
ment, as well as the Commander-in-Chief, were probably not
informed at all.

In the evening of the same day, the press centre at Berga was closed
down and General Ljung reported that the submarine had most likely
been able to escape. The Naval Base East intelligence briefing for
15 October states:

1. Briefing about the Activity of Foreign Powers. 1.1. Foreign Naval
Vessels: Warsaw Pact naval vessels, among others three frigates of Riga
class are having an exercise Osel-Tallin 1982-10-14-11-14. Possible
submarines may be in the vicinity. 1.2. Foreign State Vessels: Soviet
rescue vessel Loksa FM 4930 151100 [at 11.00, 15 October] . .. 1.3.
Warsaw Pact Merchant Ships: At 17.11, Soviet merchant ship Volgobalt
at EP 4324 . . . 1.4. Conclusion: No activity can be linked to the sub-
marine incident. There may be increased interest among even non-
engaged nations. 1.5. Foreign Submarine Activity: No definite
indications during the day.?*’

The sharp contrast between this report about low Soviet activity and

the dramatic incidents involving damaged and released submarines is
striking.
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did not go out at 14.35 or minutes after that. According to Kviman, it was Tpb
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334 that took these samples on the green patch.

CMS HWD.

SOU (2001), p. 124.

COrlBO WD.

Y46 Report; SOU (2001), p. 124; Wallén (2002), p. 40.

Y46 Report; see also Wallén (2002), p. 40.

Y46 Report.

CMS WD.

Aftonbladet (12 October 1982); OB TD.

Eriksson (1982).

CMS WD.

CMS2 WD.

CMS WD; COrIBO WD; MAFU Report; SCSK Report.

OB HWD.

Ibid.

The comment, ‘mine detonated at Mélsten — directly under — green patch’ was
clearly inserted later, in between the last paragraph for 11 October and the
already written first lines for 12 October. In the hand-written original, one can
see that Ljung used a different pen and that he has drawn a line separating the
inserted sentence from the first line of 12 October. This sentence would other-
wise have been ‘intruding’ into the text of the following day. The colour of the
pen is the same as the one used for the 12 October entry, ‘In the afternoon, no
new information on a possibly sunk submarine’ (OB HWD), indicating that
General Ljung most likely wrote these sentences on the same occasion. He seems
to have received information about a damaged or ‘possibly sunk submarine’
sometime during 12 October.

P0551bly sunk submarine’ (OB HWD) is changed to ‘possible damaged subma-
rine’ (OB TD). Two entries in the hand-written version — ‘Mine detonated at
Milsten — d1rect1y under — green patch’ and ‘Ceasefire for the mine barrages until
investigation is made> (OB HWD) — are made into a whole new paragraph with
a different meaning (the new typed text is in italics): ‘During the day a mine was
detonated in the area west of Milsten. This time there was another indication
from the mine barrage, and a mine was activated directly under the indicating
object. There was a green patch on the surface. It was investigated during the
evening by divers and Belos. There was at that time no sign of a damaged subma-
rine. The mine explosions are mysterious, and I am afraid that this will have long-
term consequences for our peacetime-deployed mines, their function and security.
On recommendation of the Chief of Staff, I will not allow any activation of mines
until the circumstances surrounding the latest mine explosion have been inves-
tigated’ (OB TD).

COrIBO INT (11 October 1982).

Aktuellt, Swedish TV1 (7 March 2000).

MAFU Report (11-12 October 1982).

CMS HWD; CMS WD.

COrIBO WD.

MAFU Report (11-12 October 1982).
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SCSK Report.
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Kadhammar (1987), p. 105.
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CMS Report (12 October 1982).
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SCSK Report.
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Dagens Nyheter (13 October 1982).
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Dagens Nyheter (13 October 1982).
COrIBO WD.

Aftonbladet (13 October 1982).
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MAna Hirsfj.

CMS WD.
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SOU (1995), pp. 140, 145.
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SOU (1983), p. 51.

SCSK Report.

CMS HWD.

COrlBO WD.

SOU (1983), p. S1.
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SOU (1995), pp. 201-210.

Dagens Nybeter (14 October 1982).
CM/Grandin (1982); Carlsson (1999), p. 67.
OB HWD.

COrlBO WD.

CMS HWD.

MAna Hirsfj.

CMS WD.

SCSK Report.

The Ekéus Report states that the order about right to use force in darkness from
22.35 the night before was automatically changed at dawn, at 06.00, to the old
order: ‘daylight and clear visibility’. A new ceasefire would have started at dusk,
at 17.15, on 13 October. At 20.05 ‘the Chief of Staff repeated the order from
the Commander-in-Chief’ (SOU 2001, p. 117). This is the view presented by
Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson. It has been supported by his associate, Ambassador
Ekéus’s military expert, Rear-Admiral Géran Wallén (2002, p. 37). However,
there is no support for this view in the naval base war diary, the Milsten war
diary or the Stockholm Coastal Defence Staff Report. Milsten and Stockholm
Coastal Defence both had a very different understanding of what happened

during these hours.
Kadhammar (1987), p. 105.
Wallén (2002), p. 38.

OB HWD.
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FOA Tape 3.

CMS Report (14 October 1982).

See also Aktuellt, Swedish TV1 (7 March 2000).

CM/Grandin (1982), p. 131.

SCSK Report.

FOA Tape 3.

CMS WD.

SCSK Report.

COrIBO WD.

Ibid.

FOA Tape 4.

CMS WD.

Ibid.

COrIBO WD.

CM/Grandin (1982), p. 139.

CMS WD.

COrIBO WD.

SCSK Report.

SOU (2001), p. 119.

CM/Grandin (1982), pp. 24-5.
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CM/Grandin (1982), p. 139.

OB HWD.

OB TD.

CMS WD.

SOU (1983), p. S1.

CMS WD.

SCSK Report.

SOU (1983), p. 85.

Ibid., p. 51. The Submarine Defence Commission Report states: “The commis-
sion has found no evidence that a submarine would have passed out over the
mine barrages in connection with a ceasefire. In particular, the night of
13-14 October has been discussed. Whether the indications received on this
occasion (which led to the end of the ceasefire in darkness after some delay in
the decision-making process) should be interpreted as the passage of a subma-
rine is under debate among naval experts. It is, however, very doubtful that a
foreign submarine would pass the mine barrages knowing that mine explosions
had taken place’ (SOU 1983, p. 51). In other words, because mine explosions
had taken place, no indications of a submarine should be taken seriously. This is
obviously different from the views of General Ljung (as presented in his diary)
and the local commanders.

SOU (2001), p. 117.

CM/Grandin (1982), pp. 24-5.

Dagens Nyheter (1 February 1994).

OB HWD.

Bynander (1998b), p. 401.

Ibid., pp. 379-80.
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Reflections after the Submarine Hunt

THE DYE

The official report of the Parliamentary Submarine Defence
Commission states with regard to the mine explosion on 11 October:
‘the yellow powder was probably green mud from the sea floor’.! In
other words, there was nothing of interest. According to the
Submarine Defence Commission Report, there was no clear indication
of a damaged submarine or of a yellow or green patch linked to a sub-
marine. This is all misleading.

The mine detonated at 12.20 was located at some 37 metres in
depth on a sea floor of rocks and hard clay up to 100 metres from the
small island of Misknuv. Still, some mud and thin oil were brought up
by the explosion, which, according to Lieutenant-Colonel Kviman,
created a large patch of maybe 100 metres in diameter. The reconnais-
sance aircraft SE-GYP reported that this patch drifted northwards. Oil
samples were taken at 13.05. This patch had nothing to do with the
small ‘bright-yellow’ or green patch that appeared more than an hour
after this incident around 13.30.2 At 14.35, Milsten went out and col-
lected the yellow/green substance in clean towels, and the Chief of
Naval Base East sent a helicopter to take photos of the green patch.’
The Chief of Staff at the naval base informed the Defence Staff
Operation Division, who immediately informed the Chief of Staff.
Captain Per Andersson, from his observation at 16.00, reported ‘mud
from the sea floor or a less concentrated green dye’,* but by this time
the patch was more or less dissolved. Earlier observations mention a
‘bright-yellow’ or ‘concentrated green patch’. The yellow/green patch
was clearly something exceptional, and, in the diaries of General
Ljung and Lieutenant-General Lars-G. Persson, it was the only thing
worth mentioning.®* When Chief of Naval Staff Major-General Bo
Varenius retired in 1983, he received a bottle of water from
Lieutenant-Colonel Rolf Malm and the Naval Analysis Group. He was
jokingly told that this was the sample from the yellow/green patch on
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| A DAY i e e

20. At 12.20 on 11 October, a mine was detonated 100 metres west of the island
of Masknuv after clear indication of a passing ‘subsurface object’. On the surface, a
large patch of mud and oil appeared. It drifted northwards at a speed of 750-800
metres per hour. At 12.55, Swedish aircraft SE-GYP reported the position of the
patch about 600 metres north-northwest of Masknuv. At 13.30, a small yellow
patch, most likely dye from a damaged US submarine, appeared just southwest of
Masknuv. This patch also drifted northwards at a speed of 750-800 metres per
hour. It followed the currents northeast along the northern shore of the island.
After that, it followed the main current northwards. Positions, size and shape of this
yellow/green patch are given in the report of helicopter Y46. This report is
supplemented by the position and size noted in the M&sknuv War Diary, and by the
information from the Milsten War Diary that follows the expanding patch drifting
northwards for two hours.

the water at Mésknuv in October 1982. The yellow/green dye was not
a mass-media phenomenon as indicated by the Submarine Defence
Commission.

First, the yellow/green patch did not appear immediately after the
explosion at 12.20, but more than one hour later (around 13.30). In
other words, the patch did not originate from the explosion. The boats
ordered out 20 minutes (334) and 37 minutes (Bevb 77) after the
explosion to patrol the area did not report a green or yellow patch, nor
did the reconnaissance aircraft SE-GYP, which was patrolling the area
35 minutes afterwards, nor did the arriving helicopter, which passed
over Masknuv 65-70 minutes after the explosion.® At 13.05, T.R.
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Nilsson on Bevb 77 left Milsten and went out to take samples from the
patch of thin oil and mud reported by GYP. He took oil samples, which
is confirmed by his log-book.” After that he was sent to look for oil
patches south of Milsten. He has said that he never saw the
yellow/green patch. At 13.25 Chief of MS2 (M3sknuv), Captain Johan
Eneroth reported to Milsten but not about a yellow/green patch,
which he did about half an hour later.® Up to over an hour after the
explosion, there was no report of a yellow/green patch. The existence
of this patch was reported later, at about 13.30 (1 hour 10 minutes
after the explosion). The photographer Folke Hellberg and the jour-
nalist Anders Ohman went out from Nynishamn in a small boat and
arrived in the area about an hour after the explosion. Shortly after-
wards, around 13.30, they went straight into a small ‘bright-yellow
patch’ close to Masknuv. The two men stayed in the area for only a few
minutes. At 13.45, the helicopter Y46 observed the patch close to
Masknuv.” After that, there were several reports about the
yellow/green patch. In the afternoon (according to Milsten about
14.00), MS2’s [M3sknuv’s] war diary states: ‘a yellow cloud in the
water about 200 metres to the north, size 300 X 100 metres. Report to
VM [Milsten]’, which was written in the Milsten war diary at 14.09.1°

Second, after 13.30, the yellow/green patch expanded rapidly. It was
not a biological phenomenon, and it was not mud from the bottom.
The Milsten war diary states at 14.09 that the patch expanded. It
started as a smaller patch and became larger and larger.!! When
Ohman saw it about 13.30, it was concentrated and 20 X 30 metres in
size. The estimate made by personnel on Y46, at 13.45, was, accord-
ing to the drawing (and compared with the island of Masknuv), a size
of 50X 150 metres.!? Around 14.00, Masknuv reported a size of
100X 300 metres, which was registered by Milsten at 14.09.13
Personnel on Y46 made a drawing of the patch’s further expansion and
movement northwards.'* At 15.00, the size was, according to the
drawing, around 150 X450 metres.!’ The fact that the patch, in half
an hour, expanded about 40-50 times its original size, and in an hour
and a half more than 100 times its original size suggests that it was not
a biological phenomenon. The size of the patch at the first observation
(20 X 30 metres) implies that it had nothing to do with mud on the sea
floor. The Ekéus Report also excludes mud from the sea floor: ‘it was
noted when samples were taken of the patch that the layer of dye was
thin, that the patch kept together, was floating as a film on the surface
for hours, and that it consisted of a fine substance that did not mix with
water’. It was described as ‘artificially green’.'® Ohman describes it as
a ‘chemical substance’. ‘It was bright yellow,” he said. Taken together,
this all suggests that it was a dye, a marking chemical from a subma-
rine, sent up more than an hour after the incident took place.

127



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

Third, the speed of the surface water makes any confusion with the
patch that appeared with the mine explosion impossible. A large patch
of mud appeared on the surface immediately after the mine explosion,
and thin oil was also reported, which may have originated from the
damaged submarine. This mud and thin oil were drifting northwards.
At 12.55 to 12.57 (35 minutes after the mine was detonated), the
reconnaissance aircraft SE-GYP reported to the naval base that this
mud/oil patch had been drifting northwards some 450 metres from
the place of the explosion to a position some 600 metres north-north-
west of M3sknuv (0.6 km, bearing 330 degrees).!” The surface water
would accordingly have moved northwards at a speed of approxi-
mately 770 metres an hour. At 13.45, the helicopter Y46 observed a
green patch about 10 metres from Masknuv (north-northwest of the
island). Around 14.00, it was reported to be 200 metres north of
Miésknuv. At 15.00, this patch had moved to a position 1 kilometre
further north compared to the position at 13.45.'8 This means that the
surface water, in the second case, moved northwards at a speed of
about 750-800 metres an hour. Both patches moved northwards at
approximately the same speed, perhaps 750-800 metres per hour. By
just looking at the speed of the surface water, we can exclude the pos-
sibility that the yellow/green patch appeared at the place of the mine
explosion at the time of the explosion. When the yellow/green patch
was at the place of the mine explosion (at Masknuv), the patch of oil
and mud that appeared at the explosion would have been up to 1 kilo-
metre further north. The yellow/green patch had nothing to do with
what appeared immediately after the explosion.

Fourth, the patch did not originate at the place of the explosion,
some 75-100 metres west of Mdsknuv, but most likely at 13.30 some
100 metres south-southwest of Mdsknuv. Ohman saw it just southwest
of Masknuv about 13.30. At 13.45, it was, according to the report and
drawing made by Y46, already north or northwest of Masknuv, but
just 10 metres from the small island. The position of the by-then long
oval patch indicates that it followed the currents northwards and, for
a moment (for natural reasons), eastwards on the northern side of the
island. This created its strange form, the long, oval, bow-like patch,
which then moved northwards with the currents. It can only have
appeared just south or south-southwest of Masknuv. With an esti-
mated speed of 750-800 metres an hour, it might have appeared
around 13.30 about 100 metres south-southwest of the small island
(100-150 metres southeast of the place of the mine explosion)
roughly at the place where Ohman saw it, and, according to the
Milsten report of 12 October, exactly at the place where Belos had
found 1 X 1.5 metre possible ‘steel plates’, which were belived to have
originated from the damaged submarine. Ohman and Hellberg prob-
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ably saw the patch before M&sknuv-Milsten, because the staff of
Miésknuv and Mailsten were located inside the rocks. Only the con-
script lookouts, one on each island, followed what happened outside,
and they may not have been alert all the time. In other words, the
patch did not originate from the place of the explosion. There is no
explanation for this patch other than that it was a dye from a subma-
rine sent up to the surface more than one hour after the explosion at
the place where the submarine would most likely have bottomed, 100
metres south of the mine barrage.

Fifth, the colour of the patch was most likely dependent on how
concentrated it was and from where it was seen. This particular
Monday was a calm and beautiful October day with clear visibility. At
a distance, from the island of Milsten, the rather large patch looked
green against the blue sea. According to the Milsten war diary, the
patch was first ‘concentrated green’.!” The first report from Masknuv
states: ‘a yellow cloud on the water’.2? In the Milsten war diary this
report from Mﬁsknuv, the ‘yellow cloud’, was changed to ‘green-
coloured area’ probably because it looked green from Mailsten. The
reports following speak about a green patch. The Dagens Nybeter
journalist and former civilian captain Anders Ohman and the photog-
rapher Folke Hellberg went straight into a 20 X30 metre yellow
patch. They saw the substance at a distance of 1 metre. It was clearly
yellow. ‘It was nothing biological and definitely not mud from the sea
floor. It was a chemical substance. It was bright yellow,” Ohman said.
This means that the yellow dye (at a distance) would have looked
green against the sea. ]ohan Eneroth at Msknuv speaks now about it
as ‘yellow-green-grey’. The Submarine Defence Commission checked
neither with Ohman nor with the personnel at Milsten/Masknuv. The
commission simply stated that ‘the yellow powder was probably green
mud from the sea floor’.?! It was still visible — ‘concentrated green’ —
at 15.30, and even at 16.00, though by then less concentrated. After
16.00, there were no reports of the patch. If it had been a dye, a
marking chemical, from a submarine, it would have dissolved within
three hours or less, depending on the weather, a high-ranking officer
told me. In other words, it would have disappeared sometime around
16.30, by which time the patch actually had dissolved.

Sixth, almost all evidence about the yellow/green patch has disap-
peared. After 14.35 samples of the yellow/green patch were taken in
clean towels. The Defence Staff Security Division believed that the
samples were sent to SKL (the State Laboratory for Crime) in
Link6ping. The Ekéus Report states that, in the Military Intelligence
archives, it had ‘not been possible to find any results from the analy-
sis of the samples. A helicopter [Y46] was ordered to take photos, but
these photos are no longer there.”??> Y46 actually took 36 colour
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photos from various altitudes,?? but it has not been possible to locate
any of them in the Military Intelligence archive. However, the
drawing made by personnel from Y46 exists as well as the report
from the personnel who took the samples, which states that ‘it was
floating as a film on the surface for hours, and that it consisted of a
fine substance that did not mix with water’.?* During Anders
Ohman’s and Folke Hellberg’s trip to Maisknuv, Hellberg took
several photos. He believed he even took photos of the yellow patch,
but all his negatives were in Pressens Bild’s archive (the newspaper
pictures archive), he said. His personal archive is organized chrono-
logically. The negatives were there, regardless of the quality of the
pictures. However, in the file for his 11 October trip to Milsten the
whole film with 36 pictures is gone. And from his trip the following
day, several negatives are seemingly missing. Almost all physical evi-
dence has for some reason disappeared, and the drawing made by
Y46 was never used. It gave the rough expansion and speed north-
wards of the patch, and it would have made it possible to estimate
the position where the dye appeared, but for some reason this infor-
mation was never used.

Seventh, Mdlsten immediately reported the green patch to the naval
base, which reported to the Defence Staff and its Chief of Staff, but the
latter seemingly did not report it to the Commander-in-Chief. Chief of
Staff at the Naval Base East, Commander Lars-Erik Hoff, called
Lieutenant-Commander Carl-Johan Arfvidson at OPG about the mine
explosion at 12.20. Relatively soon after that, he called about the
green patch, Arfvidson said. Arfvidson reported immediately (within
30 seconds) to his superior. Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror
Stefenson would have been informed about the incident minutes after
Masknuv/Milsten had reported it. However, he did not seem to have
reported the incident — or at least its significance — to the Commander-
in-Chief. General Ljung did not write about the mine explosion, the
green patch and the ‘possibly sunk submarine’ until after lunch the fol-
lowing day. In the early morning of 12 October, he accused the Navy
Information Division of allowing its optimism to create unnecessary
expectations on the part of journalists, since the Information Division
was preparing to take journalists out to a discovered (damaged) sub-
marine. Chief of Naval Base East, Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard,
did not show the same optimism, Ljung writes. At 09.00, General
Ljung briefed Minister of Defence Bérje Andersson.?® It is not clear
whether Ljung told the minister that something had happened or
whether he wanted to counter speculations in the media. However, no
briefing was given on 11 October. Most likely, General Ljung was not
informed about a green dye and a damaged submarine on 11 October,
perhaps not until the afternoon of 12 October. After that, he made a
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public statement about the necessity for Sweden to use force. He
ended with the words ‘We are sorry.’

There is no other explanation for this yellow/green patch than a
yellow/green dye from a submarine. Its appearance as a small, concen-
trated yellow patch — exactly where a damaged submarine would most
likely have bottomed, perhaps 100 metres from the place of the explo-
sion —about an hour or more after the explosion, its expansion to 40-50
times its original size within half an hour, and finally its dissolving after
less than three hours all indicate a dye or marking chemical from a
damaged submarine. The events are similar to what happened on 5
October, when a green patch appeared on the surface after an attack on
asubmarine. However, on 11 October there is enough evidence to prove
that this patch originated from the submarine. Afterwards, we have to
ask why both the typed version of Ljung’s diary and the Submarine
Defence Commission used false information, and why the Naval
Analysis Group or the Grandin investigation never discussed the issue.

Commander Anders Hammar, a member of the two latter groups,
who also briefed the Commission, says today that he never had access
to my material. However, he says that this material leaves no doubt.
He is now supporting my analysis. Commander Bengt Gabrielsson,
Chief of Naval Operations, Eastern Military District, says that he
wrote drafts for the Commission, but he was never informed about the
yellow/green patch; nor did he receive any report about a damaged
submarine, though there were many things that he was not informed
about. The naval base often reported directly to the Defence Staff, he
said. Actually, the naval base reported directly to Carl-Johan Arfvidson
at OPG, who reported to the Chief of Staff. But why did the latter not
report the yellow/green patch to the Commission? Vice-Admiral Bror
Stefenson was the Commission’s military expert, a former submarine
captain, who would have known the significance of this observation.
He would also have known that an analysis was made that excluded
mud from the bottom, but despite this he and the Commission talk
about ‘green mud’. When retired Commander-in-Chief General Bengt
Gustafsson mentioned the information about the green patch to
Admiral Stefenson in 2000, Stefenson still argued that it was green mud
from the sea floor, Gustafsson told me. Ambassador Ekéus’s report is at
least more humorous: ‘The investigation has asked specialists from
FMYV who could not find any other explanation to the patch than an
old container of paint that was lying on the bottom and was destroyed
by the mine explosion.”?® This can hardly explain why this yellow/green
substance reached the surface one hour after the explosion. Ekéus also
knew about the significance of such a yellow/green patch, but he
decided not to bring it up in the report, because there was no ‘hard evi-
dence’, no photographs and no results from the analysis of samples.
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The answer to all the questions raised by the above events may be
found further west. When I spoke with Captain Robert Bathurst, a
former deputy CINCUSNAVEUR for intelligence, I asked him what
instruments the US Navy uses to identify the position of a sunk or
damaged submarine. He told me that they use a buoy that sends
signals and a ‘golden-yellow powder’ that creates a patch on the
surface so that the location can be identified from the air. ‘Soviet sub-
marines do not use this kind of marking that reveals the place of the
incident,” he said. Later, after having been presented with the back-
ground for my question, he added: ‘There is no proof. The Soviets
probably had this marking chemical but they had uncertain supply and
may not have had it on board. Also, they do nearly anything not to
reveal their positions.’

A Norwegian admiral and former Chief of the Navy, said that the
dye may look yellow or green depending on where it is seen from.
Not only the USA but also Britain uses this kind of buoy, with a green
or possibly orange dye or marking chemical in cases of emergency.
Furthermore, the chemical is available on the commercial market.
The Norwegians have used this kind of dye in anti-submarine warfare
training operations, but never as an emergency dye, he said. A Danish
admiral and former Chief of the Navy said that both the Danish and
the West German navies have used a green dye in anti-submarine
warfare training operations, though not as emergency dye. A subma-
rine may send up a dye when a frigate tries to hit the submarine with
a rocket. Afterwards, it can be found out if the rocket hit the water
in the dye. A Norwegian submarine captain told me that the USA
started to use emergency dyes with different colours in the 1970s.
The British did not use these dyes until later, or at least not before
1978. They were experimenting with dyes in the early 1980s. Most
NATO countries had never used them. The Norwegians used a radio
buoy and an orange lifeboat, he said. He had never seen the Russians
use a dye. Commander Bjoérn Eklind, former deputy chief of the
Swedish Defence Staff Intelligence, told me that the Swedes have used
a green dye in connection with anti-submarine warfare training. They
dropped a green dye from a helicopter or they shot a small rocket
with green marking chemical to check if they were able to hit the sub-
marine. Despite having followed Soviet naval activities in detail from
the late 1970s to the mid-1980s, he had never seen the Soviets use
this kind of marking powder, he said. They use a chemical that creates
smoke on the surface, but not a dye of yellow or green powder. The
same view is presented by Captain Bo Rask, Chief of First Submarine
Flotilla, in a letter for the Ekéus Investigation. He states that the
Swedes have experience of the Soviets sending up a chemical creating
red smoke on the surface. The Poles and probably the Soviets also
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used smoke shells. We have no information of any other methods
used, he said.?” This was not made very clear by the Ekéus Report.?
The personnel at Milsten told me that nobody — neither the Swedish
helicopters nor any other Swede — used a yellow/green dye or
marking chemical during the submarine hunt at Milsten. The naval
base sent up a helicopter to take a photo of the green patch. It was
believed to be directly linked to a submarine damaged by a mine
explosion.?’

The Swedes did not use a yellow or green dye at Milsten, nor did
the Soviets. All intelligence personnel I have spoken with have said that
it is impossible that the Soviets would have used a bright-yellow or con-
centrated green dye in a secret operation. They would avoid being
revealed at any price. A former colleague of Captain Bathurst, a US spe-
cialist on submarine activities and professor at the Naval War College,
said that US submarines would automatically release a buoy and a dye
if a submarine should sink to a certain level. However, the Russians did
not use this technique. In 1989, when the Soviet Komsomolets/Mike
submarine sank near the Norwegian coast, no dye was released, a
Norwegian general told me. A Norwegian senior intelligence officer
responsible for following underwater activities within the Soviet Navy
for some 20 years said that the Soviets used various kinds of markings
(also ‘light rockets’), but never a dye, not even in their own home
waters. Furthermore, Vice-Admiral Stefenson and the Swedish Defence
Staff went to a lot of effort to prove that the submarines in Hérsfjarden
originated from the Soviet Union (see below). If the yellow/green
powder could possibly have come from a Soviet submarine, it would
not have been necessary to manipulate the Submarine Defence
Commission Report in order to deny the existence of such a dye.

Two senior Royal Navy officers and former submarine captains told
me that their submarines used to have a green dye. It’s ‘bright light-
green’, they said. One of them added that they might also have used a
purple dye. This fits very well with the Milsten war diary, the naval
base war diary, the Y46 Report and with the Commander-in-Chief’s
diary, but not with the Mésknuv war diary speaking about a ‘yellow
cloud’ or with Ohman’s information saying that the marking chemical
was ‘bright yellow’. Of course, I don’t know if these British officers
have only seen their dyes at later stages. Accordingly, the dye at
Milsten could very well have originated from a British submarine.
However, it is not very likely that the British (or any other European
navy) would expose themselves and reveal their positions with a dye.
It is actually much more easy to imagine the more technocratic USA
carrying out such an operation. The above-mentioned Norwegian
admiral told me that the USA is likely to use a dye in a secret operation
in order to get real-time information. It would direct a satellite to focus
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on the area of operation, and a dye on the surface would immediately
tell Washington about the exact position of a damaged submarine. In
other words, Washington would be able to act and communicate with
and give orders to the submarine before the target country knew about
the incident.

This may explain the US use of a dye even in a secret operation, he
said. The dye is sent up through a pipe in the submarine, but this has
to be done deliberately. The dye is not released by mistake; it is sent
up to identify the position of the submarine, he added. In cases where
it is not possible to cover the area with one’s own aircraft, a dye is sent
up to the surface to be picked up by a satellite. This indicates a US
operation. A radio buoy would have made it possible for the
Americans to have real-time communication with the submarine via
satellite. They may have used SR-71 for communication and recon-
naissance before the passage. They may also have sent instructions
from the embassy or via a mobile radio. The Norwegian admiral said
to the Ekéus Investigation that, if he had received information about
a yellow/green dye appearing on the surface after a mine explosion,
this information would have been presented to the government the
moment he received it. This did not happen in the Swedish case.

Also, the above-mentioned senior intelligence officer said that the
Americans might use a dye, because they would have a satellite
focused on the area of operation. No one except for the USA would
use satellites to carry out a covert operation. Another intelligence
officer with experience of CIA operations explained that the CIA used
to use a dye in covert special force operations. The meaning of a par-
ticular colour of dye would be decided from case to case, he said. This
may explain the use of a yellow/green dye at Nisudden-Kiringholmen
on 5 October and at Masknuv-Milsten on 11 October. The patrol of
SR-71 before the submarine passage at Masknuv and the possible
British/US submarine following the activities from a position outside
Milsten also fit into this picture. It would possibly also explain why
the photos of the yellow/green patch have disappeared. The concen-
trated yellow/green patch on the surface one hour after the mine
explosion clearly indicates one thing: a US special force operation.
Either the captain of the submarine sent up the dye to be picked up
by satellite so his headquarters could give him orders before the
Swedes knew about it, or he just did not understand how sensitive the
operation was and, because of a serious incident, he was willing to
reveal his position, or, possibly, he knew about its sensitivity but
wanted to show the local collaborators in Sweden where not to look
for the submarine.

134



REFLECTIONS AFTER THE SUBMARINE HUNT
THE SOUNDS

In autumn 1999, I contacted sonar expert Rolf Andersson of FMV. We
made an appointment close to the FMV buildings in Stockholm, and
I travelled from Oslo to see him. When he arrived, he told me that his
superior, Stefenson’s ‘right hand’, Captain Emil Svensson, had denied
him permission to speak to me. He just wanted to tell me that. He was
under no circumstances allowed to speak about the Hirsfjirden inci-
dent. In 2000, Svensson retired, and I could speak to Andersson. He
told me that — more than 15 years after the Harsfjirden incident — he
had received the tape with the alleged repair works from the night of
11-12 October in a package by secret mail. There was nothing that
indicated who had sent it to him. In the MAFU protocol, this tape was
called “Tape 2. In the later FOA protocol, this tape was called ‘Tape
0’. In connection with Ambassador Rolf Ekéus’s investigation of the
submarine incidents, we listened to the tape together with Andersson.
Most of the sounds, along with Andersson’s commentary on the
speaker channel, could be heard clearly, but the more interesting
sounds — the hammering, the metallic sounds, the knocking sounds
and some of the high-frequency sounds — were gone. The tape was not
damaged, but most of the essential sounds registered by the MAFU
protocol, the Milsten war diary and the naval base war diary had been
erased. Somebody had seemingly cleaned the tape of more sensitive
information. The most significant and dominating sound was now
something that sounded like ‘a diver breathing and scratching the
microphone’. Andersson had never heard this sound before, and it is
not found in any protocol or war diary. It seems to have been recorded
later, on top of the original recording. Only the detailed protocol and
the war diaries help us to see that the tape had been edited. If the
‘repair works’ had been of no interest, it is difficult to understand why
someone had taken the time to edit the original tape.

Commander Emil Svensson’s Naval Analysis Group Report says:
‘Indication in sea-floor mine at Ma&sknuv. Mine was detonated.
Conclusion: if a submarine had created the indication, it would most
likely have been damaged seriously. The following investigation found
no traces [of that]. No submarine.”?® According to Svensson, there
were no signs of a damaged submarine and, accordingly, ‘no subma-
rine’. Despite the existence of the yellow/green dye and tape-recorded
repair works pointing to a damaged submarine, and despite the fact
that Svensson would have been one of the first to be informed about
all these activities, he and the Naval Analysis Group deny the presence
of a submarine. The 1983 Submarine Defence Commission and the
1995 Submarine Commission, which both used the Naval Analysis
Group Report, were misinformed.
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During the night of 11-12 October and the following day, the
damaged submarine was most likely hiding southwest or south-south-
west of Milsten. The position of the submarine would have been pos-
sible to locate, because sounds from repair works were registered
during the night up until nine o’clock in the morning. However, by
the time the naval base had sent a helicopter to locate the sound, it
was too late. During the day, the submarine was mostly silent. There
is a short sequence of propeller sounds at 13.38 and after that a couple
of transients, but nothing else. From about 16.30 in the afternoon,
new squeaking and twittering sounds appeared ‘with intervals of
seconds. The sonar operator is on his way.” This may be sounds from
a propeller at low speed, working at intervals for short periods of time
as if the submarine was trying to move from its hiding place southwest
of Milsten as silently as possible. At 17.10, the Milsten war diary
states: ‘the sound is still there and has become stronger’, indicating
that the submarine was moving towards the microphones. ‘At 17.48,
less than 1,000 Hz.”3' Two minutes later, Anders Karlsson’s commen-
tary on the speaker channel states: ‘At 17.50, it is strong — over the
whole register. Conclusion: probable submarine.’”?*> The naval base
war diary states:

At 17.52, from Milsten: according to [sonar operator Anders] Karlsson
from [submarine] Sjohisten: possible submarine. One helicopter is sent
to the area [at the time, the Naval Analysis Group and the naval base
did not use the term ‘probable submarine’] . . . At 18.00, from Milsten:
submarine [‘certain submarine’] with a speed of 1-2 knots, closest to
microphone no. § [the position close to no. 5 might have been an illu-
sion because it turned out to amplify the sound more than the other
microphones] . . . At 18.20, patrol vessel prepares to drop depth
charges at [Torskboden close to microphone no. 1. Also about 18.20,
Karlsson states on the speaker channel: ‘continued recording of sub-
marine’] . . . At 18.37, [to the helicopter:] interesting area at DP0451,
beyond microphone no. 5.33

The Milsten war diary states at 18.30-18.55: ‘according to the tape-
recorded sounds, the object is most likely a submarine that has gone
out from VM [Milsten]’.>* ‘Out’ [in Swedish, ‘utit’] can, in this case,
only mean out towards the sea or the open sea, which means it had to
pass the microphones, because of the shallow area south of Milsten.
In other words, Karlsson was reporting to staff at Milsten that he had
tape-recorded a submarine passing the five microphones. According
to a former director of the sound institute at FOA, the submarine had
been ‘limping out’ after some kind of damage.

Soon after this incident, the tape was transported to Berga by hel-
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icopter and then to the Defence Staff. In a report for the Naval
Analysis Group (about 12 October), Commander Erland S6nnerstedt,
Chief of Defence Staff Security Division, speaks about an analysis or
preliminary analysis made on the same night. In this report, the fre-
quency, speed and turns per minute are identified, supposedly from
the incident at 18.00. The sound is classified as ‘submarine’, in other
words ‘certain submarine’.?> At lunchtime the following day, Tapes 1
and 2 were handed over to Bengt Granath at the Passive Sonar
Division at FOA. Granath and FOA made a preliminary analysis,
which was delivered to Emil Svensson and the Naval Analysis Group
on 20 October.3® However, according to Granath, there was nothing
on tape — only noise from the sea — during this sequence. Also these
tape recordings seem to have been edited.

The five microphones had been put in a line on the sea floor in
Danziger Gatt between Milsten and Nattaré (between Torskboden
and Vitingen; see map 19, page 101). Microphone no. 1 was close to
Torskboden, and no. 5 was closer to Vitingen, with about 100 metres
between each microphone. In the early 1990s, FOA analysed a 3.47-
minute sequence of propeller sound.’” On this sequence the sound
was registered in microphone no. 1 260 milliseconds before it was
picked up by microphone no. 4 (no. 5 was excluded because it ampli-
fied the sound too much), and the sound became stronger, which was
interpreted as clear evidence for the object being west of the micro-
phones, at a distance of a few hundred metres and moving towards the
microphones. The estimate made by FOA in 1993 was that the sub-
marine, travelling at a speed of 2 knots, would have been 550 metres
from the western microphone (no. 1) at the beginning of the sequence
and 350 metres from the same microphone at the end. At a speed of
5 knots, it would have been 1,120 metres from the same microphone
at the beginning of the sequence and 590 metres at the end.?® After
this, the tape recorder was supposedly turned off. The FOA analysts
said that, following this route, the submarine would have had to pass
the microphones at a distance of no more than a couple of hundred
metres (probably less than 100 metres because of the rather narrow
channel south of Milsten), which probably would have made it pos-
sible to identify the vessel.

This is of importance, because the 3.47-minute sequence has been
presented by the Swedish authorities as the most important proof of
Soviet intrusions into Swedish waters. This is the tape recording
referred to in the Defence Staff notes of 18 April 1983, in the Sub-
marine Defence Commission Report of 26 April 1983, and in the note
to Moscow in autumn 1983. In the early 1990s during the Swedish—
Russian dialogue, Captain Emil Svensson presented this recording in
Moscow as the major evidence of Soviet intrusions. The Russians
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accepted that it was a submarine ‘as long as there was nothing on the
surface’, but they denied that it could have been a Soviet submarine.3’
The critical 1995 Submarine Commission accepted only about ten
observations in Swedish waters as ‘certain submarine’; one of them was
this tape recording (see below). All commissions, the MAna Report and
the Grandin Report describe the sequence as taking place at 18.00,%°
which was when Anders Karlsson reported a ‘certain submarine’ close
to the microphones. If Karlsson did turn off the tape recorder, he did
so while doing the most important recording of his career — while the
submarine was approaching the microphones at a distance of a few
hundred metres. FOA was told by Emil Svensson that Karlsson had
turned off the tape recorder ‘because of lack of tape’. This explanation
was later supported by Rear-Admiral Géran Wallén.*!

Anders Karlsson, the sound expert from the submarine Sjohdsten,
says that he tape-recorded the whole sequence with propeller sounds
for about half an hour or maybe more, until the submarine disappeared.
In any case it would have been absurd if he had turned off the tape
recorder at this moment; it is clearly wrong to say he did. FOA never
said that the 3.47-minute recording took place at 18.00. According to
the FOA report, this sequence preceded Karlsson’s first statement about
‘probable submarine’ (‘at 17.50, it is strong — over the whole register.
Conclusion: probable submarine’) by at least 10 minutes. From the
speaker-channel protocol it is not clear if this sequence actually took
place several hours earlier, because the tape recorder has been stopped
several times and, unlike on other recordings made by Rolf Andersson
and Anders Karlsson, on this tape the time is not announced before the
entries. The only statement of time before 17.50 is 09.45, and the only
propeller sound that is reported before the squeaking and twittering
sound of 16.30 is a sequence of ‘about 2 minutes’ at 13.38 reported in
the Milsten war diary.*> This does not mean that the 3.47-minute
sequence took place at 13.38, but the sequence had certainly nothing
to do with what Anders Karlsson reported at 17.50 and 18.00. At this
time, there was, according to FOA, nothing on the tape. There was
nothing of interest after 17.50. The submarine sounds on the tape do
not correspond to what Karlsson states on the speaker channel or
reports in the war diaries.

After 17.50, there is a period of 26 minutes of ‘empty tape’ (FOA
Tape 1) — nothing on the speaker channel and only waves and sea
sounds on the other channels — at exactly the period when the subma-
rine is believed to have passed the microphones. The speaker channel
of the following tape (FOA Tape 2) from about 18.20 starts with
Karlsson’s commentary: ‘Continued recording of submarine. About
four minutes to change of tape.’* This commentary only makes sense
if Karlsson had recorded the submarine on Tape 1 until the tape was
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finished. He now speaks about ‘submarine’ as he did in the war diary
at 18.00, not about ‘possible’ or ‘probable submarine’, as he did from
17.50 to 17.52. So let us assume that the last 26 minutes of Tape 1 was
used to record the submarine passing the microphones. The recording
on Tape 2 would then have started at 18.20 (at 17.50 + 26 + 4
minutes). After 17 minutes and 45 seconds of this tape recording or,
in other words, minutes before 18.40, the speaker channel on Tape 2
states: ‘Helicopter has been in the area for about five minutes.” Just
after 18.40, the speaker channel states: ‘Very weak sounds from sub-
marine. Possibly lying still.” Six minutes later, it states ‘It has started
again’, but the sonar operator is soon disturbed by a heavy helicopter.
At about 19.00, the speaker channel says: ‘I cannot hear submarine
any longer. Possibly single cavitation sounds.’**

If we assume that Karlsson was recording the submarine on the last
26 minutes of Tape 1, the helicopter would have been registered by
the sonars at 18.35 or minutes before that. The naval base war diary
states: ‘at 18.28, [the arriving helicopter] Y69 and Milsten have made
contact with each other’. At 18.37, Y69 was given the position to go
to [beyond microphone no. 5].4 Milsten war diary states at 18.30 or
a few minutes later: ‘the helicopter is arriving’.*¢ In other words, at
18.35 (or a couple of minutes before that) the helicopter arrived at
Milsten, which means that Karlsson started Tape 2 at about 18.20,
and finished the recording of submarine sounds on Tape 1 about
18.16. Karlsson must, accordingly, have been recording the submarine
between 17.50 and 18.16 on Tape 1, and during this period he was
able to identify the submarine as a ‘certain submarine’, which is also
reported in the war diary at 18.00. The part of the tape recording cov-
ering the submarine passing the microphones has been erased and
replaced with a recording of waves and sea sounds, or, alternatively,
waves and other sounds from the sea have been kept on the tape, while
all submarine sounds on these 26 minutes have been filtered away. And
this cannot have been done by mistake at Milsten, I was told by Rolf
Andersson who set up the system, because unlike most tape recorders,
the one that was used at Milsten did not have a mechanism for erasing
from the tape.

On Tape 2, the speaker channel states that the increased amplitude
for the submarine sound was in the area of 80 Hz.*” It was possible to
follow the different amplitudes in real time at Milsten. Karlsson
describes the submarine sound maximum as being around 80 Hz. In
the first report classifying this sound as ‘submarine’ (from the night of
12 October), Erland Sonnerstedt at the Defence Staff Security
Division speaks about a submarine frequency, or increased amplitude,
at 80-120 Hz (which also includes Tape 1). However, according to the
FOA report of 20 October 1982 to the Naval Analysis Group, ‘the
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announced increase of 80 Hz cannot be found on the tape’.*® If this is
true, someone must have edited both Tape 1 and Tape 2 either before
they reached FOA or, perhaps, at FOA before Bengt Granath made his
detailed protocol.

On 15 October 1982, two of the most senior Swedish submarine
sound experts, Arne Askllnt of the Submarine Division, FMV, and
Bertil Johnsson of the Anti-Submarine Warfare School were invited as
experts to FOA to listen to the tape (according to Asklint’s notes).
Asklint said that the sound was to some extent similar to the Swedish
submarine type Hajen (69 metres; two propellers). You could easily
hear the hissing hydraulic sounds from the rudder movements, which
are typical of a submarine. You could also hear the cavitation sounds
and how the submarine stopped and started again, exactly as Karlsson
had described it. The following day, Saturday 16 October, Commander
Emil Svensson called Asklint and asked for his conclusmn Asklint said
that it was clearly sounds from a submarine and one that was to some
extent similar to a Swedish Hajen. Svensson was, according to Asklint,
very happy to hear his conclusion. On 30 January 1995, Asklint and
Rolf Andersson were at FOA to listen to what was alleged to be the
same tape, the 3.47-minute sequence analysed by FOA in 1993-94. He
was surprised. It was clearly not the same tape. None of the sounds
Asklint remembered from 1982 were found on the 1995 tape, he said.
There were no rudder or hydraulic sounds on this tape. The cavitation
sound on the 1995 tape was not that clear, and he could not tell what
it was. The turns per minute were high, Only a scientific study at FOA
could prove that it was a submarine. Asklint had not listened to this
tape in 1982. In addition, the new tape included a second propeller
sound from a motorboat, which was not on the tape he had listened to
in 1982. This was not the same tape, or at least not the same part of
the tape that he had listened to before.

In 2001, Asklint and Rolf Andersson listened to the so-called ‘orig-
inal tape’. There were no rudder or hydraulic sounds on that tape.
Two representatives of FOA have confirmed Asklint’s reaction when
he listened to the tape in 1995. One of them also confirmed that there
were no rudder or hydraulic sounds either on the copy of the 3.47-
minute tape FOA analysed in early 1990s, or on the so-called ‘origi-
nal tape’ that includes the 3.47 minutes. Bengt Granath’s report about
the tape of 12 October (draft report written on 20 October 1982 for
the Naval Analysis Group) speaks about ‘propeller and hydraulic
[rudder] sounds’.*’ The report is supposed to conclude the analysis
made on 14-15 October by the submarine sound specialists Anders
Karlsson, Arne Asklint and Bertil Johnsson, and by the people from
FOA, Bengt Granath and Per Schultz. The investigation of the tapes
from Milsten made in 2001 by Arne Asklint and Chief of MUSAC,
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Peter Gnipping, states: “The rudder and hydraulic sounds reported by
A. Asklint have not been found on any tape.”? Today, although many
sounds are still clear, the most important sounds registered by the
report are no longer to be found on the so-called ‘original tape’. All
important information has been erased. There is no doubt that the
tape has been edited.

When Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Dick Borjesson asked
Svensson in the early 1990s if it was appropriate to send the tape of 12
October — the 3.47-minute sequence — to the Russians, Svensson reas-
sured him that it was no problem. FOA was asked to analyse the tape,
and they were supposed to provide the scientific support in the talks
with the Russians. Svensson, at the time military adviser to Prime
Minister Carl Bildt, wanted to convince the Russians that it was a Soviet
submarine (see below), but the Russians were only willing to accept that
it was a submarine if it could be proved that there had been no surface
vessel in the area. And the statement that this had not been the case at
17.50 or 18.00 is no longer relevant, because the tape recording did not
take place at this time. The 3.47-minute sequence might possibly have
been recorded at 13.38, but this recording was, according to the war
diary, weak and about two minutes long, which does not fit with the
3.47 minutes. Some transients were reported immediately after the pro-
peller sound at 13.38 indicating that the tape recorder was not turned
off during the recording. The only reported propeller sound with high
turns per minute was recorded at 02.40 the following night.’! The more
or less constant cavitation and high turns per minute on the 3.47-
minute sequence do not fit the description of the sound of the ‘18.00
submarine’, but perhaps with the ‘02.40 submarine’. However, the only
thing we know now is that the origin of this recording is not clear, and
that it has nothing to do with the tape recording made by Anders
Karlsson at about 18.00, which for some reason has disappeared.

Bengt Granath’s report of 20 October 1982 states that the 12
October submarine (the 3.47-minute sequence) had high turns per
minute: ‘190 rpm, probably smaller propeller’.’? Later, Swedish
MUSAC estimated the turns per minute at 192 rpm. A document from
the Swedish-Russian talks states: ‘about 200 rpm’.>* The Russian
hydro-acoustic centre argued that the turns per minute were 201 rpm
and the submarine was believed to have one propeller with three
blades.>* These figures are very different from the estimates made by
Karlsson at 18.00. He speaks in an attachment to the MAna Report
from 14 October of ‘1-2 knots. Low turns per minute’, which would
mean less than 60 rpm.>> After having listened to the tape on 15
October, Asklint compared it to a Swedish Hajen that has 25-50 rpm
at 1-2 knots, and he said that the 3.47-minute sequence (with
190-200 rpm) was not the same tape as he had listened to on
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15 October 1982. In the report of 12 October, in the night shortly
after the incident had taken place, Commander Erland S6énnerstedt,
Chief of Defence Staff Security Division, speaks about low speed and
low turns per minute: ‘30-40 rpm, large propeller and about 2
knots’.’¢ All early reports speak about turns per minute that are lower
than 60 rpm (perhaps lower than 40 rpm). The timetable in the
Milsten war diary clearly indicates a low speed — something that, from
a tactical point of view, would have been necessary for a submarine in
these waters. Anders Karlsson estimated the speed at 1-2 knots.>”
Sonnerstedt says in the report that the turns per minute exclude a
Soviet submarine: ‘To me, this indicates a submarine from the West.”>3

A senior Norwegian intelligence officer has told me that the tape-
recorded sound signature was analysed in Norway. Two Swedes from
FOA appeared in Oslo with the tape immediately after the incident. The
quality of the tape was not as high as it might have been, but the
Norwegians found out that ‘it was not a Soviet submarine’ — or, more
precisely, ‘it was neither a conventional nor a nuclear Soviet submarine’.
Another Norwegian intelligence officer involved in this analysis has
stated that it was not a Soviet submarine, and he said that it was a Western
submarine on the recording. He also indicated that it was a US subma-
rine and that it had been damaged by a mine on 11 October. The
Norwegian Underwater Division had a sound signature archive of all
conventional and nuclear Soviet submarines. A senior member of the
Norwegian Underwater Division research section told me that they were
also able to identify some West German, French and British submarines,
but did not have an ‘organized archive’ for these. The former senior
intelligence officer told me that, despite having ‘fingerprints’, the sound
signatures of the above submarines, the Norwegian experts were not able
to identify the Milsten submarine. They came to the conclusion that it
might have been a Western submarine, but not one of the usual suspects.
The Chief of the Underwater Division forwarded this analysis to the
Norwegian Chief of Intelligence Rear-Admiral Jan Ingebrigtsen, who
has confirmed in public that he helped the Swedes with the analysis of
the tape. A fourth Norwegian intelligence source told that Norwegian
Military Intelligence had copied the Swedish tape in 1982. However,
some time later the Americans confiscated it. According to an agreement
signed in the 1960s on information from the SOSUS systems between the
USA, the United Kingdom and Norway, Norway should not have access
to information on US and British submarines except when risk of colli-
sion might occur.’” In other words, this agreement may be interpreted as
if the Americans had the right to confiscate information on US subma-
rines. The fact that the Americans did confiscate the Norwegian copy of
the Milsten tape indicates that this was a US submarine or at least a sub-
marine participating in a US-commanded operation.®°
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One representative from FOA confirms that he was in Oslo with
the tape and that the Norwegians were not able to identify the subma-
rine, and that it was ‘limping out’. The Norwegians also reported that
they had had talks with Commander Emil Svensson. Despite the
Norwegian experience of analysing submarine sound signatures, the
Swedish naval leadership ignored the Norwegian information. A
Swedish source has said to Anders Hasselbohm that the Norwegian
personnel analysed the sound of the submarine and stated that the sub-
marine originated from the West.! In spring 2000, Sweden declas-
sified large parts of Captain Emil Svensson’s report from the
Swedish-Russian dialogue of 1992-94.92 This report includes dia-
grams and an analysis of the tape of the above-mentioned submarine
(Milsten, 12 October 1982). Svensson argues that the submarine had
two propellers and, because of this, was most likely a Soviet Whiskey-
class submarine. The Russian side was not willing to accept these state-
ments.®3 The Swedish material did not, according to the Norwegians,
indicate a Whiskey-class submarine, a Norwegian senior intelligence
officer told me. The Swedish Navy at the time had no ability to distin-
guish between individual submarine sounds. The Swedes had very
little experience, and that is why they turned to the Norwegians in the
first place, he said. In 2001, the Ekéus Investigation turned to the
Norwegian government asking for a briefing from its now retired
intelligence officers about what they had told the Swedes in 1982.
However, according to the letter received by the investigation, the
responsible (Defence Ministry) official vetoed this. The letter states
‘Despite several attempts by the [Norwegian] Foreign Ministry to con-
vince the officials responsible for Norwegian intelligence these offi-
cials have considered themselves unable to comply with our wishes,
because of the sensitivity of this issue in relation to the USA.’

In a Naval Analysis Group attachment about this tape recording, the
12 October submarine is compared to the 14 October submarine. The
report is written by Lieutenant-Commander Ebbe Sylvén, after he had
interviewed Anders Karlsson at 23.30 on 14 October.®* Karlsson had
just been at FOA in Stockholm, where he had demonstrated the 14
October-tape to two representatives from FOA, Bengt Granath and Per
Schultz and to Commander Anders Hammar from the Naval Analysis
Group. In the afternoon, Karlsson went by helicopter to Stockholm.
At 16.15, he arrived at FOA,®* where he analysed the propeller sound,
pointed out rudder movements and the cavitation sounds on the tape.
The representatives from FOA had, at the time, no experience of sub-
marine sounds. Karlsson demonstrated the damaged propeller shaft or
blade, and how the submarine was moving by intervals to avoid being
detected. He stayed with Granath and Schultz and discussed details
with them for about three hours.®® However, the report states that a
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subsequent analysis had also been made of the tape of 12 October, and
that this analysis confirmed the classification already made at 18.00 on
12 October, which indicates that Karlsson or somebody else had lis-
tened to and analysed the tape already before this report was written.
This statement is supported by a report for the Naval Analysis Group
of the night of 12-13 October. In this report Commander Erland
Sonnerstedt, Chief of Defence Staff Security Division, presents
detailed information (including increased amplitude at 80-120 Hz and
30-40 turns per minute) from an analysis of the tape. This senior naval
officer says the sound was classified as ‘submarine’.®” This seems to
indicate that the tape was analysed at Milsten, Berga or somewhere
else already during the night. Now, 20 years afterwards, Sonnerstedt
does not remember where he was on this occasion. In the first inter-
views | had with Anders Karlsson, he said that he had analysed the
tapes and that two senior naval officers had participated. They made
no comment during the presentation, Karlsson said. Commander
Hammar confirms that he was present during the analysis of the tapes.
In 2002, Rear-Admiral Goéran Wallén stated that no officer participated
in the sessions when the tapes were analysed, and the first analysis of
the tapes were made later at FOA.® However, in the first report about
the two tape recordings, made by Lieutenant-Commander Ebbe Sylvén
for the Naval Analysis Group on 14 October, Karlsson states:

The subsequent analysis made of the tapes recorded on 12-14 October
shows that the classification ‘submarine’ [‘certain submarine’] that was
done on 12 and 13[-14] October is confirmed. C [Karlsson] says that
propeller sounds, turns per minute and cavitation sounds are clearly
heard on the tapes. The frequency is about 80 Hz. C [Karlsson] states
that the tape-recorded sounds originate from two different submarines.
The 12 October [Sylvén writes by mistake 13] submarine is very differ-
ent from the one tape-recorded on 14 October. The sound of the
former is richer, stronger and more distinct than the latter. Also, on
13[-14] October, it is possible to hear how the submarine starts up and
moves and, when the helicopter arrives in the area, stops and hides on
the sea floor. Then you can hear bumping and scraping sounds. It is also
possible to hear sounds similar to the ones when you close a submarine
hatch in a Swedish submarine [this is clearly about 14 October]. The
submarine on 13[-14] October indicated/was heard [by the sonars]
shortly after the mine barrage MS1 had reported the indication. This
means, according to C [Karlsson], that the submarine was on its way
out. When the sound came closer to the microphones, its effect was
amplified, particularly in microphone no. 5. When the submarine was
close to it, the effect was so strong in the microphone that C [Karlsson]
got the impression that this microphone had been hit by the submarine.
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The fuse for this microphone melted. It has not been possible to use the
microphone since then. C [Karlsson] estimates that this submarine went
towards the southeast. The tape also reveals a ‘strange’ sound. The con-
clusion made by C [Karlsson] is that this submarine has a damaged pro-
peller shaft, or one of the blades is broken. Cavitation sounds are also
heard. According to C [Karlsson], this indicates changes in the depth.
C [Karlsson] concludes that the sounds are different from each other,
and that there are two different submarines. He also concludes that the
difference in force and ‘heaviness’ shows that the 12 October [Sylvén
writes by mistake 13] submarine is larger than the 14 October subma-
rine. The speed of both submarines is estimated at 1-2 knots. Low turns
per minute.®’

According to Karlsson’s commentary on the speaker channel for the
13-14 October submarine, ‘the submarine is going with five-six-
seven-eight turns with the propeller and then it stops. He is possibly
going very close to the sea floor.”’® The submarine must have gone
close to the sea floor, because it hit the microphone a metre above the
sea floor or passed it at a distance of less than a metre. This may
explain why even a small submarine may have created a very clear
magnetic field. Karlsson says that the sound of this submarine indi-
cated that it was a small vessel. Furthermore, a conventional subma-
rine would most likely avoid going along the sea floor, while a small
submersible has propeller shrouds to protect the propellers, which
makes it able to creep along a rocky bottom. There are strong reasons
to believe that this was a small submersible passing out. The sound of
the so-called docking operation at 03.30 (and the closing of a subma-
rine hatch) would, according to Anders Karlsson, indicate that this
smaller 13—-14 October submarine was received (close to microphone
no. 4) by another larger submarine, most likely the one that earlier had
been located in the area south of Grin, some kilometres southeast of
Milsten (see Chapter 3, 10-11 October). At midnight, during the
night of 13-14 October, a helicopter had made contact with a subma-
rine 2 kilometres south of Nittaro, still southeast of Milsten but now
much closer and close to the position where the sea-floor investiga-
tion believed a docking operation may have taken place 100 metres
south of microphones no. 4 and no. 5 (see below).

Karlsson argued in the report for the Naval Analysis Group that
either a propeller blade or a propeller shaft was damaged on the small
submersible. The Milsten war diary and the Sylvén report also speak
about a damaged propeller shaft. On 15 October, Arne Asklint, the
submarine sound expert at FMV, listened to this tape recording (as well
as the 12 October tape) at FOA. He confirmed that this was a subma-
rine, but he believed that the circular metal protection of the propeller
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(propeller shroud) had possibly been hit and that a propeller blade was
scraping this damaged cover. This conclusion was first drawn by sub-
marine sound expert Bertil Johnsson of the Anti-Submarine Warfare
School, said Asklint. They both analysed this tape and made printouts
on paper. Karlsson found this explanation reasonable; and it also sup-
ports Karlsson’s hypothesis that the sounds were made by a small sub-
mersible because most of these smaller vessels have such a propeller
shroud, while larger submarines usually do not. All these submarine
sound experts have agreed with this explanation. In the first report
about this tape (by Ebbe Sylvén for the Naval Analysis Group),
Karlsson also states that the analysis made at FOA shows that the clas-
sification ‘submarine’ [‘certain submarine’] that was done on 13-14
October is confirmed.

Bengt Granath’s draft report of 20 October (for the Naval Analysis
Group) states something different. It states that the analysis was made
by the group of experts Anders Karlsson, Arne Asklint and Bertil
Johnsson. (Per Schultz and Bengt Granath describe themselves as new-
comers when it comes to submarine sound analysis.) The report says
that the tape has a rhythmic sound that can be heard for 23 minutes
with a frequency of 177 rpm. However, ‘the group of experts argues
that these sounds have too fast an attack to originate from a propeller

. The group does not rule out the possibility that the sounds are a
symptom of an initial electronic dysfunction [in microphone no. 5].7*
Karlsson and Asklint have never seen this report and never agreed to
it. They clearly have a different view, and both argue that it was a sub-
marine, or rather a small submersible. The third expert, Bertil
Johnsson, previously held the same view, but now denies having lis-
tened to the tape, and said he has listened to so many tapes that he
does not remember. Commander Anders Hammar from the Naval
Analysis Group was present during one session. He confirms Asklint’s
and Karlsson’s version. ‘They clearly referred to a submarine with a
damaged propeller. The report may state something different, but I
did not write it’, Hammar said. According to FOA, the argument
about an electronic dysfunction was made by Rolf Andersson at FMV.
Andersson, however, says that this is a total misunderstanding. Both
Karlsson and Andersson say that the electronic problem in micro-
phone no. 5 had nothing to do with the rhythmic scraping sound. FOA
has seemingly misunderstood its experts. Granath says that they were
in a hurry to make the report. He gave only a hand-written draft to
the Naval Analysis Group. The report is dated 20 October, but it
includes some observations from 25 and 28 October. It seems that it
was Commander Emil Svensson who printed it out and added things
he found of interest. Svensson’s main report for the Naval Analysis
Group concludes that there was no submarine: ‘At 23.00, from
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Milsten: indication in the mine barrage and sound from the sonars.
Conclusion: Tape is sent for analysis. Preliminary report: [cavi]tation
sound not confirmed. Rhythmic thumping from unknown source.
Conclusion: no submarine.’”? For 14 October, the only reported indi-
cations that are included in the Naval Analysis Group’s main report
are: ‘At 01.11, helicopter suspects sonar contact south of Milsten. At
01.35, drop of depth charges.’

Despite a great amount of information from several sources point-
ing to a ‘certain submarine’, and despite the evidence mentioned
above, Svensson denies any submarine passage, which is in line with
the statements by Vice-Admiral Stefenson and Vice-Admiral Rudberg,
who from eight o’clock on 14 October were already arguing that there
was no submarine. At 13.45, the Defence Minister was informed that
the sounds were electronic disturbances: the incident never took
place.”* In other words, this was stated before FOA received the tape
for analysis, and, although the three submarine sound experts con-
firmed that the sound originated from a submarine, the FOA report
on this issue concluded that it was ‘electronic disturbances’ similar to
what had been reported to the Defence Minister already on
14 October. The same view has also been presented by Rear-Admiral
Goran Wallén, who was the military expert for the Ekéus Investigation
and a close associate of Bror Stefenson. Wallén states that there was
no submarine passing out either east or west of Milsten.”” When
Asklint recently listened to the ‘original tape’ for the Ekéus
Investigation, all the sounds of which he himself had made printouts
were gone. Either these sounds had been removed from the tape or
this part of the tape had been cut out. On one occasion, there is,
according to Asklint, a voice recorded on top of the orlgmal commen-
tary (by Anders Karlsson), and when Karlsson says that the submarine
is increasing speed, there is nothing on the tape. There is no corres-
pondence between the sounds on the tape on the one hand and what
is stated by Karlsson and by the war diaries on the other. Also this tape
seems to have been edited. Sweden’s crown jewels had been polished
down to nothing.

Rolf Ekéus’s report does not mention any of these irregularities
despite the fact that he used Arne Asklint as expert in the analyses of
the tapes. The Ekéus Investigation also interviewed Anders Karlsson
and Rolf Andersson. As an expert to the Ekéus Investigation, I intro-
duced the three of them to Ambassador Ekéus, and we decided to use
Asklint and Andersson (Karlsson was not in Sweden at the time) to
analyse the tapes, because of the discrepancy between the sounds reg-
istered by the early FOA report and the present ‘original’. In October
1982, Bengt Granath had made a detailed 27-page protocol, and we
wanted to compare this protocol with the present ‘original’. Both
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Andersson and Asklint were perceived as trustworthy, and they had
experience of these tapes from before. In May 2001, the new military
expert of the Ekéus Investigation, Rear-Admiral Goran Wallén, took
over the responsibility for carrying out this task. When I brought it up
with him, he said it was not ‘a high -priority issue’. However, he soon
understood that Ekéus wanted to investigate this, and he took over the
task. According to Asklint, however, they never used Bengt Granath’s
27-page protocol but a later protocol of three to four pages made by
Bertil Johnsson. Although Granath had handed in his original detailed
protocol to the investigation, Asklint never saw it and never used it,
he told me. Asklint brought up the same points to Wallén as he had
mentioned to me, but Wallén does not seem to have brought this infor-
mation up to the i investigation. And although Asklint was supposed to
be invited to further sessions to analyse the tapes in the autumn, he
never heard anything more from Wallén. In the Ekéus Report it is
stated that the ‘Investigation has not found that the tapes have been
manipulated’.”®

THE PRINTS

Commander (later Vice-Admiral) Dick Borjesson was chief of the
Navy’s mobile mine-clearing division. He commanded a number of
small boats with sonars and mine divers. In the first half of September
1982, this mobile force was deployed on the west coast of Sweden.
Borjesson was ordered by Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Per
Rudberg to go to Harsfjirden. He arrived on 30 September, the day
before the submarine hunt started. From 30 September, all of the
mine divers of the Swedish fleet were concentrated in Harsfjarden.
On 10 October, while the submarine hunt was still going on, Vice-
Admiral Rudberg put the mine divers at the disposal of Naval Base
East.”” Commander Borjesson was ordered to carry out an investiga-
tion of the sea floor. Borjesson had a team of divers placed at his dis-
posal, headed by Chief of the First Diver Division Lieutenant Kent
Pejdell. On 20 October, they found a number of parallel tracks while
investigating the sea floor at Djupviken/Nisudden, close to where the
submarine hunt had taken place on 5 October and where the Belos
had seen parallel tracks and something on the bottom stirring up mud
in the water on 7 October. These prints were believed to be no more
than two to three weeks old. They were created in the first or pos-
sibly the second week of October exactly at the time of the subma-
rine hunt in the area. In early November, these parallel tracks were
already less clear. In early December, they were no longer visible. The
caterpillar tracks with a mechanical ribbed pattern were recorded by
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a video camera. There were clear indications of a bottom-crawling
submersible.”®

In the report made by the sea-floor investigation for the Naval
Analysis Group, it is stated that each track was 0.6 metres wide and
that there was a distance of 0.5 metres between them, making a total
width of less than 2 metres. The prints were clear, sometimes 0.4
metres in depth, with sharp vertical sides and an angle of 90 degrees
between the sides and the bottom of the prints.”” There is no doubt
that these prints were created by a bottom-crawling vessel. According
to Cato and Larsson’s analysis, this submersible was able to avoid
various obstacles like oil drums.?° Lieutenant Pejdell said that it had
turned right to avoid a large stone, then turned left again and finally
continued along the original track. The submersible seems to have
been able to look forward and to navigate on the sea floor. The
Soviets are believed to have a couple of bottom-crawling submersibles
leaving caterpillar tracks on the sea floor. However, the dimensions
of these are supposedly different, and they may rather originate from
a vessel belonging to the Italian naval special forces COMSUBIN (see
below), which are working closely together with the US Navy SEALs.
According to the sea-floor investigation, there were similar tracks at
Mirsgarn, not far from Nisudden, and prints from the keel of
another midget submarine at Huvudholmen-Alvsta Lingholmar at
the northern exit of Harsfjirden.8! After having looked at the video
films, Cato and Larsson found these latter tracks less clear and would
not rule out the possibility that a buoy-stone had been dragged along
the sea floor.8?

The sea-floor investigation for the Naval Analysis Group is also very
detailed when describing the second print. The approximately 0.5-
metre-wide keel was composed of two runners creating a characteris-
tic profile of the letter ‘v’ turned upside down. On each side of the
‘keel’, the submarine left a pattern from propellers indicating two pro-
pellers with an estimated diameter of 0.5 metres with an estimated dis-
tance of 2.5 metres.?3 Of course, the estimates may be approximate,
but the details of the ‘keel profile’ indicate that Cato and Larsson were
not given access to this information, or to any photo or video film con-
firming this information. Several Western submersibles have this kind
of ‘keel’ with propellers on each side. The Deep Quest (12 metres; two
propellers), formally owned by Lockheed but, in the 1980s, used by
the US Navy and the CIA in connection with special force operations,
has two propellers and runners but the distance between them is too
large.?* A smaller relative to the Deep Quest is the Beaver (8 metres;
two plus one propellers) from 1968 (retired in 1985).%5 Both the keel
and the distance between the lower propellers are a bit too large to fit
the measurements made at Huvudholmen.?¢ Other US submersibles
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and the Italian midget 3GST9 (10 metres; two propellers) also have a
keel and double propellers similar to the Huvudholmen prints. The
Taurus (10 metres; two propellers) used by the Royal Navy for rescue
operations and for setting out divers has the same distance between the
propellers and has runners that can be modified to fit the keel profile
of the Huvudholmen submersible. Corresponding Soviet/Russian sub-
mersibles like the Sever 2 and others, or special force vessels like the
Triton, have neither two propellers nor an external keel or runners.?”
All wet SDVs — Soviet, US, British, Italian, French — have one propel-
ler (except for the US MK IX with two propellers).®® US submersibles
like the Sea Cliff and the Turtle have a large central propeller plus two
smaller propellers (with a distance of about 2.5 metres). It is unlikely
that these submersibles would operate without using the central pro-
peller. Also, the distance between the runners is too large and they are
too small to penetrate deep into the bottom and to create a pattern of
a ‘keel’. Their prints would not fit with the prints at Huvudholmen.
Still, one of the above-mentioned submersibles may have been
involved in the Harsfjirden operation. This submersible entered
Hérsfjarden through the very shallow passage between Alvsta-
Langholmar and Huvudholmen and later left the same way perhaps on
8-9 October, when there were a lot of scraping sounds registered by
the Swedish submarine Sjéhunden.’® There was no net covering this
passage, because it was believed to be too shallow for a submarine.
After having observed a periscope and something stirring up mud
in the water on the surface on 6 November, the divers found parallel
tracks in Varnisfjirden in northern Mysingen similar to the ones
found at Nisudden some weeks earlier, and, after that, similar tracks
were found in Danziger Gatt, close to Milsten. These prints were less
clear than the ones found at Nisudden, because the sea floor is very
muddy and soft in Varnisfjirden and, in Danziger Gatt, the prints
were found much later and were already pretty old. The general
pattern, however, was the same. In Danziger Gatt, in the middle of
these parallel tracks, there seemed to be a print from the ‘keel’ of a
possible conventional submarine, as well as prints similar to the ones
found at Huvudholmen-Alvsta Langholmar.’® In the sea-floor investi-
gation for the Naval Analysis Group, it is stated that the large print
from a ‘keel’ is 60 metres long,’! indicating that this may have been a
conventional submarine less than 100 metres in length and possibly
considerably so, because it may have moved along the sea floor. It was
believed to have been a docking operation with a small submersible
and a mother-sub. Both the prints from a possible keel and the narrow
parallel prints from a bottom-crawling submersible were found
100-200 metres south of microphones no. 4 and no. 5, northeast of
Norrgrund exactly in the area where the sonar operator Anders

150



REFLECTIONS AFTER THE SUBMARINE HUNT

Karlsson had heard sounds from a closing hatch on 14 October and
believed that a docking operation had taken place. There were also
parallel tracks with a length of more than 100 metres along the micro-
phone line, between these two microphones.”?

When I interviewed Vice-Admiral Bérjesson during 2000, he said
that they had not found anything on the western side of Milsten. They
had only investigated the sea floor on the eastern side. When I told
him about the reported steel plates southwest of Masknuv (west of
Milsten), he was surprised and said that that nobody had told him
anything about that either before or after their investigation. He
thought it was remarkable that, as head of the sea-floor investigation,
he wasn’t informed about this beforehand. What happened with these
reported steel plates is still unclear. There is, however, no doubt that
a small tracked submersible operated at Nisudden, and most likely at
Varnisfjirden and at Milsten.”?

From the first and second Submarine Commission Reports, one gets
the impression that the sea-floor investigation had covered large areas,
and that these parallel tracks revealing a bottom-crawling submersible
had been found at three or four locations. One gets the impression that
Hiérsfjarden as a whole must have been covered, along with almost all
or at least large parts of the Mysingen-Milsten area. This is not the case.
Except for Hérsfjirden and the Nisudden case, Borjesson and Pejdell
were told where to look. They only investigated a couple of small spots
outside Hérsfjirden (Varnisfjirden, the Alvsnabben area and in
Danziger Gatt, including Norrgrund, Klévskidr and Nittar6 canal).
Varnisfjarden, Klovskir and Nittar6 canal were investigated because
of new submarine indications: on 26 October, six indicating mines plus
propeller sound in Danziger Gatt; on 29 October, propeller sound and
a moving buoy in Nittard canal; and on 6 November, periscope and
mud in the water in Varnisfjirden in northern Mysingen.’* In two of
these areas (Varnisfjirden and Danziger Gatt/Norrgrund), they found
parallel tracks from a bottom-crawling submersible.

The place that was investigated southeast of Milsten, northeast of
Norrgrund, was marked with a buoy, Pejdell said. According to the
Naval Analysis Group Report, there had been an acoustic indication in
late November in the bottom-fixed sonars at Milsten from what was
believed to be a transponder that had transmitted short bursts of high-
frequency signals. This had provoked the investigation just south of the
microphones.” A believed sub-surface transponder, a navigation aid
for submarines, had been sending from a certain position 100 metres
south of microphone nos 4 and 35, and that position had been located
by FMV through mathematical analysis. A submersible docking on
another submarine would have needed a transponder to find the exact
position, and this place coincided with where the different submarine
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prints had been found and where the sound from a docking operation
on 14 October had been registered.

On 5 December, Dick Borjesson, as commanding officer, Kent
Pejdell with a couple of divers, and Rolf Andersson from FMV went out
in a small boat to the position given by FMV. An unknown buoy was
marking this very position. The whole operation was very secret, even
for the people involved. When the divers went down with a Geiger
counter, Borjesson wanted to know what was going on. Pejdell then told
him that they were looking for a transponder that might have a nuclear
source. General Ljung writes that Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral
Rudberg had informed him the following day that they had found what
they believed was a transponder. ‘This instrument was going to be
brought up today or tomorrow,” he adds. Ljung writes that it might be
possible to identify the national origin of the object. “This issue might
be very sensitive politically,” he says and continues: “Together with the
Chief of the Navy, I will request a meeting with the Prime Minister to
brief him about the issue.””® A week later, on 14 December, Prime
Minister Palme was informed by General Ljung that they had found par-
allel tracks on the sea floor and some kind of ‘metal object [not yet
brought up from the bottom] that might give further information.
However, there is still no information about the nationality.””

The alleged transponder, a 30- (or 40-) centimetre-long cylindrical
object attached to a square plate was videotaped and a drawing was
made.”® On the drawing, it is stated ‘40 cm’, which seems to refer to
the length of the object but it may refer to the width of the plate. The
cylindrical object looks to some extent like a thermos, but 5-10 centi-
metres at each end of the cylindrical object has a smaller diameter. The
square plate was supposedly heavy, and the diver was not able to lift
it from the bottom. The divers were then ordered not to do anything,
because it was believed that it might have contained explosives that
would detonate if the object were moved. Commander Borjesson, the
head of the sea-floor investigation, says that he was never informed
about the significance of the object: ‘It was never brought up, at least
not by us.” Andersson knew even less. He says that he and his super-
ior, Director Sten Wibeus, went to brief Vice-Admiral Rudberg. They
reported that they had found nothing — no sub-surface transponder —
at the given position. However, Rudberg told them that they did not
have to feel sorry about that, because at this very place — 100-200
metres south of microphone nos 4 and 5, far out at sea, more than a
kilometre southeast of Milsten — the divers had found two-month-old
prints from a tracked submersible, something the divers had not told
Andersson while the operation was being carried out. Borjesson says
that he was responsible for not telling Andersson about the prints, but
he was never informed that the divers had found an object that could

152



REFLECTIONS AFTER THE SUBMARINE HUNT

possibly indicate nationality. The Ekéus Report states that the cylin-
drical object was brought up and turned out to be an artillery shell,
while the signals supposedly originated from an electrical power cable
at Milsten, something that has been underlined by Ekéus’s military
expert Rear-Admiral Goéran Wallén. The latter states that after an
electrical transformer had been installed the signals disappeared.””
However, the drawing made certainly did not indicate an artillery
shell, and, if it were, why would it be attached to a square plate? And
electrical power cables cannot transmit such high-frequency signals,
Andersson told me. And if there was no transponder sending the high-
frequency signals, how was it possible to locate a position — more than
1 kilometre out at sea — where the divers were able to find prints from
three different submarines. Ambassador Ekéus was not correctly
informed.

The three men in the boat knew nothing about one another’s activ-
ity. The sea-floor investigation raises more questions than it answers.
The prints were found where the investigators were told to look. And
neither Borjesson nor Pejdell had ever heard any report of possible
steel plates or a damaged submarine at Masknuv. The position of these
metal objects was, according to the Milsten report and drawing, about
100 metres south-southwest of Masknuv. This position is identical to
the position where the yellow/green dye appeared more than one hour
after the mine explosion on 11 October. It was from this area that the
submarine was ‘limping out’, according to the analysis of the 12
October tape recording. The position of the docking operation on 14
October, as presented by the sonar operator, is also identical to the
position given by the analysis of the transponder signals. At this posi-
tion the sea-floor investigation found prints on the bottom indicating
submarines as well as a docking operation. Physical evidence includ-
ing drawings of the yellow/green patch, the tape-recorded sounds and
the prints on the sea floor all coincide and point to several submarines
or submersibles.

THE SUBS

The more one studies the submarine hunt of October 1982, the more
question marks one finds. But at the same time, there are also ques-
tion marks that can be erased. There is a large amount of evidence and
indications that point to submarine activities in the Stockholm archi-
pelago. In every submarine hunt you will have a number of false indi-
cations, but in this case there is no doubt. There were several visual
sightings made by civilians and military officers of submarine sails and
periscopes just a few metres away from them; sonar echoes indicating
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distance from the sea floor as well as length (5-10 metres and 35-40
metres) of submarines; a number of Doppler indications of a moving
sub-surface object; registered speeds of submarines (1-2 knots, 5-6
knots, 8 knots, 10 knots and 15 knots); submarines with attached
Malin signal transmitters moving more than 1 kilometre (something a
Malin could not do by itself); several IR contacts; forceful air boil-ups
and continuously moving oil spills; parallel caterpillar tracks on the
sea floor from a bottom-crawling submersible; damaged submarine
nets that had to be replaced after personnel had clear submarine indi-
cations close to the nets; tape-recorded sounds of submarine propel-
lers (including one submarine with a damaged propeller); a maximum
signal in a bottom-fixed sonar that made the fuse melt and micro-
phone die when the position of a submarine was ‘close to the micro-
phone’; magnetic indications in the mine barrages simultaneous with
sonar echoes and tape-recorded propeller sounds; a yellow/green dye
released from a damaged submarine; tape-recorded repair works on
the same submarine; and reported visual sightings of damaged subma-
rines — all this points to several certain submarines operating in the
Stockholm archipelago in October 1982.

However, while this dramatic submarine hunt was going on, all
intelligence briefings (on 9, 11, 15 and 22 October) speak of low activ-
ity within the Soviet Baltic Fleet — that is, no particular state of readi-
ness. Ships would participate in the celebration of the Soviet
Constitution Day, but nothing can be linked to the activities in the
Swedish archipelago. Even though two, perhaps three, submarines
may have been damaged, the Soviets did not seem to care. And why
should officers with very close ties to the Royal Navy and the US Navy
release Soviet submarines? All these incidents are much easier to
explain if we think in terms of Western, perhaps even US, submarines.
Ulf Adelsohn, Chairman of the Conservative Party, writes that he and
Carl Bildt were briefed by Prime Minister Olof Palme just after these
incidents in October 1982:

[Palme said that the Navy had had contact with a] ‘certain submarine’.
It was possibly here to assist another submarine that had been seriously
damaged [in Swedish, ‘havererad’]. When I asked him if they had orders
to sink [to kill], he said that ‘there are no restrictions’.'%°

This was the information the Prime Minister gave to the opposition
leader immediately after the incident had taken place. Palme allegedly
stated that two submarines (including one damaged submarine) prob-
ably had operated together.

If we look at each serious submarine observation presented in
Chapter 3, we get a general hypothesis about which observations refer
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to one and the same submarine. This gives us a possible scenario with,
for example, six submarines, including three small submersibles.

The first submarine was observed on 26 September a few metres
from the US cruiser Belknap and frigate Elmer Montgomery between
Stadsgdrden and Kastellholmen, in the very centre of Stockholm.
Witnesses had seen a small, silver-coloured periscope, which most
likely belonged to a US submersible patrolling the US ships.
Commander-in-Chief General Ljung spoke about a link between this
submarine and the US ships. The small submersible had probably been
dumped in Stockholm harbour by the US depot ship Monongahela at
Skeppsholmen 200-300 metres from the other ships. At lunchtime on
29 September, two days after the US ships had left Stockholm for an
exercise southeast of Gotland, the ‘top’ of a 1.5-metre-wide subma-
rine sail was seen further out in Stockholm harbour, probably belong-
ing to the same ‘US submersible’. On the evening of 29 September, it
was stated that an exercise was scheduled for the coming morning.
During the following night, Operation NOTVARP started. At 22.00,
forces were deployed at Oxdjupet, seemingly waiting for an approach-
ing submarine. Special forces were brought in by helicopter to seize a
submarine. About 01.00 on 30 September, the periscope of a small
submarine was followed on radar by a police boat for ‘a long time’ in
Stockholm harbour, close to the earlier observation. This was
reported by the Chief of Staff to the Commander-in-Chief at 02.00.
There were several indications of a small submersible or midget sub-
marine on its way out from Stockholm and heading for the open sea.
At five o’clock in the morning, there was a clear magnetic indication
at the choke point at Oxdjupet, which actually started the real hunt.
Later, there were indications from Kanholmsfjirden further out.
There were supposedly indications of a docking operation in this area.
The 1983 Submarine Defence Commission believed that this midget
then entered its mother-sub in the Kanholmsfjirden-Sandhamn area.
There were no indications of a submarine on its way into Stockholm.
The final preparations for the hunt (or what the naval base war diary
calls an ‘exercise’) were made hours before the first confirmed obser-
vation of a submarine, as though an escape operation with a midget
was part of the exercise. Let us assume that this midget was the Turtle,
the only small US submersible that received an award for bravery in
espionage in 1982, or more exactly for an operation from 30 August
to 5 November 1982. This period fits exactly with the operation in
the Stockholm archipelago. According to one Navy Intelligence
source, this operation took place in Scandinavian waters. The small,
dark, 1.5-metre-wide submarine sail seen at Liding6 on 29 September
fits well with the US Turtle or Sea Cliff. Furthermore, the Turtle has
spotlights, which fits with the observation of light under the water
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close to Musk6 Naval Base on 5 October. This would imply that the
larger mother-sub would have carried the Turtle from the
Kanholmsfjirden-Sandhamn area and delivered it to the area of
Hérsfjirden-Mysingen before the Milsten mine barrages were acti-
vated on 6 October — most likely on 3 October, when a small submer-
sible seems to have entered Harsfjirden, or rather Milbyfjirden, at
S6édra Skramsosund. This small submersible would then have partici-
pated in the operations in the southern area around Musko Naval Base
with several indications from 3 to 7 October with observations of
whirpools, oil patches, magnetic indications, light under the water
and an antenna seen close to the retired and empty destroyer
Hilsingland. Other indications from the destroyer indicate that it may
have been used as a ‘base’, and that this small submersible may have
been hiding under the destroyer. After that, it may have left for
Mysingen. If this submersible was received by its mother-sub in
Mysingen or outside Milsten is not clear. On 7 October, there is a
report from Sandhamn-Korsé about a top of a 1.5- to 2-metre sail
indicating that the Sandhamn submersible may have been different
from the Musko submersible. However, the estimated ‘high’ speed of
the former may rather point to another submarine. This small US sub-
mersible may have been transported from Swedish waters either by a
larger submarine or by a modified civilian tanker (see below).

The second submarine was indicated on 29 September at
Sandhamn-Kors6 and on the following day in Kanholmsfjirden in the
same area. This submarine was first believed to have been a West
German submarine because of a radar indication. There were also
some indications from Kanholmsfjirden on 1 October. The 1983
Submarine Defence Commission believed that this submarine was the
mother-sub to the small submersible described above. Of course, there
is no evidence for this, but this submersible must have been brought
away from the area by some kind of larger vessel, and there is no indi-
cation of any other candidate. Furthermore, there was a possible
docking operation, with the midget being attached to the mother-sub
in Kanholmsfjirden at this very time. This would indicate that the
larger ‘Sandhamn submarine’ was also American, for example USS
Seawolf, which has operated as mother-sub for the Turtle. On the
evening of 4 October, there were several observations of and indica-
tions from a submarine at Sandhamn, which was possibly the same
submarine as the former one (which might have returned having first
delivered the small submersible to the Hérsfjirden area). Various
reports described this submarine as a ‘certain submarine’. A ‘large
wall’, a very high submarine sail, was seen passing at a high speed (15
knots) with ‘diesel engines’ for five minutes, for a while at close range.
The sail was estimated to be up to 10 metres high and ‘higher than it
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was wide’. This may be an exaggeration, but under no circumstances
does it fit with any Soviet submarine, which all would have a relatively
flat sail. We should rather look at the British Oberon class or various
US diesel submarines. However, if we put emphasis on the high sail,
we have to look at nuclear submarines like the British Dreadnought or
perhaps the relatively noisy USS Seawolf. The ‘Sandhamn submarine’
does not easily fit with the submarine in Hérsfjairden on 1 October,
nor with the observation of a conventional submarine at the northern
passage out from Harsfjirden on 7-8 October. After 1 October and
most likely on 3 October, the ‘Sandhamn submarine’ may have deliv-
ered its small submersible into the Mysingen/Harsfjirden area and
then, after a short return trip to Sandhamn, gone down to the south-
ern exit of Mysingen, to the area south of the island of Grin, a few
kilometres southeast of Milsten, where there were several submarine
indications on 10-11 October before the exit of the other submarines.
This first Milsten submarine was seemingly ‘parked’ at the exit of
Mysingen — possibly to help another submarine in trouble or more
likely to receive a small submersible or midget, which passed out on
13-14 October. The report of a submarine south of Néttar6 around
midnight on 13-14 October indicates that this submarine waited for
its midget in the area where a docking operation was later supposed
to have taken place. The alleged print of a keel on the sea floor at
Milsten may indicate that this submarine was a British Oberon-class
submarine, or possibly a US or Italian Tang-class submarine or the US
Seawolf. The print of a ‘keel’ of a small submersible (see the sixth sub-
marine) in the same area may also indicate a docking operation. The
submarine southeast of Milsten has been described by a senior
Swedish officer as a ‘NATO submarine’, though not a West German
one and accordingly most probably a US or British submarine. If this
submarine was the mother-sub of the above-mentioned small submer-
sible, it was also most likely a US or possibly a British submarine.
The third submarine entered Hérsfjarden at noon on 1 October.
The periscope and mast were seen heading west for a minute and then
turning southwards. This submarine first announced its presence and
then left Harsfjarden, probably in the same way and on the same day
as it entered. It is in all reports described as a ‘certain submarine’. Let
us assume that this submarine later made an excursion up to Dalard,
where a submarine surfaced in the morning of 4 October, perhaps to
test the northern exit of Mysingen. It then went back to Mysingen,
where it ‘parked’ outside the approaches to Harsfjirden. This would
have been the same submarine that seems to have appeared in this area
on 6 October. After the submarine nets had moved more than 100
metres at lunchtime on 7 October, a contact was made with this sub-
marine outside the nets (in Mysingen), and soon afterwards it was
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possibly lightly damaged by the drop of six heavy depth charges
northeast of Bergholmen. An oil patch appeared. A Malin was
dropped and later located northwest of Bergholmen. According to the
naval base war diary, a helicopter was hovering over it for 40 minutes
before a ceasefire was ordered. On 8 October, there were a lot of
knocking sounds that might have originated from repair works from
the same area. This submarine may later have passed through the
narrow waters at Dalard or along Orn6 Strdmmar in the night of 8-9
October, which would indicate a small vessel. On the following day,
this submarine would have continued northwards, giving rise to per-
iscope/mast indications in Jungfrufjirden, and a submarine sail at
Nimdo going towards Bullerén further out. The ceasefire and the
behaviour of the submarine (announcing its presence on 1, 4 and 9
October) seem to indicate a Western submarine. The ‘Dalaré subma-
rine’ supposedly had ‘square objects’ (perhaps Strazza Navigation
active sonars for narrow waters) on top of its hull, which might indi-
cate a small Italian submarine. According to the drawing made by the
observer this submarine had a high mast at the very end of the sail or
rather behind the sail, which only fits with the Italian Cosmos, most
likely Cosmos SX 756-W. The estimated length, about 25 metres, and
the distance between the mast and the periscope (1-1.5 metres) also
fits with this submarine. The high mast and the small narrow sail seen
from behind on 9 October may also indicate a Cosmos SX 756-W. The
size of Cosmos also fits these narrow and shallow waters (10-12
metres at Dalar6 and less than 10 metres at Orn6é Strommar).
According to Jane’s Fighting Ships, no Soviet submarine at the time
had such a mast and these kinds of ‘objects’ on top of its hull. Soviet
submarines are also rather large for these narrow waters.

The fourth submarine was a small conventional-size submarine or
mini-submarine, which points to an Italian, US or possibly West
German submarine. The fact that the signal transmitter Malin
attached to the submarine may exclude a West German submarine,
even though its radar was first believed to have been West German.
It may have been this small submarine that allegedly was seen sur-
faced late at night on 30 September south of Soédra Skramsdsund and
then entered at the narrow southern passage to Muskd and
Hérsfjirden at dusk on 1 October. Let us assume that this was the
same submarine that was hunted on 4 October, observed late at night
on 4 October and, possibly after having been lightly damaged on §
October, sent up a green dye to the surface at Kiringholmen, a few
hundred metres from the place of the submarine hunt. It seems to
have operated primarily in southern Hérsfjarden up to Nisudden
(north of the area of operation for the Turtle). The green dye indi-
cates that this was a Western submarine under US command. On §
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October, the length of the submarine was measured with an echo
ranger. The estimated length of 35-40 metres was close to the length
of the US mini-submarine NR-1. This may have been the same sub-
marine that, on the afternoon of 7 October, showed its 3- to 4-metre
dark square sail with small objects on top — according to the naval base
war diary with ‘something white on the sail’ — at the exit of
Haérsfjarden. All this information fits well with the NR-1. This subma-
rine may then have left Hérsfjirden at 20.30 the same evening. One
hour later, the helicopter Y72 reported Doppler and an estimated
speed of 8 knots. However, the time and positions given by the war
diary indicate a speed of 6 knots. But, according to a former NR-1
officer, even 6 knots is high or too high for this vessel. On the night of
7-8 October, this submarine was followed by Swedish anti-submarine
forces from the exit of Hérsfjarden. It passed Norrhill and Mysings-
holm towards Ostra R6ko in southern Mysingen. The Swedish fast
attack craft Viktaren had a clear contact at 23.00, but at this very
moment the submarine was saved by a ceasefire. It may have been this
or possibly another submarine (seen close to the mine barrages on 7
October) that was ‘parked’ at Ostra Réko-Orngrund on the night of
10-11 October, seemingly preparing to pass out from Mysingen at
Milsten. It may also have been this submarine that, at lunchtime on
11 October, was damaged by a mine, perhaps seriously, while trying
to pass out at Milsten. The magnetic indication was constant for 10
seconds despite being turned off twice, which suggests a relatively
demagnetized submarine. One hour after this incident, the submarine
sent up a yellow/green dye 100-150 metres from the place of the
explosion, which also indicates a submarine under US command.
Reported steel plates were found at the same position as the
yellow/green dye appeared. This submarine was most likely repaired
on the sea floor somewhere southwest of Milsten during the follow-
ing night. It left Milsten, and possibly also Swedish waters, on the
evening of 12 October. Both the repair work and the propeller sound
were tape-recorded. The first two reports spoke about low turns per
minute (below 60 rpm; one report states 30-40 rpm). The later FOA
analysis (190-200 rpm) refers to a sequence not known by the opera-
tor. According to Norwegian Military Intelligence, the propeller
sound indicated a Western, possibly a US, submarine. The fact that
both tapes have since been edited and significant sequences removed
indicates a Western submarine. The fact that the Americans confis-
cated the Norwegian copy of the tape indicates a US submarine or at
least a US operation. The yellow/green dye indicates a Western, prob-
ably a US, submarine. The narrow estimated length of the submarine
and the sail indicates the US NR-1. Afterwards, there were several
statements from senior officials about a damaged US submarine and
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also about NR-1 participating in this operation (see below). However,
these statements may refer to two different submarines.

The fifth submarine is the small submersible that left tracked marks
on the sea floor. On the morning of 29 September, the destroyer
Halland saw a small, round object in the water at the southern
entrance of Harsfjirden. Soon afterwards, something seems to have
passed the magnetic sensor cable at Sédra Skramsésund. The
Submarine Defence Commission speaks about an observation on 1
October at Nisudden. On 5 October, 464 reported an area of mud in
the water as well as a small round object, a ‘black hill’, the top of a
ball visible above the surface northeast of Nisudden, close to where
the submarine hunt had taken place. This was not a submarine sail,
but rather the top of a small submersible. It was soon afterwards
attacked with a depth charge, and it may have been damaged. On 7
October, the Belos’s remote-controlled video camera saw parallel
tracks that led to something that was stirring up mud from the
sea floor. When the divers checked the area on 20 October, they
found parallel caterpillar tracks on the sea floor from a small, bottom-
crawling submersible. The total width of the tracks was less than 2
metres, and the width of each of the two tracks was 0.6 metres. Both
Submarine Commissions and the Defence Staff describe this as a
‘certain submarine’. The prints were clear and fresh, and they most
likely originated from the first week of October, from the time of the
submarine hunt in the area. This vessel seems to have operated in
northern Hérsfjirden, between Nisudden and Mirsgarn and further
north. On 6 October, the naval base war diary records a 5- to
10-metre-long echo at Mirsgarn at a depth of 11 metres. In the fol-
lowing days, there were a number of observations of a small submer-
sible in this area. Similar parallel tracks at Mirsgarn under the retired
and empty destroyer Smdland made intelligence personnel at the
naval base believe that it had been hiding under the destroyer to avoid
the echo sounders of boats covering the area. Similar to the submer-
sible that was operating close to the naval base, which may have used
the retired destroyer Hilsingland as a ‘base’, this submersible may
have used Smdland. Tracked marks on the sea floor were later also
found in Varnisfjirden (after indications on 6 November), and after
that at Milsten. This indicates that this submersible stayed in the area
for a longer period of time or was transported back to the area. The
prints at Milsten may indicate that this submersible also passed out
through the southern exit of Mysingen. This submersible was suppos-
edly operating together with other submarines, which indicates a
Western submarine. The analysis made by Swedish Defence Staff
described it as a ‘certain submarine’ and pointed to the Soviet Union,
because it was unlikely that such a submersible would have been pos-
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sible to keep secret in the West.!”! However, the Italian naval special
forces COMSUBIN has had such a ‘toad’, a small bottom-crawling
submersible that leaves tracked prints similar to the ones found in
Haérsfjirden. This submersible is carried by a civilian vessel. It may
have been this submersible that operated in the Stockholm archipel-
ago. The Italians may have sold one or more of these craft to another
Western navy. There are reports stating that the Soviets had similar
vessels, but I have not had this confirmed. Prints found in northern
Norway from what was believed to be a Soviet bottom-crawling sub-
mersible had very different dimensions (see below).

The sixth submarine is a small submersible that left ‘keel’ prints or
prints from parallel runners on the sea floor between Alvsta
Langholmar and Huvudholmen at a depth of less than 10 metres. This
might indicate a small US submersible. The width of the ‘keel’ and the
estimated diameter of the propellers (0.5 metres) as well as the dis-
tance between the two propellers (2.5 metres) fit with certain US sub-
mersibles. However, there are also a couple of other Western
submersibles with a similar ‘keel’ and double propellers (see below).102
No Soviet submersible has, to my knowledge, such characteristics.
This small submersible may have operated in northern Hérsfjarden,
north of the area of the former vessel. Some of the small privately
owned US submersibles were used by the CIA in connection with
special forces operations. One or two of them may have been brought
to Swedish waters and to central Stockholm by the Monongahela, and
then exercised an escape operation out from Stockholm, which would
explain the indication at Oxdjupet at both 05.00 and 14.00 on 30
September. After that they would have been transported to the
Haérsfjirden area by most likely a larger submarine. The ‘keel’ prints
between Alvsta Langholmar and Huvudholmen might have been
created at the passage on the evening of 8 October, when the Swedish
submarine Sjéhunden reported a lot of scraping sounds at Alvsta
Langholmar, or at 23.45 on 9 October, when there was another indi-
cation of a passage out to Mysingen. This small submersible would
then have left Mysingen at Milsten, for example on 13-14 October.
If we believe the sea-floor investigation, similar prints of a ‘keel” south
of the microphones may indicate that this submersible was docking to
a larger submarine in this area on 14 October. This would mean that
this submersible was the same as the one that left Mysingen at
Danziger Gatt and passed the mine barrage at Milsten at 23.00 on 13
October during a five-hour ceasefire. Submarine sound expert Anders
Karlsson at Milsten describes this submarine as a small vessel, a
midget. The propeller, or rather the propeller shroud, something that
most small submersibles have, was believed to be damaged. This sub-
mersible hit microphone no. 5 or passed it at a range of 1 metre, which
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indicates that it went very close to the bottom, which would presup-
pose that it was a small submersible having a propeller shroud like
most US submersibles have. A couple of hours later, there were indi-
cations that this submersible was once again received by its mother-
sub, the larger submarine, which had been ‘parked’ a few kilometres
southeast of Milsten since 10 October and now approached Milsten.
Both the propeller sound and sounds from a possible docking opera-
tion were tape-recorded. Divers found indications of a possible
docking operation south of microphone nos 4 and 5, more than 1 kilo-
metre southeast of Milsten. The passage exactly at 23.00 indicates
that the small submersible was ordered to pass at a certain hour within
a given time window. This clearly points to a Western submarine. If it
was a US submersible, the ceasefire is easy to explain.

Almost all indications — and even all available evidence — point to
Western submarines. One or two of these submarines may possibly
have been Soviet submarines, but indications pointing in this direction
are weak. Several submarines seem to have demonstrated their pres-
ence by showing periscopes or submarine sails to the public at close
range in a relatively densely populated area, and more important
within the area of the naval base, as though they wanted to be seen.
To operate on the surface in this way was not necessary at all. It is dif-
ficult to believe that these were Soviet submarines. Some sources have
pointed to Soviet arrogance, but this does not fit with other informa-
tion. It rather seems to have been a US or US/UK operation in coop-
eration with Italian naval special forces to give the Swedes some ‘subs
to play with’, to trigger the anti-submarine warfare operation to test
‘Swedish capability and will’ — words actually used by Vice-Admiral
Bror Stefenson in his first briefing to the Prime Minister after the sub-
marine hunt.'%

From conversations with submarine captains, it appears that there
is no operational rationale for going into such narrow waters with
several submarines. Usually, one may travel with two submarines oper-
ating in tandem, so that one can attract the attention of foreign anti-
submarine warfare forces if the other gets into trouble. In these cases,
however, one would have one submarine ‘park’ outside narrow
waters, exactly as was done with the submarine ‘parked’ outside the
exit of Harsfjirden (see 1-7 October) or at Milsten outside the exit
of Mysingen (see 10-11 October). Several naval officers have told me
that it is not possible that, for example, a British, Italian or German
submarine could operate without US knowledge. It is always neces-
sary to coordinate with the US Navy wherever one is going. This oper-
ation with several submarines would have been coordinated at
Northwood, outside London, by the British COMSUBEASTLANT
(Commander Submarines Eastern Atlantic) and his US deputy. Under
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no circumstances would this have been a conventional espionage
operation — neither a Soviet nor a US/UK one — because one would
never enter such narrow waters with several submarines. It may have
been an exercise to train coordination in narrow, shallow waters, to
train E&E (Evasion and Escape) networks or to ‘test Swedish capabil-
ity and will’; but primarily it must have been a political operation to
let the Swedes have some ‘subs to play with’.

THE ACTORS

The submarine damaged by a mine at Milsten on 11 October sent up
a yellow/green dye about an hour after the explosion. Although the
analysis of the yellow/green dye excluded mud from the sea floor, this
was mentioned neither in Emil Svensson’s Naval Analysis Group
Report nor in the Submarine Defence Commission Report with Bror
Stefenson as its military expert. The yellow/green dye was described
as mud from the sea floor. In official material as well as in secret sum-
maries the existence of both a dye and a damaged submarine has been
filtered away. All sonar information on a damaged submarine at
Milsten on 11-12 October (including evidence of metallic hammer-
ing, knocking sounds and high-frequency sounds seemingly originat-
ing from a cutting tool) has been filtered away from the tape recording
and from the report of the Submarine Defence Commission. When
Stefenson was presented with Brigadier-General Hansson’s report
from the submarine sound expert, Stefenson said that ‘it could be any-
thing’. When the submarine sound signature was recorded by the
Navy, Stefenson went to Vice-Admiral Rudberg to be given ‘a boost’
before informing General Ljung about it. Rudberg and Stefenson
apparently ignored the Norwegian analysis of the sound signature,
which pointed to a Western submarine, and Stefenson would have
been the one who ensured that this information did not turn up in the
Submarine Defence Commission Report. Stefenson and Rudberg have
stated afterwards that there was no submarine passage over the mine
barrages at Milsten. Accordingly, there was no damaged submarine.
Even though Commander Emil Svensson and the Naval Analysis
Group had full access to the war diaries from the naval base at Musko
and from the Coastal Defence base at Milsten, he states that no sub-
marine passed the mine barrages at Milsten (on 11 October) since
there was no indication of a damaged submarine after the explosion.
According to the Naval Analysis Group Report —used as raw informa-
tion by the 1983 Submarine Defence Commission and by the 1995
Submarine Commission — this incident never took place.

The passage of a submarine on 13-14 October has seemingly also
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been filtered away by the same individuals. In this case too, the tape
and the report of the tape recording have been manipulated. Before
this tape was ‘edited’, it was possible to hear the damaged propeller,
its turns per minute, how the submarine went forward by intervals to
avoid detection and, later, the shutting of a submarine hatch. Even
though the evidence for this submarine is undeniable, and even
though Vice-Admiral Stefenson has confirmed that all systems pointed
to a submarine, he decided a few hours later to deny the existence of
this submarine. The incident never happened. At 08.00 on 14
October, the Commander-in-Chief was informed that there were
‘electronic disturbances’, and, at 13.45, the Minister of Defence was
informed that the mines had most likely indicated in error.
Commander Emil Svensson and his Naval Analysis Group Report
state that there was probably no submarine passage, and Svensson
selects a couple of vague pieces of information from the naval base war
diary, while taking out tens of others that clearly state that a subma-
rine is passing. On several occasions, General Ljung received more or
less correct information. On a number of occasions, however, this
information was immediately afterwards retracted, probably by a
senior officer reporting directly to him. According to one source,
Ljung even sent his own intelligence people to the naval base to find
out what was going on, as though he did not trust the naval base
reports or his own Chief of Staff.

Coastal Defence officers have told me that they believed that
Coastal Fleet officers ordered the ceasefires and the release of the sub-
marines because they wanted to get the submarines themselves and
not to let Coastal Defence get them. Or, as one Coastal Defence officer
said, Coastal Fleet helicopters were unable to do anything against the
more sophisticated submarines. Senior and relatively senior Coastal
Fleet officers, on the other hand, have told me that Coastal Defence’s
mine barrages were unreliable and that indications from Coastal
Defence were not trustworthy. Generalizing from a mistake on
7 October, they argued that Coastal Defence wanted to save its own
face, and they doubted that any submarine actually had passed out at
Milsten. Bror Stefenson stated in 1994 that ‘there was no [submarine]
passage over any mine barrage’, referring to the incidents at Milsten
in October 1982.1%4 Per Rudberg said to me that he doubted that any
submarine had passed the choke point at Milsten in October 1982. In
a criticism of my work, Rear-Admiral Géran Wallén, the military
expert to the Ekéus Investigation, stated: ‘there is no record of a sub-
marine or submersible passing out either on the eastern or the western
side of Milsten’.'% The same conclusion is made in the Naval Analysis
Group Report under Commander Emil Svensson.'% This view was
also presented to many officers within the Navy.
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This ‘Coastal Fleet view’, however, is confirmed neither by relevant
war diaries nor by General Ljung’s diary. The documented evidence is
pretty clear that one submarine passed out on 11-12 October and
another on 13-14 October. It seems that not only the public but also
most fleet officers have been kept from vital information regarding
those days. Coastal Fleet rumours of what happened must have been
formed by somebody at the very top — seemingly Stefenson and
Rudberg. On the other hand, Coastal Fleet officers were split between
officers believing this version and other high-ranking officers with
access to secret information about Defence Staff activities during the
submarine hunt. The latter did not believe the above-mentioned
‘Coastal Fleet view’. However, the ‘Coastal Defence view’ is not very
credible either. It may have appeared as the most likely explanation to
some officers at Milsten, and even higher up, but the view that high-
ranking Coastal Fleet officers would have forced Coastal Defence to
release two submarines because they themselves were unable to get
them is difficult to take seriously. This story is much easier to explain
if we think in terms of two Western submarines that were secretly
released by somebody at the very top (for example by Vice-Admiral
Stefenson and Vice-Admiral Rudberg), which later led to misunder-
standings and increased distrust between the Coastal Fleet and Coastal
Defence.

On all of these occasions, Commander-in-Chief General Ljung
received information through his Chief of Staff and his Chief of the
Navy. Information was passed from the naval base to the Defence
Staff, but not always through the Commander of the Eastern Military
District, Lieutenant-General Bengt Lehander, who formally speaking
should have been the commander in the area reporting to the
Commander-in-Chief. The Commander of the Military District, in
this case the Eastern Military District, was, according to Swedish reg-
ulations, ‘the officer in charge of ordering an engagement with effec-
tive fire’.!%” In the Hérsfjirden case, this did not happen. General
Lehander is no longer alive, but I spoke with his Chief of Staff, Major-
General (now Lieutenant-General) Gustaf Welin, who told me that
they were often not informed. The information went directly from the
naval base to the Defence Staff. Chief of Naval Operations, Eastern
Military District, Commander Bengt Gabrielsson said the same. His
superior, Captain Goran Wallén, Chief of Operations at the Eastern
Military District, has a different view, and he denies that any informa-
tion presented above has any relevance.!® But both Welin and
Gabrielsson said that the Eastern Military District — the command that
formally speaking was responsible for giving orders about fire and
ceasefire — was ‘shunted aside’. They were kept in the dark. Despite
that, Stefenson let them write drafts for the Submarine Defence
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Commission Report. Stefenson operated informally. Several times, he
went out in a helicopter and acted as a ‘local commander’, short-
cutting the chain of information. After these incidents, he did not
report to his subordinates, who were kept uninformed about opera-
tions. Several officers describe him as an informal and ‘spontaneous
personality’. This ‘spontaneity’, however, may have been instrumen-
tal in his carrying out some delicate operations while keeping the
formal hierarchy uninformed. His professionalism as a high-ranking
naval officer and former submarine officer also gave him an obvious
authority. The Commander-in-Chief explicitly mentions that the
ceasefires on 7, 11 and 12 October were declared after recommenda-
tions from the Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson.!?® The
ceasefire on 13 October was most likely decided by Stefenson himself,
without consultation with Ljung. The ceasefire order from 17.49 on
13 October was signed by Captain Goran Wallén.!1°

After the believed breakout through the nets at lunchtime on
7 October, Vice-Admiral Stefenson went to Hérsfjirden. At the same
time, Major-General Gustaf Welin from the Eastern Military District
requested the use of mines against the approaching submarine, some-
thing General Ljung supported. Ljung turned to Prime Minister
Thorbj6rn Filldin, who also responded positively. The use of these
‘wartime weapons’ was understood as an escalation of the operation.
Stefenson was not consulted on the issue, most likely because he was
in a helicopter on his way to Berga and Harsfjirden. Requests to the
Commander of the Eastern Military District were first made by
Stockholm Coastal Defence. After the believed breakout on 7 October,
the most senior officers at the Eastern Military District, Lieutenant-
General Bengt Lehander and Major-General Gustaf Welin, discussed
the issue and turned to the Commander-in-Chief. This escalation
stands in contrast to the almost simultaneous de-escalation at the naval
base. A ceasefire for depth charges was decided by the naval base — or
perhaps through influence of the most high-ranking officer at the base,
Vice-Admiral Stefenson. Stefenson was allegedly upset about the deci-
sion to use the mines, and immediately after the first mine explosion
he had argued that there was an understanding not to use the mines.
In a telephone conversation with an anonymous officer, Stefenson
had, according to von Hofsten, ‘exclaimed that we had an agreement
about not using the mines’.!!'! Logically speaking, a tacit agreement
could only have been with somebody at the Eastern Military District,
and the only candidate for that would be von Hofsten’s trusted former
chief, Captain (now Rear-Admiral) Géran Wallén, who was close to
Stefenson and also favoured Stefenson’s view afterwards.!!? It seems
that the escalation of the operation was possible only because
Lieutenant-General Lehander and Major-General Welin listened to
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the Chief of Stockholm Coastal Defence rather than to their own most
senior naval officer and because Stefenson, at the time of General
Ljung’s decision, was absent from the Defence Staff.

On the morning of the same day, Per Rudberg and Bror Stefenson
had proposed a de-escalation of the submarine hunt. In the evening,
the decision to use mines against submarines was revoked on the rec-
ommendation of Vice-Admiral Stefenson, but it was once again
accepted the following morning, though with certain reservations, as
though a compromise had been reached. At a Naval Staff meeting,
Vice-Admiral Rudberg argued against the use of mines. Rudberg said
that it was necessary to ‘take it cool’ (in Swedish, ‘ta det lilla lugna’).
He argued that the indications in the mines were not trustworthy.
Stefenson used the same words and said: ‘we had to take it cool for a
while’.13 After 7 October, the naval base did not order any drops of
depth charges, despite several indications in Harsfjirden, at the north-
ern exit, in Jungfrufjirden and at Milsten. At this point, according to
the naval base, the use of depth charges was limited to action against
a submarine classified as a ‘certain submarine’.!'* Between 1 and 7
October, 45 depth charges (or possibly 48'1%) were dropped, while
only two depth charges were dropped between 8 and 14 October, and
these two charges were ordered not by the naval base but by the
Coastal Defence base at Milsten. Or, more correctly, Milsten ordered
the drop of 16 depth charges, but the naval base entered the frequency
and overruled Milsten’s decision seconds before the drop. After 7
October and Stefenson’s and Rudberg’s decision to de-escalate the
hunt, the use of force was in practical terms over. Only the Coastal
Defence base at Milsten, not fully under the control of Stefenson and
the naval base (but partly supported by the Commander of the Eastern
Military District), carried out its own war. The crucial question,
however, is why did Stefenson and Rudberg try to de-escalate the oper-
ation from 7 October. Had something happened, or was something
going to happen? There are at least four arguments that might have
motivated this decision. First, the incident on 5§ October might have
been more serious than described above, which might have forced the
state responsible for the operations to back out. Second, this state
might have desperately needed a de-escalation to save its submarines,
which would have difficulty surviving in the Swedish archipelago for
a longer time. Third, if one or more submarines/ submersibles were
going to be brought away from the area by a civilian merchant ship
passing by (see 9 October), an immediate release of these vessels was
necessary. Fourth, on the following day, the new Palme government
was due to take office. An end to the right to use force from 8 October,
in practical terms, would make the Palme government look weak and
compliant to the Soviets, which would discredit the government from
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its first day in office. All these arguments may have supported each
other.

At the meeting on 9 October, Ljung seems to have tried to find a
compromise between Vice-Admiral Stefenson on the one hand and
Brigadier-General Hansson (and perhaps Lieutenant-General
Lehander) on the other. On 12, 13 and 14 October, the decisions to
accept the use of mines in darkness was taken by the Eastern Military
District or by General Ljung on Lieutenant-General Lehander’s rec-
ommendation, while all decisions about a ceasefire were taken by
Vice-Admiral Stefenson or by General Ljung on the recommendations
of Vice-Admiral Stefenson. General Ljung seems to have changed his
view depending on who influenced him. However, on most occasions,
briefings were given by Vice-Admiral Stefenson or by Stefenson
together with Vice-Admiral Rudberg. A Swedish intelligence officer
told me that it was Stefenson, not Ljung, who was running the
Haérsfjirden operation. He said that, within the fleet, Ljung was called
‘Grodan Boll’ (‘Froggie Ball’), a Swedish comical figure who makes
comments and supports others.

It was primarily Vice-Admiral Stefenson who ran the Harsfjiarden
submarine hunt, and, according to Vice-Admiral Bengt Schuback,
Chief of Staff (from 1 October Commander of the Southern Military
District, and later Chief of the Navy), it was the Chief of the Coastal
Fleet (Rear-Admiral Stefenson) who ran the NOTVARP operation that
preceded the hunt in Hérsfjirden. On the other hand, when Stefenson
needed advice from a senior officer, he turned to Vice-Admiral Per
Rudberg (see 12 October). Almost every morning, Vice-Admiral
Rudberg and Vice-Admiral Stefenson briefed General Ljung about the
submarine hunt. They almost totally controlled the information to the
Commander-in-Chief. But it seems to have been Stefenson who was
running the show, assisted by his ‘chief of intelligence’, Commander
Emil Svensson, and perhaps together with the Chief of the Naval Base,
Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard (the first Swedish officer at the US
Naval War College and Stefenson’s predecessor as Chief of the Coastal
Fleet), and with Captain Goran Wallén at the Eastern Military District.
The whole operation, however, seems to have been under Vice-
Admiral Rudberg’s supervision. Of course, you may argue that
Stefenson and Wallén were under the influence of Rudberg and perhaps
of Svensson or the other way around. Still, I have difficulty in believ-
ing that they were totally incompetent. On 5 October at the briefing of
the Minister of Defence, Stefenson brought Emil Svensson as his anti-
submarine expert. When an alleged ‘NATO submarine’ appeared at
Kanholmsfjirden on 30 September, Kierkegaard (or his assistant)
wrote that, according to Emil Svensson’s advice, the Commander-in-
Chief and the Commander of the Eastern Military District should not
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be informed. Kierkegaard and Stefenson, both former chiefs of the
Coastal Fleet, together with Emil Svensson, seem to have filtered away
information about possible Western involvement, similar to how
Wallén filtered away this information in the Ekéus Investigation. This
seems to have been the general approach. In a dispute with a senior
officer in the Ministry of Defence, Emil Svensson made a similar state-
ment: ‘your minister will get to know what he needs to know’.

The most senior naval officer at Defence Staff Intelligence, its
Deputy Chief, Commander Bj6rn Eklind, had been sceptical about the
large number of reported submarines in the early 1980s, partly
because there was no corresponding activity on the Soviet side and
partly because he believed that, in a paranoid climate, people would
see things that did not exist. To Rudberg and Stefenson, Eklind was a
problem, and they needed their own ‘naval intelligence organization’,
which had been created after the Whiskey submarine had grounded at
Karlskrona in 1981. Hours after a submarine had appeared in
Haérsfjarden, this Naval Analysis Group was deployed at Muské ‘at the
disposal of the Chief of the Naval Base’, Rear-Admiral Kierkegaard.!1®
When something important took place, the war diaries state: ‘contact
Emil Svensson’. Commander Svensson played a central role in the sub-
marine hunt. He presented a compilation of all observations or sub-
marine indications in the Naval Analysis Group Report. However,
almost all sensitive information and information pointing to Western
submarines was excluded. Svensson played as important a role after
the submarine hunt as Vice-Admiral Stefenson did during the hunt and
for the Submarine Defence Commission. Svensson, however, may not
have been fully informed about the role of the Western submarines.

The Naval Analysis Group Report for the Hérsfjirden submarine
hunt, became - together with the Grandin Report (see below) — the
most authoritative secret document about the hunt. It classified all
essential observations from the war diaries as ‘certain submarine’,
‘possible submarine’ or ‘not submarine’. Or, rather, this is what most
inside observers believed to have been the case. The Naval Analysis
Group Report was believed to have been a compilation of raw infor-
mation. However, almost all of the war diaries’ most delicate state-
ments were left out of the Naval Analysis Group Report. Commander
Emil Svensson was responsible for all these decisions. I will present
some examples. The 5 October information about an echo of 35-40
metres, 15 metres above the sea floor (confirmed by intelligence per-
sonnel at the naval base), is not reported by Svensson. The 5 October
information about the signal transmitter Malin attaching to a subma-
rine (also confirmed by several senior officers) is explicitly denied by
the report. The 7 October information about a ‘submarine sail with
something white on the sail at Berganis’ is changed to just an ‘object
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at Berganis’ and is classified as a ‘possible submarine’; it disappears
among hundreds of less relevant pieces of information. The 7 October
information about damaged nets, about a breakout and about a pos-
sibly damaged submarine are all denied by Svensson. The 11 October
information about a mine explosion after indications from a subma-
rine passing the mine barrage, the report about a yellow/green patch
on the surface an hour after the incident, the repair works the follow-
ing night, and the reported ‘steel plates’ on the sea floor are all denied
in Svensson’s report, which states: ‘if a submarine had provoked the
indication [in the mine barrage], it would most likely have been
damaged seriously. The following investigation found no traces [of
that]. Conclusion: no submarine.’''” Unlike the Milsten report of 11
October and the Grandin Report,'!® the Naval Analysis Group Report
concludes: no submarine. Also, the passage over the mine barrage on
13-14 October is classified as ‘no submarine’. The Naval Analysis
Group Report states:

[On 13 October] at 23.00, from Milsten: indication in the mine
barrage and sound from the sonars. Conclusion: the tape is sent for
analysis. Preliminary report: [cavi]tation sound not confirmed.
Rhythmic thumbing from unknown source. Conclusion: no submarine.
[On 14 October] at 01.11, helicopter suspected sonar contact south of
Meilsten. At 01.35, attack with depth charges.!?’

In all these cases, information from the war diaries pointing to subma-
rines — and, in several cases, Western submarines — is taken out of the
report. During the night and early morning of 14 October, the war
diaries speak about a submarine moving and hiding from the Swedish
anti-submarine forces. This information is, in Svensson’s report,
reduced to two sentences of no significance (see my italics below),
which lead Svensson to conclude that there was no submarine. The
speaker channel on the tape as well as the war diaries state the follow-
ing: ‘[Just after midnight], Y69 is in contact with a submarine . . . We
have a couple of cavitation sounds. Conclusion: submarine increasing
speed. [A minute later: more] cavitation sounds. [Two minutes later:]
Helicopter prepares for a drop. [Four minutes later:] Submarine,
increasing amplitude. [Four minutes later:] I cannot hear the subma-
rine. [Six minutes later:] the submarine has started again. It is moving
forward slowly. [Six minutes later:] It seems that the submarine is
going with five-six-seven-eight turns with the propeller and then
stops. He is possibly going very close to the sea floor’ (Speaker
channel, Tape 4). ‘At 00.25, Milsten to Y70: the submarine is moving
forward by intervals towards the deepest area’ (COrIBO WD). ‘At
00.30, the sonar operator reports: still contact’ (CMS WD). At 00.31,
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Milsten has still contact [with the submarine] . . . At 00.34, from
Milsten: the submarine has increased speed’ (COrlBO WD). ‘At
00.35, the sonar operator: still contact . . . the sonar operator con-
cludes that the propeller shaft of the object is damaged’ (CMS WD).
‘At 00.53, Milsten has lost contact’ (COrIBO WD). ‘At 01.06, helicop-
ter contact south of Milsten. At 01.09, report from the sonars: the
object is moving forward slowly. Helicopter Y69 informed’ (CMS
WD). At 01.11, Y70 has suspected sonar contact’ (COrIBO WD). ‘At
01.13, from the sonar operator: the contact is stronger. At 01.14, Y70
returns. The speed of the object increases. Report to helicopter. At
01.16, from the sonar operator: the contact is stronger . . . At 01.18,
the object is quiet. At 01.19, the object is moving forward by intervals.
Y69 is informed’ (CMS WD). ‘It is now 01.19. The amplitude of the
submarine has first decreased and then increased to the present rela-
tively high level. At 01.23, the helicopter is now preparing for an
attack. At 01.26, the boats are coming here for the drop. Before this,
[ am going to turn off the whole system’ (Speaker channel, Tape 4). ‘At
01.30, one of the microphones (no. 5) out of order. No contact. At
01.32, transport boat S reports: distance [from the object] 180 metres.
According to Y69, contact close to A=the microphone [no. 5].
Contact close. From the sonar operator: despite that no contact in the
microphone . .. The microphone may have been hit [see above]’ (CMS
WD). At 01.33, attack with depth charges’ (COrIBO WD). ‘At 01.37,
the tape recording stopped because the patrol vessel dropped two
depth charges. They were directed by the helicopter. The helicopter
had contact [with the submarine] at microphone no. 5, which died. It
is very likely that the submarine passed close to the microphone - so
close that the fuse melted. After the detonation, the system was turned
on. The noise level is back to normal. The low-frequency sounds are
back to normal. They decreased to about 30 dB’ (Speaker channel,
Tape 4). At 01.40, HBS reports: both of them exploded. At 01.43,
from the sonar operator . . . No low-frequency sounds [no propeller].
The vessel may have been damaged, or is keeping totally silent, or the
sonar system is damaged for lower frequencies . . . At 02.44, from the
sonars: two “knocking” sounds . . . At 03.22, the sonar operator
reports: knocking sounds close to [microphone] no. 4° (CMS WD). ‘At
03.30, from Milsten: rattling sounds and sounds similar to the closing
of a valve or [submarine hatch]’ (COrIBO WD). ‘At 10.31, from the
sonar operator: possible submarine, echo, 2 pings . . . At 10.46, the
object is moving. At 10.48, from the sonar operator: possible subma-
rine . . . At 10.55, from the sonar operator: silent again. Y71 is
informed. At 10.56, Y71 asks for last position of the object. Answer:
1,000 metres southwest Vitingen’ (CMS WD). ‘At 11.00, from
Milsten: microphone contact for half an hour (10.35). The submarine
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has been moving since 10.46 (cavitation sounds)’ (COrIBO WD). It
seems that Commander Emil Svensson deliberately excluded every-
thing that clearly indicated a submarine at Milsten on 14 October.
This most clear submarine passage recorded by three different systems
(with a contact with the submarine for a couple of hours) is by
Svensson reduced to one suspected sonar contact south of Milsten at
01.11 and a drop of two depth charges.

When the Naval Analysis Group Report considers periscopes and
submarine sails it only discusses alternative Soviet submarines. The
description of a submarine sail close to Sandhamn on 4 October points
instead to a British or US, and definitely a Western, submarine.!?° The
observers’ description of the sail does not indicate a Soviet submarine.
The Analysis Group, however, concludes that it might have been a
large diesel submarine, and the Soviet Union was the only Baltic Sea
country with such submarines. Prints on the sea floor from two pro-
pellers and of a ‘keel” and double runners give a clear indication of the
dimensions of the small vessel, which points to a couple of possible US
submersibles, but Svensson and Stefenson believe that the prints must
originate from an unknown Soviet submersible.

A Norwegian admiral asked me if an analysis of the oil was carried
out. In Norway, oil from a submarine is always analysed, because the
Soviet Union and many Western countries use different kinds of oil. It
is possible to identify which refinery the oil originates from, and there
is no problem in identifying the national origin. However, in the
Haérsfjarden case, although a large number of oil samples were taken,
the results from the analysis of these samples were never used as evi-
dence to prove Soviet submarines. I was told that there was a lot of oil
on the bottom that might have turned up on the surface after the drop
of depth charges, but on several occasions the oil patch appeared far
from where the depth charge had been dropped. A first analysis of
three samples is reported by the Naval Analysis Group on 3 October
in Attachment 20.2! In this case, it seems as if the chemical composi-
tion of the oil did not indicate a Soviet submarine. No other analysis
is reported, despite the number of samples taken. Commander
Svensson has seemingly filtered the raw information given to both
Submarine Commissions. A Norwegian officer had a conversation
with Svensson about demonstrating the tape recording (from 12
October) for the Parliamentary Submarine Defence Commission.
According to the Norwegian officer, Svensson said: ‘I never played the
real tape. I played one of the signatures we had in the archive.’

While Commander Emil Svensson always appeared as a naval acti-
vist, Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson acted publicly as a cautious and
responsible leader. However, during these incidents, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson seems to have been showing two faces: on the one hand, he
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was the cautious and perhaps overly restrained military leader who
under no circumstances wanted to upset the delicate balance and low
tension in northern Europe; on the other hand, he seems to have
played a political game that might have increased European military
tension and guaranteed US support in order to achieve certain politi-
cal goals. This Janus-type masquerade was repeated three years later
in connection with the forced resignation of Commander Bjérn
Eklind. Eklind was Deputy Chief of Defence Staff Intelligence during
the hunt in Hérsfjirden; in the winter of 1982-83, he gave several
briefings for the Parliamentary Submarine Defence Commission; and
in 1985, he became captain of the new Swedish intelligence ship,
Orion, which was to listen to all Soviet military activities in the Baltic
republics. Eklind seemed to be an ideal officer for this task, and he had
even participated in Swedish—US talks in order to ensure that Sweden
received as capable a ship as possible.

In early 1986, Eklind had to resign as captain of the Orion. In his
diary, General Ljung writes that Eklind had been an excellent captain,
but he had problems in cooperating with the [Signal Intelligence] per-
sonnel on the ship.'?? To be more specific, he actually refused to accept
US intelligence personnel on board, and he refused to allow Swedish
Signal Intelligence officers to prioritize reconnaissance against SA-10s
(Soviet low-level air-defence missiles designed for use against US air-
launched cruise missiles and low-flying B-1 bombers). The US missiles
were programmed to follow paths through the Baltic republics — the
Soviet ‘soft underbelly’ — to Leningrad and Moscow. Eklind did not
accept that the Orion should become a platform for preparing US stra-
tegic nuclear strikes against the Soviet Union. He believed that
Swedish support for US strategic attacks against the Soviets would
increase tension in northern Europe and would be completely contra-
dictory to Swedish policy.!??

This view was unacceptable to the Chief of Staff, Bror Stefenson.
Eklind had to go, and Stefenson had to get support from the govern-
ment for removing Eklind. Stefenson, however, could not say that
Eklind had to leave, because Eklind was in line with Swedish govern-
ment policy. The argument for removing him was a very different one.
A few months earlier, Eklind had been involved in an incident with a
Soviet mine-sweeper, while the Soviets were carrying out the first
exercise with a Kilo-class submarine in the Baltic Sea. General Ljung
wrote in his diary on 21 February that Eklind had ‘done an excellent
job during this incident’, and this was not a reason for Eklind to step
down.!”* Eklind presented a lot of information new to the
Commander-in-Chief, which made General Ljung ask Pir Kettis,
Director of FRA (the Signal Intelligence Agency), for an explanation,
and Ljung wrote in his diary that he had had to brief the Minister of
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Defence.'” However, when Stefenson presented the case to the
government, he said that Eklind’s behaviour during the incident had
been provocative and unacceptable, implying damage to the low
tension in northern Europe. In this masquerade, Stefenson put himself
on the other side to Eklind. Stefenson presented himself as an advo-
cate of low tension, and the government supported his demand for the
removal of Commander Eklind. The government representative
falsely got the impression that Eklind may have played a leading role
in the ‘naval officers revolt’ against the government and Prime
Minister Olof Palme at this very time, and that he possibly could have
been involved in the murder of Prime Minister Palme the following
week. Whatever Vice-Admiral Stefenson may have said, he was clearly
carrying out the same double policy evidenced during the submarine
hunt in 1982. On both occasions, he seems to have cooperated closely
with the USA, even though this may have created tension with the
Soviet Union, while he presented himself as an advocate for low
tension in relation to the Soviet Union.

Because of Admiral Stefenson’s ‘cautious policy’, which seemingly
forced his subordinates to release two submarines, Chief of Stockholm
Coastal Defence, Brigadier-General Lars Hansson, believed that
Stefenson was a Soviet spy or at least informer. The only explanation
he could come up with at the time was that Stefenson was actually
working for the Russians, and he even started to organize exercises
secretly because he was afraid that the information would be handed
over to the Russians.'?® After this incident, Swedish security services
checked Stefenson out, but he clearly had no contact with the Soviets.
Others, such as Commander Hans von Hofsten,'?” believed that the
government was cooperating with Moscow and that Stefenson was
just following government orders. Chief of OPG (Operations) at the
Defence Staff, Lieutenant-Colonel Hikan Soderlindh, said that he
received no critical remarks about the Swedish show of force — either
from the government or from the Foreign Ministry. He mentioned
three representatives from the Foreign Ministry who were briefed at
the Defence Staff during the Hirsfjarden incident. None of them
argued in favour of a more cautious attitude. Restrictions were given
by the Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral Stefenson.

However, to think that Vice-Admiral Stefenson was cooperating
with the Soviet Union is absurd. Stefenson wanted on several occa-
sions to point to the Soviet Union as responsible for the submarine
intrusions, while the Commander-in-Chief was sceptical, if not nega-
tive. During the Utd incident in 1980, a submarine was believed to
have been a Whiskey-class submarine. Stefenson wanted to make this
public, while General Ljung demanded 100 per cent certainty.!?®
During the Hérsfjiarden incident, Stefenson covered up information
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pointing to the West while preparing or even inventing material (in a
memorandum of 18 April 19831%%) that definitely pointed to the
Soviet Union. General Ljung, however, was not convinced in the early
phase (see below). In autumn 1983, the Defence Staff, under the lead-
ership of Vice-Admiral Stefenson, stated that the submarine intrusions
were continuing and that the Soviet Union was most likely respon-
sible. General Ljung wrote in his diary that he agreed with the first
statement, but not with the second. The Defence Staff (and Vice-
Admiral Stefenson) wanted, according to Ljung, to point to the Soviet
Union without having ‘evidence and hardly even indications’.!30 If
Stefenson had been cooperating with the Soviet Union, it would have
been illogical of him to behave in this way. Furthermore, if Stefenson
had worked for the Soviets, it is not possible to explain the close coop-
eration between Vice-Admiral Stefenson and Vice-Admiral Rudberg,
nor how they together, on several occasions, seemingly gave General
Ljung selective data or chose to inform him when it was far too late.

I do not believe that Stefenson and, indirectly, Vice-Admiral
Rudberg were cooperating with the Soviets. Rudberg was Sweden’s
top liaison officer with NATO and Swedish Commander-in-Chief in
exile in the event of Sweden being occupied.'! Rudberg had close
private ties to Admiral Bobby Inman, former Chief of US Naval
Intelligence, former Chief of the National Security Agency and, in
1981, Deputy Director of the CIA.'3? Rudberg and Inman even went
on holiday together.!3* When Commander Bobby Inman was US
Assistant Naval Attaché to Stockholm in the mid-1960s, he had an
excellent Swedish source who facilitated the deployment of listening
devices in Swedish waters, a close colleague of Inman told me. He said
that the CIA tried to steal this source from the Navy, which is also
described by Bob Woodward in his book on the CIA director William
Casey.!** Inman had excellent contacts with several Swedes, and not
least with Rudberg. When the US Secretary of Defense, Caspar
Weinberger, was in Stockholm in October 1981, Rudberg was the
Swedish officer with whom Weinberger had confidential talks. The
same happened when British Defence Minister Michael Heseltine was
in Stockholm in 1983. Both asked to have Rudberg as their escort
officer, he told me. And, according to Rudberg, the defence ministers
probably knew about his secret position as Sweden’s top liaison to
NATO. When Caspar Weinberger was in Stockholm in 1981, he also
visited Muskd, where he met with Per Rudberg, with Swedish Chief
of the Coastal Fleet Rear-Admiral Bror Stefenson and with Chief of
the Naval Base East Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard (see photo).
To believe that these three were working for the Soviets is absurd. All
of the above incidents are much easier to explain if we think in terms
of Western submarines.
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When discussing the ceasefires, Rear-Admiral Gunnar Grandin’s
internal Navy Report states that superior commands (Defence Staff
and Naval Base East, or to be more specific Bror Stefenson and Christer
Kierkegaard) had decided about the use of depth charges with a total
lack of ‘necessary technical competence for such a detailed planning of
the operations . . . Ceasefires for the mine barrages were also given by
higher commands without competence and knowledge.’!* Stockholm
Coastal Defence Staff reported to MBO about Defence Staff ‘muddle-
headedness in orders about the use of force’.!3¢ The Ekéus Report
makes a similar comment.!3” On Swedish Radio in 2001, Vice-Admiral
Stefenson spoke about himself as ‘clumsy’ and the situation as ‘con-
fusing’.!3% A Dagens Nyheter comment on my work argued that lack of
competence is a more likely explanation than that some Swedish offi-
cers would have cooperated with a foreign power.!%°

However, officers will not advance to become Chief of the Navy,
like Per Rudberg, or Chief of the Coastal Fleet, like Christer
Kierkegaard and Bror Stefenson, if they have a total lack of compe-
tence and understanding of naval technology. Emil Svensson has been
described as the most competent anti-submarine officer in Sweden. To
believe that all these officers were totally incompetent is not very cred-
ible. And, as Paul Beaver says, it is naive to believe that Western sub-
marines would have operated in Swedish waters unless somebody in
the ‘Swedish High Command was aware that there were going to be
some intrusions during a given period’.'*? There must be somebody in
position to act if necessary. The statements about incompetent com-
manders are just illogical. Here, it may look as though I am present-
ing a circular argument: as if the strange orders were explained by the
existence of Western submarines. This is not the case. There are large
numbers of indications or even evidence pointing to Western subma-
rine operations in Héirsfjairden. When those responsible for ‘incom-
petent’ orders releasing some submarines are also responsible for
filtering away all information pointing to these Western submarines
that is something that must be worth looking into.

Commander Hans von Hofsten and others (see below) have argued
that the government was unwilling to use force. The political leader-
ship, according to this hypothesis, had forced the military leaders to
let the submarines out. This, however, is by no means confirmed by the
statement by former State Secretary for Defence Sven Hirdman, by the
diary of the Commander-in-Chief or by the diary of Conservative
Party leader Ulf Adelsohn. Both Prime Minister Filldin and Prime
Minister-elect Palme agreed on 5 October to force the submarine to
the surface, accepting that this might lead to the submarine’s being
damaged and crew members lost."*! Within this framework, the
Commander-in-Chief took the decisions about which measures should
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be used. On one occasion, on 6 October, he turned to Filldin and
Palme after it had been reported that the submarine might detonate its
nuclear weapons if hit by Swedish anti-submarine forces. However,
both Filldin and Palme argued that the hunt should continue despite
these threats.'*> On 8 October, Palme said that Swedish territory
would be defended with all available means. According to Adelsohn,
Palme said that there were no restrictions on the use of force and that
one submarine had been ‘seriously damaged’ (see above). General
Lennart Ljung himself took the decision to use mines, which were per-
ceived as wartime weapons. Both Filldin and Palme supported this
decision. General Ljung clearly states that the government gave him
the right to use force. He criticized some political leaders, not for being
too soft but for being too trigger-happy. Or, more to the point, he was
unhappy with Conservative Party leader Ulf Adelsohn, who had com-
plained about General Ljung’s too-lenient attitude and had had a
quarrel with Vice-Admiral Stefenson. Adelsohn’s statement about
Chief of Staff Stefenson releasing a submarine on 7 October after a
ceasefire made Ljung ‘check with his own diary and with the Chief of
Staff’.!*3 After this incident, Stefenson said that he would speak to Carl
Bildt, and Bildt had then immediately been in contact with Adelsohn
to ‘correct’ his view.'** Nothing in Ljung’s diary indicates that the
political leaders had been less willing to use force. On 22 October,
Prime Minister Palme stated that the government already had the
option of ordering Swedish defence forces to sink a submarine.'* The
ceasefires were not recommended by the political leaders, but by
Ljung’s subordinate, Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson. All these
incidents are much easier to explain if we think in terms of at least two
Western submarines — something several sources actually confirm.

If the above analysis is correct, primarily two — actually three, and
possibly five — officers systematically conveyed and denied data to the
Commander-in-Chief in order to make him derive selected judgements,
which made it possible to release two or three submarines. In practical
terms, these officers did not primarily belong to the formal Swedish mil-
itary hierarchy, with the Commander-in-Chief at the top, but to an infor-
mal Western security community.!*¢ Their ties and responsibilities were
primarily to the ‘Swedish guarantee power’, the USA, and they come
across as high-ranking E&E officers covertly working for this power.
They were certainly thinking about Swedish defence, but to them this
defence was identical to the defence of the Western world. Or should we
rather think in terms of a deal between the Americans and some senior
Swedish industrial and military ‘representatives’, for example Peter
Wallenberg and Per Rudberg, as the Ansa source might suggest. This
would mean that the Wallenberg empire and the Swedish military estab-
lishment would receive something in return — or had already received
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something. When Caspar Weinberger was in Stockholm a year earlier,
the deal with the Swedes was ‘sweetened’ by offering the Wallenberg
company SAAB the General Electric jet engine and other aerospace tech-
nology for JAS Gripen.'*” Weinberger also offered the Navy and
Rudberg a much more advanced signal intelligence ship, Orion, which
was far better then the most advanced version the Swedish military plan-
ners had presented for the government. However, a deal that includes
the testing of Swedish coastal defences presupposes, as in the former
case, that these Swedish ‘representatives’ would perceive themselves
primarily as part of the Western security community, and that they
would be willing to make a distinction between an informal Swedish
power structure and the formal hierarchy with the government at the
top. In other words, the government that had direct responsibility to the
public was to be kept out of this operation.

THE CRITICS

Almost all journalists and researchers accepted as fact the statement by
the Parliamentary Submarine Defence Commission about six Soviet
submarines. A few journalists and researchers, however, particularly
on the left-wing side, believed that the submarines were underwater
ghosts and that the Navy wanted to use them as an argument for a
larger budget. I myself did not, at the time, exclude Western involve-
ment, but I believed that the major operations were carried out by the
Soviet Union, and I believed that the Submarine Defence Commission
Report had substantial information to support its claims.'*® At the time
of the Hérsfjirden incident, no academic scholar, no author and only
one or two journalists, primarily Anders Hasselbohm, wrote about
Western submarines. Hasselbohm seemingly also had good sources.!*
However, nobody was willing to go public, except for former army
chief Lieutenant-General Nils Skold.'3? Hasselbohm was never taken
seriously, and Skold was believed to be senile, even though this hap-
pened only a year after he had left office. Later, Dagens Nyheter jour-
nalist Olle Alsén'*! and freelance writer Tommy Lindfors'3? also wrote
about possible Western — or rather US — involvement, but their sources
were believed to be even less reliable, and nobody seemed to take their
arguments seriously. Some of Hasselbohm’s sources, however, have
turned out to be remarkably correct. I will primarily discuss two cases.

Soon after the submarine hunt, a source in a NATO country told
Hasselbohm that:

one officer in the Swedish military leadership, somebody who knows,
has said that they were definitely sure. Definitely sure! The submarine
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at Milsten originated from the West. And they had more than sound to
prove their case. They had several definite pieces of information in com-
bination. I can tell you, they have possibly even seen the submarine.!’3

In his book, Hasselbohm also refers to a ‘NATO source’, who said:

The whole submarine hunt in Harsfjirden started with a submarine that
entered Hérsfjirden and was observed by two conscripts. This subma-
rine originated from a NATO country. This submarine, which was a
conventional submarine, soon afterwards went out of Harsfjiarden, out
to Danziger Gatt, close to Milsten . . . On 11 October, this submarine
was damaged by a mine, though not very seriously. About a week later,
it was assisted out of the Baltic Sea through Oresund by another sub-
marine. Both submarines went close to each other in a sub-surface posi-
tion in order to hide that one was damaged and where they came from
... The midget submarines also came from the West.!5*

The same source told Hasselbohm that they had recorded the sound
signature of the damaged submarine at Milsten and that it proved to
be a Western submarine. He said there was no doubt that it was a
‘NATO submarine’. He knew this because the tapes were analysed by
Norwegian specialists. It was a ‘conventional submarine’, a mother-
sub, able to carry midget submarine(s), he said. It was damaged at
Milsten and, after that, the other submarine was let out.’* All this —
two Western submarines, one damaged on 11 October at Milsten and
one released soon afterwards at the same place - fits perfectly well with
the Milsten war diary, with the naval base war diary and with the state-
ments by Brigadier-General Hansson and Lieutenant-Colonel
Svenhager of Stockholm Coastal Defence and Lieutenant-Colonel
Kviman at Mailsten. All of this information confirms what
Hasselbohm’s source says about works on a damaged submarine (which
preceded the recording of the sound signature of the submarine).

A Norwegian source told Hasselbohm that the Norwegian
Commander-in-Chief, General Sven Hauge — who was in Stockholm at
the time of the submarine hunt — ‘ordered our intelligence personnel
to go to Sweden to help the Swedes. Of course, they were very dis-
creet.”’9¢ One of Hasselbohm’s Swedish sources, ‘partly responsible for
the submarine hunt’, said that Norwegians set up advanced sonars in
September to support the Swedes a few weeks before the submarine
hunt started. Director Rolf Andersson says that this Norwegian system
was deployed on 31 August and 1 September, and the Norwegians
were helping him with the calibration a month later. This Norwegian
assistance has been confirmed to me by Norwegian senior officers, even
though they did not mention the exact time period. Former Norwegian
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Minister of Defence Anders Sjaastad has confirmed to me that, after
inquiries from General Sven Hauge, he gave his approval for the
sending of a couple of sonar experts to Sweden during this time. The
final Norwegian analysis, which pointed to a Western submarine, was
forwarded to Stockholm immediately after the submarine hunt.
Shortly afterwards, General Sven Hauge was informed by a well-
connected senior official, the former Director of the Political Division
at the Norwegian Foreign Ministry, Einar Ansteensen, that a US sub-
marine had been damaged during the Hérsfjarden hunt. Hauge obvi-
ously believed that Soviet submarines had been involved in the
submarine hunt, but he then received information both from his intel-
ligence service and from ‘diplomatic channels’ about a damaged US
submarine (see below). In an interview with Dagens Industri, General
Sven Hauge declared that the submarine was not Norwegian, but
added ‘T cannot speak for other NATO countries.’>”

I told former Norwegian Defence Minister Anders Sjaastad
(1981-86) that there were clear indications that the Swedish military
(naval) leadership — during the 1982 submarine hunt — realized that at
least one of the Hérsfjirden submarines originated from the West. I also
said that my sources had told me that Norwegian Military Intelligence
knew about this. I asked him if Norwegian Military Intelligence had
informed him about a Western submarine in Harsfjairden. He did not
answer this question, but he said that Military Intelligence always came
to him if there was anything of importance. He said that during the sub-
marine hunt, according to his information, the Swedes believed it was
a Soviet submarine, but he remembered very well that Swedish Defence
Minister Anders Thunborg later told him that they had nothing on the
Soviets.

Hasselbohm’s ‘NATO source’ — who described how a damaged
submarine ‘was assisted out of the Baltic Sea through Oresund by
another submarine’ — positively confirms a damaged Western subma-
rine and indicates that it originated from the USA. This latter incident
demands a special investigation. One week after the Harsfjirden sub-
marine hunt was ended, two Western submarines allegedly sailed close
to each other through Oresund (the narrow sound between Sweden
and Denmark), and, when possible, below the surface, which is illegal.
A Swedish intelligence officer told Hasselbohm about the incident just
after it happened:

Suddenly there was a lot of fuss at the staff, because a submarine had
passed submerged out through Oresund among the ferries and all the
other ships. This is illegal, and it has never happened before . . . [After
having revealed this transit, he had to leave his military position. A source
with contacts in the Swedish military leadership told Hasselbohm:] two

180



REFLECTIONS AFTER THE SUBMARINE HUNT

submarines from the West travelled close to each other. They left the
Baltic Sea in daytime submerged through Oresund. I think this is the first
time this has happened.’®

An internal Swedish intelligence report referred to a damaged ‘NATO
submarine’; in other words with a damaged submarine sail, that went
out together with another submarine through Oresund, but the sub-
marine had allegedly not been damaged in Swedish waters. There
were even photos, Hasselbohm told me.

In May 1984, Anders Hasselbohm published his book Ubdtshotet:
En kritisk granskning av Hdrsfjdrds-incidenten och ubdtsskyddskom-
missionens rapport [The Submarine Threat: A Critical Review of the
Hérsfjirden Incident and the Submarine Defence Commission
Report]. During the days that followed, he discussed the transit
through Oresund with former Chief of the Army, Lieutenant-General
Nils Skold, who had received a copy of the book and responded pos-
itively to it. Skold confirmed Hasselbohm’s statement, but he was not
willing to go public because of his position at the Defence Ministry and
at the Stockholm Conference on European Disarmament, Hasselbohm
told me. This contact, however, led to immediate reactions within the
Defence Staff. On 18 May a few days after Hasselbohm’s book had
been published, General Ljung wrote in his diary, apparently referring
to Hasselbohm, about individuals questioning that ‘the submarines
actually were from the Soviet Union” and suggesting that ‘maybe, pos-
sibly NATO was responsible’. Ljung continued: ‘The Chief of Staff
[Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson] and his Deputy [Major-General Bengt
Wallroth] are worried about signs from the Ministry [of Defence] indi-
cating that Nils Sk6ld, who now has a position as consultant for missile
affairs, has also moved into other business.”!*’

In late 1987, Hasselbohm turned to Nils Skold again and asked if
he was willing to go public about the passage through Oresund after
the Hérsfjirden hunt. In December Lieutenant-General Skéld con-
firmed publicly for Dagens Industri that he, together with the Chief of
the Air Force, shortly after the Hérsfjirden incident had complained
to the Commander-in-Chief about not receiving information about
the submarine hunt. General Lennart Ljung organized a special brief-
ing for the military leadership that was confusing to Skold. Skold told
Dagens Industri that ‘shortly after the Hérsfjirden submarine hunt, a
damaged submarine, escorted by another submarine, went out
through Oresund in a sub-surface position’. Skéld argued that this did
not seem to indicate a Soviet submarine and continued:

With my knowledge that NATO was present in the northern archipel-
ago, and that a submarine, in order not to reveal itself, passed out
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through Oresund in a sub-surface position just after Harsfjirden, then
it is not clear that NATO was not involved in Hérsfjirden.'¢?

Before the interview was published Hasselbohm asked Skold if there
was anybody else at this briefing who could confirm the passage
through Oresund. Skold said that he would come back to him. Shortly
afterwards, Skold called Hasselbohm and said that he should contact
former Chief of the Naval Staff, Major-General Bo Varenius.
Hasselbohm called Varenius, and they both had a longer conversation
at Hasselbohm’s home. Varenius confirmed Skéld’s version, but he
was not willing to go public about it. Varenius was a senior Coastal
Defence officer, and he had been Chief of the Naval Staff for 11 years
(1972-83), which included the Hérsfjirden incident. He was inter-
ested in Hasselbohm’s sources in the West, and he wanted to know
exactly which words they had used. Hasselbohm got the impression
that Varenius had received the green light to talk to him, and that he
would report their conversation, perhaps to the Minister of Defence
Roine Carlsson. After the interview with Lieutenant-General Skold in
Dagens Industri, Skold was questioned by the new Commander-in-
Chief General Bengt Gustafsson (1986-94). When I spoke with
Gustafsson in 2000, he remembered Skold as saying that the subma-
rine was not just a ‘NATO submarine’ but a “‘US submarine’.

The day after Hasselbohm’s interview with Skold in Dagens
Industri, Skold confirmed to Dagens Nyheter that the military leader-
ship briefing had brought up the transit through Oresund:

the transit of the submarine was presented as a fact, but no link was
made to the submarine hunt in Héarsfjirden . . . I don’t remember
exactly how the submarine passed out [the limited depth close to
Malmé and in large parts of Oresund would have made it impossible
to go all the way in a sub-surface position], only that it was made as
‘stealthy as possible’.1¢!

On the same day, recently retired (1986) Commander-in-Chief
General Lennart Ljung said, also in Dagens Nybheter:

NATO submarines pass rather often through Oresund. I do not remem-
ber information about a damaged submarine from that time. Neither do
1 remember that we linked the transit of a submarine with the incidents
in Harsfjarden . . . [Directly referring to Skold’s statement, General
Ljung continues] I cannot rule out that such information was given, but
my memory of it is not clear.'*? (author’s italics)

Why did General Ljung use these words? He could just have denied
the incident. To say that one does not remember if one let out a
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damaged Western submarine after Sweden’s most dramatic submarine
hunt is absurd. This would have been one of the most serious incidents
in his life as a military commander. To say that ‘I do not remember’ or
‘I cannot exclude it’, as General Ljung said, is almost a confirmation
of this incident.

I tried to find out the truth about this incident. One officer with a
vital position at OPG at the Defence Staff said that he remembered
having read that two submarines had been followed and tracked by
the Swedes when they passed Kullen at the northern exit from
Oresund - something that had never been stated publicly. He also said
that I should contact BOMO (Bevakmngsomrade Malmo) the mili-
tary authority responsible for monitoring all traffic passing through
Oresund. I spoke with the former Chief of BOMO, Commander Rolf
Nerpin. He said that he did not remember this 1nc1dent but that if it
had taken place a report would have been sent to the Commander of
the Southern Military District and to the Chief of OPG at the Defence
Staff. I spoke with both these officers. Vice-Admiral Bengt Schuback,
then Commander of the Southern Military District, confirmed that he
saw the report at the Southern Military District. He also said that
BOMO was able to identify any submarine passing Oresund. He then
said that he did not remember if he saw this report as Commander of
the Southern Military District or as a Chief of the Navy, at the mili-
tary leadership meeting after former army chief Lieutenant-General
Nils Skéld had brought it up. However, the latter possibility seems
less likely.'®3 He also confirmed that he and the Chief of OPG would
have been the ones who received the report from BOMO. Lieutenant-
Colonel Hékan Séderlindh, Chief of OPG, did not remember this
report.

Eric Rylander, a senior officer at FRA, wrote that he received a
report soon after Hérsfjirden — probably from the Southern Military
District — about a visual observation of two submarines, one with a
damaged submarine sail. They were spotted south of Oland (close to
Karlskrona) and were heading southwards (towards Poland, Germany
or Denmark), which would certainly exclude Soviet submarines. They
were believed to be Polish submarines. Rylander never saw this report
again, and when he brought it up with Swedish Military Intelligence
they denied any knowledge of it.'%* This report is not included in the
Naval Analysis Group Report, and it has supposedly disappeared
from the Intelligence Archive. However, Polish Whiskey submarines
would have gone towards the southeast, towards the submarine base
and shipyards of Gdansk. We would accordingly be left with Western
subs, probably the same two submarines, including one with a
damaged sail, which allegedly passed out through Oresund a few days
later. This may be the reason why the report has disappeared. To
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explain that a Western submarine was damaged in Harsfjirden would
be too difficult.

Ambassador Rolf Ekéus’s military expert, Rear-Admiral Géran
Wallén, says that ‘there is no indication of such an unusual passage’.1¢’
In BOMO’s intelligence archive, there is, according the Ekéus Report,
no information on the passage of a damaged Western submarine.
Neither the former Chief of BOMO nor the officers at the Intelligence
Unit recall such an incident, the report argues.'®® However, before
Wallén had spoken with them, [ asked the Chief of the Intelligence Unit
about the passage. He said: ‘I do not know what I am allowed to tell
you’, and when I came back to him he told that he had nothing to say.
This does not confirm Wallén’s conclusion, and the fact that former
Chief of the Army Lieutenant-General Nils Skold, former Chief of the
Southern Military District (and former Chief of Staff) Vice-Admiral
Bengt Schuback and former Chief of the Naval Staff Major-General Bo
Varenius have confirmed a briefing or a written report about this inci-
dent should at least make us a little bit more cautious.

One officer told me that this incident with the two submarines
passing Oresund took place during the exercise ‘Sydfront’ (Southern
Front) in late September, not after but just before the Harsfjirden
hunt. I don’t know if he or the others remember the time of the inci-
dent correctly. This officer believed that the passage just before
Hérsfjirden may have been confused with another incident: a small
submarine or submersible had been towed by a surface vessel through
Oresund shortly after the Harsfjirden submarine hunt. It was
observed not far from Kullen at the northern end of the passage. He
did not know whether this incident had anything to do with the
Hérsfjirden hunt, but he argued that there must have been another
reason for the earlier passage with the two submarines going out
partly below the surface.

In late autumn 1982, a representative for a company dealing with
submarine technology visited a Danish shipyard in Jutland. He said
that a small Western submarine or submersible (but not a Danish one)
had been repaired at the shipyard. I tried to get this information con-
firmed, but the source — now in Swedish Military Intelligence (MUST)
— was denied permission to speak about it. I went to Danish Military
Intelligence (FET). They argued that they do not keep files on allied
activities. Information on naval exercises and other activities was
destroyed after one to three months. However, FET registered all
Warsaw Pact naval transits through the Danish Straits (Store Belt and
Oresund), and it keeps this information in classified monthly reports.
If one or two Soviet or Warsaw Pact submarines had passed through
Oresund in late October 1982 (or in late September), this would have
been registered by FET. However, no such information exists.
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According to the classified FET Monthly Report on Naval Activities,
only one Soviet naval vessel (and no Polish or East German ones)
passed out through the Danish Straits in October 1982.1%7 The next
Warsaw Pact vessel passing out was a Soviet Juliet-class submarine on
20 November. %8

Nothing of this is found in General Ljung’s diary. Ljung wrote some
lines or pages every evening — except for the three weeks that followed
the Hérsfjirden submarine hunt (16 October to 10 November). These
26 days are written down afterwards ‘as he remembered them’.!®
Something seems to have happened during these weeks. It seems that
a selective memory had become necessary. Nothing is said about the
transit through Oresund. The briefing on Hérsfjirden that the Chief
of the Army and the Chief of the Air Force had demanded and that he
himself had organized is not mentioned in his diary. Nor does he
mention anything about the Norwegian analysis of the propeller
recordings that was forwarded to Stockholm at that time. Several inci-
dents that point to a Western submarine took place during the weeks
when General Ljung ‘abstained from” writing his diary, though it must
be wondered whether he did in fact write some lines every day but
preferred to rewrite them afterwards because the most sensitive infor-
mation should ‘not exist on paper’.17?

In an interview with General Bengt Gustafsson, General Ljung’s
successor as Commander-in-Chief, he told me that Ljung had neither
in written form nor orally given him any information about the above-
mentioned mysterious aspects of the submarine hunts. In recent years,
Gustafsson had come to realize that there were many things that
Lennart Ljung, for some reason, did not want to tell him. Ljung
informed him about most sensitive intelligence matters, but not about
either the top-secret operative ties between Sweden and the USA or
about the mystery of the submarine hunts, even though the latter had
been the single most important issue during Ljung’s years. We have to
ask why this information was so sensitive that it could not be given to
Ljung’s successor as Commander-in-Chief. Information on Soviet sub-
marines would obviously not have been that sensitive. However,
information on a damaged US submarine could easily have been
viewed as ‘cosmic’, to use NATO terminology.

On 10 January 1983, a couple of months after the submarine hunt,
General Ljung wrote in his diary that Henry Kissinger had talked with
the Swedish State Secretary for Foreign Affairs, Pierre Schori. As
already mentioned, Kissinger said to Schori that ‘it was smartly done
by the Swedish government to release the submarine the way they did
it’.171 Of course, by first damaging the submarine and then covertly
releasing it, the Swedes had been smart enough to demonstrate resolve
to defend their territory without causing the foreign power to lose
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face. But, as stated above, this does not make sense if the foreign
power was the Soviet Union. It does seem as though Kissinger was
speaking about a Western (or even US) submarine that Sweden had
released after having first damaged it.
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1. US Defense Secretary Caspar Weinberger visiting the underground naval base at
Musk®é in late September 1981. He is guided (from left to right) by Chief of the Naval
Base Christer Kierkegaard, Chief of the Coastal Fleet Bror Stefenson, and by
Weinberger’s Swedish escort officer, Chief of Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg. A year
later, these Swedish officers were the main actors during the Hérsfjirden submarine
hunt at Musko Naval Base. In 2000, Weinberger stated on Swedish TV that the US had
used their submarines to test Sweden’s coastal defences after Swedish-US navy-to-
navy consultations. On the right, the Swedish destroyer Halland. (Photo: Albert
Hakansson/Pressens Bild)
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3. After the first observation of a periscope in Harsfjirden on 1 October 1982, the
Swedish Chief of Staff, Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson, ordered the navy information
division to prepare a press centre for 500 journalists. Soon all major US and European
TV-channels and newspapers, altogether 750 journalists, turned up at Berga press
centre from where they could watch the Swedes hunting ‘Soviet’ submarines in the
narrow and shallow waters of Harsfjarden. (Photo: Jan Collsi66/Pressens Bild)

4, Helicopters and boats hunting ‘Soviet’ submarines in Harsfjirden. (Photo: Orjan
Bjorkdahl/Pressens Bild)




5. Fast attack craft dropping depth charge in Harsfjirden. Some 47 depth charges
were dropped, and it was the first time since World War II that the Swedes had used
mines against enemy forces. (Photo: Ingemar Berling/Pressens Bild)

6. Fast attack craft 160 Viktaren — the Swedish vessel that dropped most depth
charges during the submarine hunt. On 5 October, it may have damaged a small
bottom-crawling submersible. In the afternoon and night of 7 October, the Vikztaren
made clear contact with a submarine, but on both occasions, she was ordered to hold
fire. (Photo: by Folke Hellberg/Pressens Bild)




7. At noon on 11 October, a 600-kilo mine was detonated 100 metres west of
Misknuv island after clear indications of a passing ‘subsurface object’. A pillar of
water rose up some 60 metres above the surface. The underground base at Musks
15km further north shook. An hour later, a clear yellow dye was sent up about 100
metres south-southwest of the small island, indicating a damaged Western, most
likely US, submarine. The sonar operator registered underwater repair works, and
several Western officials have later spoken about a damaged US submarine. (Photo:
Folke Hellberg/Pressens Bild)

8. Two days after the detonation of the mine west of Masknuv, another submarine
approached the mine barrage. The local mine chief received a cease-fire order directly
from the Chief of Staff. But before the submarine had passed through the narrow
channel, the local commander ordered helicopter 69 to lead an attack with 16 depth
charges without informing the higher command. Seconds before the drop, the naval
base entered the frequency and stopped the massive attack. (Photo: Bernt
Claesson/Pressens Bild)




9. Press conference with Chief of Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg and Commander-
in-Chief General Lennart Ljung. Rudberg and Chief of Staff Bror Stefenson were
competent naval officers who briefed Ljung during the incident. But Ljung did not
always trust this information and sent his own intelligence people to the naval base.
(Photo: Bertil Ericsson/Pressens Bild)

10. The Swedish parliamentary commission (appointed after the Hérsfjarden inci-
dent) presented its findings half a year later on 26 April 1983. From left to right: the
chairman, former Defence and Foreign Minister, Sven Andersson; Social Democratic
MP Maj-Lis L66v; the military expert, Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson;
and the Conservative MP Carl Bildt. The commission stated that six Soviet sub-
marines had operated in the Stockholm archipelago, one in central Stockholm and
several close to Muské naval base. However, in the 1990s, it turned out that all the
‘evidence’ pointing to the Soviets had in fact been invented. (Photo: Leif
Engberg/Pressens Bild)
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Manipulation of Government Policy

On 13 October, while the dramatic submarine hunt was still going on,
Chief of the Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg appointed a committee
to investigate the incident under the chairmanship of Rear-Admiral
Gunnar Grandin, seconded by former Chief of Stockholm Coastal
Defence, Brlgadler General Sven-Ake Adler (Deputy Chairman). The
group also included Commander Anders Hammar, Commander
Herman Filtstrom and Lieutenant-Colonel Curt E. Lundh (Secretary),
all from the Naval Staff, and Commander L.G. Thomasson from the
Eastern Military District. Their task was to investigate the Harsfjirden
incident, analyse the experiences and propose measures for the change
of weapons systems, tactics, training and leadership.!

Two days later, on 15 October, when the hunt suddenly seemed to
be over and the press centre was closed down, the government decided
to appoint an official Parliamentary Commission to investigate the inci-
dent. Sven Andersson, former Minister of Defence (1957-73) and
Minister of Foreign Affairs (1973-76), was appointed as its chairman.
The members of the Commission were five MPs: Sven Andersson
(Social Democrat), Carl Bildt (Conservative), Lars Eliasson (Centre
Party), Maj-Lis Loov (Social Democrat) and Olle Svensson (Social
Democrat). Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson, and Sven
Hellman from the Ministry of Defence were appointed as experts. The
secretary was Michael Sahlin from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.?

On 21 October, the government prepared for a press conference
the following day to announce the appointment of the Parliamentary
Submarine Commission.? At this meeting, Prime Minister Olof Palme,
Foreign Minister Lennart Bodstrom and Defence Minister Borje
Andersson were briefed by the Commander-in-Chief Lennart Ljung
and by Chief of Staff Bror Stefenson. The notes from this meeting,
made by Olof Palme’s State Secretary Ulf Larsson, state:

Meeting on submarines 21 October 1982. OP [Olof Palme], LB
[Lennart Bodstrom], BA [Borje Andersson], UL [Ulf Larsson], PB [Per

191



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

Borg], Hans Dahlgren, T[ovio] Heinsoo, OB [Lennart Ljung], [Bror]
Stefenson.

OB (Lennart Ljung): The investigation of the sea floor continues.
The barriers are still deployed. There has definitely been one subma-
rine, possibly several. Identification: no indication of nationality. Large
amount of force used, even mines, which has never happened before.
‘Tough methods. I don’t know any other country that has done this in
peacetime.™

[Vice-Admiral] Stefenson: autumn 1980 ‘zero’ [beginning of a new
activity. The submarines] more provocative, [operate] two and two.
Technical news (for example new sensors). Why are they here? 1)
Swedish archipelagos it is very difficult to find submarines in the archi-
pelago. 2) Test of our capability/will. 3) Intelligence. All cases (sounds,
magnetic et al) indicate one (2?) submarine(s).’

At that time, there was, according to Ljung, no information on nation-
ality pointing to the Soviet Union or any other nation. According to
Stefenson, the operations were carried out because the Stockholm
archipelago is ideal for submarine operations, because of intelligence
and because a foreign power wanted to test Sweden’s ‘capability’ and
‘will’ to defend its territory. These are exactly the words used by
American and British officials to explain Western submarine opera-
tions in Swedish waters (see below). On other occasions, Stefenson has
used the words of his US colleagues, which might indicate that this is
the information they gave him. One month before the Harsfjirden
incident, Stefenson told Dagens Nyheter: ‘“Today, our capacity to hunt
submarines is so low that the great powers may say: “You cannot
defend your territory” . . . The great powers may put pressure on us
and say how they want us to do instead.’® It was hardly the Soviet
Union that was worried about Sweden’s lack of ASW capacity. In other
words, the USA and Great Britain might say, particularly after the
stranded Whiskey submarine in Karlskrona, that Sweden could not
defend itself against Soviet submarines, but that the USA and Britain
could help Sweden to develop such a readiness. These are almost the
same words that the Conservative MP Carl Bildt had used in Svenska
Dagbladet three days earlier. He spoke about continued Soviet intru-
sions and the stranded Soviet submarine at Karlskrona. Under these
circumstances, it is, according to Bildt, ‘not at all unlikely that NATO
will start to exercise counter-operations in these very Swedish archi-
pelagos where we have demonstrated our inability to keep Soviet sub-
marines out’.” It seems that Carl Bildt and Vice-Admiral Stefenson
were talking about Western submarines testing Swedish ‘capability
and will’ to defend its internal waters in order to increase this ‘capa-
bility and will’. Furthermore, it is difficult to understand a Soviet inter-
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est in testing Swedish ‘will’ to defend itself, if these operations had as
their immediate consequence that they strengthened this Swedish
‘will’ to defend itself against the Soviets. Less than one month before
the Harsfjirden operation both Stefenson and Bildt indicated that
NATO, or rather the USA and Great Britain, were likely to operate
submarines in the Swedish archipelagos in order to increase Sweden’s
readiness and strengthen its capability to defend itself against the
Soviet threat.

At the press conference of 22 October, Prime Minister Olof Palme
announced that the ‘government already had the option to order the
military forces to sink a foreign submarine in Swedish waters. Anyone
considering intruding in Swedish territory should, according to the
Prime Minister, also consider that the government in the future might
use this option.”® No further government statement was made until
the Commission had published its report half a year later.

On 3 December 1982, Rear-Admiral Gunnar Grandin et al. pre-
sented their investigation report to the Chief of the Navy:

There were visual detections, magnetic indications in mine barrages
and magnetic sensor systems, radar indications of periscopes, IR indi-
cations, received signals [from submarines], and acoustic contacts with
active and passive sonar. Among these reports there are several detec-
tions of certain submarines: [the observation of a periscope in
Harsfjarden at 12.50 on 1 October, the observation of a submarine sail
close to Sandhamn at 18.05-19.00 on 4 October, the sonar contact
(Doppler contact) with a submarine at a speed of 8 knots at the north-
ern barrier of Hérsfjirden at 21.35 on 7 October, the visual observa-
tions of periscopes in Jungfrufjirden at 15.13-15.16 and close to
Nimdé at 16.16 on 9 October, and the sonar contact and recording of
propeller sound at 18.00 on 12 October] . . .

In conclusion, this indicates operations with one or several subma-
rines in our archipelago. The submarines, at least one of them, have
carried at least one smaller vessel for deep penetration of the archipel-
ago. The kind of activity indicates that one operation has penetrated
the Sandhamn area and possibly the waters close to Stockholm, and at
least one, possibly two, operations have penetrated the area south of
the former one: primarily the Harsfjirden area but also the area close
to Milsten.

There is no possibility, with any degree of certainty, of analysing
how the submarines have moved around in the Stockholm archipelago.

There are probably several explanations for the activity: [1] a
systematic mapping of our defence installations; [2] reconnaissance on
sea routes and areas of our archipelago that might be used for subma-
rines . . . [3] testing of our readiness against intruding submarines; [4]
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following our tests with new defence material; [5] following our train-
ing programmes and military exercises; [6] a more general explanation
may be preparation for an attack against our forces and our mobiliza-
tion in an early phase of a war, for example through sabotage.

When it comes to the nationality of the submarines operating in our
territorial waters, we know that the submarine in Karlskrona was a
Soviet submarine. A number of visual, sonar and passive radar indica-
tions point, even during this period, to submarines from the WTO
[Warsaw Treaty Organization]. Some indications of received radar
signals cannot exclude that submarines of other nationality (NATO)
have been in the area outside where the incidents have occurred. The
reason for this has probably been to follow the activity.’

The Grandin Report confirms many of the statements from the war
diaries. There are clear indications of submarines, but arguments sup-
porting a Western operation are much weaker. The explanation of the
submarine activity is speculative, and some arguments point also to
Western submarines. However, the report believes in a Soviet opera-
tion, but it is still ambiguous. According to the report, ceasefires
ordered by the military leadership did not follow the usual routines.
‘Both OrIBO [the naval base] and Kaf [the Coastal Defence forces]
argue that some of the best possibilities for a hit got lost because of
this.”!® The Naval Analysis Group Report with all its biased material is
included as an attachment. Other parts of the text confirm incidents
not recognized in this attachment. The Grandin Report seems to
include a lot of ambiguities that are characteristic of an internal report.

The Submarine Defence Commission was dominated by its chair-
man Sven Andersson, secretary Michael Sahlin, Conservative MP Carl
Bildt and military expert Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson, who all had a
deeper knowledge about security policy and military affairs. From
interviews with officers briefing the Commission and from General
Ljung’s diary it seems clear that the others had little or no influence on
the development of the investigation. Lennart Ljung wrote in his diary
for 8 April: ‘During the weekend [9-10 April], the Chief of Staff
[Stefenson] is working together with Sven Andersson, Carl Bildt and
the secretary Sahlin [Bildt’s later State Secretary for Defence] on the
final version of the Commission report.”!! The Submarine Defence
Commission used the Naval Analysis Group Report and the briefings
by Commander Emil Svensson. Michael Sahlin was a friend of Captain
Goran Wallén, Chief of Operations Division, Eastern Military District.
This made it possible to use Wallén’s expertise more informally for the
Commission. Wallén told me that the Commission got the Eastern
Military District war diary, which the Commission used for writing the
report.!> Commander Bengt Gabrielsson, Chief of Naval Operations,
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Eastern Military District, said that he wrote a thick document as a draft
for the Commission. Several paragraphs were used for writing the
report. Military professionals were able to write a blueprint for the
Commission; however, on essential events, they were less informed.
The Defence Staff had turned directly to the local commanders and
short-cut the line of information. Gabrielsson said that there were
many things they had not been informed about. The same words were
used by Major-General Gustaf Welin, Chief of Staff, Eastern Military
District. The Commander of the Eastern Military District had been
‘shunted aside’. As with the Naval Analysis Group Report, the drafts
made by the Eastern Military District seriously biased the final
Submarine Defence Commission Report. Furthermore, all ambiguities
from the Grandin Report were taken out. The possibility that the
ceasefires saved submarines was denied. All submarine activity was
described as originating from Warsaw Pact members and almost cer-
tainly from the Soviet Union. The activity was described as war prep-
arations, not as ‘testing of Swedish capability and will’.

The Submarine Defence Commission Report was presented on 26
April 1983. It created a storm of reactions against the Soviet intru-
sions. The dramatic submarine hunt was described as only one indica-
tion of the Soviets playing with the Swedes. A concluding summary in
English follows below:

The Commission makes clear that it has been fully confirmed that
foreign submarines were in the Hirsfjirden area in early October,
1982. It is stated that during this period six foreign submarines, three
of which midget submarines of a hitherto unknown character, may have
operated in the Stockholm archipelago. The sea floor prints, which
have been measured and depicted, indicate that there were two types
of partially bottom-crawling midget submarines, one leaving tracked
prints, the other leaving prints of inter alia a keel. The discovery of
these prints and the knowledge accordingly gained concerning the
likely properties of these midget submarines have made it possible to
reconstruct a likely sequence of events around the Hérsfjirden incident.
The discovery has also initiated a renewed scrutiny of earlier incidents
which could appear mysterious in certain respects. The discovery and
the knowledge gained have underlined the seriousness of the submarine
threat facing Sweden.

In the account made of the likely sequence of events it is pointed out
that of the six submarines, which may have participated in the total oper-
ation, four submarines — of which two were midget submarines — were
involved in the penetration of Harsfjirden, whereas the third large sub-
marine and midget submarine operated in the central Stockholm archi-
pelago. Probably, there were at most one large submarine and two midget

195



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

submarines simultaneously in Harsfjirden proper. The large submarine is
thought to have left the area rather soon after its discovery on 1 October.
One of the two midget submarines presumably left Harsfjarden after a
few days. However the other, tracked midget submarine probably
remained for a longer period of time in Hérsfjirden, causing most of the
indications obtained in Hérsfjirden in the beginning of October.

In addition, the Commission reports that evidence has been secured
that yet another penetration of the area near Hirsfjirden by a midget
submarine took place in the beginning of November. A further number
of certain observations show that operations by foreign submarines on
Swedish territory have continued even after the Harsfjarden incident.

The Commission states that during 1982 a considerable increase in
the number of submarine violations has taken place. It appears likely
that midget submarines have been used in connection with earlier sub-
marine violations during the year, and that foreign submarine activity
has been partially organized in a number of larger, coordinated opera-
tions. Seen over a long period of time it can be determined that there
is a tendency for submarine activities to increase in scope, with an
increasing tendency to penetrate Swedish internal waters and to
operate in a provocative manner. Also, there is a tendency to spread the
operations to a larger part of the year and a larger part of the Swedish
Baltic coast, including Norrland.

The Commission underscores the seriousness and unacceptability of
these violations in terms of Swedish security and defence policy and
Sweden’s policy of neutrality. Dealing with aspects of security policy,
the Commission analyses conceivable motives underlying the viola-
tions. In so doing, the Commission sees fit to strongly question certain
motives frequently appearing in the public debate and to point out the
probability of motives of a military operational character.

Evidently, a security policy assessment of the submarine violations
cannot be made in isolation from the fundamental question concerning
the national identity of the submarines. On this point the Commission
confirms that neither the sea floor investigations nor any other investi-
gation has yielded proof in the form of objects found or otherwise
which could bind a certain state to the violations. However, reports
have been presented to the Commission on a large amount of observa-
tions of various kinds which, taken together, clearly indicate that the
submarines in question originate from the Warsaw Pact, i.e., essentially
the Soviet Union. The Commission accepts the conclusion drawn by
experts that the violations made at Harsfjirden as well as other viola-
tions during 1982 and, at any rate to an overwhelming degree, during
the 1980s as a whole, were made by Soviet submarines.

No observation has been obtained indicating intrusions into
Swedish territory by a submarine belonging to a NATO country.
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. . . Finally, the Commission has assessed certain specific experiences
gained from the anti-submarine operation carried out during the
Harsfjarden incident. In this context the Commission rejects rumours
that the submarines escaped with deliberate Swedish assistance as
entirely unfounded. It is determined that the submarines escaped
because the nature of the midget submarines was unknown, because
available Swedish resources were inadequate and too limited and
because the use of anti-submarine weapons was too restricted.
Difficulties in applying available weapons systems for the purpose of
forcing submarines to the surface were seen to be considerable.
Prohibitions concerning the use of mines were ordered for acceptable
reasons.!3

In the Swedish text it is stated that ‘the probable sequence of events’
was the following;:

It can be assumed on safe grounds that the penetration by submarines
of the naval base area at Harsfjirden was only one part of a coordinated
operation covering a relatively wide geographical area. This is a pattern
that has also been established in the case of other incidents that it has
been possible to follow in relative detail.

This coordinated operation would appear to have embraced six sub-
marines in the Stockholm archipelago, of which three were midget sub-
marines of a type not hitherto established.

These submarines probably operated in such away thata conventional
submarine served as some type of mother craft for a mini-submarine.
Each submarine probably had well-defined and separate tasks forming
part of this operation.

One submarine and mini-submarine taking part in the operation
probably operated mainly in the central Stockholm archipelago. After
separation from the submarine, this mini-submarine penetrated the
area of the inner archipelago. Certain observations may even indicate
that this mini-submarine penetrated into the Port of Stockholm during
the last week of September. The mother craft returned to the Sandhamn
area, where it was to be reunited with the mini-submarine. On the
evening of 4 October it was observed and attacked by a Swedish patrol
vessel with depth charges just inside Sandon. Contact was then lost on
this occasion. This submarine and mini-submarine appear to have left
the area after they were reunited at the end of the first week in October.

The main responsibilities of the two other submarines and their
respective mini-submarines were in the area of the southern archipelago.
Both mini-submarines entered the Harsfjirden area at the turn of the
month. They probably made use of both the approach from the south
through Skramsésund, and the northern approach at Huvudholmen. At
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12.50 hours on Friday 1 October, two conscripts at Berganis observed
two periscopes of a submarine heading into Harsfjirden. On the basis of
this periscope observation, the conclusion can be drawn that the craftin
question was a conventional-size submarine. At this point of time it is
certain that one, and very probably two, mini-submarines were already
inside the Hérsfjirden area.

The submarine that was detected at 12.50 hours on 1 October, trig-
gering the Swedish anti-submarine operation, may have left the area
comparatively soon after it was detected . . . The other observations and
indications recorded in Hérsfjirden proper are all considered to have
stemmed from the two mini-submarines operating there. The mini-
submarine that entered Hérsfjirden past Huvudholmen [in the north]
left drag marks from its keel both when entering and when leaving by
the same route. This mini-submarine probably left the area only a day
or so after 1 October, to be reunited in due course with its mother craft.
Both this mini-submarine and its mother craft probably remained in the
archipelago area throughout the following week. It is established that
a conventional submarine was just south of Oxné udde, immediately
off the northern approaches to Harsfjirden, on the evening of 7
October. It is also probable that these submarines left the Swedish archi-
pelago by some route other than through the Milsten approaches
during the next few days. It would appear that there was knowledge of
Swedish mine detonations in the latter area on board the submarines.

The mini-submarine that left behind the characteristic imprints of cat-
erpillar tracks was in Djupviken, inside H&rsfjirden, on the morning of
1 October. It would appear primarily to have been this mini-submarine
that caused the large number of indications inside Hérsfjirden during
ensuing days (and nights). It cannot be excluded that this mini-submarine
suffered minor damage from a depth charge on one occasion. This mini-
submarine probably remained in Hérsfjirden for a relatively long time,
after which it left the Harsfjirden area and, subsequently, the inner archi-
pelago area.

It is established that a conventional submarine was in the waters off
Milsten on 12 October. This may have been the larger submarine,
which was waiting for the mini-submarine that left Harsfjirden last.
After this it looks as if all the submarines and mini-submarines had
already left the inner archipelago area on their voyage home.*

This presentation of the sequence of events is different from the one
I have described above. According to the Submarine Defence
Commission no submarine (except for possibly the last midget) is
believed to have passed out at Milsten. No submarine is believed to
have been damaged by a mine. However, on the question of national
origin, the Commission is very clear. The report claimed that all sub-
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marines were from the Warsaw Pact, most likely from the Soviet
Union." This conclusion was followed by a strong Swedish protest
delivered to the Soviet Union.!® At the press conference, Prime
Minister Olof Palme said:

The government has handed over a note of protest to the Soviet govern-
ment. In this note, the Swedish government delivers its strong condem-
nation of the serious Soviet violations of Sweden’s territorial integrity.
This is a serious crime against international law. These deliberate and
illegal attempts to investigate Sweden’s territorial waters must be con-
demned. We have demanded from the Soviet government that it gives
such instructions to its own Navy that the intrusions terminate.'”

The New York Times wrote on its first page that:

Sweden protested today against ‘the gross violations of Swedish terri-
torial integrity of which the Soviet Navy has been guilty’ and threat-
ened to sink any submarine that enters its waters without permission
.. . Swedish Government sent a stiff diplomatic note to Moscow [and]
temporarily recalled its Ambassador.'®

In the records of the conversation between Prime Minister Palme and
the Soviet Ambassador Boris Pankin, Palme used an even harsher lan-
guage.”” On 5 May, the Soviet response was handed over to Olof
Palme. The Swedish protest was described as an ‘unfriendly act that
would undermine the good neighbour relations . . . Check of records
for Soviet submarines from this time showed that they had not been
in Swedish waters and had not been closer than 30 km.”?? Svenska
Dagbladet said that the language in the note was stronger than in any
former crisis, and talked about the most serious crisis for Sweden in
modern times.?! Relations between Sweden and the Soviet Union were
icy for several years. A radical change in Swedish public opinion
towards the Soviet Union took place (see below).

The Submarine Defence Commission Report was prepared and pre-
sented under dramatic circumstances. One month before the report
was made public, a submarine hunt took place close to Karlskrona
Naval Base in the Blekinge archipelago in southern Sweden and
another hunt went on again in the Hérsfjirden area close to Musko
Naval Base. A day after the report was presented, a submarine hunt
started in the Hardangerfjord in Norway with the use of a number of
depth charges and 24 anti-submarine rockets (see below). The next day
another submarine hunt started in the Sundsvall area along the coast
of mid-north Sweden, which, together with the Commission Report
and the Norwegian hunt, dominated the newspapers. A couple of days
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afterwards, a submarine was seen in a fjord on the Swedish west coast
north of Géteborg, and the day after another submarine appeared in
Swedish territorial waters south of Goteborg (the latter surfaced and
turned out to be West German).??> A month later, on the evening of
27 May, three journalists saw ‘the top of a small submarine sail’ — 1-2
metres wide — for a minute or more in central Stockholm a few
hundred metres from the royal castle. They reported their observation
to the Defence Staff and they were interviewed the same night. Their
description of the submarine sail is similar to the observation made in
Stockholm harbour on 30 September. In this case too, there were
important naval ships visiting Stockholm — the British frigate Minerva
and the Royal Yacht Britannia with Queen Elizabeth II — as if the small
submersible was patrolling these ships.?®

The strange thing is that all these submarines, except for the West
German one, were — like the first Harsfjairden submarines — first seen
on the surface deep inside archipelagos or fjords in relatively densely
populated areas. The Swedish submarine captain Nils Bruzelius had
already said six months earlier:

The question that has to be answered is the following: why are the
foreign submarines so easily discovered when Swedish submarines,
under the same circumstances (in Swedish waters) are almost never dis-
covered. The reasons cannot be that these foreign submarine crews are
badly trained. On the contrary, when they have been subject to
advanced anti-submarine operations, they have proved to be very
capable. The only explanation I can find is quite simply that ‘they are

discovered because they want to be’.?*

Some researchers explained this as a Soviet show of force and as polit-
ical signals to force Sweden to adapt to Soviet interests.?> The conse-
quences of these activities, however, were rather the opposite, and
now, 20 years later, we may have to accept that these incidents had
another origin.

On 26 April 1983, after the Submarine Defence Commission had
presented its report, the co-author of the Swedish note, Sverker
Astrém, a senior diplomat and Sven Andersson’s former State Secretary
for Foreign Affairs, was interviewed on the evening news. He stated:

There must be very strong motives on the Soviet side . . . [In Russia],
all branches of government, and also the Soviet Navy, have had a plan
for several years, and I guess they have just continued to fulfil it as if
nothing had happened. There is a certain bluntness and stiffness in the
system that makes them continue with this . . . If one is an optimist one
might say that there is a chance that Andropov will give instructions to
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terminate the activity . .. [The intention of the note] is to bring the issue
up in the inner circles of the Kremlin.2

The major proof for pointing to the Soviet Union seems to have been
that only Whiskey submarines were believed to have keels (referring
to the marks of a keel on the sea floor southeast of Milsten). The
Hérsfjirden submarine was described as a diesel-powered submarine
like the Whiskey, while the American and the British submarines were
said to be nuclear. Another proof seems to have been that allegedly
only the Soviets, and no other navy operating in the Baltic Sea, had
midget submarines. A bottom-crawling midget was also supposed to
indicate a Soviet submarine. Member of the Commission Olle
Svensson said that he was convinced by Sven Andersson of Soviet
responsibility ‘after the two of us had gone through the secret file [the
Naval Analysis Group Report] with all the documents about the
nationality of the intruder’.?” In a summary of 3 March on confirmed
submarine observations the Naval Analysis Group Report presents
several unfounded statements: ‘There are no midget submarines oper-
ative within NATO . . . The analysis concludes: older submarine with
two propellers — These are only to be found in the Warsaw Pact.’?$

At the 26 April press conference several hundreds of journalists
appeared. The Chairman of the Commission, Sven Andersson, told
them that, according to the conclusions made by the experts, the sub-
marines originated from the Warsaw Pact:

The many visual observations made by military officers and civilians

. point without doubt to submarines from the Warsaw Pact.
Furthermore, there are two acoustic observations, which both reveal
submarines from the Warsaw Pact. Results from our signal intelligence
on radars and radio traffic also definitely point to Warsaw Pact sub-
marines. The sea-floor investigation gives the same result . . . No obser-
vation has been made indicating intrusions on Swedish territory by
submarines originating from NATO. The fact that the Soviet Union has
about 45 conventional submarines in the Baltic Sea, while Poland only
has four and the GDR none, is one of several elements indicating that
the Warsaw Pact in this case is identical with the Soviet Union. The
Commission has, after a thorough examination, agreed with the con-
clusions of the experts.?’

There was, according to Andersson, a large amount of evidence point-
ing to the Soviet Union. There was no doubt about the national origin,
and Carl Bildt said: ‘T cannot think of anything in modern times that has
been more serious.” “We are definitely sure,’ he said. “There is no doubrt,
[but we cannot reveal everything]. That would damage Sweden.”3?
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At the press conference with a couple of hundred journalists from
all over the world, Sven Andersson presented one proof after another
clearly demonstrating that the operations were carried out by the
Soviet Union. Andersson was, however, more or less, word for word,
quoting the report from his military expert, the Defence Staff Report
of 18 April 1983. It stated, firstly, that all visual observations had been
interpreted as submarines from the Warsaw Pact. Secondly, two acous-
tic observations had been made. In both cases, the conclusion was sub-
marines from the Warsaw Pact. Thirdly, the results of signal
intelligence could not be made public for security reasons. Signal intel-
ligence proved definitely that there were Warsaw Pact submarines.
Fourthly, the existence of tracks from midget submarines supported
the conclusion that the Warsaw Pact was responsible for the intru-
sions. It would, according to the Defence Staff Report, be ‘almost
impossible to keep such systems secret in the West’. In the Soviet
Union, however, such a submarine could easily have been hidden.?!

On 10 October 1983, after some Swedish-Soviet controversies,
Prime Minister Palme handed over a memorandum to the Soviet
Ambassador Boris Pankin to explain the strong protest against the
Soviet Union. A videotape showing prints on the sea floor was
enclosed. The material presented in the memorandum was almost
identical to the report presented by Vice-Admiral Stefenson and the
Defence Staff on 18 April 1983. A few lines were taken out (shown
below in brackets). The part concerning the sea-floor investigation
was extended compared to that in the Defence Staff Report. The
memorandum states the following:

The Submarine Defence Commission states in its report that it had been
informed about a large number of observations and circumstances that
altogether give the basis for the conclusion that the submarines intrud-
ing in Swedish territorial waters during the Harsfjarden incident
belonged to Soviet naval forces. A conclusion on this material follows
below.

1. Visual observations

Visual observations were made by both military personnel and civilians.
They were questioned as early as possible after the observations, and
they made drawings describing what they saw. After that they gave
detailed descriptions to make it possible to define submarine class,
nationality and behaviour.

[The total number of visual observations (during this period)
accepted for nationality and class identification is 16, of which 11 orig-
inate from the time of the Hérsfjirden incident.]

All observations from the time of the Hérsfjirden incident lead us
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to the conclusion that the submarines belonged to the Warsaw Pact. On
two occasions, the submarines were of Whiskey class. On one occasion,
the submarine was either a Whiskey, Foxtrot or Juliet. Other occasions
(i.e. observations of masts) point to Warsaw Pact submarines even
though it has not been possible to define the class.

2. Acoustic observations

After analysis of the acoustic observations, it was possible to draw con-
clusions about nationality in two cases. One of them took place in
August, the other in October in Danziger Gatt during the Harsfjirden
incident.

[It is normal that there were very few acoustic observations. It is
only during submarine hunts that this kind of information is received.
The usual search method from helicopter is active sonar, which does
not give information for identification. Only with the use of passive
sonar will it be possible to identify the submarine. Hence the low
figure.]

The conclusion is that in both these cases we are dealing with
Warsaw Pact submarines. It is possible to identify various sounds; i.e.
to identify the number of propellers.

3. Signal intelligence

It is well known that signal intelligence makes it possible to define the
kind of radar station that transmits a signal. Knowledge about ship
radar makes it possible to define class of ship and usually even nation-
ality. Under certain circumstances it is even possible to define the indi-
vidual ship.

By taking the bearing of the signal, the position of a transmitter can
be defined. It is also possible to get important information by listening
to radio traffic between different ships or between ship and base.

[Knowledge about our capability in and results from signal intelli-
gence is of extraordinary value for foreign powers. Because of this, it is
not possible to present the extensive material on various radar and
radio transmissions that have been recorded. If results from our signal
intelligence were published, it would be possible to make comparisons
between incidents and results from signal intelligence, which could
reveal our signal intelligence organization.]

The result of signal intelligence shows [definitely] that Warsaw Pact
submarines were active in Swedish territorial waters during the time of
the Hérsfjirden incident.

4. Investigation of the sea floor
After the Harsfjirden incident, tracks from midget submarines were

found on the sea floor. They were video-recorded.

203



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

There is an extensive development of sub-surface vessels in various
countries. It is well known that the Warsaw Pact countries, particularly
the Soviet Union, has great knowledge about sub-surface technology
and has a number of small military and civilian submersibles able to
move on the sea floor by the use of different methods of propulsion.
There is also information about Soviet mini- [or midget] submarines
published in books. There is, however, no sign that any Western power
in the vicinity of Sweden has mini- [or midget] submarines.

Prints from a larger submarine were also found on the sea floor.
These prints show that the submarine had an external keel. In the Baltic
Sea, only submarines from the Warsaw Pact have such a keel. The size
of this print happened to be the same as the one found after the subma-
rine 137 in Gésefjirden [Karlskrona 1981].

The existence of prints on the sea floor shows that the intruding sub-
marines belonged to the Warsaw Pact.

The Submarine Commission concludes that all these circumstances,
combined with the known pattern of naval operations in the Baltic Sea,
show that it is perfectly clear that the intrusions in Harsfjairden were
carried out by submarines belonging to the Warsaw Pact. The fact that
the Soviet Union has 45 conventional submarines (mostly Whiskey
class) for operations in the Baltic Sea, while Poland only has four old
submarines and the GDR to our knowledge none indicates that the
Warsaw Pact, in this case, is essentially identical to the Soviet Union.3?

In this document there is, as already stated by Carl Bildt, ‘no
doubt’. However, the 1995 Submarine Commission shows that all
these arguments were made up to prove Soviet responsibility for the
Hérsfjirden operation. There was no evidence supporting these state-
ments. We have to admit that all this information was a construct
invented by the Defence Staff under the leadership of the
Commission’s military expert Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson.

Firstly, the 1995 Submarine Commission, with access to the same
material as the 1983 Commission, did not find any visual information
pointing to the Warsaw Pact. According to Sven Andersson and the
Defence Staff analysis, several witnesses had seen periscopes and sub-
marine sails. They had made drawings and been shown pictures of
Soviet submarines. However, it is not easy to distinguish these Soviet
submarines from some Western submarines, and it would demand a
specialist. The 1995 Commission states: ‘From the reports on visual
observations that we have had access to, we cannot make any definite
conclusion about nationality.”®® To say, as the Defence Staff Report
did, that an observation has been identified as a Whiskey-, Foxtrot- or
Juliet-class submarine is in itself absurd, because of the differences
between these submarine classes.
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Secondly, of the two pieces of acoustic information described by
the Defence Staff Report, one was from August 1982; the other was
the 3.47-minute sequence from 12 October discussed above. The
Navy Analysis Group argued that the tape recordings proved that the
submarines had two propellers and that this indicated Soviet or at least
Warsaw Pact submarines. The first recording was analysed by experts
from FOA in the winter 1982-83. They found no indication of pro-
pellers on the tape. FOA handed in their analysis on 13 April 1983,
but still what appeared in the Defence Staff Report of 18 April 1983
and in the Swedish note to the Soviet Union of 10 October 1983 was
a Warsaw Pact submarine with two propellers. The tape recording of
12 October 1982 was analysed at FOA the following week. The report
of 20 October 1982 stated that a 3.47-minute sequence of the tape
included propeller sounds that ‘most likely originated from a subma-
rine if the surface was free [from other vessels].”** Commander Anders
Hammar says that they used Arne Askhnt s analysis: a sound similar
to a submarine with two propellers. But Asklint says that this conclu-
sion referred to a different tape recording. Hammar says now that he
was the one that misinformed the Commission, because he himself had
been misled about the possible nationality. The only thing we know
today is that this 3.47-minute sequence was not tape-recorded around
18.00, nobody knows who tape-recorded it and there is, in general,
no correspondence between the tape-recorded sounds and the com-
mentaries on the speaker channel. The Defence Staff presented the
‘two propellers’ as proof of a Warsaw Pact submarine, while many sub-
marines from NATO countries actually had two propellers. The far
more experienced Norwegian Military Intelligence that analysed the
FOA tape found it to be neither a conventional nor nuclear Soviet sub-
marine, but probably a submarine originating from a NATO country
or, according to one source, possibly the USA. In the early 1990s, the
Swedish Ambassador to the USA handed over a copy of the 3.47-
minute tape to a friend, General William Odom, a former Chief of the
NSA, to let US intelligence make an analysis of it. After this analysis,
the latter returned to the Swedish Ambassador and said that it was ‘not
possible to conclude anything from this tape’. From 1983 to 1995 the
tape was presented as the major Swedish proof of Soviet involvement.

Thirdly, there was no signal intelligence pointing to the Soviet
Union. This statement was invented by the Defence Staff. Commander
Bjorn Eklind, Deputy Chief of Defence Staff Intelligence and respon-
sible for the signal intelligence briefings of the Commission, said to me
that he was surprised at Andersson’s statement, because he was not
informed that they had anything on the Soviets. At least, there was no
Swedish signal intelligence pointing to the Soviet Union, he said, neither
from FRA nor from the Swedish Navy. In 1988, after information had
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turned up in the mass media, Pir Kettis, Director-General of the
Swedish Signal Intelligence Agency (FRA), wrote to State Secretary for
Defence Nils Gunnar Billinger. Kettis stated that FRA had no informa-
tion on signals linked to the Hérsfjiarden incident. In 1995, FRA wrote
to the Second Submarine Commission and said that they had not regis-
tered any signals linked to the Harsfjirden incident. Swedish signal
intelligence against the Soviet Baltic Fleet had given no results.>®> When
Commander-in-Chief General Bengt Gustafsson became aware of this
information he turned to former member of the Submarine Defence
Commission, the leader of the Conservative Party Carl Bildt, who said
that the signal intelligence information they had did not originate from
FRA, but from the Navy. The Navy had five indications of submarine
radar appearing in the Grandin Report (and in the naval base war diary):
two of them were supposedly Warsaw Pact radar, while three originated
from possibly West German submarines. In the Naval Analysis Group
Report, one ‘“West German’ radar is excluded (Visborg’s report from
08.20 on 5 October). Three of these indications (two Warsaw Pact and
one West German) ‘may have originated from outside Swedish territo-
rial waters’, while the fourth one was the possible West German indica-
tion (from Kanholmsfjirden of 30 September). The Defence Staff
Report states that signal intelligence definitely indicated Warsaw Pact
submarines. However, the two indications that were believed to be
within Swedish territorial waters were both classified as possibly “West
German’.’¢ Either Carl Bildt has been manipulated or he has himself
tried to manipulate General Gustafsson.

Fourthly, the Defence Staff Report states that the sea-floor inves-
tigation clearly indicated Warsaw Pact submarines. It would not
have been possible, according to the Defence Staff, to keep a bottom-
crawling submarine leaving caterpillar tracks on the sea floor secret in
the West. This is not true. NATO countries were able to keep both
mini- and midget submarines with such a capability secret (see below),
while it is still not confirmed if Soviet submarines had this capability
at the time. Western navies (West German, French, British and US) had
conventional diesel-electric submarines as well as midget submarines.
Within NATO, the Baltic Sea was primarily a West German and
Danish responsibility. British and sometimes French submarines
entered the Baltic Sea overtly. However, according to Danish and
British sources, both British and US submarines entered the Baltic Sea
covertly. British or US submarines carrying out intelligence tasks or
special force operations would enter the Baltic Sea submerged, and the
officers at the Danish Naval Command in Arhus were supposed to
close their eyes (see below). Several of these submarines had a keel
similar to the Whiskey. Furthermore, Whiskey submarines and other
Soviet submarines may have been able to carry SDVs (Swimmer
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Delivery Vehicles) in a 0.5-metre torpedo tube, but there were no indi-
cations that Soviet submarines in the Baltic Sea ever carried real
midgets, while several Western submarines were able to do that. Soviet
surface ships were known to carry midget submarines (see below).

Every single statement made by Sven Andersson, the Defence Staff
Report and the Swedish PM to the Soviet Union seems to have been a
bluff. Andersson and Stefenson may, for several reasons, have believed
that this was necessary under the special conditions in which these inci-
dents took place. Still, all arguments Andersson brought up seem to
have been invented by the Defence Staff to prove its case. The alleged
signal intelligence information was, according to Ingvar Carlsson
(later Prime Minister), ‘important background material’ for the strong
Swedish protest against the Soviet Union.?” Now, it is clearly estab-
lished that this information was invented to prove Soviet presence.
The same seems to have been the case with one of the Commission’s
advisers, Professor John Erickson, a British scholar and specialist on
Soviet military forces. He stated clearly on Swedish TV that he knew
that the Hérsfjirden submarines originated from the Soviet Union (see
above). Erickson was invited to brief the Commission together with a
Norwegian anti-submarine warfare specialist, Captain Tor Nicolaisen.
Erickson was a Professor and Director of Defence Studies at the
University of Edinburgh, while Nicolaisen was the Military Assistant
to the Norwegian Minister of Defence, Anders Sjaastad. Nicolaisen
had received anti-submarine warfare training from the USA and Great
Britain and had been project officer for the SOSUS station at Andeya
in Northern Norway. He told me that neither he nor Erickson had any
specific indications pointing to the Soviet Union, but Erickson believed
that the Soviet Union would have been ‘willing’ to carry out these
operations. He had, however, nothing that linked this ‘Soviet psy-
chology’ with the operations in Harsfjirden.

Some five years later, it turned out that Olof Palme had never been
convinced by the Commission Report, but it was politically impossible
for him to deny its results. In 1988, Dagens Nyheter wrote that ‘Olof
Palme was forced to point to the Soviet Union’.3® The Submarine
Defence Commission did not keep the government informed, and
Palme was briefed only 10 or 11 days (actually 14 days; see below)
before the Commission Report was made public. When the unified
Parliamentary Commission pointed to the Soviet Union, the govern-
ment had no choice.?* In 1999, former Deputy Prime Minister (and
later Prime Minister) Ingvar Carlsson said:

Because the Soviet Union had violated our waters in Karlskrona [the
Whiskey submarine that was stranded outside Karlskrona in 1981],

many people believed that it must be Soviet submarines also this time
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... Sven Andersson did not inform Olof Palme about the Commission’s
conclusions until they had tied themselves totally [to a final decision].*

In his book, Ingvar Carlsson stated that Sven Andersson informed
Olof Palme on 12 April.#! (Ljung wrote that it was 11 April, the day
after the report was finalized*?). At that time the decision to point to
the Soviet Union had already been taken. ‘It must have been Sven
Andersson’s strategy to postpone information for such a long time
that the Prime Minister would not be able to influence the
Commission,” Carlsson argued.** Not even Defence Minister Anders
Thunborg was informed. ‘The conclusions were presented as a fait
accompli even to him. This made Olof Palme irritated.’** The Minister
of Industry and later Defence Minister Thage G. Peterson said: ‘Olof
Palme thought that the Social Democrats in the Submarine Defence
Commission had not enough evidence to come up with these conclu-
sions. I remember that Olof Palme and Sven Andersson had a real
quarrel.’® In the briefing of 11 April, both Prime Minister Palme and
Defence Minister Thunborg were sceptical. Ljung wrote that it had
become necessary to bring up extensive and detailed material to con-
vince the two ministers. This material (the Defence Staff Report of 18
April) ‘is now put together at the Defence Staff’, Ljung wrote.*¢ Still,
neither Palme nor Thunborg were convinced by this material, but they
accepted that the Commission had created a fait accompli. The
Minister of Justice, Ove Rainer, was against pointing to the Soviet
Union despite the conclusions of the Submarine Defence Commission.
He said that the evidence or indications pointing to the Soviet Union
would not hold water in a trial. Foreign Minister Lennart Bodstrém
had the same view.*’ In 1994, Bodstréom spoke about the govern-
ment’s decision to point to the Soviet Union as responsible for the
intrusions in accordance with the conclusions in the Submarine
Defence Commission Report:

The Social Democratic government was in doubt about the conclusions
made by the Submarine Defence Commission Report in spring 1983,
but the government yielded to public opinion . . . The party represen-
tatives within the Commission were unified. And with the kind of
public opinion that dominated, the government had no other alterna-
tive than to adhere to the conclusions of the Commission. Wrong? But
in politics, you sometimes have to follow public opinion.*®

Later, he said: ‘In conclusion, I would like to say that the government
had no choice. It was forced to adhere to the Submarine Defence
Commission and accordingly defend it. This was our position.”*’ In an
interview I had with Lennart Bodstrom, he told me that the task of the
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Commission was not to point out any specific state, but to study the
possibilities for ‘improving anti-submarine warfare forces before new
submarine intrusions take place’.’® In an interview with me, former
Defence Minister Anders Thunborg said that he did not agree with
Sven Andersson. Thunborg said to me that we had nothing on the
Soviets, and that he was against pointing to the Soviet Union.’! In the
1980s, Thunborg kept to the official version and stated clearly that
Soviet submarines had penetrated the Swedish archipelago at
Hérsfjirden in 1982.2 However, Thunborg never believed this
version. There was no evidence. This was also Anders Thunborg’s
view at the time of the incidents, former Norwegian Minister of
Defence Anders Sjaastad told me. In 1996, Anders Thunborg said:

As Defence Minister I did not have the same view as the Submarine
Defence Commission. I thought they were too self-confident . . . But
what could we do? We could not dive ourselves. If we have military
authorities that know these things, we have to trust them. We were
sorry that the Commission had decided not to contact the government
before the report was published. And the driving force behind this posi-
tion was Carl Bildt, and that I cannot accept.’

The Prime Minister, the Deputy Prime Minister (and later Prime
Minister), the Foreign Minister, the Defence Minister, the Minister of
Industry (later Defence Minister) as well as the Minister of Justice
were all against pointing to the Soviet Union, because nobody on the
military side had presented any clear evidence supporting this view.
Still, the government made the strongest ever protest against the
Soviet Union. Sweden recalled its Ambassador to Moscow for consul-
tations. According to Deputy Prime Minister Ingvar Carlsson:

Olof Palme had two choices: He could have a fight with the Submarine
Defence Commission and its chairman Sven Andersson supported by
the Navy and most other representatives of the Swedish defence forces,
or he could have a fight with the Soviet Union.>*

In practical terms, Prime Minister Palme had no choice. The
Submarine Defence Commission had created a fait accompli, because
its chairman, Sven Andersson (as well as Carl Bildt), believed that it
had become a political necessity.

In 1990, Carl Bildt spoke to the Swedish Royal War Academy. He
no longer mentioned any of the ‘evidence’ that earlier was supposed
to point to the Soviet Union as responsible for the 1982 incident. Bildt
said that the Commission had no distinct evidence linked to specific
observations that made it possible to point to the Soviet Union.
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With the requirements that later became necessary to make a statement
on nationality — clear and definite evidence linked to a specific obser-
vation — the Commission did not have enough information to make
such a statement . . . [However, to the Chairman of the Commission,
Sven Andersson] it was natural not just to accept this fact. A discussion
about nationality was viewed as unavoidable, and to publicly point out
the responsible nation was also perceived as an essential part of a policy
to terminate these operations.>®

In other words, Andersson allegedly wanted to tie the Soviet Union to
the incident for political reasons. Dagens Nybheter refers to a source
close to Andersson saying that the mass media expectations in Sweden
and internationally made it necessary to come up with a statement
about national origin. Andersson’s former State Secretary for Foreign
Affairs, Sverker Astrom, had allegedly recommended that Andersson
point to the Soviet Union.’¢ Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg told me that,
unlike the government, Andersson was convinced that the Soviet
Union was responsible, and Andersson decided to keep the govern-
ment uninformed in order to create a fait accompli that would force
the government to accept the position of the Commission. Sverker
Astrém himself said that Bildt and the military were driving forces
behind the accusations against the Soviet Union. However, the enor-
mous press coverage made it impossible to come out without a scape-
goat. Astrom also argues that there were strictly political reasons for
Sven Andersson’s decision.’” Astrom was, together with Anders
Thunborg, the co-author of the government protest note strongly crit-
icizing the Soviet Union.’8 Astrém wrote later:

If Moscow had been allowed to go free despite strong indications, the
Commission would have been split in two, and Bildt, at least, would
have expressed a different view. It would have been a furious domestic
political fight — a crisis that foreign interests would have been able to
profit from. Such a development had to be avoided, and, because of
this, he [Andersson] was willing to overcome his doubts, and, of course,
defend his position with force. He was prepared for a conflict with
Moscow, and they would be able to handle it in the years to come.>’

Social Democrat and member of the Submarine Defence Commission
Olle Svensson has a similar view on Bildt, as the most active member,
who wanted to profit from the incident politically, but Svensson is also
clear on Sven Andersson’s role and the role of the experts (Bror
Stefenson and Emil Svensson’s report). Olle Svensson says:

Most important, we decided not to hide the conclusions drawn by our
experts. We pointed to the Soviet Union as the intruder! At the office
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of the Commander-in-Chief, we were shown a film with the caterpillar
tracks of a midget submarine on the bottom of the Baltic Sea, and we
were informed about some other observations. Among the experts we
have to rely on, this removed any doubt about which military force
entered our waters. If we don’t speak out, we will be perceived as
cowards both at home and abroad. I was in doubt for quite a while, but
I was convinced by Sven Andersson after the two of us had gone
through the secret file [the Naval Analysis Group Report] with all the
documents about the nationality of the intruder.®?

Sven Andersson’s problem was political. If Sweden was unable to
identify an intruder, despite all indications and with everyone in the
mass media pointing to the Soviet Union, it would be perceived as a
weak state possibly adapting to Soviet interests. In his diary on
8 March 1983, General Ljung confirmed that Andersson wanted to
point to the Soviet Union for political reasons. Ljung referred to
Andersson as saying: ‘If we don’t come up with a decision on the
nationality, we may get a debate with many statements about the
Swedes purposely avoiding a conclusion on this issue. This may be
perceived as an easy way out politically.’®! In other words, despite lack
of evidence pointing to the Soviet Union, Sweden had to point to the
Soviets, otherwise people or even the international community would
believe that the Swedes were adapting to Soviet interests. At that time,
Ljung himself was not convinced that it was possible to point to the
Soviets. A week later, however, on 16 March 1983, he had changed
his mind. Hasselbohm’s article from the day before in Dagens Industri
claiming ‘NATO involvement’ in Héirsfjirden made it necessary to
point out the Soviet Union.®? On 21 April, just a few days before the
Commission presented its report, Ljung wrote:

The nationality question [the Commission accusing the Soviet Union]
will not be very controversial . . . [However,] the Commission’s state-
ment about a submarine [or midget submarine] being deep inside
Stockholm harbour and the possible link that will be made to the
ongoing visit of US naval ships may become a difficult issue.®

General Ljung was worried that if this latter incident with a periscope
a few metres from the US cruiser Belknap was brought up, the subma-
rines would be linked to the US naval ships in central Stockholm. It is
much more likely that this vessel was released by the US ships than
that it was a Soviet midget that had gone some 50 kilometres sub-
merged through the archipelago on a busy waterway with thousands
of narrow passages all the way to the Stockholm castle and back.
Despite General Ljung’s worries, however, this issue was never
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brought up.®* After reading General Ljung’s diary, the only reason for
pointing out the Soviet Union as responsible for the intrusions in
Haérsfjirden in 1982 seems to have been political.

Still however, several leading government representatives probably
believed in Soviet submarine activities, but they were not willing to
protest against the Soviets because this would strengthen the
Conservatives’ and Carl Bildt’s Cold War rhetoric. In a formerly clas-
sified document from the Social Democratic leadership meeting on
17 May 1983, Olof Palme argues: “The debate on foreign policy is
about to fall to pieces . . . if they [the Soviets] continue, this will seri-
ously damage our relations. We have to explain this to them. Sooner
or later we will sink a submarine.” In the same document, Sten
Andersson, later Foreign Minister, says:

Continued Soviet activity using our coast as their backyard will put us
in a difficult political position. The Conservatives will get air under
their wings for their propaganda . . . In conclusion, we have to let the
Russians understand — through diplomatic and political channels — the
consequences of continued intrusions.®®

The Social Democratic Party had become extremely worried that the
Conservative Party would profit from what even they believed were
serious Soviet intrusions.

In early autumn 1983, after a summer of continued submarine intru-
sions (some 200-300 reported observations), Carl Bildt argued at a
Parliamentary Foreign Affairs Committee meeting in favour of a state-
ment on the national origin of the intruders. He himself was going to
point to the Russians, he told General Ljung.®® This was also the view of
the Naval Analysis Group and the Defence Staff, General Ljung wrote:

They argue that the submarine intrusions continue beyond any doubt.
They also say that everything supports the fact that the submarine activ-
ity originates from the Soviet Union . . . I support the first statement
[with some reservations] . . . When it comes to the national origin, I
cannot agree with the view of the Defence Staff . . . [There is] no hard
evidence, hardly even indications.®”

Despite continued submarine intrusions and despite new dramatic sub-
marine hunts, neither the government nor the Commander-in-Chief
was willing to point to the Soviet Union. They may have believed in
Soviet activity, but uncertainty at the highest levels is also illustrated by
the information the Swedes received from Moscow in connection with
the submarine hunt in Karlskrona in February—March 1984. This time
neither the government nor the Commander-in-Chief pointed to any
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state responsible for the intrusions. The Ekéus Investigation writes that
during this incident, the Swedish Assistant Under-Secretary for Foreign
Affairs (for the Political Division), Ambassador Jan Eliasson, happened
to be in Moscow. His Soviet counterpart had asked him, “Why do the
Swedes not use more military force against what they believe are sub-
marines?’ The Soviet General Secretary Andropov had let the Finnish
President Koivisto bring Prime Minister Palme a similar message: ‘Just
bomb them.’®® According to Koivisto, the Soviet leader had said: ‘It
will suit us very well if the Swedes use live ammunition against the
intruding submarines.”®® This attitude seems illogical if the submarines
originated from the Soviet Union, and neither the government nor the
Commander-in-Chief wanted to touch the nationality issue in the fol-
lowing years.

Not until General Ljung left office in 1986 did the Defence Staff
under Vice-Admiral Stefenson prepare a report claiming Soviet
responsibility for the intrusions. This report was presented to the new
Minister of Defence Roine Carlsson on 25 November 1987 by the
new Commander-in-Chief, General Bengt Gustafsson, and the new
Chief of Staff, Lieutenant-General Thorsten Engberg. This report
summarized submarine activities since 1982 and spoke of an intrud-
ing sub-surface system with an estimated number of ten 30-metre sub-
marines and even more 10-metre submarines or rather SDVs.
Operations often involved one or two of the 30-metre submarines and
up to four smaller vessels.”® Only the Soviet Union was believed to
have the capacity to produce such a system and to carry out this activ-
ity. The report was partly declassified in September 2001.7" Parts that
it was not yet possible to declassify at that date are shown in italic
below. The Defence Staff Report stated:

Western countries are open. Only very limited resources may exist
without our knowledge. This means that no single [Western] country
could carry out this activity. Also within NATO’s unified resources such
possible hidden resources would be too small. It is out of the question
that Western nations would be able to carry out this activity both coor-
dinated and hidden for such a long period of time. This does not
exclude individual indications originating from a Western country. The
Warsaw Pact countries are less open. The production of a sub-surface
system with observed capabilities presupposes a high level of knowl-
edge about submarine technology. Among the Warsaw Pact countries in
our vicinity, it is only the Soviet Union that has such a capacity . . . Other
indications on nationality may be signal intelligence, acoustic informa-
tion, prints on the sea floor, and the link to other systems. Of these indi-
cations only the prints on the sea floor have given us interesting
information in recent years. Since the prints found in Hérsfjirden in

213



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

1982, parallel tracks on the bottom have been found in . . . and in
Kappelhamnsviken [Gotland] in 1987. According to an investigation,
the latest prints are in their character and dimensions the same as the
ones found in Hérsfjirden in 1982 . .. In conclusion, all information
points to the Soviet Union as the country carrying out foreign sub-
surface activity on Swedish territory.”?

The Commander-in-Chief told the Minister of Defence that, in the
general briefing for the government the next day, he intended to point
to the Soviet Union as responsible for the intrusions during the last
year. According to Prime Minister Ingvar Carlsson, no evidence was
presented, and the Commander-in-Chief was probably under hard
pressure from the group analysing the incidents. ‘[A] surprise attack
from the Swedish military forces was unacceptable . . . [and Carlsson
would] not accept pointing out any nation without definite proofs.’
After this, he appointed an advisory group to look into the Defence
Staff analysis.”® This group consisted of Ambassador Hans Dahlgren
from the Prime Minister’s office, Ambassador Jan Eliasson, Assistant
Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs, and Major-General Bengt
Wallroth, Assistant Under-Secretary for Defence and former Chief of
Swedish Military Intelligence (SSI). The latter had overall responsibil-
ity. According to Wallroth’s notes made for the briefing of the govern-
ment, no bases, no confirmed information on these vessels and no
information about their transit from Soviet coasts had been found.
According to Wallroth’s notes and Dahlgren’s draft notes, several
countries had a high level of competence and the capability to hide
sub-surface systems.”* Although tracks from a bottom-crawling sub-
marine had also been found in 1987, these were, according to the
‘Wallroth Group’, not interpreted as proof of Soviet activity.
According to a Dagens Nybheter interview with a member of the group,
there was:

no proof that these kinds of tracks on the bottom could only originate
from Eastern vessels . . . One has to ask oneself how NATO would react
if the C-in-C Analysis Group stated that Sweden was subject to exten-
sive submarine intrusions. It would most likely be interpreted that the
Soviet Union was moving its strategic positions forward in a way which
would demand NATO countermeasures; for example, the West would
feel forced to operate in these waters.”’

Later, Major-General Wallroth confirmed Dagens Nybeter’s version,
and he did not exclude that several submarine intrusions originated
from a NATO country. According to Prime Minister Carlsson, the
advisory group confirmed submarine activity in Swedish waters in
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1987, but there was no information pointing to a particular state
responsible for these operations.”®

In the early and mid-1980s, very few people knew that the govern-
ment, the Submarine Defence Commission and the military leadership
did not have any evidence pointing to the Soviet Union, and even
fewer people knew about indications pointing in the opposite direc-
tion. In December 1987, the statement by the former Chief of the
Army, Lieutenant-General Skold, about NATO presence in the
Stockholm archipelago and with two ‘NATO submarines’ passing out
through Oresund, as well as the indirect confirmation by General
Lennart Ljung, made the Commission Report look awkward. A few
days later, Olle Alsén wrote in Dagens Nyheter that the Chairman of
the Submarine Defence Commission, Sven Andersson, had told him
in a tape-recorded telephone conversation:

It was not possible to identify the periscope sighted in Harsfjarden on
1 October 1982, and a submarine sail could not be identified as a Soviet
submarine — rather the opposite. [The latter statement probably refers
to the observation at Sandhamn on 4 October. Both statements are
correct if we accept the wording used by the witnesses interviewed for
the Naval Analysis Group.]””

Carl Bildt also confirmed that there had been ‘no distinct evidence
linked to a specific observation’.”® By the early 1990s, the Submarine
Defence Commission’s statements on Soviet responsibility for the
intrusions had become devaluated. There was nothing left of Sven
Andersson’s and Carl Bildt’s definite views of ten years earlier. Chief
of the Naval Staff Major-General Lars-G. Persson told me about
increased doubts also within the Navy:

In the 1980s, we took Soviet responsibility for granted. Now, people
started to have doubts, but we never thought about possible US or UK
submarines. The submarine incidents in the 1980s may have been similar
to witch-hunts in the 17th century. Even during these witch-hunts the
prosecutor had to come up with definite evidence to prove the case.

More and more people became sceptics. In January 1992, the Bildt
government started talks with Russia to get the final proof of Soviet
intrusions into Swedish waters. The Swedes were able to convince the
Russians about the existence of submarines. In January 1993, Captain
Emil Svensson, now working as military adviser to Prime Minister Carl
Bildt, brought with him two tape-recorded cavitation sounds: one was
the 3.47-minute tape from Milsten of 12 October 1982; the other was
arecording from May 1992. The Russian specialists confirmed that the
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1982 recording originated from a submarine with about 200 rpm
(rotations per minute) if the surface was free from other vessels, but
the Russians argued that only one propeller could be identified and the
parallel sound that appeared for 17 seconds could not be classified as
a separate propeller. The talks with the Russians went on until 1994
without results.”” Svensson argued that the Milsten submarine was
most likely a Whiskey.8 However, as already mentioned, the origin of
this sequence is unclear. The Norwegian analysis of the 12 October
tape excluded a Soviet nuclear as well as conventional submarine, and
pointed instead to a Western submarine. If this was the tape that Bildt
and Svensson took to Moscow, this would definitely have convinced
the Russians that the Swedes were sincere in their beliefs. Afterwards,
this seems to have been one of the more peculiar aspects of this game.
In July 1994, it was revealed that the May 1992 cavitation sound most
likely originated from swimming minks.8!

In the mid-1990s, new information indicated that two different
‘submarine sounds’, which had been recorded since the 1980s, turned
out to originate from swimming minks and possibly a fish.8? In August
1994, the Swedish Commander-in-Chief, General Owe Wiktorin,
admitted that a cavitation sound that earlier had been described as a
‘certain submarine’ originated from swimming minks.%* Three months
earlier, FOA had stated that this sound most likely originated from a
small source close to the surface, but the Navy had at that time not
taken this information into consideration.?* Another sound classified as
‘certain submarine’ most likely came, according to FOA, from large
numbers of herring, or possibly from another fish.?’ This was later con-
firmed by a special investigation, the ‘Type Sound Report’, partly
declassified in 2000. According to a former Chief of MUSAC (the Navy
Sound Division), it had been a British expert who had told the Swedes
in 1984 that this sound originated from a submarine, and the Swedish
Navy had accordingly classified it as a ‘certain submarine’.3¢ The British
had, according to a Swedish high-ranking officer, pointed to a similar
sound from two smaller Soviet vessels belonging to the Northern Fleet.
Now, the FOA analysis concluded that this sound originated, at least
on several occasions, from large numbers of herring. Two sounds that
the naval authorities had classified as ‘certain submarine’ turned out to
have biological origin. Admirals from NATO countries turned up ques-
tioning the credibility of the Swedish analyses.?” In January 1994, a
group of independent critics including former Foreign Minister
Lennart Bodstrom, former Chief of the Army Lieutenant-General Nils
Skold and former Chief of Naval Base South (Karlskrona) Captain Karl
Andersson demanded an independent commission.®® The resulting crit-
icism forced Defence Minister Thage G. Peterson (1994-97) to appoint
a new official Submarine Commission in February 1995 with a major-
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ity of scientists, under the chairmanship of Professor Hans G. Forsberg
and with Major-General Bengt Wallroth, former Assistant Under-
Secretary for Defence, former Deputy Chief of Staff and Chief of
Swedish Military Intelligence (SSI) and Chief of Swedish Signal
Intelligence (FRA), as its secretary. Later, Ingvar Akesson from the
Parliamentary Standing Committee on the Constitution was appointed
co-secretary for the Commission. The new Submarine Commission
presented its conclusions in December 1995.%°

The new Commission confirmed a number of submarine incidents.
It concluded that most likely there had been a combined operation
with different classes of submarines, which included midget subma-
rines. It stated that there had been, beyond doubt, tracks on the sea
floor from bottom-crawling vessels and that divers had been sabotag-
ing sub-surface military installations. The 1995 Submarine Commis-
sion Report started with a summary of the Commander-in-Chief’s
statements from 1981 to the early 1990s. A few paragraphs follow
below:

In 1981, the incident that was paid most attention to was the Soviet
submarine, known as U137, that stranded on a rock in G&sefjirden in
Karlskrona archipelago on the evening of 27 October. After an investi-
gation of the submarine and an interrogation of the commander, U137
was escorted out into international water on 6 November. In his report,
the C-in-C stated that it was very likely that the submarine had carried
out a planned intrusion into Gésefjirden . . . Already before this inci-
dent, intrusions had been confirmed in Goteborg’s archipelago in
March, in Hanoébukten [in the south] in May, and at Utd [in the
Stockholm archipelago] in early June . ..

In 1982, the C-in-C stated that foreign submarines had intruded or
probably intruded [Swedish] territory on 25 occasions. On 11 occa-
sions, the intrusion was classified as certain. The other 14 occasions
were classified as probable intrusions [primarily in June-October]: in
the Bay of Bothnia and S6dra Kvarken [along the north Swedish coast]
and in the Stockholm archipelago . . . [in October] with certain intru-
sions in the area of Harsfjirden. A certain intrusion was also supposed
to have taken place at Karlskrona in November. Most attention was
given to the Hérsfjarden incident . . .

In 1983, the C-in-C reported a large amount of incidents, primarily
in July-September . . . At the end of March, one intrusion was supposed
to have taken place at Milsten and another in Hanobukten. In
April-June, intrusions allegedly took place at Rédkallen [in the north]
and twice in the Sundsvall area . . . [possibly also] in Sédra Kvarken and
the Stockholm archipelago. In July-September, after analysis of 40 indi-
cations, the C-in-C concluded that intrusions had been made on 18
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occasions.. . . In September intrusions were supposed to have taken place
in the Karlskrona area, in the Stockholm archipelago, in the archipelago
of Ostergotland, at Gotland and along the north Swedish coast . . .

In 1984, the C-in-C concluded that it was confirmed that sub-
surface activity had taken place in the Karlskrona area in February—
March. There were a large number of indications of larger and smaller
submarines as well as of SDVs and divers. The C-in-C also concluded
that sub-surface activity had most likely taken place in July-September
[and in October-December] in the archipelagos of Stockholm and
Ostergétland and possibly in the Karlskrona area . . .

In 1985, the first months were characterized by severe cold, which
the C-in-C presumed to be the reason for the small number of reported
submarine observations. However, there were some reports from the
west coast. Reported indications of sub-surface activity on the west
coast continued in the spring and in the summer. A photo of a suspected
object [periscope] from Gullmarsfjorden [north of Goteborg] was pre-
sented. Sub-surface activity had most likely also been carried out along
the coast of the most northern part of Sweden. The C-in-C’s reports
concluded that such activity had most likely also taken place in the
Stockholm archipelago in July-December . . .

Also in 1986, there was severe cold with a lot of ice in the first
months of the year . . . In early and mid-February, a number of obser-
vations and radar contacts were made at the west coast . . . [In
April-June there were indications from the Stockholm archipelago],
the west coast and the Bay of Bothnia and from a couple of other areas.
In July-September, there were a large number of reports to the military
authorities . . . Some observations were made at close distance (50
metres or less) but primarily at a longer range (300 metres or more).
The C-in-C concluded that foreign sub-surface activity had taken place

. [along the north Swedish coast], the West coast, Oresund,
Kalmarsund, Braviken [the archipelago of Ostergétland] and in the
Swedish part of the Aland Sea . . .

In 1987, the C-in-C concluded that several incidents of sub-surface
activity had taken place . . . On several occasions, midget submarines
had been used: in the north in the Bay of Bothnia (Té6refjirden) and the
Sundsvall area, in the south in the Stockholm archipelago, Braviken area
and along the west coast. The C-in-C concluded that six certain and
three probable coordinated operations had violated Swedish waters . . .

In 1988, the picture was similar to the one the C-in-C had presented
for 1987, but there were fewer indications with real substance. The C-
in-C concluded that sub-surface activity had been carried out [most
likely along all coasts]. On at least three occasions, there were clear
indications of sub-surface activity inside Vaxholm [in the Stockholm
inner archipelago] close to Lidingé [in the Stockholm harbour]. Both
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on the west coast and the east coast force was used several times includ-
ing depth charges and mines [the submarine hunt at Hivringe in June
is particularly mentioned].

In 1989, the C-in-C concluded that the number of reports (about
490) on sub-surface activity had been considerably less than in earlier
years, but that the pattern was similar to 1988 . . . with a geographical
centre in the Stockholm archipelago . . . also inside Vaxholm [close to
the Stockholm harbour]. The C-in-C concluded that no single intrusion
had been classified as ‘certain’. Foreign sub-surface activity had,
however, most probably taken place on about 10 occasions in the areas
mentioned above.

In 1990, in early February, Swedish territorial waters were violated
by a West German submarine northeast of Simrishamn [in Hanobukten
in south Sweden. The incident] was reported by the German author-
ities, which apologized for what had happened. The total reports for
the year were less than 600: 20 per cent more than in 1989 but less than
in 1988 and 1987 . .. The C-in-C concluded that sub-surface activity
had most likely taken place on several occasions . . . in south Sweden
(primarily in the Blekinge [Karlskrona] archipelago and the archipelago
of Ostergotland), the east coast and along the north Swedish coast . . .

In 1991, there were 400 reports about possible sub-surface activity.
The C-in-C concluded that sub-surface activity had most likely taken
place on five occasions, on the east coast of Sweden . . . One operation
was supposed to have penetrated the Stockholm area . . .

In 1992 ... the Commander-in-Chief stated that the pattern of sub-
surface activity had been essentially similar to the preceding years . . .
[and] that Swedish territorial waters had been violated on at least three
occasions . . . The incident that had been given most attention in the
mass media was a submarine hunt against what was described as
‘certain’ sub-surface activity in the area of Oxelésund [close to the
Stockholm archipelago (depth charges, anti-submarine shells and a
torpedo were used) #°].%1

During the severe cold winters of 1984-85 and 1985-86, there were
still a number of reports but only from the west coast as if the subma-
rines under these circumstances did not want to enter the Baltic Sea.
In other words, they may have originated from states outside the
Baltic Sea. Altogether 4,700 reports of submarines were made in 1981
to 1994, including reports on passive and active sonar contacts, radar
and IR contacts, magnetic indications, sea-floor investigations and
visual observations of periscopes, submarine sails and divers.”> The
reports were collected by the Naval Analysis Group and classified as
‘certain submarine’, ‘probable submarine’ or ‘possible submarine’ (but
not unlikely). Under this, there were several groups of possible but less
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likely submarines. The 1995 Commission presented an evaluation of
some of these reports.

During this period, there were 2,587 reports of visual observations.
The first visual observation of a ‘certain submarine’ was made in 1981
with the ‘Whiskey on the Rocks’ in the Karlskrona archipelago.
According to the military reports on visual observations there had, in
1981, been one ‘certain’ observation, one characterized as ‘probable’
(and most likely) and seven characterized as ‘possible’ (but not unlikely)
observations (possible but less likely observations are not presented
here); in 1982, there were seven ‘certain’ observations, 15 ‘probable’
and 56 ‘possible’; in 1983, there were six ‘certain’ observations, 41
‘probable’ and 131 ‘possible’ observations; in 1984, there were 11
‘certain’ observations, 20 ‘probable’ and 61 ‘possible’ observations; in
1985, there were seven ‘certain’ observations, 33 ‘probable’ and 83
‘possible’ observations; in 1986, there were six ‘certain’ observations,
59 ‘probable’ and 99 ‘possible’ observations; in 1987, there were three
‘certain’ observations, 78 ‘probable’ and 147 ‘possible’ observations.
After 1987, there were no ‘certain’ observations recorded, but, in 1988,
still 31 ‘probable submarines’ and 164 ‘possible submarines’; in 1989,
23 ‘probable submarines’ and 89 ‘possible submarines’; in 1990, ten
‘probable submarines’ and 57 ‘possible submarines’; in 1991, seven
‘probable submarines’ and 37 ‘possible submarines’; in 1992, six ‘prob-
able submarines’ and 28 ‘possible submarines’. After 1992, there were
no observations of ‘probable submarine’.”?

Examples of ‘certain submarine’/‘certain’ sub-surface activity are
the following:

1. A minesweeper with several civilian guests was operating in
Kalmarsund [between the Swedish mainland and Oland island in south-
ern Sweden] in July [1986]. The weather was beautiful with sunshine
and a sea smooth as glass . . . When checking with his binoculars, [the
watch-officer] found that the rock was part of a submarine sail with
several masts. It was moving. He went to the captain, but the captain
only saw a mast slowly disappear in the water. The minesweeper went
in the direction of the object. After a few minutes, other people [on the
ship] saw an object rather far away. It was photographed . . . The ship
went towards the object once again. At a distance of 300 metres, several
people saw a periscope that turned to face the ship, increased its speed
through the water and disappeared below the surface.’*

[2.] In September 1983, an inspection officer was checking a mine
station in the Stockholm archipelago. He was on an island and saw an
object in the water that he first believed was a seal. He checked it more
carefully and saw that the object was a diver. Then he saw another two
divers. One was sitting on the beach. The divers had a cord with marks
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on and were busy measuring something. The observer went down to
the diver sitting on the beach. The diver saw him, made a sign and then
all the divers went into the water.”

Examples of ‘probable submarine’ or ‘probable’ sub-surface activity
are:

[1.] In May 1987, an inspection officer observed an object looking like
a submarine sail in a fjord in the Stockholm archipelago. The distance
was 200-300 metres and the observation was made for 15-30 seconds.
With his binoculars he saw the ‘sail’ disappear into the water. A black
mast was still visible above the surface. The mast moved towards land.

[2.] Early in the morning of a day in June 1990, a local resident saw
a submarine in the Stockholm archipelago. He first saw an echo on his
radar. When he looked in his binoculars towards the position of the
echo, he clearly saw a submarine. Less then 10 minutes later, he was less
then 200 metres from the submarine. It then moved rapidly and dived.
During most of the time of the observation, the submarine was lying
surfaced with a large part of the hull exposed.”®

[3.] In the morning of a day in August 1986, a Coastal Defence vessel
with a crew of three men saw an object in the Stockholm outer archi-
pelago. The object looked like a dark pipe [periscope] and it had a speed
of 6-9 knots. It was clear visibility, and the distance was 35-40 metres.
Two of the observers saw the object disappear into the water . . .

[4.] In the morning of an October day in 1987, two officers on a mer-
chant ship (on its way to a harbour in mid-Sweden) saw two (con-
nected) objects moving parallel to the ship. The distance to the objects
was 200-400 metres. They moved at the same speed as the ship — 10
knots — and created waves. When the ship turned after five minutes to
follow the sailing route [towards the harbour], the objects continued
into a bay and the contact was lost. The object was also followed on
radar. ..

[5.] In the early morning of a day in January 1990, two men in a boat
followed an object looking like a pipe [periscope] for 15 minutes on a
sailing route towards Stockholm. They focused a spotlight on it at a dis-
tance of 30-50 metres. They could see how the pipe created a wave, and
then disappeared into the water and, after that, the wave disappeared. ..
[6.] In August 1987, a few people were sailing in one of the large fjords
in the Stockholm archipelago. At a distance of 3-4 metres, they
observed a periscope exposed for 15-20 seconds. The observation was
preceded by a wave moving the sailing boat. The very short distance
made it possible to observe the glass on the periscope and how it was
mounted.

[7.] In the morning of a day in June 1987, a man was on his way

221



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

home after having been fishing for herring in the Tore area
[Torefjirden in the far north of Sweden]. At a distance of 30 metres, he
observed a grey-black ‘submarine’ surfacing. After that it dived slowly
and disappeared. The man observed the object for three minutes. He
could have gone into and hit it but decided to wait and observe it.””
[8.] In September [1987 in the Brdviken area close to Norrképing], a
man was out in his boat . . . When he went closer, he saw it was a diver.
At a distance of 25 metres, he saw that the diver was sitting on a vessel,
because he was sitting straight up while he was moving forward. The
diver turned his head and obviously saw the approaching boat, because
he went down into the water while moving forward. At the short dis-
tance (25 metres), the observer could see his Cyclops and how his
diving suit folded in his neck when he turned his head.”®

Examples of ‘possible submarines’ or ‘possible’ sub-surface activity
are:

1. On the morning of a day in December 1987, four people at a ferry
in the Stockholm archipelago saw a ‘submarine sail’. The object was
observed for 3—4 minutes at a distance of 4,000-5,000 metres . . .

2. In early June 1994, two civilians on Gotland observed, for 15
minutes, a submarine sail and parts of the hull of a submarine at a dis-
tance of 3,000-4,000 metres . . .

[3.] One morning in July 1986, a family of four people were out in
their motor boat in northern Ostergétland. Suddenly, at a distance of
20 metres, father and son saw an object for 20-25 seconds that moved
in front of the boat until it disappeared into the water. They clearly saw
foam and waves, and they estimated the speed at 3-4 knots. The object
was cylindrical and behind it was an object that looked like an antenna.

[4.] On one morning in November 1986, an officer and a conscript
observed an object moving south between two islands in the Ostergot-
land archipelago. Both men had binoculars. The distance of the object
was 250-450 metres. The observation lasted 4 minutes . . .

[5.] In June 1988, a couple were in a motor boat at Brimén not far
from Sundsvall. They saw an object moving towards the boat at a speed
that almost created foam [around it] . . . The distance was 100 metres,
and the observation lasted one minute. The man in the boat contacted
two other boats by radio. They also saw something that looked like a
stick. The object was vertical to the sea surface all the time . . .

[6.] In June 1987, one person was in a boat on the coast of
Norrbotten [in northern Sweden]. In front of him, he saw a 2-metre-
long ‘rock’ at a distance of 100-150 metres. Small waves lapped against
the object. It disappeared at a distance of 30 metres. A bubble appeared
on the surface. The vision was clear and there was no wind or waves.
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When the object had disappeared, there was a plough-like wave moving
in the same direction as the object.

[7.] In May 1988, a couple were out in their sailing boat in the
Stockholm southern archipelago. At a distance of 500 metres, they saw
something that looked like the back of a whale moving towards the
boat. The object changed direction and increased its speed with waves
in the front and at the back. The couple saw the object for 8 minutes
with and without binoculars . . .

[8.] In early September 1991, a man and a woman were out in a boat
in the Stockholm archipelago. At a distance of 15-20 metres in front of
the boat, they saw something flashing in the water. The man immedi-
ately believed it was a diver and decreased the speed of the boat. Both
observers saw the diver turn his head and the Cyclops become visible.
The man, himself a diver, saw that the Cyclops was of a type not known
to him. No bubbles were visible after the dive, but there were two rings
in the water where the ‘head’ had disappeared.®”

In this text, not only reports about ‘certain submarines’ but also reports
about ‘probable’ and even ‘possible submarines’ appear to a large
extent credible. Commander Goran Frisk, former Chief of a Fast
Attack Craft Division and Chief of the Anti-Submarine Force, said that
the Navy, once or twice a year, used to let one Swedish submarine show
its periscope in the Stockholm archipelago or somewhere else to test
the readiness and the routines of the Swedish military organization.
The observations went through the usual procedures but were imme-
diately afterwards taken out of the Naval Analysis Group Report. One
Swedish submarine that had been showing its periscope in the
Stockholm archipelago was, for example, classified as a ‘possible sub-
marine’, Frisk said — indicating that a ‘possible submarine’ does not
have to be less real. The classification made by the Naval Analysis
Group only tells us something about the perceived credibility of the
observations, not if this or that observation refers to a real submarine.

The 1995 Commission went through all this material from the
secret files made by the Naval Analysis Group from 1982 onwards.
Their critical investigation still confirmed the existence of ‘certain sub-
marines’. However, the Commission found no proof for pointing to
any particular state of origin. After having looked at all the classified
material used by the 1983 Commission and every single argument pre-
sented by this commission, the 1995 Commission found none of its
arguments convincing. That there were regular, large-scale operations
threatening Sweden was confirmed, but the Commission did not find
any particular state responsible for these threats.!%°

Mikael Damberg, from the Swedish Defence Ministry, explained
the difference between the two commissions in the following way:
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the first [1983] Commission was able to identify the nationality of the
intrusions into Harsfjarden, because it based its judgement on a combi-
nation of indications and security policy motives. The second [1995]
Commission was not able to identify nationality. It did not take any secur-
ity policy motive into consideration. It only looked at indications."!

In other words, in contrast to the views among a number of generals,
admirals and political leaders quoted above, he implied that the reason
for the 1983 Commission to point to the Soviet Union was that only
the Soviet Union would have had an interest in carrying out such oper-
ations. Professor Bo Huldt at the Swedish Defence College had been
asked to analyse possible motives for the 1995 Submarine Commis-
sion, but the Commission had rejected Huldt’s study (a later version
was published in Internationella Studier'®?). Huldt argued that the
Soviet Union had had the strongest motives and was most likely
responsible for the intrusions. The Commission, however, argued that
a motive is not enough if you don’t have evidence. This may explain
Damberg’s statement.

Both the 1983 Commission and the 1995 Commission seem to
have presupposed that the material presented to them was the most
sensitive material with most clear evidence of submarine activity. This,
however, was not the case, and, for the 1983 Commission, this fact
was known to its military expert. Most clear arguments for this are:
firstly, that the Naval Analysis Group Report under Commander Emil
Svensson excluded the most sensitive material and several of the clear-
est observations; secondly, that somebody had edited the tape record-
ings and removed the most sensitive information from the tapes; and
thirdly, that Commander Bengt Gabrielsson, Chief of Naval
Operations Eastern Military District, was asked to write drafts for the
1983 Commission (which he did) without having access to the most
sensitive material — something its military expert Vice-Admiral
Stefenson was aware of.

Vice-Admiral Stefenson stated to the Ekéus Investigation that there
was no evidence pointing to any specific state and that he was sur-
prised that the Commission had pointed to the Soviet Union.!® I
doubt that Stefenson remembered this correctly. As the military
expert, Stefenson participated in the work of finalizing the
Commission Report.!'” The members of the Commission refer to
Stefenson as the one who was able definitely to point to the Soviet
Union. The material presented by Emil Svensson and the Naval
Analysis Group also definitely pointed to the Soviet Union.
Stefenson’s own Defence Staff Report of 18 April 1983, which was
used for the press conference and for drafting a diplomatic note to the
Soviet Union, points to the Soviet Union in every respect.!? Stefenson
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stated also to the Ekéus Investigation that ‘the signal intelligence infor-
mation they had did not necessarily point to the Soviet Union’,'% but
his report of 18 April 1983 says that ‘the result of signal intelligence
shows definitely that Warsaw Pact submarines have been active in
Swedish territorial waters’.'%” In both the Defence Staff Report (Bror
Stefenson) and in the Naval Analysis Group Report (Emil Svensson)
information pointing to Western submarines was taken out, while
information that could be interpreted as supporting Soviet involve-
ment was used to discuss alternative classes of Soviet submarines —
something that made the member of the Submarine Commission Olle
Svensson accept the military expert’s view about Soviet responsibility
for the intrusions.

In 1999, former defence minister Thage G. Peterson, came up with
some questions about the submarine intrusions:

[Tt concerns the American total lack of interest in the Swedish subma-
rine problems, and what the explanation is for this lack of interest. The
Baltic Sea area has for decades been and still is of great strategic signif-
icance for the USA and NATO. If such serious matters occur as subma-
rine intrusions into the waters of neutral Sweden in this very sensitive
area, and the Soviet Union/Russia is believed to be responsible for these
intrusions, shouldn’t the Americans in that case be interested in what
has happened or still is happening? In practical terms, this would be a
forwarding of the position of the other military bloc. But the USA has
never been concerned about the submarine issue. Isn’t that strange?
Particularly since the USA and NATO have been covering and still cover
the Baltic Sea area with satellites, aircraft and other advanced recon-
naissance systems? And have an extensive intelligence activity? But they
leave us with our submarine problems. Isn’t that strange? . . . In late
1996, 1 was visited by the US Secretary of Defense, William Perry. We
developed good relations, and 1 liked his friendly and listening attitude.
We visited Harsfjarden together. In the car from Berga, I brought up the
submarine intrusions. My American colleague smiled and looked at me
with sympathy: ‘It may be other things than submarines in the water,
and if there is a submarine, it doesn’t have to be Russian!'%8

NOTES

1 CM/Grandin (1982).

2 SOU (1983).

3 General Ljung wrote in his diary: ‘The Prime Minister had gathered the
Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Defence and their State Secretaries at Rosenbad
[the Prime Minister’s office]. A press conference was to be held the following
day concerning the submarine defence issue, where the task for the commission
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The National Origin of
the Harsfjirden Submarine

SOVIET SUBMARINE OPERATIONS

The 1995 Submarine Commission Report was not able to identify the
national origin of the intruding submarines. This provoked the
Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs on 20 February 1996 to appoint
a group to make a study of possible security policy motives for the
foreign submarine activity. The lack of evidence pointing to one
nation or another made it necessary to classify this report (it was
declassified in March 2000). Ambassador Lars-Erik Lundin was
appointed the chairman of this study group. The other members were
Ambassador Carl-Johan Groth, Professor Rutger Lindahl and
Ambassador Lennart Myrsten. The report concluded that the Soviet
Union and the Warsaw Pact had the strongest military motives for
operations in Swedish waters, while both the Soviet Union and NATO
countries may have had political motives for such operations. The
authors underlined, however, that the strongest motives were to be
found in the East. Only Baltic Sea states were believed to carry out
major operations in the Baltic Sea area, and of these states only the
Soviet Union, later the Russian Federal Republic, had the capability of
operating with several midget submarines and conventional subma-
rines in Swedish waters. The study does not exclude some Western
activity, but the main intruder is believed to have been the Soviet
Union. The number of Soviet submarines in the Baltic Sea, the actual
intrusion of a Whiskey submarine in October 1981, and Soviet inter-
ests in the Swedish coastline because of increased tension between the
two blocs all pointed to the Soviet Union.!

In 1982, the Soviet Navy had about 40 submarines in the Baltic Sea:
15-20 Whiskey-class submarines (76 metres; two propellers), one or
two Romeo-class submarines (77 metres; two propellers), six Foxtrot
(91 metres; three propellers), four to six Zulu (90 metres; three pro-
pellers), one Tango (92 metres; three propellers), six Golf-class ballis-
tic-missile submarines (98 metres; three propellers), three Juliet
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cruise-missile submarines (87 metres; two propellers) plus possibly a
couple of smaller Quebec (56 metres; three propellers). Several of the
older submarines may have been in reserve. The Soviets also had a
number of oceanographic research submersibles like Tinro 2 (7 metres;
one propeller), Sever 2 (12 metres; one propeller) and Benthos-300
(30 metres; one propeller) — most of them in the Black Sea. These sub-
mersibles could have been transferred to the Baltic Sea, but none of
them are suited to covert intelligence collection and special force oper-
ations. Furthermore, the Soviets had four (according to another source
123) deep submergence rescue vehicles, two Project 1837K (11 metres;
two propellers) and two Project 1837 (12 metres; one propeller) with
the two India-class submarines as mother-subs.*

More important, however, Soviet naval special forces used a
number of midgets or SDVs including the torpedo-like Sirena (6
metres; one propeller), the advanced Sirena-UME (8.7 metres; one
propeller) and several Triton I (5 metres; one propeller) and Triton II
(9.5 metres; one propeller). Both these Tritons have a speed of 6
knots.®> There is supposedly also a larger version of Triton — a dry/wet
mini-submarine of about 20 metres for the landing of special force
swimmers — as [ was told by an intelligence officer. After the Second
World War, the Soviets captured the German midget submarine type
Seehund (12 metres; one propeller) and the ‘human torpedo’ Neger
(7.5 metres; one propeller). The post-war Soviet midgets may have
been a development of these craft.® The Soviet Sirena has similarities
to the Neger, and the Soviet Elbrus (14 metres; one propeller”) has
similarities to the Seehund. The Soviets had, according to Swedish
Military Intelligence, a couple of small tracked submersibles with
about 0.5-metre-wide caterpillar tracks and less than a metre in
between them, similar to the German bottom-crawling Seeteufel. A
Norwegian admiral told me that, in the 1990s, prints from a bottom-
crawling submersible were found in northern Norway. They were
believed to originate from a Soviet submersible. However, the dimen-
sions were very different from the prints in Sweden in 1982. In the
Norwegian case, each track was narrower and the distance between
them was much greater compared to the prints in Harsfjirden and at
Milsten. In 1987-88 (or from 31 December 19883%), there were two
Pyranja or Losos (29 metres; one propeller) also fitted for special force
operations.” They were able to deliver two Sirenas to the target area.

In 1982, Soviet conventional submarines based in the Baltic Sea
were able to launch SDVs, the torpedo-like Sirena (a diameter of 0.5
metres) through a standard torpedo tube, but this is no real midget
submarine. The research vessel Akademik Aleksey Krylov was able to
carry a ‘midget’, a 14-metre ‘research submersible’ (the Elbrus), in a
hidden hangar on the side of the ship. She made her maiden voyage
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in December 1982.1° In the Baltic Sea, up to four other surface vessels
were at the time able to carry midgets that could exit a flooded section
of the ship through a door below the surface, a Swedish intelligence
officer told me. These vessels were known by Western intelligence and
they never entered Western ports, he said. However, at the time of the
Haérsfjirden operation, none of these vessels, actually no Soviet vessel,
was even in the vicinity of the Stockholm archipelago.

In the Northern Fleet, the Soviet Navy also had a mother-sub, an
India-class submarine (105 metres; one propeller), carrying two
rescue vehicles, which could possibly be replaced by offensive midget
submarines. In the 1980s, a rebuilt Yankee submarine (125 metres;
two propellers) was believed to carry a midget in a hangar behind the
sail.!! In Modern Submarine Warfare, David Miller and John Jordan
propose that an India-class submarine might have carried Soviet
midgets to the Swedish archipelagos,'? and, theoretically speaking,
both the Yankee and the India class could have been transferred to the
Baltic Sea, but they never were. In 1982 (or between 1981 and 1985),
according to the monthly Danish Military Intelligence Report, neither
the Yankee class nor the India class was ever in the Baltic Sea.!?

During the Second World War, the Soviet Union operated subma-
rines in Swedish waters and sank Swedish and other ships in these
waters. In the Bay of Finland, Soviet submarines used a special tech-
nique to crawl on the sea floor to avoid submarine nets. Commander
Hans von Hofsten quotes the Swedish wartime Naval Attaché to
Helsinki, Commander Ragnar Thorén, as saying: ‘If you are expect-
ing to find the [Soviet] submarines outside a certain archipelago, you
may well find them on guard inside the archipelago in well-defended
fjords, which they reached by crawling on the bottom.”'* A Swedish
senior Defence Ministry official said that this information was per-
ceived as the final proof for Soviet intrusions into Swedish waters in
the 1980s. It was believed that these Soviet experiences from the
Second World War were used to formulate Soviet operative planning
in the post-war years.

In 1990, in his address to the Swedish Royal War Academy, Carl
Bildt argued that such operations could only, for geographical
reasons, be done along the Swedish coast. He believed that the Soviet
Navy had carried out anti-ship operations in the Swedish territorial
sea and outer archipelago since the Second World War.!S Finding
hiding places for the six Golf missile submarines might also have been
an important argument for Soviet operations in Swedish archipelagos.
Soviet wartime experience, the large number of Soviet submarines
(including midget submarines), the threatening Soviet rhetoric and
Soviet security interest in activities along the Swedish coast (for
example, because of possible US use of Swedish airbases in time of
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war) convinced most Swedish academic scholars that the Soviet Union
was responsible for almost all intrusions into the Swedish archipela-
gos in 1980s.'® Others, primarily US scholars like Robert Weinland,
Gordon McCormick and Paul Cole, underlined the Soviet need to
reach the Norwegian Atlantic coast by attacking and then passing
through central Sweden. The Soviets would land special forces from
submarines and attack the political and military elite and thereby par-
alyse Sweden.!” In a 1984 study for the Office of the Secretary of
Defense, Lynn M. Hansen writes:

[To be able to make a swift move forward with conventional forces,]
the Soviets have been undertaking the special Spetsnaz operations in
both Sweden and Norway so that they can move quickly and decisively
in achieving naval supremacy in the Baltic Sea by neutralizing Swedish
defenses, including the Swedish Navy. The reason for actively violating
Swedish territory could be to create the possibility of moving overland
across Sweden with several divisions to attack much of Northern
Norway . . . [These] operations conducted against Sweden and Norway,
and probably also all the other Scandinavian countries, were performed
by special forces [mini-submarine groups and combat swimmers] char-
acteristically referred to by the Soviets as Spetsnaz.'®

In 1983, former Director of the CIA Admiral Stansfield Turner said
that the Soviet Baltic Fleet had midget submarines as well as naval
special forces, and these forces ‘have to be given something to do’."”
Michael MccGwire writes that the Soviets have two interests in the
Swedish archipelago, both linked to intelligence and navigational
training: ‘to prevent it being used to their disadvantage and to use
selected parts of it for their own purposes. Thorough peacetime
reconnaissance is important to both missions.’?? In the same year, Carl

Bildt argued:

Operations on this scale, and of this nature, cannot be explained by the
intelligence and navigational training tasks often pointed at in the
public debate. Intelligence gathering is a task that can be assigned to an
isolated submarine trying to get close to Swedish naval manoeuvres or
fixed military installations, but it is not possible to ascribe the type of
large, coordinated operations observed repeatedly during 1982 purely
to intelligence gathering . . . The operations are to be seen as prepara-
tions for actual missions to be undertaken in case of war . . . [Clovert
mining is one of the important tasks . . . Another possible (indeed prob-
able) mission for these submarines in wartime might be the landing of
special purpose forces to undertake sabotage raids against . . . vital
political and military installations.?!
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Bildt is probably right that the primary purpose is not intelligence
gathering, but it is difficult to understand how the show of submarine
sails and periscopes in densely populated areas can be interpreted as
preparations for covert mining and covert landing of special forces.
These preparations might very well have taken place, but the activity
in the Hérsfjirden operation and in many other incidents is difficult
to explain as such tasks.

Colonel Jonathan Alford (ret.), then Deputy Director of the
International Institute of Strategic Studies in London, argued, like
Leitenberg and McCormick, that the Soviets by conducting these pro-
vocative operations were trying to bully Sweden into a submissive state
of mind to make the Swedes understand that they would be unable to
resist in time of war. However, he also believed that Soviet submarine
intrusions into Swedish waters may have been an attempt to provoke
the Swedes to develop an anti-submarine warfare capability to draw
resources from the Air Force, which would be of greater significance for
the control of the Scandinavian peninsula.?? The Swedish submarine
captain Nils Bruzelius also argued that the Soviets may have operated
submarines in Swedish waters in order to provoke Sweden to develop
its anti-submarine warfare capability, but to Bruzelius the argument
would be to strengthen the Swedes’ ability to defend against Western
submarines threatening Soviet activity in the Baltic Sea. In a war, West
German submarines would most likely operate from Swedish territorial
waters to attack the Soviet Sea Lines of Communication along the
eastern Baltic coast. If neutral Sweden did not have an anti-submarine
warfare capacity, West German submarines could use Swedish waters as
a sanctuary, Bruzelius argued.?® This hypothesis, however, presupposes
that the Soviets took for granted that Sweden would stay neutral in a
war, something that is not very likely.?* According to another argument,
the Soviet Navy needed to deploy transponders for navigation support
in important sub-surface waterways. This seems plausible, and, accord-
ing to a Swedish former intelligence officer, a Russian source has also
indicated that this might have been the case. Signals believed to come
from transponders have been picked up by the Swedes at Milsten and
at Lingbilingen. However, there is also information pointing to
Western deployment of such transponders.

During the submarine hunt in October 1982, Radio Moscow stated
that ‘the real danger should not be sought under water’? indicating
that the presence of a US cruiser and frigate — not the covert sub-
surface activities — would be the real threat to Sweden, as if possible
submarines were of less importance than these surface ships. Radio
Moscow could be interpreted as if these submarines originated from
the Soviet Union.?¢ In March 1984 Alexander Bovin wrote in Izvestija
and Dagens Nybheter:
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In whose interest is this continued chill between Moscow and
Stockholm? Not even the most trained political scholar will be able to
explain it to be in the Soviet interest . . . [But he also wrote that] the
intensification of NATO’s activity in northern Europe and the Baltic
region naturally requires the Warsaw Pact to see to its own security. This
increases the probability of undesirable incidents. Particularly undesir-
able incidents. And our military leadership does everything it can to
prevent them from occurring. Especially if it concerns the territorial
waters or airspace of alliance-free or neutral countries.?”

These statements combined with the very existence of the provocative
but elusive submarine activities were interpreted as a conscious use of
submarines to signal Soviet ambitions as well as a criticism of NATO
and particularly of the forward US operations and of close Swedish-US
cooperation. Scandinavian and particularly Swedish waters were per-
ceived as a grey zone.?® Some of us saw the ‘Soviet activities’ in the
framework of the general Cold War logic,?’ while others looked upon
these activities from a perspective of Soviet offensive operations.3?
There was no independent researcher who believed in the possibility
of non-Soviet submarines, or rather only one researcher pointed to the
possibility of West German activity.3!

Some vyears later, a Soviet general, Vladimir Cheremnikh, First
Deputy Commander of Leningrad Military District, told me that
Soviet submarines may have operated in Swedish waters in the 1950s
and 1960s. He also indicated that this may have happened later, but
he would have been informed if there had been any serious incident.
A Norwegian admiral told me that on one occasion divers landed in
northern Norway and soon afterwards left for the sea again. The
divers did not present themselves, but the Norwegian Navy knew that,
at that time, at that very place, there was a Soviet submarine just
outside, which indicated that the divers originated from Soviet special
forces. On other occasions, however, divers landing from submarines
turned out to originate from US or UK special forces (see below).

In a Swedish TV programme in autumn 1996, an anonymous
former Soviet naval officer said that he had participated in submarine
operations in Scandinavian (allegedly in Swedish) territorial waters. All
symbols on the submarine were covered with paint. The mother-sub —
the conventional submarine — stayed outside while they used the Sirena
or the Triton for deep penetration. He said that the Soviets deployed
mines and torpedoes in foreign coastal waters, and these weapons
could be activated in a war but needed maintenance in peacetime. In
the same TV programme, retired Captain Valerjan Asejev, a medical
doctor on Baltic Sea submarines, said that special submarine operations
were run by the GRU. It was possible to feel immediately when the sub-
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marine entered foreign waters, because the senior officers became
much more alert. In some incidents, crew members had been hurt and
divers had possibly been lost. They also said that Western submarines
(US, French and West German) operated in these waters.??

In the late 1980s, the Swedish Navy was able to tape-record a Golf
I submarine in international water in the Sea of Bothnia, which indi-
cates that it had passed through the Aland Sea either on the Swedish
or on the Finnish side. However, there is no confirmed tape record-
ing of a Soviet submarine in Swedish waters. Swedish Commander-in-
Chief Bengt Gustafsson said that in May 1987 the Swedish Navy had
taken a ‘photo’ (with a ‘Kleinhydrophone’) of a small submarine,
about 30 metres (or to be more exact 28.5 metres), in Swedish
waters.>> In June 1988, the Swedish Navy had contact with an
echo/submarine with a length of 30 metres®* (or 20-30 metres®3). Also
in 1988, according to Wilhelm Agrell and Christer Larsson, the West
German Navy took a photo (with infra-red film) of a submarine of a
similar size, possibly the Pyranja, in Soviet waters close to the Soviet
naval base of Baltijsk.3®¢ However, the Pyranja did not exist in 1982,
and it was allegedly not operational in May 1987, when the ‘photo’
(with a ‘Kleinhydrophone’) was taken.’” In May 1984, a Swedish
minesweeper had contact with a 30-metre-long echo moving faster
than the ship in a narrow passage in the Stockholm archipelago.?® It
seems that 30- (or 20- to 30-) metre submarines operated in Swedish
waters before the Pyranja was developed. The Swedes believed that
there must have been an earlier version of Pyranja. In comments made
by US Naval Intelligence on Agrell’s and Larsson’s article, this was not
perceived as very likely. Naval Intelligence did not believe in the
Pyranja as a second generation.?’

From 1985, Swedish Military Intelligence had information about a
28-metre submarine in Soviet waters. It was 6.5 metres high and had
alow sail (1.5 metres). These figures are identical to the Cosmos MG-
110, and I am not yet convinced that this was a Soviet submarine. On
several occasions, the Swedish Navy had also had contact with a §- to
10-metre midget including the bottom-crawling vessel seen in
Hérsfjirden in 1982. The Pyranja was able to carry two SDVs, the
6-metre Sirena, while the Triton could be delivered from a surface
ship. These midgets are said to be under the command of GRU and to
have Leningrad as a rear base supplemented by a mobile basing system
using trailers (not conventional submarines) for transportation to dif-
ferent Baltic ports.** However, this does not give an answer to the
operations in Swedish waters.

The top-secret Swedish Defence Staff Report of 25 November
1987 stated that the Swedish Navy had experience of an intruding
Soviet sub-surface system with up to ten 30-metre submarines each
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delivering one or two 10-metre midgets or SDVs to the target area.
One or more of the latter were believed to be tracked submersibles
with bottom-crawling capability. The report argued that the Swedes
had several years’ experience of these submarines.*! In 1990, Carl
Bildt said that he and the Submarine Defence Commission were prob-
ably wrong to believe that Whiskey submarines operated as mother-
subs for the 10-metre midgets. New information showed that it was
these 30-metre submarines that had this task. The Whiskeys or other
conventional submarines most likely did not operate in Swedish inter-
nal waters. Bildt mentioned the possibility of eight 30-metre subma-
rines and 14 10-metre submarines — all operating primarily against
Sweden.*> However, in 2002 I have still seen no proof that the Soviet
Union had such a system. The information from 1985 is not con-
firmed, and before 1988 there may not have been a single Soviet sub-
marine of 20-30 metres except for the large submersible and
sub-surface laboratory Benthos-300 with a speed of 1.5 knots, which
is not very suitable for offensive operations.*’ Furthermore, according
to the ‘Government Group’ and former Chief of Military Intelligence
Major-General Bengt Wallroth, there is no information about these
20- to 30-metre vessels crossing the Baltic Sea,** despite the fact that
they would be much easier to pick up on transit there than in the
Swedish archipelagos. These 30-metre submarines seem to have been
deployed from surface ships and dumped into the archipelagos.
However, in Hirsfjirden in October 1982 and also on other occasions
there was no Soviet ship in the vicinity.

In the 1990s, in connection with the Swedish—Russian talks about
the submarine incidents in Swedish waters, Swedish intelligence per-
sonnel investigated the issue in Russia and in the newly independent
Baltic States. They found nothing, a Swedish intelligence officer told
me. There was no infrastructure necessary to support the sub-surface
system of a number of 30- and 10-metre submarines. The Soviet Baltic
Fleet does not seem to have had such forces. Soviet submarines most
likely exercised in Swedish waters, but not in the very complicated
inner archipelago, he said. Soviet Military Intelligence, GRU, had a
very secret department for carrying out sub-surface espionage or
special force operations, but this does not give a satisfactory answer
to the operations in Swedish waters, this intelligence officer said. He
was not able to explain the combined operations of SDVs and mini-
submarines as mother-subs deep into the Swedish archipelagos.

After the stranding of the Soviet Whiskey submarine on 27 October
1981, Danish Military Intelligence reported on Soviet activities and
on concentration of a large Soviet force off the Swedish coast. The
same reports for October 1982, dealing with all Soviet naval activities
in the Baltic Sea area, do not reflect anything in connection with the
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submarine hunt in Harsfjirden. In general, Soviet activities in the
Baltic Sea were characterized as ‘low’, and activities along the Swedish
coast were not mentioned.* The same pattern is found in the Swedish
intelligence reports of October 1982 (see above). The only ‘hard evi-
dence’, the tape-recording from 12 October 1982, turned out to point
to the West. Commander Anders Hammar, who made the relevant
briefing of the Submarine Defence Commission, says today that he
deceived them, because he was misled by his own colleagues.

The above information indicates Soviet submarine activities in
Swedish waters, and it would be surprising if Soviet operations had
not also been conducted in the 1980s. But the above information does
not give a satisfactory explanation — either to the Harsfjarden incident
or to several other high-profile operations in the Swedish archipela-
gos. Except for the stranded Whiskey submarine in 1981, there are no
hard facts and only a few indications pointing to the Soviet Union. We
also have to look at other possibilities.

WEST GERMAN SUBMARINE OPERATIONS

In the early 1980s, West Germany had quite a few submarines in the
Baltic Sea: six Type 205-class submarines (44 metres; one propeller)
and 18 Type 206-class submarines (48.6 metres; one propeller). Both
are said to have a ‘non-magnetic hull’,*¢ or actually a hull made of a
steel alloy with very low magnetism, a German admiral told me. When
passing the sensors of the mines, the magnetic field of the submarine
would not be clearly registered. The West German Navy may have had
a couple of mini- and midget submarines like the small coastal subma-
rines MSV 75 (21 metres) with a transit range of 2,900 nautical miles
and Type 100 (20 metres; one propeller) developed together with the
British company Vickers (see below).*”

During the Second World War, Germany produced several hundreds
of midgets of type Seehund, Biber and Molch (all 9-12 metres; one pro-
peller), hundreds of the human torpedo Neger (7.5 metres; one pro-
peller) and a prototype of a bottom-crawling Seeteufel/Elefant (13.5
metres; one propeller), the latter leaving tank-like prints on the sea
floor.*® These small coastal submarines were supposedly able to operate
both in harbours and in shallow waters. In the 1980s, the Germans also
had a midget submarine Sea Horse II (14.5 metres; one propeller) with
a transit range of 400 nautical miles. It was capable of diving 200
metres and carrying four to six men.* ‘{O]ne was procured in 1984 by
North Korea through a commercial organization, while the delivery of
the second boat, although officially designed for underwater work and
inspection, was stopped in 1987 by international pressure.””? Emil
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Svensson’s report mentions a couple of civilian and possible military
midget submarines. However, none of them are believed to have been
operational.’!

In a war, West German submarines were supposed to use the Swedish
coast as a basing area, because the major German Baltic naval base (at
Kiel) would certainly have been destroyed. It was believed that the
Soviet lines of communication through Poland would be destroyed in
the early phase of a war, and the primary offensive task of the West
German submarines was to attack the Soviet Sea Lines of Communica-
tion along the Soviet Baltic coast and Poland. In a document of 1963,
former Swedish Chief of Staff General Carl Eric Almgren speaks about
Swedish coordination with NATO and a plan that ‘includes such infor-
mation that we will not sink each other’s submarines or enter each
other’s minefields’.>? In other words, Almgren speaks about Swedish
plans for coordinating wartime mining and submarine activity with
NATO. This means that Swedish submarine operations would either be
coordinated by BALTAP in Karup (NATO’s Command for the Baltic
Approaches in Denmark), or they would be geographically limited to
the northern Baltic Sea, with operations in the Bay of Finland and
Estonian waters, while West German submarines would operate in
Latvian and Lithuanian waters from the area of the Swedish port of
Norrk6ping southwards. According to a Danish admiral, the latter alter-
native would be more likely in the initial phase of a war.

The West German Rear-Admiral Ansgar Bethge has stated that the
primary offensive task for German submarines would be to cut the
Soviet Sea Lines of Communication in the Baltic Sea along the Latvian
and Lithuanian coasts.’? To survive, these submarines would have to use
the Swedish archipelago as a base area, where they would be supported
with ammunition by German depot ships. The latter would not be able
to operate in open sea in wartime. They would want to use Swedish
naval bases, or, as one German naval officer said to a Swedish admiral as
an argument for a naval visit to Karlskrona, ‘Karlskrona is such an ideal
base in wartime.” The German Navy usually visited small Swedish har-
bours along the coast, while other navies primarily visited Stockholm
and Goteborg. German submarines obviously used port visits (in
Norrképing, Vistervik, Kalmar and Karlskrona) to make themselves
acquainted with the underwater terrain. Furthermore, in a prolonged
war, these ‘Swedish-based” German submarines would have access to
pre-stocked German ammunition in southern Norway. According to a
Swedish intelligence officer, the German diesel-electric submarines
would also have to use their noisier diesel engines in Swedish waters to
avoid Soviet anti-submarine warfare while charging their electric batter-
ies and to use their silent electric engines for attacks against the Soviet
Sea Lines of Communication along the Latvian and Lithuanian coast.
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In private talks, Swedish naval officers have told me that West
German submarines have also been found in Swedish waters and
covertly have used Swedish waters as a base area for exercising offen-
sive operations against Soviet vessels along the Latvian and Lithuanian
coast.’* A Swedish intelligence officer told me that, in the early or mid-
1980s, West German submarines had exercised offensive operations
against Soviet vessels along the Latvian coast and then left for an offi-
cial port visit to the Swedish harbour of Norrképing, while other West
German submarines replaced the first ones. After that, the first subma-
rines went back to the Latvian coast replacing the second group as if
the port visit in Norrképing had been part of the exercise. The
Germans were training to use Swedish ports as bases where the sub-
marines received fuel and ammunition. As already mentioned, to cut
the Soviet Sea Lines of Communication in the Baltic Sea was a primary
task for the West German Navy, and this seemingly presupposed
German use of Swedish coastal waters. This may be an additional
reason for Soviet activities in the Swedish archipelago. The Soviets
also had to make themselves acquainted with the underwater terrain.
According to an admiral from a NATO country, reductions in Swedish
defence spending from the early 1970s and the scaling-down of
Swedish anti-submarine warfare capacity gave any intruder free access
to Swedish territorial waters. Submarines in the Swedish archipelago
may have originated from both the Soviet Union and various NATO
countries. Of the incident at Uto (outside Mysingen) in late September
1980, some Swedish officers suspected a Soviet Whiskey submarine as
well as a West German Type 206, but the Commander-in-Chief never
said anything about the national origin of the submarines.

During the Harsfjirden incident some West German activities
demand a closer look. The believed West German submarine radars,
the Bonn telegram on 6 October, the strange behaviour of the West
German merchant ship on 10 October and the nervousness of some
West German diplomats during this period may all indicate some kind
of West German involvement. However, a large amount of indications
or even evidence mentioned above fit neither with Soviet nor with
German submarines: the prints on the sea floor, the tape recordings,
the yellow/green patch, the possible passage of a submarine through
Oresund after the Harsfjarden incident, and the statements about ‘the
Milsten submarine’. In Expressen, a Swedish high-ranking officer was
quoted as saying that the ‘Milsten submarine’ was a ‘NATO subma-
rine’ but not a West German one.’® In his diary General Ljung charac-
terized Expressen’s comment as ‘doubtful’ (in Swedish, ‘tveksam’). He
wanted to neither confirm nor deny this statement, although he
denied a statement about a West German submarine.’”

After a Swedish general had had long talks with his West German
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counterpart, he accompanied him to his aircraft. Before entering the
aircraft, the German general said: “We have also had these tracks from
a bottom-crawling submarine.” To the Swedish general, this was of
course very interesting, so why did the German general choose to tell
him this at the stairs to the aircraft, when there was no possibility of
further questions? If he believed that the tracks originated from a
Soviet vessel, he would have invited some exchange of information.
But he did not. Maybe he wanted to signal that the origin was differ-
ent from what the Swedish general believed. The Swedish general did
not know how to interpret this incident.

There are several observations of West German submarines in
Swedish territorial waters — some also in the archipelago — but to my
knowledge, except for the above-mentioned possible observation of a
Type 206 in 1980, they have all been outside the restricted security
zones. During the war, the Germans already had detailed maps of sub-
surface waterways and hiding places in the Swedish archipelagos. After
the war, the West Germans were able to use their port visits for neces-
sary training in the Swedish archipelago. They may also have trained
in navigation in Swedish archipelagos under other circumstances. All
this seems to have been satisfactory to the Germans. There is, however,
to my knowledge nothing that indicates that the West Germans have
tried to provoke the Swedes on purpose. The West German post-war
focus on legal activity also makes it less likely that German submarines
would have been responsible for the extremely provocative operations
in Swedish waters in the 1980s.

Furthermore, it is very difficult to believe that the German Navy
would operate deep into the Swedish archipelago risking the lives of
their officers and divers. Unlike the British Royal Navy, the French
Navy and the US Navy, the German Navy has no, and did not at the
time have any, global responsibility, which could have justified a
damaged submarine and a loss of personnel. While British, French and
US navies are used to losses and able to hide a loss of military person-
nel in a remote conflict, nothing of this is applicable to Germany. (The
West German need to use Swedish territorial waters in wartime also
made such operations extremely risky.) The Royal Navy, the French
Navy and particularly the US Navy have been much more willing to
accept loss of lives. In 1982, the US Navy lost 562 men, and, in the
1980s altogether 5,865 men were lost, primarily in the USA. Of these
losses, 12 men (and 11 marines) were lost in ‘unknown/not reported’
areas, which indicates that these men were lost in areas where the
Navy will not acknowledge having operated.*®
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BRITISH SUBMARINE OPERATIONS

In the early 1980s, the Royal Navy had 13 diesel-electric and demag-
netized Oberon-class patrol submarines: Oberon, Odin, Orpheus,
Olympus, Osiris, Onslaught, Otter, Oracle, Ocelot, Otus, Opossum,
Opportune and Onyx (90 metres; two propellers) providing the prin-
cipal submarine delivery units for naval special forces (SBS and SAS
swimmer teams).’” The Royal Navy still had a couple of Porpoise-class
diesel-electric submarines like Walrus (73 metres; two propellers) as
well as some smaller nuclear Valiant-class submarines (87 metres; one
propeller) and the earlier Dreadnought (81 metres; one propeller).®°
Similar to the Soviet Whiskey submarine, the Oberon profited from
the design of the German XXI-class submarines with their cachalot-
like form, external keel and two propellers. The Oberon-class subma-
rines were able to carry a midget. The Odin (S10) and the Opossum
(S19) were training with the US submersible Avalon in the early
1980s.¢" A photo shows a Royal Navy SDV (13 metres; one propel-
ler) being manoeuvred to fit on its mother-sub, an Oberon-class sub-
marine. Welham also has a drawing showing another British SDV (10
metres; one propeller).? The Royal Navy used the Canadian-built
Taurus (11 metres; two propellers) both as a submarine rescue vehicle
and for delivering divers into a target area.®® Furthermore, British
mother-subs have carried US SDVs. Special Boat Squadron (SBS) were
using three US SDVs, type MkVIIL.®* From the 1980s, SBS also had at
least two different kinds of British-built midgets or SDVs, I was told
by an officer who had been training with these vessels. He also said
that there was a third more advanced system that might have been the
US version. In the late 1970s, SBS founded a very secret Maritime
Counter-Terrorist Force, which included a Swimmer Delivery Team.®’
According to Foster:

Seabased covert operations are nearly always run from a submarine,
although this may act as a mothersub for the high-tech mini-subs the
SBS has helped to develop over the years. In addition to landing and
collecting agents, this area can include pro-active anti-terrorist/piracy
operations . . . reconnaissance on specific sabotage targets, if a foreign
country shows sign of becoming a little frisky.®®

From the Second World War, the Royal Navy had a number of small
X-Craft (12-15 metres; one propeller) and the even smaller Wellman
(6 metres; one propeller). In 1955, ‘an X-Craft was involved in an
attempt to measure the diameter of the propellers of the new Soviet
cruiser’ in Kronstadt harbour close to Leningrad. The X-Craft unit
was disbanded in 1958.%” However, the British continued to use small
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craft of a similar size. From the late 1970s, the Royal Navy most likely
had a Piranha mini-submarine (26.6 metres; one propeller) developed
by Vickers. It was able to carry a team of ten special force troops. It
was specialized for the role of covert missions and was able to pen-
etrate into shallow waters with low risk of detection. It had a sub-
merged speed of up to 9 knots. The Piranha also carried a pair of
two-men SDVs (about 7 metres; one propeller). It had a transit range
of 1,800 nautical miles, an operational radius of 800 nautical miles
and was able to remain on patrol for 12 days.®® In cooperation with
the West Germans, the British Vickers company also developed an
even smaller, 20-metre-long coastal submarine (Type 100), able to
carry nine men and remain on patrol for 14 days. It has a top speed
up to 11 knots.®’

In 1988, the Swedish Navy made a perfect tape recording of a sub-
marine in central Mysingen more than 10 kilometres north of Milsten
in Swedish internal waters. This is to my knowledge the only tape
recording in Swedish internal waters where class of submarine has been
identified. I was told that, when this tape was demonstrated to British
sound experts, they confirmed that it was an Oberon-class submarine.
‘It is one of ours,” a surprised British expert exclaimed. This story (but
in less detail) was confirmed by Commander Leif Holmstrém, former
Chief of MUSAC. He said on Swedish TV that they had tape-recorded
the sound of a submarine in Swedish internal waters. During his talks
with his counterparts in a NATO country, one of them had then con-
firmed its identity and exclaimed: ‘It is one of ours.’”?

In 1976, the Opossum went through the Kiel Canal to the Baltic
Sea to trim the submarine for the different salinity and sonar condi-
tions in the Baltic ‘in preparation for longer submerged operations by
another Royal Navy SSK [Orpheus (S11); see below] the following
year’.”! From 1977 up to the early 1990s, a couple of Oberon-class
submarines regularly patrolled the Baltic Sea. According to a Swedish
naval officer, it went on a yearly basis (two or three times a year) into
the Baltic Sea up along the Baltic coast towards Finland and down
along the Swedish coast, sometimes into Swedish territorial waters to
test Swedish readiness with approval of somebody in the Swedish mil-
itary leadership. In July 1982, Onslaught (514) passed Oresund on the
surface.”? Later in the 1980s, an Oberon-class submarine was seen sur-
faced in international waters north of the Aland Islands along the
north Swedish coast, a senior Swedish intelligence officer told me.
Despite Danish and international law, such intelligence and special
force submarines often went submerged through the Danish Straits
(Store Belt). According to a Danish general, the Danish Naval
Operative Command at Arhus (Jutland) was pre-notified to avoid mis-
understandings. They were ordered to ‘close their eyes’, he said. He
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also said that Oberon-class submarines landed special force troops in
foreign countries without their approval. He did not believe that they
had done that on Danish territory (at least not in recent years) but
most likely had on the Soviet Baltic coast and possibly also in Sweden.
A Danish admiral told me that he had given approval for British
Oberon submarines to go submerged through the Danish Straits. The
passages were made into exercises for testing instruments and person-
nel. This also made the submerged passages legal, he said. One such
submarine was the Orpheus, I was told. Orpheus was the first subma-
rine ‘fitted with a purpose-built five-man chamber that allowed special
forces to enter and exit from the submarine when it was dived in a
group rather than, as hitherto, one or two at a time’.”

I have had most of this 1nformat10n confirmed by two Royal Navy
officers, both commanding officers of Oberon-class submarines. A
former Chief of Staff to Flag Officer Submarines (chief of submarine
operations) said that he used to go up along the Norwegian coast, but
he had also made a couple of trips into the Baltic Sea. The submarine
went submerged through the Danish Straits and then along the Soviet
Baltic coast and back along the Swedish coast. He also confirmed that
they had landed SBS troops on the Soviet side, but he could not speak
about the Swedish side, because these operations were considered
extremely secret. “We landed SBS troops,” he said. ‘I just went where
I was ordered to go.” According to his information, these covert trips
—in addition to the officially recognized trips — were made twice a year
from the late 1970s and during the 1980s. To the Swedes, these sub-
marines would seem to come from the Soviet Union, because their
origin would be unknown and they would always come from the
waters of Estonia and the Bay of Finland. This Royal Navy officer also
said that, when entering Norwegian fjords and when landing SBS
troops in Norway, only a few people were informed on the Norwegian
side. He also admitted that they went into some fjords without
Norwegian approval.

The other Oberon captain, one of Britain’s most experienced sub-
marine officers, also confirmed the trips into the Baltic Sea along the
Soviet and Swedish coasts from the late 1970s and during the 1980s.
In the early and mid-1980s, the Oberon-class submarines were mod-
ernized, and they were operational until the early 1990s — exactly the
same period when Sweden experienced provocative submarine oper-
ations in its own archipelagos. He also said that they did go north of
the Aland Islands (to the Sea of Bothnia or possibly even to the Gulf
of Bothnia), but he did not want to come up with any details. He said
that he could not speak about operations into Swedish waters, as they,
as well as some other operations, were still classified. However, it is
more than likely that they landed special forces in Sweden, because
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there would otherwise have been no reason to operate a submarine
rebuilt for this specific purpose along the Swedish coast and even
in Swedish archipelagos. Of course, this is a very sensitive issue.
According to this Oberon captain, there could be a new Cold War and,
by speaking about these operations today, there is the risk of compro-
mising future operations. In the 1980s, ministerial approval was given
for every single operation, he said. He got his orders directly from the
Flag Officer Submarines. They also briefed the Prime Minister’s Office
regularly about the risks with these operations. It is difficult to believe
that the Prime Minister would have been uninformed about the polit-
ical consequences of these operations. He also confirmed that such
submarine operations could be useful in a crisis situation and in a low-
intensity conflict.

Norwegian Prime Minister Kire Willoch (1981-86) told me that
they believed that some submarines in Swedish waters may have orig-
inated from the West, from the UK and possibly also from the USA,
but he said he ‘preferred not to be informed about it . . . Of course,
Prime Minister Thatcher would never have informed us about these
operations; that would have been impolite.” In other words, that
would have put him in a dilemma as to whether to be loyal to the
Swedes or to the British. However, Willoch believed that the USA and
the UK might have carried out such operations, and he may also have
been informed in general terms that operations were going to take
place. At that time, to operate Western submarines in Swedish waters
was a necessity. According to Willoch: ‘It would have been negligence
in the discharge of one’s duties not to do so.””*

Both Oberon captains mentioned above spoke about operations on
the Soviet and Swedish coasts and about landing SBS troops. The
major book about this service, John Parker’s (1997) SBS: The Inside
Story of the Special Boat Service, does not mention anything of these
operations. It is an almost 400-page book on SBS operations during
the Second World War, in Northern Ireland, in the Falklands and in
the Gulf War. He mentions some training along the Norwegian coast
but nothing about operations in Soviet or Swedish waters. The only
thing he mentions is a Maritime Counter-Terrorist Force founded in
the late 1970s, which ‘for reasons of security remains classified and
beyond the scope of this book . . . [A] dedicated Swimmer Delivery
Team was founded. They trained specifically in the use of motorised
underwater tugs and towing craft for the speedy delivery of personnel
to an operation.””’

Sir Keith Speed (British Minister for the Navy 1979-81 and
member of the Parliamentary Defence Committee 1983-87) also con-
firmed that British submarines were testing Swedish coastal defences.
On Swedish TV, he was asked if he could confirm that the testing was

244



NATIONAL ORIGIN OF THE HARSFJARDEN SUBMARINE

conducted in Swedish waters. His answer was ‘yes’. He said they used
Oberon- and Porpoise-class submarines, because they were ‘much
cheaper’, ‘smaller’ and ‘very quiet’. These operations were, according
to Speed, made

under the umbrella of a bilateral agreement . . . If the Swedish Naval
Staff was not happy, and thought that they did not get much out of it,
they could raise it with their Foreign Ministry or their government . . .
If something happens like the “Whiskey on the Rocks’, it wouldn’t be a
very good idea to have a British submarine make an exercise ten days
after the “Whiskey on the Rocks’ in 1981. It would have been politi-
cally sensitive. Let’s relax. Perhaps think about it in a few months’ time.
It is common sense . . . As far as Britain is concerned, there would have
been a general agreement that, during a certain period of time, British
submarines . . . are going to be in your area of the Baltic . . . We would
not necessarily say that we would be precisely here. Because if we told
them that, and if we were trying to probe or test your defences, it
wouldn’t have been very sensible either from your point of view or
from ours . . . There might well be penetration dive exercises. Can sub-
marines actually get in and almost surface in the Stockholm harbour?
Not quite, but that sort of thing. How far could we get without you
being aware of it?”¢

Keith Speed confirmed that British submarines have operated in
Swedish waters, and that this was done regularly to test Swedish
coastal defences, which means that they had to operate in Swedish
inner archipelagos where these defences were located. According to
Keith Speed, the British submarines tested Swedish defences by going
as far as possible into Swedish waters. He confirmed the use of
Oberon-class submarines, but not midget submarines. This view is also
supported by Paul Beaver (spokesman for Jane’s in London):

During the Cold War, I think you would be naive to think that NATO
submarines would not operate throughout the Baltic. Two reasons. One
would be intelligence gathering against the Soviet Union, perhaps fol-
lowing the Whiskey-class submarines out of Leningrad or Polish subma-
rines operating out of Gdansk, but also I think there would be an interest
NATO would have in testing the Swedish capability to find out how
good the Swedish anti-submarine warfare operations were and how
quickly they would respond to incursions of their territorial waters . . .
I think it would be naive to believe that if you were going to operate
within Swedish territorial waters, if you were going to operate deep
inside Swedish homeland, particularly in the Stockholm archipelago and
around naval bases, then I think you would want to make sure that the
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Swedes would not immediately attack you with torpedoes or other sub-
marines. So I wouldn’t be surprised if there was some secret agreement
between the government of Sweden and NATO nations, perhaps on the
individual bilateral basis with the British or perhaps with the Germans
that would allow a certain amount of intrusions into their [the Swedish]
territorial waters as long as that intrusion was notified. In other words,
as long as somebody in the High Command in Stockholm was aware
that there were going to be some intrusions during a given period.””

I indicated earlier that Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson, or Chief
of the Navy Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg, may have been the officer in the
Swedish High Command who was pre-notified of Western intrusions
or testing operations in order to avoid a catastrophe. Rudberg has con-
firmed that he was the Swedish secret liaison to NATO. And a month
before the Harsfjirden incident, Stefenson said that the great powers
(in other words Great Britain and the USA) might put pressure on the
Swedes (according to Carl Bildt, by exercising counter-operations in
Swedish archipelagos), because the Swedes had proved unable to
defend their own waters. In his briefing to the Prime Minister Olof
Palme immediately after the Harsfjirden submarine hunt (see above),
Stefenson used almost the same words as Speed and Beaver, but without
mentioning anybody as responsible for these operations. His argument
about testing Swedish ‘capability’ and ‘will’ may very well have been
what his British or US counterparts had told him. There is no reason to
believe that the Soviet Union would test the ‘will’ of Sweden. In the
same TV programme as Speed and Beaver were interviewed, the
Danish Lieutenant-General Kjeld Hillingse (Commander of BALTAP
(NATO wartime supreme commander for Denmark, northern West
Germany and the Baltic Sea) 1993-95) used exactly the same words as
Stefenson:

One was interested in testing if Sweden firstly was capable and secondly
willing to defend its territory. This was a legitimate NATO interest. The
Norwegians and the Danes could say to the other NATO countries: “We
trust the Swedes. They would certainly defend that flank.” However, the
great powers and the superpowers preferred to get their own informa-
tion, to have it confirmed themselves.”®

In other words, the USA and the UK were not satisfied with
Scandinavian assurances. They wanted to have physical proofs demon-
strating Swedish capability and will. This is not much different from
the testing, about twice a year, that Swedish submarines did in the
1980s and also in the 1990s as described by Commander Géran Frisk
(see Chapter 5), reported by Captain Nils-Ove Jansson in the naval
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journal Marinnytt”® and confirmed to me by Captain Rodrik Klintebo,
former Chief of First Submarine Flotilla. From the late 1980s, a
Swedish Navy group also operated a midget submarine in Swedish
waters in order to test its own anti-submarine warfare capability.? It is
always necessary to test the readiness of your own forces. A major dif-
ference, however, is that the USA and the UK perceive themselves as
having a larger responsibility covering the whole NATO area. And
when you are testing the ‘will’ of the Swedish forces, in other words if
the Swedes really are willing to use force, you obviously must be willing
to possibly sacrifice some of your own forces. These US or UK tests are,
accordingly, more dramatic and more realistic than the Swedish tests
described above. In an interview I held with Hillingse, he said:

US and UK submarine operations into Swedish waters would, firstly, be
realistic training operations; secondly, give important information
about Soviet capabilities of operating in Swedish waters; thirdly, con-
vince the Swedish forces to increase their readiness; and, fourthly,
strengthen the Swedish morale both within the military forces and in
the population as a whole.?!

The existence of the Royal Navy ‘intrusions’ has been confirmed by
former Swedish Ambassador in London Leif Leifland. He said on
Swedish TV that he knew about them.?? In an interview I had with
Leifland after this TV programme, he tried to modify his confirma-
tion. He said that the existence of such Royal Navy operations in
Swedish waters was a ‘conclusion he made’ or a ‘feeling he got” after
having talked with British naval officers. But he had no proofs, and as
Ambassador he had not reported anything to Stockholm.®? According
to Commander Hans von Hofsten, Chief of Staff Lieutenant-General
Thorsten Engberg had filtered the information to the Commander-in-
Chief and seemingly obstructed a submarine hunt in the same way that
Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Stefenson had done in Hérsfjirden in
1982 and during other incidents.?* If there was a top-level agreement
with the Royal Navy to test Swedish anti-submarine warfare capabil-
ity, these ‘obstructions’ are easier to explain.

The Hérsfjirden hunt, however, does not fit perfectly with such a
scenario. The request from the Eastern Military District and General
Ljung’s decision to use mines to damage the submarine and the actual
damaging of a submarine on 11 October indicate something else. The
most sensitive part of General Ljung’s diary seems to have been the part
following the submarine hunt. At least, it seems that General Ljung was
not informed of any Western intrusion in the first phase of the subma-
rine hunt. That would explain the radical change in Swedish behaviour
during these days. The press centre with several hundred journalists was
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suddenly closed down as if something had happened during the hunt.
In other words, if an Oberon-class submarine was involved in
Harsfjarden in 1982, this would have happened without the Royal Navy
or any other navy pre-notifying the Swedish Commander-in-Chief.

In 1982, Oberon appeared with SBS swimmers deep inside a
Norwegian fjord (Lyngen not far from Tromse and close to the
Finnish border) without Norwegian approval. This incident led to the
British and Norwegian authorities setting up clear rules for British
activities in Norway. In 1985, however, the same submarine turned up
in another Norwegian fjord. Just before a submarine hunt was initi-
ated, the Norwegian Navy identified the submarine as being
the British Oberon. Preparations for the hunt were stopped and the
Norwegians immediately contacted British naval headquarters.
The British naval authorities sent a bottle of whisky to the
Norwegian commander and apologized for the incident.

This apology, however, may have been a routine statement. A
Norwegian submarine captain told me that US and UK submarines
went into Norwegian waters without pre-notifying the Norwegian
authorities. He said that, according to UK and US colleagues, there
was a programme for entering Norwegian and others waters. When
revealed, the blame for the incident may very well have been given to
the ‘ambitious’ submarine captain. A former chief of Norwegian
Military Intelligence told me that Royal Navy submarines landed SBS
swimmers as a training programme for the Stay-Behinds, and the
regular military hierarchy was never informed. This fits well with what
the above mentioned Oberon captain said about going into
Norwegian fjords without Norwegian approval and that he was just
ordered to go to all these locations. His submarine was rebuilt for
landing SBS swimmers. He also went along the Swedish coast, where
his task would have been the same. The Swedish Stay-Behinds were
part of the European-wide Stay-Behind network, and the programme
for testing Sweden’s capability and may have been a spin-off from the
Stay-Behind training programme. The Swedish wartime commander
of these forces, Vice-Admiral Per Rudberg, would have been pre-
notified.

Perhaps it was an Oberon-class submarine that was involved in
Haérsfjarden, but it is rather large to enter such narrow waters. The
submarine observed in the outer archipelago at Sandhamn on
4 October may very well have been a relatively large submarine able
to carry a midget submarine or small submersible. It was believed that
this submarine received the small submersible that had exercised its
way out from Stockholm harbour. The sail of the Sandhamn subma-
rine was described as a ‘large wall’ perhaps up to ‘10 metres high’,
which fits well with an Oberon-class submarine. It may have been the
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same submarine that was parked southeast of Milsten south of the
island of Grin on 10-11 October. Oberon has an external keel close
to 60 metres, similar to the print found more than 1 kilometre south-
east of Milsten. However, US and Italian Tang-class submarines also
have similar characteristics. If the mother-sub was British, the small
submersible may still have been American. SBS submarines used three
US SDVs. There was a close cooperation concerning these kinds of
operations. Several of the above sources indicated that it was
American. The large yellow/green dye in the water on 11 October pos-
sibly also indicated a US submarine.

FRENCH SUBMARINE OPERATIONS

In the early 1980s, the French Navy had a couple of diesel-electric
Agosta-class submarines (68 metres; one propeller), Agosta and
Bévéziers, for landing swimmer teams.®® The French had some small
midgets for the oil industry and for defence purposes.®® The French
allegedly also used a couple of their nine Daphné-class submarines (58
metres; two propellers) for special operations. The Daphné class has
a keel similar to the Whiskey or the Oberon, but it is shorter.®” One
of these Daphné-class submarines (or possibly a Daphné-class subma-
rine from another country: Spain or South Africa) is believed to have
operated in a Norwegian fjord in 1983, which was followed by a dra-
matic submarine hunt. A French admiral and former fleet commander
told me that, in wartime, their strategic submarines would use
Norwegian fjords or Norwegian waters for launching their missiles
against the Soviet Union. They might enter Norwegian waters in
peacetime to check out conditions for hiding submarines and how
sounds were transmitted in the fjords, but the French Navy would not
do that without approval from the Norwegian authorities, he said.
The incident in 1983 seems to point in another direction. On
27 April 1983, the day after the Swedish Submarine Commission pub-
lished its report on the Hérsfjirden incident, a submarine was seen on
the surface in Hardangerfjord. Two Norwegian retired naval special
force officers saw the submarine for up to 30 minutes with special
force swimmers on board (submarine personnel would never leave the
submarine sail under these circumstances). They identified the subma-
rine as not being a Norwegian submarine. The Norwegian Navy used
several anti-submarine rockets against an echo in the fjord. At 07.30
the following morning the seriousness was underlined by the
Norwegian Prime Minister Kire Willoch speaking on the radio.
Hundreds of journalists (including a large number of foreign corre-
spondents) turned up on the shores of the fjord. The Norwegian
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Aftenposten wrote that nobody could trust Soviet peaceful intentions.
The Norwegian Dagbladet said that it was serious when the Soviet
Union violated the territory of a neutral country, but it was no less
serious when the Soviet Union sent submarines into Norwegian fjords.
The Swedish Dagens Nyhbeter wrote that the Soviet Union was
showing its strength by ‘sniffing about in Scandinavian fjords’, while
Svenska Dagbladet argued that Sweden should sever its contacts with
the Soviet aggressor.®® The New York Times spoke about a probable
Whiskey-class submarine.®’

A Norwegian senior officer told me that during the hunt in
Hardangerfjord, a Norwegian submarine came into contact with a
foreign submarine at the entrance of the fjord, most likely the same
submarine that had been seen by the two Norwegian special force offi-
cers, or another submarine operating together with this submarine (to
attract anti-submarine forces away from the most sensitive areas
where the first submarine might have been operating).”® The
Norwegians believed that it was a Daphné-class submarine. There was
no indication it was a Soviet submarine, but they did not go public
about it, this officer told me. Another Norwegian, who at the time had
a vital position, has confirmed this information. The submarine was
believed to have been one of two Daphné-class submarines believed
to have been assigned to a special force organization outside the
French Navy. This organization was not under parliamentary control,
but under the direct control of the President. One submarine may have
been damaged or possibly even lost. Similar to the Hérsfjirden inci-
dent in Sweden, this incident created a storm in the international mass
media.

The two unclassified versions of the military report on the
Hardangerfjord incident do not mention any state responsible for this
operation, but they confirm that a submarine may have been damaged
and, indirectly, that the submarine at the entrance of the fjord was
identified.’! Another senior Norwegian officer (with access to the clas-
sified parts of the military report) has confirmed that the above infor-
mation is correct. In other words, the submarine had first been seen
on the surface of the fjord by two Norwegian retired special force
swimmers, but the Norwegian authorities had not been able to iden-
tify it. They thought, however, that it was linked to the submarine at
the entrance to the fjord, which they believed was a French Daphné-
class submarine. A former minister also told me that the French at the
time operated in Norwegian waters without government approval.
Another former minister told that he remembered that they believed
that the Hardangerfjord submarine might have been French. A for-
merly classified report from August 1983,°2 written by Director-
General Finn Molvig (Assistant Under-Secretary for Security Policy),
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states that it ‘goes without saying’ that the submarine was from the
Soviet Union, as if he had not been informed about any possible
French involvement. The information about a possible French subma-
rine seems to have been classified as ‘cosmic’ and only available to a
very few people.

The parallel to the Harsfjarden incident is remarkable. The subma-
rine appeared on the surface of a fjord in a relatively densely popu-
lated area. Maybe it was ‘discovered because it wanted to be’. But why
would the French President carry out such a risky operation? France
has no special responsibility in Scandinavia. To risk a submarine and
its crew in this way makes no sense if it wasn’t assigned to another
organization or state worried about Norwegian or Scandinavian
public opinion and readiness. As with the Hérsfjirden incident, it
made Scandinavian public opinion aware of the Soviet threat. The
Soviets were believed to be the only possible intruder. This informa-
tion was spread not only in Norway and Sweden but in the Western
world in general. And the timing was perfect: one day after the launch
of the Swedish Submarine Defence Commission Report. Maybe this
operation was carried out as a French deal with another state? The
most likely candidate for such a deal is the USA. The USA has such a
wider responsibility, while close US ties to Norway make the use of
other countries’ navy platforms more convenient. The US counterpart
in such an operation would most likely be the CIA. Under General
Alexandre de Marenches (and his successor) in the late 1970s and
early 1980s, French intelligence cooperated closely with US intelli-
gence. A possible French involvement in Hardangerfjord — directly
after the release of the 1983 Submarine Defence Commission Report
— raises the question of a possible French involvement also during the
Harsfjarden incident. A Daphné-class submarine supposedly passed
through the Oresund into the Baltic Sea in the last week of September
a few days before the Harsfjirden submarine hunt started.”

However, we may also have to look into the possibility of a South
African Daphné-class submarine, for example operating from the US
submarine base at Holy Loch in Scotland. A deal with South Africa
would be more convenient for the Americans. A loss of life would be
less sensitive, and almost nobody would imagine a South African
involvement. Hasselbohm has documented that South African naval
special force officers were active in Sweden in the early and mid-
1980s. One South African agent in Stockholm said in London in
September 1982 that submarines were going to turn up in the Swedish
archipelagos as if he knew what was going to happen. He clearly had
good contacts within the Royal Navy and with senior US officials.
According to an alleged document from the Swedish Military
Intelligence Service SSI from 1987, a couple of South African agents
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had been ordered to deploy transponders or navigation aids for sub-
marines in the Baltic Sea in cooperation with the CIA. None of these
statements are proof of South African involvement, but there are too
many indications of South African naval special force activities in
Sweden at the time to exclude such an option.

US NAVY SEAL SUBMARINE OPERATIONS

In the years 1970-84, the principal US Navy delivery unit for special
forces or SEALs was the rebuilt USS Grayback (SS 574) (102 metres;
two propellers). It carried two SDVs (Swimmer Delivery Vehicles or
SEAL Delivery Vehicles) and had a capability to deliver more than 60
combat swimmers.”* Grayback had an external keel similar to the
French Daphné, the Soviet Whiskey and the British Oberon, but, com-
pared to the others, Grayback was larger (58, 76 and 90 metres vs.
102 metres).”

From the 1970s, Sturgeon-class submarines like USS Hawkbill (SSN
666) (89 metres; one propeller), USS Gurnard (SSN 662), USS Bergall
(SSN 667) and USS Pintado (SSN 672), as well as ‘special project sub-
marines’ like USS Halibut (SSN 587) (106 metres; two propellers) and
USS Seawolf (SSN 575) (103 metres; two propellers) had all operated
as mother-subs for Deep Submergence Rescue Vehicles (DSRVs) and/or
for other submersibles. The markings on the sail on several of these
submarines show that they were ‘specifically designed to support the
DSRV [or SDV or DSV] on other than rescue missions, [for example]
intelligence operations’.”® From 1982, one Sturgeon-class submarine,
USS Cavalla (SSN 684), was rebuilt to carry SDVs, while additional
Sturgeon-class submarines like USS William Bates (SSN 680) were used
as mother-subs for DSRVs.?” In 1988-91, an additional five Sturgeon-
class submarines — USS Archerfish (SSN 678), USS Silversides (SSN
679), USS William Bates, USS Tunny (SSN 682) and USS L. Mendel
Rivers (SSN 686) (all 92 metres; one propeller) — were modified into
mother-subs for SDVs.”® According to an admiral from a NATO
country, other US submarines had already been rebuilt for carrying
SDVs from the early 1980s. In the 1980s, there were several US sub-
marines with the capability to carry SDVs or other submersibles that
would operate covertly in foreign waters. In the early 1980s, the four-
man SDV, Mk VII (6 metres; one propeller), was replaced by the more
capable six-man Mk VIII (6.5 metres; one propeller) and by the two-
metres wide two-man Mk IX (6 metres; two propellers). In 1987, there
were some 19 units within the two SDV Teams.”’

In the late 1950s, the US Navy had experimented with a small
experimental attack craft, XI (15 metres; one propeller).!% In the
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1960s, they developed several small Deep Submergence Vehicles
(DSVs) like Alvin (7 metres; one plus two propellers), Turtle (8
metres; one plus two propellers) and Sea Cliff (8 metres; one plus two
propellers) that were all available in the early 1980s. From 1970, these
vessels were supplemented by two DSRVs, Avalon and Mystic (both
15 metres; one propeller).!?" Most of these vessels, as well as mother-
subs like Halibut and Seawolf, belonged to Submarine Development
Group 1 (in San Diego) that carried out deep-sea research but also
espionage operations in foreign countries.!?> Lockheed had a similar
DSV, Deep Quest (12 metres; two propellers) also based in San Diego.
It was developed as a first prototype for the DSRVs.19 In addition,
there were a number of small privately owned DSVs like Rockwell’s
Beaver MK4 (8 metres; two plus one propellers).'* Furthermore, the
US Navy has a bottom-crawling nuclear-powered mini-submarine
NR-1 (41.6 metres; two propellers), which belonged to Submarine
Squadron 2 (linked to and co-located with Submarine Development
Squadron 12 in Groton, Connecticut). NR-1 is able to stay in a sub-
surface position for 30 days. Similar to the deep submergence vehi-
cles, it has external spotlights and a remote-controlled manipulator. It
has wheels for going on the sea floor.'% It has been used for laying
SOSUS lines on the bottom of the ocean but also for covert operations
in Soviet and friendly waters. It was based in Holy Loch in Scotland
while carrying out operations in European waters.!%°

Some US ‘special project submarines’ carried out secret missions
into other countries’ territorial waters including planting listening
buoys and tapping communication cables. In the 1970s and 1980s,
these operations were carried out in the Sea of Okhotsk, in the
Barents Sea — by USS Halibut, USS Seawolf and former Sturgeon-class
nuclear attack submarines (like USS Parche)'?” — and allegedly also in
the Baltic Sea. They operated as mother-subs for the Avalon and the
Mystic. Seawolf also operated in tandem with NR-1 and used submer-
sibles like the Turtle and the Sea Cliff.!1%8 The Seawolf had the capa-
bility to carry these submersibles ‘on her after deck’.'® Norman
Polmar wrote in 1987 that the Navy had been reluctant to release
photographs of the Seawolf from the 1980s, ‘because of modifications
for her employment in research and special missions’.'!? John Craven,
former Chief of Submarine Development Group 1, says that the
Seawolf was assigned to his organization. It carried out deep-sea
research, but this activity was also a cover for espionage operations,
which were carried out by a small organization within the official
organization. However, this smaller secret organization was also a
cover for top-secret special projects that cooperated closely with
Naval Intelligence and the DIA, sometimes in competition with the
CIA. The whole organization was built up according to a hierarchical
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structure of ‘Russian dolls’; and you never knew if you had reached
the most secret unit of the organization. Most people working for
Submarine Development Group 1 had no idea about the covert pro-
jects, Craven said.!!!

Submarine Development Group 1 was also responsible for the
diesel-electric submarine Dolphin (AGSS 555) (46 metres; one propel-
ler). Other US diesels were Barbel (SS 580), Blueback (SS 581) and
Bonefish (SS 582) (all 67 metres; one propeller), Albacore (64 metres;
one propeller), which belonged to the Atlantic Reserve, the Tang-class
submarines Wahoo (SS 565), Gudgeon (SSAG 567) (both 87 metres;
two propellers) and Darter (SS 576) (82 metres; two propellers).1?
The latter was a sister ship of Grayback. Blueback had operated as a
mother-sub for Mystic.!'® All these diesel-electric submarines were
used for espionage, for special forces or for training operations testing
the anti-submarine warfare capability of US (and other) forces. In
addition, the USA has had one or more Soviet diesel-electric Whiskey
submarine(s), probably bought from Indonesia after General
Suharto’s military coup in 1965. Indonesia received up to 14 Whiskey
submarines during 1962-65. In 1977-78, there were three left, and
in 1981-82 Indonesia still had two Whiskey submarines.!!* At least
one or perhaps several of these submarines were taken over by the
USA. The US Navy used one or more Whiskeys to play Soviet subma-
rine(s) in connection with special naval exercises. A high-ranking
officer told me that he participated in an exercise with a US Whiskey
submarine. In the early 1980s, this submarine may have been used to
masquerade as a Soviet submarine. It was kept very secret in the USA,
and for obvious reasons not described in Jane’s Fighting Ships or other
naval handbooks. In 1982, the US Navy (and the CIA) seems to have
had at least ten diesel-electric submarines.

Operations with ‘special project submarines’ were financed through
and to some extent decided by the National Underwater Reconnais-
sance Office (NURO), a committee of CIA and Naval Intelligence offi-
cers (or rather DIA officers at the Office of Naval Intelligence). NURO
was initiated in 1969 and headed by the Secretary of the Navy.'!
Sontag and Drew describe NURO as a liaison agency between the Navy
and the CIA, which in the early phase was dominated by the CIA. In the
mid-1970s, the CIA lost its day-to-day control of Navy Intelligence
activities, and the Navy representative at NURO, Captain James
Bradley, Director of Undersea Warfare at the Office of Naval
Intelligence, was able to conduct his own special project operations.!!®
However, according to Craven, Bradley conducted these special project
operations as a DIA officer at the Office of Naval Intelligence.!!” In the
1980s, the general policy and the major decisions about ‘special project
submarines’ were still controlled by NURO, most likely to receive a

254



NATIONAL ORIGIN OF THE HARSFJARDEN SUBMARINE

mutual CIA, DIA and Navy support for these operations (see below). If
the Secretary of the Navy was still heading NURO, then it was headed
by John Lehman.

When naval special forces were exercising landing operations in
‘occupied territories’, the CIA was given command of US Navy sub-
marines. Submarines were used to land SEALs in foreign countries to
exercise cooperation with local Stay-Behinds. They exercised infiltra-
tion and exfiltration directly from larger submarines as well as via
SDVs and other smaller vessels. A Norwegian former intelligence
officer told me that, already in 1958, they had intruding submarines
that operated in south Norwegian fjords in a way totally illogical from
a Soviet point of view. The Chief of Norwegian Military Intelligence,
Vilhelm Evang, and his staff believed they were American. CIA offi-
cers from the US Embassy asked Norwegian Intelligence why they did
not protest against the Soviet intrusions. The Norwegians answered
that they did not have enough information. In 1967, after a similar
incident, the US Deputy Defense Attaché approached a Norwegian
Military Intelligence officer. The US attaché said that he had been
instructed to ask why the Norwegians had not protested against the
Soviet submarine. The Norwegian officer said that he believed it was
a US submarine. The attaché said that he actually also believed that
this was the case. A couple of days afterwards, the latter called back
and said that he had been removed from his position in Norway. He
was going to be replaced immediately and transferred to Vietnam.
The Norwegian intelligence officer said that he had discussed this inci-
dent with Evang, and they were convinced that the CIA had con-
ducted its own operations without informing the attaché at the
Embassy.

From about 1960, parallel US operations seem to have taken place
in Swedish waters. Two Scandinavians told me that they received
information from a US source, which in both cases turned out to be
Captain Bernhard Lauff, US Naval Attaché to Stockholm (1960-63).
One of these Scandinavians believed that support for these operations
was given by the US Office of Naval Research in London, and by its
chief, Captain J.K. Sloatman, with whom he used to meet occasion-
ally. On 24 October 1966, a submarine on the Swedish west coast, in
the archipelago north of Géteborg, showed its periscope and sail. By
using a cable with two 50-kilo weights, a Swedish mine sweeper made
physical contact with the submarine ten metres below surface, where
the sea depth was 29 metres. This contact was maintained for two
hours. Commander Nils Bruzelius has argued that this was most likely
a US George Washington-class Polaris submarine lying on the
bottom.'® Commander Wilhelm Carlstedt, who was responsible for
the Swedish operation, said that he received clear orders from his ‘top
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leadership’ not to attack the submarine with live ammunition until it
had gone further out.!"” From around 1960, US submarines, possibly
under CIA command, seem to have conducted some very secret oper-
ations in both Norway and Sweden. Two other Norwegian intelli-
gence officers have told me that, in the 1980s, both US and UK
submarines conducted operations in Norwegian fjords as part of a
top-secret programme. However, several, and perhaps all, of the most
senior naval officers were never informed. To the Navy, similar to
what happened in the 1960s, these submarines were believed to be
Russian. These operations appear as a test of the Norwegian Navy and
the Norwegian coastal defences, while they convinced public opinion
of the Soviet danger. Also in similar fashion to the 1960s, CIA officers
approached high-ranking Norwegian officers (while demanding a safe
room) to tell them about intruding Soviet (midget) submarines.
However, the concrete information presented by the Americans was
not reliable.

In 1984, US Chief of Naval Operations, Admiral James Watkins,
set up a ‘terrorist’ force, the ‘Red Cell’ or the Navy Security
Coordination Team (NSCT) - recruited from former members of the
anti-terrorist SEAL Team Six — to test security and readiness at US
Navy bases worldwide to convince the officer corps of the reality of
the insurgent danger. The idea was launched by Secretary Lehman’s
confidant Vice-Admiral James Lyons, Deputy Chief of Naval
Operations for Plans, Policy, and Operations.!?® The members of the
‘Red Cell’ acted as terrorists and dressed like terrorists until it was
closed down in 1992 after some scandals. They used violent actions:
planted bombs in secure areas, hijacked aircraft, attacked surface ships
and submarines in harbours, wounded US personnel and took hun-
dreds of hostages including base commanders. They entered US instal-
lations at home or abroad in order to test their security, and, more
important, to create an awareness of the terrorist threat, which has
been described in detail by Admiral Lyons, by former commander of
SEAL Team Six, Commander Richard Marcinko,'?! and by the former
commander of SEAL Team Three, Commander Gary Stubblefield.!??
To most Americans the terrorist threat had no reality. It was necessary
to be ‘physical’, to quote Admiral Lyons. “We had to change their
mindset, to raise people’s awareness,” Lyons said.!?3

According to Commander Marcinko, the Navy had for years used
Soviet equipment including Soviet aircraft, while playing enemy
forces against its own forces. Now, according to Marcinko, they also
had to prepare for a terrorist threat.!”* An admiral from a NATO
country told me that, already in the 1970s, SEALSs used a Soviet cover
to play enemy forces to make the threat appear more real. In the 1970s
and 1980s, SEAL team officers operated in Soviet uniforms, with
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Soviet weapons and communication systems and they even had a
Soviet Whiskey submarine. SEAL Team Six, established in November
1980 (and possibly its parent unit SEAL Team Two), had been used for
the purpose of testing US or friendly coastal defences. In Europe, these
coastal operations were under the command of Supreme Allied
Commander Europe (SACEUR). In the late 1970s, his name was
General Alexander Haig.

General Haig later became Secretary of State under President
Ronald Reagan, while Caspar Weinberger was Secretary of Defense.
As a former State Secretary, Haig visited Sweden in March 1983, a
couple of months after the Harsfjirden incident. Haig supposedly told
a surprised Swedish top official, ‘it is good that you let the submarine
out’ (see below). Weinberger had visited Sweden exactly a year before
the Harsfjirden incident. He had had meetings with senior Swedish
naval officers. In an interview for Swedish TV, Weinberger confirmed
that these testing operations were carried out in the NATO area, and
he confirmed that they were carried out in Swedish waters after con-
sultations with the Swedes. However, these consultations were not at
the level of ministers. He never discussed this issue with the Swedish
Prime Minister or Defence Minister. It was Navy-to-Navy consulta-
tions, Weinberger said. The Commander-in-Chief, General Bengt
Gustafsson (1986-92), stated afterwards that he was never informed.
He was quite upset.'?’ Later, he spoke about himself as a ‘useful idiot’.
The following is a longer quote from the interview (see Appendix II
for more of the interview):

Weinberger: My understanding is that there were consultations and
understandings that there were going to be various tests or there were
going to be attempts to ensure that the defences in the Swedish areas

were effective . . . [T]o my knowledge, there was no direct intrusion or
testing of Swedish waters or defences without consultations with the
Swedes . . .

Swedish TV: At what level were these consultations?

Weinberger: Generally, they were Navy to Navy, the US Navy to the
Swedish Navy, I believe. The Swedish Navy is part of the Swedish
government and the US Navy is part of the US government. Responsible
officials on both sides would have discussions, consultations, and agree-
ments would flow from that, to make sure that they get all the help
needed to protect the sovereignty of their waters. If for example
Sweden had said that you must not have any intrusions of that area in
this month that would certainly have been honoured and respected by
NATO.

257



THE SECRET WAR AGAINST SWEDEN

Swedish TV: But other areas would then be OK?

Weinberger: Well, it depends entirely on the response of the officials in
charge of the negotiations. What I am saying is that at no time, to my
knowledge, did NATO simply send a submarine directly into Swedish
waters without consultations and prior discussions and agreements that
that could be done. Under those circumstances, it was not a pressing
problem. It was part of a routine, regular, scheduled series of defence
testing that NATO did and indeed had to do to be responsible and liable.
[The Soviet Whiskey submarine in 1981] was a clear violation, and sub-
marines can get in where they are not wanted, and that is exactly why
we made this defensive testing and these defensive manoeuvres to
ensure that they would not be able to do that without being detected.. . .
The mission of NATO was to not permit Soviet invasion or attacks. The
consultations and discussions we had were designed — with all countries,
not just Sweden — to ensure that NATO was able to perform this mission
and had ample opportunities to test through manoeuvres and other
activities as to whether the defences were adequate and whether or not
the Soviets were requiring any new capabilities that would require any
changes in their defences or anything of that kind.

Swedish TV: How frequently was it done in Sweden?

Weinberger: 1 don’t know. Enough to comply with the military require-
ments for making sure that they were up to date. We would know when
the Soviets required a new kind of submarine. We would then have to
see if our defences were adequate against that. And all this was done on
a regular basis, and on an agreed-upon basis.!?¢

There is no doubt that Weinberger, in this interview, spoke about
regular submarine operations in Swedish waters carried out by US or
perhaps Royal Navy or other Western submarines. On the day the inter-
view was broadcast on Swedish TV, Swedish Defence Minister Bjérn
von Sydow said he was surprised, but added: ‘T have no reason to ques-
tion what a former US Defense Secretary is saying.”'?” The following
day, Swedish Prime Minister Goran Persson stated in the Swedish
Parliament: ‘If there are any documents I don’t know, but I know that
a former Secretary of Defense, a US Secretary of Defense, in a long
interview, in a clear wording has presented a rationale for what, accord-
ing to his view, NATO apparently did in our waters.’'?8 One hour after
the interview with Weinberger, Associated Press held an interview with
Sir John Walker, former head of Britain’s Defence Intelligence. He said
that NATO wanted to test Swedish anti-submarine forces: ‘If you were
going to operate inside the Stockholm archipelago, you wanted to
make sure that the Swedes would not attack you with torpedoes.” And
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Walker added that NATO was ‘allowed a certain amount of intrusions
during a given period’.'?® Both Weinberger and Walker spoke clearly
about ‘NATO’. However, this does not necessarily mean NATO as a
formal organization, but rather US or UK operations in cooperation
with one or more allies, I was told shortly afterwards by General
Vigleik Eide, former Norwegian Commander-in-Chief and former
Chairman of the NATO Military Committee. He said that these oper-
ations would have been too sensitive to carry out through the NATO
system. After having received a US briefing, NATO Secretary-General
George Robertson came up with a similar hint. He said in a Swedish
TV interview:

It is not a matter for NATO. It is a matter between [stop]. If people wish
to go back to the history between Sweden and the individual countries
that own individual submarines [stop]. If retired secretaries of defense
want to sound off that is their prerogative and their memory will be
tested. It is not a matter for me.!3°

Weinberger speaks about the necessity of testing Swedish coastal
defences to assure that these defences were up to date, and to assure
that the Soviets would not easily enter Swedish waters. “The consulta-
tions and discussions we had were designed . . . to assure that NATO
... had opportunities to test through manoeuvres and other activities
as to whether the defences were adequate and whether the Soviets
were requiring any new capabilities that would require any changes in
their defences . . . Besides that one intrusion of the Whiskey-class sub-
marine, there were no violations, no capabilities of the Soviets [here
he changes the direction of the sentence] to make an attack that could
not be defended against, and that was the mission of NATO.’
Weinberger seems to state that essential activities in Swedish waters
after the “Whiskey on the Rocks’ in 1981 were carried out by Western
submarines with the understanding of somebody on the Swedish side.
These testing operations were seemingly also necessary to understand
what technology the Soviets would develop.

After this interview, a senior US Navy Intelligence officer said: ‘I
wonder why he let himself get into such a discussion. He should have
avoided it (my opinion).” This retired US Navy officer also said that
he himself was never informed about these operations even though he
had an important position at the time. After the interview with
Weinberger, a US senior official told me almost the same, but he
argued that he had been briefed about these operations:

I don’t know why Weinberger said what he did. Covert submarine oper-
ations are the most secret thing we have . . . The decisions were taken
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by a committee of DIA and CIA people [most likely NURO], but I will
neither confirm nor deny any operations in Swedish waters.

A high-ranking CIA officer confirmed to me that US operations in
Scandinavian waters were sometimes run by NURO, and he spoke about
the 1982 incident in Swedish waters as ‘something of an underwater U-
2’. He had, however, never himself been involved in these operations,
he said, but he knew the people involved in it. Caspar Weinberger’s
Assistant Under-Secretary, Dov Zackheim, said after the interview with
Weinberger that neither he nor anyone else in the administration would
confirm or deny anything of what Weinberger had said. And publicly
Zackheim said: ‘If the former Secretary of Defense wants to say this, it
isup to him.”!3! In a letter to Ambassador Ekéus’s Investigation in 2001,
an anonymous source confirmed Weinberger’s statement:

In the early 1980s, we routinely received a number of Swedish mili-
tary/political delegations (NB not diplomatic) for ‘near-top consulta-
tions’ . . . [one] talked about your problem with Soviet subs and literally
invited us to test the Swedish defence with a ‘free-in-out guarantee’.
Your naval people wanted this to have your government shift budgets
from air to naval defences. So CW [Caspar Weinberger] promised that
you’d have some subs to play with. That Whiskey sub must have been
a real heaven sent gift for them though everyone here had a good laugh

over the gullible Swedes!
As a final comment he states: ‘In short, this verifies the interview.’3?
On the Swedish side, it is not yet clear who was informed, but it may
only have been a couple of people within the Navy — perhaps the same
people who were responsible for the ceasefires and the de-escalation of
the submarine hunt in Harsfjirden in 1982. These were also the same
officers who met Weinberger exactly one year earlier in October 1981.
The above-mentioned high-ranking CIA officer described a damaged
submarine in 1982 in Hérsfjirden as ‘something of an underwater U-
2’, which points to the significance of this incident. Similarly, a senior
US Navy officer actually told the éminence grise of the Norwegian
Foreign Ministry, Einar Ansteensen, that the damaged submarine in
Haérsfjirden was American. ‘It was a sad story,” he said. Ansteensen was
well connected. He was the maker of ministers of defence and foreign
affairs in Norway and had been at NATO Defence College in Rome. He
had been the director of the ministry’s Political Division and the Policy
Planning Division in the 1960s and 1970s. During the Hérsfjiarden inci-
dent, he was at the Embassy in Stockholm. He reported the damaged
US submarine to his Commander-in-Chief General Sven Hauge, but he
did not inform General Ljung and the Swedes, he told me. The US Navy
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officer had told Ansteensen that US submarines went on a regular basis
into the Baltic Sea but not north of a certain latitude in order not to
create trouble for the Finns. Ansteensen said that US submarines oper-
ated covertly in the Baltic Sea, not in Finnish waters, but he confirmed
that they operated in Swedish waters.!3> When I, during a car trip in
1993, mentioned that a US submarine had been damaged in the
Stockholm archipelago in 1982 to former Director of the CIA and
former US Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger, he said: ‘I recall the
incident but [ don’t remember the details.’

What characterizes these operations is their ultra-secrecy, the
direct links between lower commanding officers and top military
commanders and the direct political involvement. On the US and
British side, it probably was just some special force officers, a few
submarine captains and some people at the very top level who knew
about these operations. The above-mentioned captain of a Royal
Navy Oberon submarine told me that ministerial approval had been
given for every single operation. He himself had briefed the Prime
Minister’s Office on the risks. The link was direct from the captain
to Flag Officer Submarines and the First Sea Lord to the Prime
Minister. Commander Richard Marcinko reported directly to Chief
of Naval Operations Admiral James Watkins.'3* SEAL operations
testing the readiness of NATO forces were under the direct command
of SACEUR, while only four or five senior officers were informed in
the host country (see below). The Navy’s NURO representative, the
DIA officer Captain James Bradley — responsible for the top-secret
spy operations in Soviet territorial waters — had a direct link to Henry
Kissinger through General Alexander Haig.'* The historian of the
Reagan administration Peter Schweizer describes how the Director of
the CIA, William Casey, left Rome and turned up in Stockholm in his
own aircraft. He had a meeting and lunch with a couple of Swedish
military officials. Thus, there seems to have been a direct link
between the CIA leadership and the local commanders.!3¢ When
Glenn Campbell, Chairman of the President’s Intelligence Oversight
Board, described Casey, he said: ‘He loved putting things together
making them happen in the field.”'*” A former Deputy Commander
(for Intelligence) US Naval Forces Europe said that he did not know
about these operations: ‘However, the Agency crowd and the SOF
people [Special Operation Forces] didn’t inform me anyway. After all
I was only the Navy’s chief Intel officer for the region.” In the early
1980s, the SEALs got an ultra-secret portable satellite communica-
tions system — for their commando operations — linked into the
White House FLASHBOARD crisis alert network under the supervi-
sion of Lieutenant-Colonel Oliver North in close cooperation with
Vice-President George Bush and CIA Director William Casey. ‘SEAL
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Team Six [was] tasked by the Secretary of Defense and the White
House’ with a direct link to the Vice-President and the CIA Director,
which implies the importance and the delicate nature of these
operations.!38

In August 1982, Vice-Admiral Lee Baggett, Jr. presented the first
Naval Special Warfare Master Plan.'?? In a few years, there were several
new ‘mother-subs’ (carrying SDVs). According to General James
Lindsay, Commander of Special Operations Command, the number of
SDVs had increased [radically] to 15, or in 1987, according to Kevin
Dockery, 19 (Mk VIII and Mk IX).'40 A new form of dry and warm SDV,
Advanced SEAL Delivery System (ASDS), was developed. This cigar-
like ASDS (20 metres; one propeller) with 2.5 metres in diameter let the
eight ‘SEALs remain relaxed and dry, and avoid loss of body heat’.!#!
Rear-Admiral George Worthington, former commander Naval Special
Warfare Command, states that the radical build-up started in the early
1980s, the budget for the SEAL teams increased drastically!*? and
almost all these resources were put into the SDV-mothersub concept.!*
In 1987, an Assistant Secretary of Defense for Special Operations was
established.!** In the mid-1990s, according to official figures, US special
forces conducted between 2,000 and 3,000 deployments, including
secret operations, in more than 130 countries each year.!®

We have to ask: which experiences motivated this radical build-up
and reorganization of the special forces? It cannot have been the mis-
takes from Iran in 1980 or the more or less unsuccessful operation in
Grenada in 1983. The radical change and build-up must have been jus-
tified by some highly classified and extremely successful operations —
operations the commander of SEAL Team Three, Commander Gary
Stubblefield, confirms have taken place:

[He describes some covert operations in the early 1980s, some] really
smart interesting training in the NATO and Atlantic theatres . . . We set
up and worked with support networks, E&E networks and we started
getting smart about going into foreign areas. All that involved looking
like people who weren’t in the US Navy and doing things that people
in the US Navy weren’t supposed to do.'#®

The first part of the paragraph indicates training for the Stay-Behinds,
but the second part indicates something more, and seems to refer to
the same operations that Caspar Weinberger discussed with direct ref-
erence to Sweden. The only operations Commander Stubblefield talks
about that could have justified a radical change in naval special
warfare and a dramatic increase in the number of midget submarines
and ‘mother-subs’ seem to have been ‘covert training’ operations in
the NATO theatre — either as formal members of the Navy or as a force
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with an assignment for other branches of government outside the
Department of Defense (in other words, the CIA):

[In these operations, the US Navy SEALs looked like nothing in the US
Navy forces even if they were caught or found dead in foreign areas:]
‘there are no uniforms, no ID-cards, and no connection to the armed
forces or government of the United States.!4”

Lieutenant Joseph Maguire has described how swimmers from SEAL
Team Two trained at harbour penetration from submarines in the Baltic
Sea in the early 1980s. He tells about a penetration exercise on the
German Baltic coast to establish contact with an E&E net, but this is
‘probably the only one we can tell you about’, Lieutenant Maguire
said.'*® Commander Stubblefield mention that he, in the early 1980s,
participated in an extremely secret group called the ‘Special
Development Unit’ that he couldn’t talk about.'” At this very time, the
SEALs started to operate SDVs and ‘mother submarines’ in cold water.
This was the reason for the development of a new SDV system. The
bad experience of the cold-water environment forced the Navy to
develop the ASDS.'5? However, if we are talking about covert training
operations in the cold waters of the NATO theatre, where the US Navy
SEALs were operating under cover of being ‘the opposite’ and doing
things they were not supposed to do, we are obviously talking about
Scandinavia. Stubblefield seems to describe how the US Navy SEALs,
in the early 1980s, carried out unconventional warfare operations,
‘some really smart training’ in Scandinavian waters, where they mas-
queraded as Soviet forces.

An officer from a NATO country and former Chief of Military
Intelligence confirmed to me that what I have written about US Navy
SEALs’ covert military training operations in the 1980s is a good
description. He had no criticism on that part. According to a Joint
Chiefs of Staff report on special operations: ‘SEAL delivery vehicle
personnel . . . specialize in operating SDVs and would most likely
provide infiltration and exfiltration support’.!3! Successful infiltration
and exfiltration are a must for naval special warfare.!*? In Norway, |
have met former SEALs speaking Norwegian fluently, and Norwegian-
speaking E&E networks have also operated in Norway. Sometimes
they have been revealed quite easily, a Norwegian senior officer told
me. In several cases, SEALs and E&E networks operated covertly in
Norway with Norwegian military leadership approval. In Norway,
SEALs were usually delivered from submarines, but they were some-
times dropped from small aircraft, a senior intelligence officer told
me. In training operations (no physical confrontation), SEALs have
simulated attacks on ordinary Norwegian naval forces in order to test
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their readiness. Only four or five military officers on the Norwegian
side were informed beforehand (the Commander-in-Chief, the Chief
of the Navy, the Chief of Military Intelligence, the Commander of the
Military District and his assistant). Former Norwegian Defence
Minister Anders Sjaastad confirmed to me that he was informed in
general terms and, in case of allied special force operations against
Norwegian forces, he was probably informed in every single case, he
said. There was government approval for these operations.

Two Norwegian intelligence officers said that the USA and the UK not
only had such a secret formalized training programme for special force
submarines and E&E networks, but also had a separate top-secret pro-
gramme for submarine operations in Norwegian waters. Norwegian
individuals with very close ties to the USA or the UK, for example the
Norwegian Chiefs of Military Intelligence, were informed beforehand.
This was done outside the formal military hierarchy. A couple of times,
a specific US Los Angeles-class submarine was identified in Norwegian
fjords (Sognefjord and Bjernafjord [Hardangerfjord]). To my knowl-
edge, this information did not reach the most senior officers, but the
Chief of Intelligence was informed in case he was loyal to the
Americans, one of them said. This programme seems to have been
handled by informal US contacts with a low profile. The former pro-
gramme was primarily a training and testing programme, while the
latter was also an intelligence-collecting programme, he said. [ was told
by a high-ranking CIA officer that such a programme was run by NURO.

Former Chiefs of Norwegian Military Intelligence have told me that
top-secret submarine and landing operations run by the CIA were for-
malized and conducted within the framework of the Stay-Behinds.
True, the regular military hierarchy was not informed, but the Chief of
Intelligence would have intervened in case of emergency. However,
this programme was, according to their knowledge, a training pro-
gramme for the special forces and the Stay-Behinds, not an
intelligence-collecting programme. ‘But I may not have been fully
informed’, one of them said. There were at least one, probably two,
top-secret US submarine programmes for entering Norwegian fjords,
and corresponding programmes would have been run in Swedish
waters. They were run outside the regular military hierarchy, but like
other submarine operations in the Eastern Atlantic, they were coordi-
nated at Northwood outside London by COM-SUBEASTLANT and
his US Deputy. When these operations were conducted in territorial
waters of other states, local contacts were necessary. In these cases,
informal networks of local officers loyal to the USA and the UK seem
to have operated in parallel to the formal national hierarchies.

The SEAL commander Captain Richard Marcinko has written that
they operated ‘clandestinely in friendly countries without their per-
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mission’.’*? In 1984, John McWethy, the Pentagon correspondent of
the ABC TV channel, said:

American submarines are repeatedly violating territorial waters of
other nations while gathering intelligence. Most of the top-secret mis-
sions are into the waters of the Soviet Union, but according to both
active duty and retired military sources, some missions have been run
into the territorial waters of those nations considered friendly to the
US. Even friendly countries, sources say, sometimes do things they
don’t want the US to know about, things that could inadvertently
threaten American security. The missions are conducted by specially
equipped nuclear powered attack submarines and in some cases by a
nuclear powered mini-sub called NR-1 (MINI-SUB). It has a seven-man
crew, wheels on its underside for crawling along the bottom and is
described by the Navy as a research vessel.'>*

A few weeks before ABC made its comment on US secret missions in
friendly waters, Admiral John L. Butts, Chief of Naval Intelligence, had
been questioned by the House of Representatives’ Subcommittee on
the Department of Defense. Butts referred to US spy operations on the
Soviet Navy and described information from these operations.
The committee asked Butts if he could confirm that the submarine
intrusions into Swedish waters were carried out by the Soviets. Butts
responded that the Soviet submarine in Karlskrona in 1981 was
‘genuine’. In 1982 ‘the Swedes had several submarine contacts’ close to
the Musko Naval Base (referring to the Hérsfjirden submarine hunt).
However, his following paragraph on the national origin is classified.!>
Although the Swedes had pointed to the Soviet Union, the paragraph is
classified, indicating that Western or perhaps US submarines operated
in friendly Swedish waters. Admiral Butts also spoke about a Soviet pro-
gramme for a new ‘small submarine called Uniform. This is sort of like
our NR-1. There is no chance that the Soviets could have operated this
sub or anything like it near the Swedish home waters.”'3¢ In other
words, one submarine operating in Harsfjarden might have been the US
NR-1 or something similar, but it cannot have been a Soviet submarine,
because the Soviets did not have anything like it at the time.

Soon after Admiral Butts had made his statement for the Sub-
committee on Defense, information on US submarine operations into
friendly waters, including the use of the NR-1, was leaked to ABC.
According to ABC, ‘military sources’ said that the USA violated other
countries’ territorial waters for

three primary reasons. One, to gather information on underwater
coastal and harbour defences, thus gauging a country’s ability to detect
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intruders. Two, to plant listening buoys in key waterways. And three,
to gather first-hand intelligence on new ships, particularly submarines
and missile launchers from the sea.’s”

The first and possibly the second argument are clearly of interest for
covert submarine operations into friendly waters. ‘[Glauging a
country’s ability to detect intruders’ also implies a testing of the equip-
ment and readiness of the friendly country. After this TV programme,
the Swedish Naval Attaché to Washington, Captain Hans Tynnerstréom,
said to Svenska Dagbladet that the USA was testing its systems and the
readiness of its friends.!’®

During the submarine hunt in Karlskrona in February—March
1984, more detailed information was received on only one submarine:
it had supposedly one driving propeller with five blades.!*® This may
possibly indicate a US Sturgeon class or Los Angeles class. Prints found
at Klintehamn on the island of Gotland in June 1986 fit with wheels
from NR-1. A small bottom-crawling submarine with wheels left a
1,100-metre-long parallel print close to the shore. The prints looked
like prints from a car that had been driving on the sea floor. The sub-
marine had at least two pairs of wheels. It did not dive until it reached
a depth of 16 metres,'®® which would indicate a larger mini-submarine
and most likely NR-1. No other submarine of this size is known to have
wheels for crawling on the bottom. This seems to indicate that a US
‘specially equipped nuclear powered attack submarine’ as well as NR-1
actually operated in Swedish waters in the 1980s.

Statements and other information indicate that NR-1 may have
operated in Swedish waters in October 1982. Operations in friendly
waters were, according to ABC, conducted by NR-1 and by ‘specially
equipped nuclear powered attack submarines’. One such submarine
may have been USS Seawolf, which operated together with NR-1 in
Libyan waters in 1986.1°! In 1974, it was equipped for special project
operations,'®? and it was also rebuilt with a compartment for SEAL
divers.'®3 It operated together with DSV Turtle,'* and, as already men-
tioned, the Seawolf was able to operate as a mother-sub for the Turtle
and other submersibles. It was the only submarine that has explicitly
been given that role. In 1983, the Seawolf received a medal for excel-
lence in ‘Battle Efficiency’ and another medal for excellence in ‘Damage
Control’, indicating some serious damage. In 1983, she was in a ship-
yard recovering from some kind of damage (allegedly from a storm).1¢

In the early to mid-1980s, the CIA used US Navy platforms like the
DSV Turtle, but also Lockheed’s Deep Quest, 1 was told by a Navy
Intelligence officer. The Turtle was modified in 1980 so as to be able
to operate for longer periods of time.!%® In 1978-80, the Deep Quest
was refitted with a fuel cell power system for the US Navy, which made
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it able to operate for a greater length of time (96 hours).!®” One
source, who has experience from both the Turtle and the Deep Quest
in Scandinavian waters in the early and mid-1980s, confirmed that
Turtle received its award for excellent bravery in espionage 30 August
to 5 November 1982 for an operation in Scandinavian waters. In prac-
tice, this would mean Swedish waters. We have reasons to believe that
the Turtle acted as a ‘decoy’,'®® masquerading as a Soviet vessel in the
Haérsfjirden operation. This might explain why some observations fit
so well with the Turtle. And, if the Turtle was in Scandinavian or
Swedish waters in September—October 1982 it is not unlikely that the
Seawolf was used as its mother-sub. Prints on the sea floor at
Huvudholmen do not indicate the Turtle or the Deep Quest, but they
fit relatively well with some other US submersibles.

A source with knowledge of passages through the Danish Straits
told me that a specific US submarine entered the Baltic Sea in early
September and left in late October — almost exactly the time needed
for operations in Harsfjarden. It was also said that this submarine had
special forces on board, which means it entered the Baltic Sea sub-
merged at Store Belt. According to the same source, it was the same
British and US special force submarines that regularly entered the
Baltic Sea in the early 1980s. I don’t know which submarines partici-
pated in these operations. However, in 1982 the US Navy did not have
many submarines to choose from. Except for the Seawolf, there were
a couple of Sturgeon-class submarines, for example USS Bergall, that
had operated as mother-subs of DSRVs, and the USS Cavalla, which
had been rebuilt in 1982 for carrying special forces and SDVs.

USS Bergall received an award for an operation conducted between
24 July and 1 December 1982, while USS Cavalla was awarded for an
operation between 1 August 1982 and 31 December 1983.'° Cavalla
conducted overseas operations and received an award for excellent
bravery for operations in direct support of Chief of Naval Operations
Project 098-7. According to a document signed by Secretary of the
Navy John Lehman: ‘the ship conducted the first ever full mission
profile Naval Special Warfare operations from a nuclear submarine.
These hazardous operations were completed using techniques devel-
oped by USS CAVALLA.”'70

I don’t know where these ‘hazardous operations’ were conducted,
but if we accept the statement that ‘the same US special force subma-
rines regularly entered the Baltic Sea in the early 1980s’, one of them
might have been USS Cavalla. Another may have been USS Seawolf
or USS Bergall, which both operated as mother-subs and received
awards for operations during these months. Either they were run by
the CIA within the framework of the Stay-Behinds or they were run
by NURO for other purposes. However, these operations may have
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had another background. From around 1960, the US Office of Naval
Research was deeply involved in sound analysis in the Baltic Sea. The
head of the London office at that time, Captain ]J.K. Sloatman, trav-
elled frequently to Stockholm and also to Helsinki.'”! In 1960, a
Neptune pilot visiting Stockholm told my source that he dropped
sonar buoys in the Baltic Sea. These sonar buoys (dropped by helicop-
ter) were later replaced by a system of bottom-fixed sonars, which
most likely demanded submarine support. In the mid-1960s, thanks
to the excellent relations between the US Assistant Naval Attaché to
Stockholm, Commander Bobby Inman, and a Swedish source, such a
system could be deployed in Swedish waters by agreement with the
naval leadership in Sweden.'”? According to a senior US Navy
Intelligence officer, a system of US sonars existed in the Baltic Sea, in
Swedish waters, in the early 1970s, and US Naval Intelligence had
daily access to data from these installations. Commander Inman’s
excellent asset in Sweden had facilitated these arrangements. As men-
tioned in Chapter 4, the CIA had tried to ‘steal’ this Swedish officer.
However, Navy Intelligence had been able to keep him, and Bobby
Inman’s success in Sweden was important for his carrier, this senior
US intelligence officer told me.!”3

The US Navy operated in the Baltic Sea more or less on a yearly
basis in connection with NATO exercises. In The US Maritime
Strategy, in the section from the US Marine Corps, General RX. Kelley
and Major Hugh K. O’Donnell, Jr. confirm intentions to operate in
the Baltic Sea in time of war. Amphibious forces could land in ‘the
eastern Baltic’.7* In 1989, in a discussion I had with Robert Komer,
former US Under-Secretary of Defense and a critique of The US
Maritime Strategy, he said: ‘One option for the US Marine Corps was
to land three divisions on the Soviet Baltic coast. These forces would
have to be transported over the Baltic Sea, for example, from
Karlskrona in Sweden.” These forces would need submarine escort,
and, most likely, the US Navy forces prepared for such an option. It is
also likely that the Americans were interested in the six Soviet Golf
missile submarines able to cover the whole Central Front from the
southern Baltic Sea. Officially, however, the US Navy did not operate
submarines in the Baltic Sea and stated that, within NATO, the Baltic
Sea was a West German and Danish responsibility.

US submarines operated covertly in the Baltic Sea in connection
with espionage and special force operations. In such operations,
landing special forces in various foreign countries, was, according to
an article in US Naval Institute Proceedings, a role ‘even more covert
than electronic intelligence collection’.'”® These covert operations do
not seem to have been made with the approval of the Swedish govern-
ment or even of the Commander-in-Chief. Another US Navy officer,
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a former US attaché, confirmed to me that such operations would not
have been carried out by the Navy but rather by the CIA using Navy
platforms. He was, however, afraid that my writing about these oper-
ations might lead to a ‘backlash’, creating problems for US-Swedish
relations. But why were these testing operations much more dramatic
in Sweden? Why did the Americans and the British carry out such
operations, in Sweden, as if there was a real war? There are a number
of coastal countries in NATO or in the Atlantic theatre. Nowhere did
these testing operations and training for the Stay-Behinds develop into
warlike situations as in Sweden. However, unlike Einar Ansteensen’s
statement of the position in the early 1980s, there seem, on later occa-
sions, to have been operations in Finnish waters, but the Finns are said
to have avoided the game by keeping quiet, following the policy of
most other countries.!”® An admiral from a NATO country told me
that the Finns never went public with information on intruding sub-
marines in order to avoid an awkward debate.

NATO countries were not always informed about allied submarine
activities in their own waters. In these NATO countries as well as in
Finland, it was a general policy not to reveal anything about intruding
submarines. A submarine hunt might easily appear as a demonstration
of impotence: it is not easy, and, even worse, it may prove to be an
allied submarine. A Norwegian senior intelligence officer, Trond
Johansen, said that he tried to convince the Swedes to keep a low
profile, but the Swedes were not willing to listen to him, he said. A
group of officers in the Swedish military leadership made a conscious
decision to go public about the submarine intrusions partly as an
instrument in their struggle with the political leadership. On
1 October, on the very first day of the Hérsfjirden submarine hunt,
Chief of Staff Vice-Admiral Bror Stefenson ordered the information
division to prepare for a press centre for 500 journalists. This is very
large for a small country. After the first observation of a periscope, he
prepared for a huge international mass media event. The tension
between the more social-democratic political elite and some ambitious
military officers (and perhaps industrial leaders) made these officers try
to prove their case by demonstrating the seriousness of the threat. In a
lunch discussion with the former US Secretary of Defense James
Schlesinger, I asked him about his view of Sweden during his years in
the administration. His response was short and concise: ‘Which
Sweden? The “political Sweden” or the “military Sweden”? The mili-
tary were planning to get the USA involved as soon as possible’ (see
below).
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ITALIAN SPECIAL FORCE SUBMARINES

In the early 1980s, the Italian Navy had several submarines for special
force operations. Except for the US Navy, only the Italians had naval
forces capable of carrying out complex operations with SDVs, mini-
submarines, other small submarines and special force swimmers. In
1982, the Italian Navy had 11 conventional submarines: four Sauro-
class submarines (64 metres; one propeller), four Toti-class (47
metres; one propeller) plus two ex-US Tang-class (87 metres; two pro-
pellers) and one ex-US Guppy-class submarine (99 metres; two pro-
pellers).'”” In addition, the Italian naval special forces COMSUBIN!78
(Commando Raggruppamento Subacqui ed Incursori) had a number
of mini- and midget submarines. They were small manoeuvrable crafts
that could carry eight to 25 commandos and were especially effective
for special force operations. The Cosmos SX 756-W class submarines
(25 metres; one propeller) were used in the 1970s and 1980s. They
had a transit range of 1,600 nautical miles and were able to carry two
SDVs: CE2F-X60 (7 metres: one propeller). The mother-sub had a
maximum speed of 8.5 knots.!”” The Cosmos MG-110 (28 metres;
one propeller) and Cosmos 120-ER (30 metres; one propeller) from
the 1980s are even more capable. The latter has a range of up to 2,500
nautical miles at 3.5 knots and 1,800 nautical miles at 7 knots, with
an endurance of up to 20 days.!®? In the mid-1980s, the Italian
company Maritalia had three mini-submarines in different sizes
between 25 and 30 metres. One or more were most likely also used
by COMSUBIN. All these submarines were capable of carrying two
SDVs. The 27-metre submarine had a maximum speed of 18 knots and
was capable of operating submerged for 14 days.!8! Maritalia also pro-
duced a 9- to 10-metre 3GST9 with a range of about 200 nautical
miles at 6 knots and 100 nautical miles at 8 knots, which actually was
the forerunner of the current ASDS project for an advanced SDV for
the US Navy SEALs. It can dive below 400 metres.'$?

The Italians are the only ones who have produced and for years have
used a sub-surface system with a number of 25- to 30-metre subma-
rines, each able to carry two almost-10-metre SDVs. The system
intruding in Swedish waters in the early and mid-1980s, as it is
described by the Defence Staff Report of 25 November 1987, is iden-
tical to the system used by COMSUBIN. In the Hérsfjarden operation,
the description of the submarine seen on the surface at Dalaro on 4
October is like that of a Cosmos SX 756-W (or possibly a Cosmos MG-
110). The drawing shows three square objects on top of the hull, very
similar to the Italian Strazza Navigation sonars for navigation in
narrow waters. It had a high mast — much higher than the sail - just
behind the sail. The length of the vessel is described as two-thirds of
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the local (Orno) ferry (at the time two of these ferries were 28 metres
while one was 37 metres). This would make a total submarine length
of 20-25 metres, or rather about 25 metres, because the propeller area
would certainly be submerged. All this information fits well with the
Cosmos SX 756-W. No other submarine fits this description. The
observer of a periscope and mast on 1 October described the distance
between them as 1-1.5 metres, which also fits a Cosmos submarine. It
also has a small propeller that creates high turns per minute at low
speed. The high mast on the Cosmos (as well as on the later Pyranja)
is erected from a horizontal position along the top of the hull to a ver-
tical position just behind the sail. Later in the 1980s, this erection
manoeuvre had been observed several times in Swedish waters, I was
told by an intelligence officer. The first occasion was in the far north at
Tore close to Pited. The insiders called it ‘Pitedpitten’ (the ‘Pited cock’).

The large submarine sail seen at Sandhamn on the evening of
4 October was described as a ‘large wall’ with diesel engines. It might
possibly have been a British Oberon-class submarine, but it could as
well have been an Italian or US Tang-class submarine. In the
Haérsfjirden submarine hunt, a third possible Italian vessel is the small
bottom-crawling submersible that might have been used by COMSU-
BIN. The observers’ descriptions of several of the Hirsfjarden subma-
rines are consistent with the descriptions of Italian submarines.
However, it is impossible that this operation was an exclusively Italian
affair, but an Italian contribution to a US-commanded operation is
more than plausible. The Americans often use platforms and individ-
uals of other nationalities to avoid exposure, and the Italians had
special forces that cooperated intimately with their US and UK
counterparts. The Italians also had a number of small vessels useful for
operating in Swedish waters.

The Italians have produced a large number of the small Cosmos
submarines. From 1955 Cosmos constructed and sold at least 63 sub-
marines of the earlier version SX 506 (23 metres; one propeller).
Twelve were exported to Pakistan and two to Colombia, but most
receivers are not known.!8? Later versions like the Cosmso SX 756-W
and the MG-110 have also been sold to several countries.!®
According to Annati:

COSMOS is probably the largest specialized producer world-wide of
underwater craft for special operations, and in more than forty years of
activity it has supplied its chariots [SDVs] and midgets to very many
navies all over the world. Over the years technological advances have
seen the midgets increase in displacement from 40t in the 1970s to over
110t for the most recent version. .. The COSMOS 110t midgets are ‘true’
submarines capable of launching torpedoes . . . as well as conducting
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covert surveillance tasks. Their main purpose, however, is the deploy-
ment of combat swimmers (up to eight) with inflatable assault boats or
two two-man chariots . . . [The latest SDV] is the CE2F/X100 model. It
can stand the depth of 100 m when transported on the back of a parent
submarine and ensures submerged range of 50nm at a maximum speed
of 4.5 kts. The two-man free-flooded cabin can be closed by two sliding
canopies. '8’

In 1978, the Italian Navy launched a surface ship, Anteo, which carries
a midget submarine, Usel (8 metres).'8¢ As with the techniques the
Italians used during the Second World War,!8” several small subma-
rines or midgets may have been transported on civilian ships. In
Gibraltar in 1940, the Italians used a civilian tanker, Olterra, anchored
in the port ‘as departure base for operations with the maiale’,'®® the
‘human torpedo’, the small sub-surface vessel or SDV. Vice-Admiral
Gino Birindelli, former Commander-in-Chief Allied Naval Forces
South Europe, describes these operations as ‘both a technical and a
tactical surprise’, because this small submersible was a technical inven-
tion, but more importantly it was used in an original manner with a
civilian tanker as a departure base.!®” Before the submersible leaves
the tanker, the special section is flooded; thereafter the submersible
leaves through an underwater door. After completion of the operation
it returns the same way.'”® Smaller conventional submarines can also
be transported in this way, as demonstrated by photos from the US
Office of Naval Intelligence.'”! In the 1970s, in order to enter the
Mediterranean covertly, the 42-metre NR-1 was transported, hidden
under a large tent, across the Atlantic on the rebuilt Landing Ship
Dock (LSD) USS Portland (169 metres; 13,600 tons). During the
hidden transport the sail of NR-1 was painted black for a covert oper-
ation at the Libyan coast.!”> Midgets and small submarines with a
limited speed or range were transported to the area of operations,
preferably on a rebuilt surface ship to avoid detection. This technique
made it possible to go through a narrow passage without the oppo-
nent knowing about it. It is not unlikely that the larger versions of the
Cosmos or perhaps Maritalia mini-submarines have been transferred
into the area of operations by a merchant ship, for example by a
rebuilt civilian tanker in order to achieve a ‘tactical surprise’. Also in
the 1980s, small Italian vessels could ‘be carried into the vicinity of
the enemy harbour by . . . merchant ships’, it is stated in an editorial
comment to Birindelli’s article.’® Such a modification of a large
tanker is not uncommon and by no means difficult, I was told by a
senior naval officer. He also said that one such a tanker that, at the
time, operated for the Office of Naval Intelligence (and probably for
NURO) was the 40,000-ton Mormacsky (length 210 metres).'**
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This is of some importance, because, on the afternoon of 9 October
1982 in connection with the Hérsfjirden submarine hunt, the US
tanker Mormacsky was spotted by the reconnaissance aircraft GYP in
the area outside the Swedish archipelago, just outside the area of the
submarine hunt.'”® Unlike Soviet ships covertly transporting midget
submarines, the US Mormacsky was in the area. It would have been
able to rescue US submersibles or other small vessels. This same tanker
has also appeared in connection with other submarine operations, this
senior naval officer told me. There is no doubt that Mormacsky has
been used for such covert operations.

The Cosmos submarines have a limited range and, in a US-Italian
operation, to use a US ‘civilian’ tanker is in many ways ideal. This
would certainly create a ‘tactical surprise’, to quote Vice-Admiral
Birindelli. Nobody in Sweden would think about these submarines as
possibly being Italian. Several observations of the typical Cosmos mast
erected from a horizontal position also support this hypothesis. This
would mean that the 25- to 30-metre Cosmos submarines with their
7-metre SDVs (later supplemented by the 10-metre 3GST9s) were
deployed in the Baltic Sea off the Swedish coast, entered the archipel-
ago and sent the SDVs into the naval bases and harbours, while the
tanker delivered its oil or other petroleum products in a harbour
somewhere in Scandinavia or Finland. After that, the tanker could
return to a given position outside the archipelago to pick up its sub-
marines. In order not to create suspicion, the tanker, in this case
Mormacsky, has to carry out its regular business. In other words:
‘Every project must have a cover project that must be true’, to quote
John Craven. !¢

The Swedish Defence Staff report of 25 November 1987 spoke
about a system of 30-metre submarines/mother-subs carrying 10-metre
small sub-surface vessels'®” (or sonar echoes of 25-30 metres'® and
5-10 metres'®®). This system can, to my knowledge, only have come
from the COMSUBIN in Italy and been transferred to Swedish waters
by a civilian ship, most likely a rebuilt tanker, for example the US
Mormacsky. This would explain why there is no indication of these
small submarines in the Baltic Sea on their transit route from the Soviet
Baltic coast to Sweden and back?® even although contact with these
submarines would have been much easier to receive on the open sea.
Sweden was able to follow the small West German submarines in the
Baltic Sea on the Soviet Baltic coast and their transit to the Swedish
coast, but the Swedes never received contact with these 30-metre sub-
marines despite their regular appearance in the Swedish archipelagos.
These vessels seem to have been dumped into Swedish waters, and, in
the case I have studied, it was not done by a Soviet ship.

Before I was given access to Rear-Admiral Christer Kierkegaard’s
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war diary (the naval base war diary) for the Hérsfjirden incident, a
couple of young officers from Swedish Military Intelligence had
blacked out all entries on Western civilian ships even although this
information is in no way classified material. When you are able to read
both the declassified material and the still classified sections, which are
blacked out, you read these sections as though they are underlined.
Interestingly enough, much of the blacked-out information was actu-
ally about civilian ships. This procedure does not make sense unless at
least one civilian vessel was directly involved in the operation. It also
indicates that one senior officer instructing the young intelligence offi-
cers knew that this was the case (see for example retired Admiral Bror
Stefenson’s instructions to Commander Lars-Erik Hoff about the pos-
sibility of declassifying information on the NOTVARP operation).
Mormacsky might have been ‘a departure base for operations’ with, for
example, Italian Cosmos submarines and the bottom-crawling tracked
submersible, and/or a base ship for receiving US small submersibles like
the Turtle that might have been released by USS Monongahela in the
centre of Stockholm two weeks earlier.

The presence of Mormacsky outside the Swedish archipelago
would explain the observations of vessels described as Cosmos subma-
rines in the Hérsfjirden area, and it might also explain a regular pres-
ence of a system of 30-metre and 10-metre submarines in Swedish
waters in the 1980s. This also makes the presence of an Italian
bottom-crawling submersible very likely. The Italian naval special
forces have — or had at least at the time — one ‘midget submarine’, an
oval submersible (about 10 metres) with a bottom-crawling capability.
In the naval community, it is called a ‘toad’, because it is able to jump
in the water. It leaves double tracks on the sea floor like the ones reg-
istered in Hérsfjirden. It has instruments for cutting and a twin-arm
manipulator for moving objects, similar to the American Turtle and
Sea Cliff. It may function as an underwater base for special force
swimmers, one senior officer said. He saw it in the barracks of the
COMSUBIN base Varignano at La Spezia. This bottom-crawling sub-
mersible was transported on a civilian vessel, he said. It may possibly
have been ‘borrowed’ by others or used in joint exercises, this senior
officer told me. Or, as Annati states, several of the small Italian vessels
have been sold to other Western navies and they are kept very
secret.??! This Italian bottom-crawling submersible has never been
described in Jane’s Fighting Ships or in any other open source.

When tracked prints from a bottom-crawling submersible were
found in Scandinavian waters and seemingly indications from a similar
vessel were found both in Norway and in Sweden, this senior officer
first worried about some Soviet-Italian collaboration. However, when
he investigated the problem this hypothesis was soon dismissed.
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COMSUBIN’s close ties were clearly to the Americans. There were
always two US Navy SEALs at the Varignano base, and they had access
to everything, one special force officer at Varignano told me. While
many Italians at Varignano did not have access to the barracks, the
SEAL officers did. The contrast between the advanced COMSUBIN
equipment and material from the conventional forces was striking. In
Varignano, much of the most advanced Italian SDV equipment may
have been financed by the Americans, he said.

The COMSUBIN loyalties were clearly not with the Soviets.
Officers at Varignano speak with respect about the Fascist leader Benito
Mussolini, this special force officer told me. Prince Junio Valerio
Borghese — the wartime leader of the Italian naval special forces,
Decima Flotiglia MAS, and one of the most prominent Fascist leaders
during the Cold War — was still their hero. War heroes from Decima
MAS, like former commander of the Italian naval special forces Vice-
Admiral Gino Birindelli, were honoured with gold medals at the
COMSUBIN base at Varignano.?’? During the war, Decima MAS had
had its own police force and kept its own intelligence units in other
countries as if it was an independent state. From 1943, it operated
under SS overall command as an SS Sonderverband. At the very end of
the war, Borghese turned himself over to James Jesus Angleton and the
OSS. Borghese was later recruited by or at least working closely with
Angleton and the CIA, and he participated in several military ‘coup
attempts’ in the 1960s and 1970s in order to manipulate Italian poli-
tics, supposedly in cooperation with the CIA.2% In these ‘political
operations’, he was collaborating with his colleague and former NATO
Commander-in-Chief Naval Forces South Europe, from 1973
President for the Fascist party MSI, Vice-Admiral Birindelli. Some of
these networks also kept close contacts not just with the British and the
Americans but also with the South Africans, which might explain pos-
sible South African involvement in the Hérsfjirden operation. In the
early 1980s, after an Italian legal investigation of covert CIA-SISMI
operations, SISMI generals and agents were rescued by their South
African and CIA contacts.?*

If the Italian ‘toad’ (or, for example, an Italian Cosmos submarine)
was involved in the Harsfjirden operation, and if it (or one of them)
was damaged on 5 or 7 October, this would possibly explain SISMI
participation at the meeting in Geneva on 8 October 1982 and the
leak to Ansa about Swedish negotiations with a foreign power in
Geneva on 9 October — in the middle of the submarine hunt. SISMI
had earlier carried out similar kinds of operations in other fields. To
use submarines and special force operations for testing other forces is
in many ways ideal, and, in the 1980s, to use an unknown submarine
would immediately put the blame on the Soviets. We do not know if
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the bottom-crawling submersible in Harsfjirden was this Italian
vessel, but a similar submersible has been seen on the Swedish west
coast and also on the Norwegian side. Furthermore, the tracked prints
in Hérsfjirden do not fit with the prints of a supposed Soviet version
seen in northern Norway (see above).

COMSUBIN is one of the most well-trained of naval special
forces.?” They are willing to accept great risks. The American SEALs
used to have joint exercises with their Italian counterparts. SEAL offi-
cers expressed interest in the Italian submarines, but the US Navy was
unwilling to buy them.?% Because of this, joint operations seem to have
become a practical solution. The Italians operated very close to the
Americans and the British, an Italian intelligence officer told me. The
tracked prints on the sea floor in Hérsfjirden may originate from a
joint US-Italian (or less likely British-Italian) operation. An observa-
tion of a possible Cosmos SX 756-W would also support this hypoth-
esis. This would explain the Italian knowledge of and participation in
the alleged US-Swedish negotiations during the Hérsfjirden subma-
rine hunt as well as the Italian interest in my own research.?%” At least,
the above-mentioned Italian submersible is the only one I know that
seems to fit the tracks in Harsfjirden. One source said that the US oper-
ations in Swedish waters were even run from Italy, which would
explain why this meeting took place in Geneva. Furthermore, leading
representatives of the Italian special forces, Prince Valerio Junio
Borghese, Vice-Admiral Gino Birindelli, Director of SISMI General
Giuseppe Santovito and his predecessor Admiral Eugenio Henke were
close to four Americans mentioned in this book, former SACEUR and
Secretary of State General Alexander Haig, Director of the CIA
William Casey, Secretary of the Navy John Lehman and his Chief of
Naval Operations Admiral James Watkins.2®® The most important
Italian and American high officials deciding about naval covert action
belonged to one single network.
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Submarine Ghosts and Psychological
Warfare Against Sweden

COVERT OPERATIONS AND THE MAKING OF PUBLIC OPINION

In the early 1950s, US and British aircraft carried out reconnaissance
operations over the western Soviet Union via Danish, Norwegian and
Swedish airspace. The Swedish Defence Staff noted that US aircraft
went in and out of Soviet airspace over the Baltic republics. British air-
craft dropped agents in the Baltic republics. On the evening of 28 April
1954, several US aircraft entered Swedish and Danish airspace. The
aircraft were observed at several places along the Swedish west coast
and in southern Sweden as a whole. During the night, some aircraft
patrolled outside G6teborg, Malmé and Copenhagen, while others,
after having been refuelled by the former, went in over Sweden, the
Baltic Sea and deep into the western Soviet Union including Novgorod,
Kalinin, Smolensk and Kiev. The Soviet air defences were, at the time,
not able to intercept the US aircraft. When the latter aircraft returned
to the Malm6—Copenhagen area, they were once again refuelled, and
after that they all left, probably for the US Strategic Air Command’s
bases in the UK. A week after this incident, the Swedish Defence Staff
wrote in a classified report that the aircraft were either American or
British. The Danish Minister of Defence, Rasmus Hansen, stated at a
confidential party leader meeting that he could not exclude that the air-
craft were American, but this should not be reported to the Parliament
or to the public.!

A couple of weeks earlier, US Secretary of State John Foster Dulles
had announced the new US doctrine of massive retaliation. This oper-
ation of 28 April 1954 demonstrated the credibility of the US doctrine.
It was an exercise to prepare US forces for a third world war as well as
a demonstration of force to deter the Soviet Union from any aggres-
sion. In Scandinavia and particularly in Sweden this operation had a
different meaning, which has been studied by Swedish historian
Wilhelm Agrell. The foreign aircraft were observed in southern Sweden
during the whole night. The airports at Malmo and Copenhagen tried
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to get in contact with the mysterious aircraft without success. On 29
April, the evening newspapers wrote about the incident: “The military
observers are convinced: the aircraft are Russian’, “Why didn’t Swedish
fighter aircraft do anything?’ and ‘There were continuous intrusions
for eleven and a half hours.”? To the public, it was obvious that the
‘mysterious aircraft’ were Russian, and that they had intruded deep
into Swedish territory on purpose. In the Swedish Parliament, despite
the analysis made by the Swedish Defence Staff, Swedish Minister of
Defence Torsten Nilsson said that it had not been possible to identify
the purpose or nationality of the aircraft. In the Danish case, there was
no interest in having a debate about US intrusions. The consequence,
however, was that this US or US—British operation was interpreted as a
Soviet demonstration of force. The debate was turned into a question
about why Swedish aircraft were not willing or able to intercept the
Russians.?

In other words, this US or US-British demonstration of force not
only had a psychological impact in this country, but to the Danes and
Swedes the consequence was primarily psychological. The fact that the
Swedish and Danish authorities classified information on this operation
made the public believe that the ‘mysterious aircraft’ were Soviet ones.
The incident was automatically turned into a campaign against the
Soviet Union. Two years earlier, in June 1952, Soviet air defence had
shot down a Swedish signal intelligence aircraft as well as a Swedish
reconnaissance aircraft close to the Soviet territorial border in the
Baltic Sea.* Now, the Soviets seemingly were operating deep into
Swedish territory without the Swedes being able to do anything. As
with what happened during the Harsfjirden operation and during the
subsequent Hardangerfjord operation, the lack of evidence and the lack
of clear information were in themselves interpreted as confirmation of
Soviet aggression. The intrusions involving several Scandinavian coun-
tries confirmed the general character of the threat. Everything that
pointed to US or UK involvement was highly classified, making the
public point at the perceived enemy. By intruding into Swedish airspace
or Swedish waters with unidentified and ‘mysterious forces’, the USA
and the UK were able to create a realistic Soviet threat against
Scandinavia. Similar to the ‘ghostlike aircraft’ that appeared in Swedish
airspace in the 1950s, ‘ghostlike submarines’ appeared in Swedish
waters in the 1980s. These ‘psychological operations’ may, initially,
have been an extra benefit or a spin-off from already-planned intelli-
gence activity primarily against the Soviet Union. However, after an
initial analysis of the Swedish response, these operations may have been
turned into true psychological operations (PSYOP).

One reason for US covert activities in Swedish waters in the early
1980s could possibly have been to remove or redeploy some secret lis-
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tening systems deployed along the Swedish coast from the late 1960s
or early 1970s (see Chapter 6). Former Swedish Naval Attaché to the
USA Captain Hans Tynnerstrom told me that in the early or mid-
1980s, Sweden bought US listening buoys and deployed them in
Swedish waters. These systems may possibly have been a replacement
for some of the secret US systems, which then had to be removed. The
psychological operation would then have been a spin-off from this
very secret activity. This is a hypothesis presented by the author
Tommy Lindfors.’ If the above information is true, Swedish reactions
to initial support operations — including the use of US special forces
and midget submarines — may have been analysed in the USA and
found useful as a form of psychological warfare to change Swedish
perceptions.

However, the operation in 1982 inside Musk6é Naval Base or in
Haérsfjirden was most likely not linked to American sonars or similar
equipment. It may have been a form of reconnaissance, as stated by a
high-ranking CIA officer. It may have been intelligence collection and
reconnaissance on specific sabotage targets, because Sweden showed
the ‘sign of becoming a little frisky’.® But more important, it was a test
of Swedish capability and readiness as discussed by former Defense
Secretary Caspar Weinberger, former Chief of Defence Intelligence Sir
John Walker and former Navy Minister Sir Keith Speed. Or to quote
former commander of BALTAP, Lieutenant-General Kjeld Hillingse:
the Americans and the British wanted to test ‘if Sweden firstly was
capable and secondly willing to defend its territory’. But these tests
would also, according to Hillingsa, strengthen morale within the mil-
itary forces and in the population as a whole. In other words, it is not
possible to clearly distinguish these tests of the Swedish defence
systems and military readiness from PSYOPs that have the object of
influencing public opinion and Swedish government policy. Despite
official Swedish rhetoric about intruding Soviet submarines, this was
actually an issue discussed by a Swedish Defence Ministry official and
his NATO counterpart at that time, I was told by the latter. The sub-
marine operation in the Stockholm archipelago in 1982 was thought
of as a possible Western psychological operation. If it was a PSYOP
with the intention not only of testing Swedish systems and readiness
but primarily of convincing Swedish public opinion of the reality of
the Soviet danger in order to change Swedish policy, this was one of
the most successful operations of the Cold War.

To test the readiness of your own forces is often a necessity, and the
means for doing that are often the same as the ones used in intelligence
collection. In late October 1985, the Swedish signal intelligence ship
Orion was on patrol outside the Soviet naval base of Baltijsk, the
captain of the ship, Commander Bjérn Eklind, told me. While listening
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to the Soviets, the ship received indications of naval activity some
hundred kilometres north of Baltijsk. Covered by the fog and by a false
‘Soviet’ radar (which showed the characteristics of a Soviet radar),
Orion went up to the area of the Soviet naval exercise. Then Orion
changed to its original radar and took the first pictures ever of a Kilo-
class submarine in the Baltic Sea. The Russians were taken by surprise.
A Soviet minesweeper went towards the Swedish ship and even hit it
while trying to force Orion to leave the area. After this incident, Orion
returned to the Stockholm archipelago and the naval base at Muskd,
but once again it was using its ‘Soviet radar’. This created an alarm in
the Swedish signal intelligence system, and there was a lot of fuss at the
lower levels of the FRA. At higher levels, the position of Orion was
known, and the information about an approaching Soviet ship was dis-
confirmed. However, the use of Orion’s ‘Soviet radar’ gave an oppor-
tunity for an excellent test of the Swedish defence system.

The deceptive cover used for an intelligence operation against the
Soviets was also used for testing Swedish defences and readiness. Once
or twice a year, the Swedish Navy used submarines that covertly oper-
ated in Swedish archipelagos to test the readiness of Swedish coastal
defences and the procedures of the local and regional military staffs.”
Submarines were, of course, also used for intelligence purposes
against the Soviet Union. Similarly to Orion, US naval platforms most
likely used Soviet-type radar as well as Soviet uniforms, weapons and
communication systems both for intelligence purposes and for testing
US and others’ readiness and defence capability. There are, however,
three differences: firstly, while the Swedes like other smaller states
only tested their own forces, the USA and the UK accepted a respon-
sibility for the whole NATO area including Sweden, which means that
the Swedes experienced confrontation with an alien force; secondly,
while the Swedes were testing their own routines, procedures and
technological capability, the USA and the UK also tested the Swedish
will to resist, which means they accepted the risk of losing their own
submarines; thirdly, the existence of these tests was highly classified,
and, in Sweden, the knowledge of them existed most likely only as
oral information between less than a handful of people making all this
submarine activity appear in the mass media as well as in secret
Swedish documents as ‘real Soviet activity’. In other words, the
extreme secrecy of these operations made them into primarily psycho-
logical operations to raise awareness of the Soviet threat and to change
Swedish political views.

In Sweden, the 1982 submarine incident in Hérsfjirden and the
following incidents in the 1980s radically changed Swedish public
opinion. As with what happened with the US aircraft in 1954, the sub-
marines in Swedish waters were transformed into ‘material facts’ dem-
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onstrating Soviet aggression. The physical realities changed the ‘emo-
tions and the objective reasoning’ in Sweden. In 1976, 6 per cent of
the Swedish population perceived the Soviet Union as a direct threat
and 27 per cent perceived the Soviet Union as a threat or unfriendly
to Sweden. These figures refer to a study by the Swedish Board of
Psychological Defence.® In spring 1980, after the Soviet invasion of
Afghanistan, these figures increased marginally to 8 per cent and 33
per cent. After the Soviet Whiskey submarine had been stranded on
an island in the Karlskrona archipelago in October 1981, 34 per cent
of the Swedish population perceived the Soviet Union as a direct
threat and 71 per cent perceived the Soviets as either a threat or
unfriendly to Sweden. After the Harsfjirden incident and the presen-
tation of the Submarine Defence Commission Report (and the
Swedish protest against the Soviet Union), this change became even
more dramatic with 42 per cent looking at the Soviet Union as a direct
threat and 83 per cent as a threat or unfriendly towards Sweden, and
those high figures were maintained for several years. Not until 1987
did the last figure fall below 70 per cent. The submarine incidents in
the early and mid-1980s seem to have totally changed Swedish views
about the Soviet Union. In the 1970s, the Soviet threat had no reality
to the Swedes. The physical experience of intruding submarines
created an awareness in line with US perceptions. The number of
Swedes perceiving the Soviet Union as ‘friendly’ was reduced from
10-15 per cent in the 1970s to 1-2 per cent in 1983, while the corre-
sponding figures for a ‘friendly’ USA were swinging between 20 and
40 per cent, seemingly unrelated to any submarine hunts.’

The perception of an immediate Soviet threat also changed the
demand for an increased defence budget. In 1975-76, 16-19 per cent
of the population argued that Sweden should strengthen its military
defence. In spring 1980, this figure had increased marginally to 22 per
cent. After the stranded Soviet submarine in October 1981, 42 per
cent of the population believed in the necessity of strengthening mil-
itary defence, while, after the Submarine Defence Commission Report
in spring 1983, this figure had increased to 46 per cent. In the follow-
ing years, up to 1987, despite an increase in the defence budget, this
figure decreased just a little and remained around 35 per cent.!” The
submarine incidents made it possible to increase the Swedish military
budget and direct public opinion against the Soviet threat.

US DOCTRINES FOR PSYOP AND MILITARY DECEPTION

The test of readiness and the effort to convince public opinion of the
reality of the present danger was unofficial but internally stated US
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policy for ‘friendly countries’. This seems to have been particularly
important for friendly countries ‘lulled into a false security’ like
Sweden in the 1970s with only a few per cent of the population per-
ceiving the Soviet Union as a direct threat. In the British case, SBS
swimmer teams would conduct ‘reconnaissance on specific sabotage
targets, if a foreign country shows sign of becoming a little frisky’!! —
something that definitely was perceived as true in the case of Sweden.
A supplement to a US Army Field Manual from 1970 may give us an
interesting parallel. It states that host countries (HC) may be lulled
into a false security:

In such cases US Army Intelligence must have the means of launching
special operations, which will convince HC governments and public
opinion of the reality of the insurgent danger and of the necessity of
counteraction. To this end US Army Intelligence should seek to pen-
etrate the insurgency . . . [and] to launch violent and non-violent actions
according to the nature of the case.!

The US Navy ‘terrorist’ team, the ‘Red Cell’ (see Chapter 6) was set up
in 1984 for a similar purpose. They put out bombs and kidnapped per-
sonnel at US bases that had been ‘lulled into false security’. It was,
according to Vice-Admiral James Lyons, important that US forces got
‘physical’ experience of the terrorist threat in order to ‘raise the aware-
ness” and ‘increase the security’. “We had to change their mindset’,
Admiral Lyons argued.'® According to former ‘Red Cell’ officer Steve
Hartman: “To enhance the security [by demonstrating the base secur-
ity weaknesses] was not the primary mission. It was just part of the
cover.”'* The mission of the ‘Red Cell’ was primarily psychological.
At the same time, a similar operation was launched by a US Army
special force unit in cooperation with Belgian Stay-Behinds. They
attacked a NATO base with bombing and shooting in order to test its
military readiness. They wounded one of the guards. The Communist
terrorist organization CCC (Cellules Communistes Combattantes)
was announced to have been responsible, and photos were presented
that showed weapons in an apartment allegedly belonging to the
CCC. Later, however, it was revealed by a member of Belgian Stay-
Behinds that US Army special forces organized the operation and he
himself had been involved in the logistics. CCC had nothing to do
with the case.' In Italy, similar deception operations have been used
several times by groups connected to Italian Stay-Behinds organized
by SISMI in cooperation with the CIA. Attacks on friendly forces were
used to test their readiness, making them, as well as the public, aware
of the enemy.'® US and Italian structures established to counter a
Communist takeover in Italy were instead used several times in the
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1960s, 1970s and 1980s to create a fait accompli to change Italian pol-
itics. One of the most important Italian figures in these operations was
Prince Junio Valerio Borghese, former chief of the naval special forces,
Decima MAS, in Fascist Italy.!” Even in the 1990s, officers from the
Italian naval special force COMSUBIN looked upon him as their hero.

Here, we may find some of the answers to our questions. One naval
special forces officer from Fascist Italy, later Commander-in-Chief of
Allied Naval Forces South Europe, Vice-Admiral Gino Birindelli,
argued in 1980 that the transport of small sub-surface vessels to
forward positions in foreign harbours by the use of merchant ships
created a ‘tactical surprise’.'® The US tanker Mormacsky may very well
have had such a role in the transport of small US submersibles and
Italian midgets during the Hérsfjirden incident. To the Swedes, these
small vessels with their very limited range were automatically believed
to originate from the Baltic Sea area, and accordingly from the Soviet
Union," which ‘convinced the host country government and public
opinion of the reality of the Soviet threat’. However, unlike the Italian
wartime ‘tactical surprise’, the US-Italian ‘tactical surprise’ in Sweden
in the 1980s may have been carried on for ten years. COMSUBIN had
a symbiotic relationship with the US Navy SEALs, and, according to
SEAL Commander Gary Stubblefield, in covert operations it would
not be possible to identify SEALSs as US forces.?’ The use of Soviet uni-
forms for such operations has been confirmed by Western admirals.

At the time, the US Navy had one or more Whiskey submarines that
they kept very secret. They were used for playing Soviet submarines
during special exercises and most likely for testing the readiness of US
or friendly forces. However, to my knowledge, there is no indication
of a Whiskey submarine during the Hérsfjirden operation, but such a
masquerade seems to have been typical of the above-mentioned SEAL
operations. The US Navy used Soviet-type aircraft in special exercises,
and the SEALs used Soviet weapons, uniforms, communication
systems and submarine(s) for this kind of task. The US Navy
Deception Groups for the Atlantic and the Pacific organized electronic
as well as psychological deception in cooperation with the CIA and US
Navy SEALs.?! A US Joint Chiefs of Staff report states: ‘Navy SEALs
are equipped and trained to conduct UW [unconventional warfare,
whose] primary focus is on political and psychological objectives.”??
Captain Thomas N. Lawson, Deputy Commander of the Naval
Special Warfare Command, says: ‘SEALs are the perfect choice if the
United States wants to neutralize something, or send a message,
without acknowledging US responsibility.’2?

To dress in enemy uniforms or act as enemy forces is an old mili-
tary skill. In 1788, Swedish King Gustav III allegedly started his war
against Russia by using Swedish troops in Russian uniforms to attack
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the regular Swedish troops.?* On 31 August 1939, Nazi Germany used
SS men in Polish uniforms to attack a German radio transmitter at the
Polish—German border to justify the German war against Poland. To
convince neutral journalists, the Nazis showed dead concentration-
camp prisoners dressed in Polish uniforms — who supposedly had been
shot by German troops — scattered around the radio station.?’ In 1944,
the Nazi special force commander, Otto Skorzeny, supposedly used
2,000 American-speaking Germans ‘dressed in American uniforms
and equipped with captured American tanks, trucks and jeeps’, which
‘caused a lot of worry and a great deal of trouble’ in the Allied
Headquarters.?® In March 1962, US Chairman of Joint Chiefs of Staff
General Lyman Lemnitzer, proposed a number of ‘pretexts which
would provide justification for US military intervention in Cuba. . . .
Land friendly Cubans in uniform “over-the-fence” to stage attack on
[the US Guantanamo] base. . . . Capture Cuban (friendly) saboteurs
inside the base. . . . Blow up ammunition inside the base. . . . Sink ship
near harbor entrance. . . . We could develop a Communist Cuban
terror campaign in the Miami area . . . and even in Washington. . . .
Exploding a few plastic bombs in carefully chosen spots, the arrest of
Cuban agents and the release of prepared documents substantiating
Cuban involvement. . . Use of [US-captured Soviet] MIG-type aircraft
by US pilots [against the Dominican Republic] could provide addi-
tional provocation.”?”

In more democratic countries like the USA, PSYOP and deception
— or in other words ‘perception management’ — is important, because
operations have to be publicly justified. By using Cuban military uni-
forms, Soviet aircraft and manufactured documents proving Cuban
involvement in terrorist attacks, all indicators would point to Cuba.
This PSYOP would ‘influence the emotions, motives, objective reason-
ing and ultimately the behaviour of foreign governments’. The target
here is the US public as well as the international community. And the
Joint Chiefs continued: “World opinion and the United Nations forum
should be favourably affected by developing the international image of
the Cuban government as rash and irresponsible, and as an alarming
and unpredictable threat to the peace of the Western Hemisphere.”?®

This Operation Northwoods had the written approval of the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff General Lyman Lemnitzer, but
the Joint Chiefs were never able to convince Defense Secretary Robert
McNamara and President John F. Kennedy about launching the oper-
ation and starting a full-scale war on Cuba. Two years later, however,
a more carefully calibrated PSYOP and deception operation was able
to mobilize congressional and public support for a US full-scale war
in Vietnam.?’ In the Tonkin incident of August 1964, the CIA and US
Navy SEALs used small Norwegian-built swift boats, PTFs, to attack
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targets along the coast of North Vietnam, which provoked a North
Vietnamese attack on the US destroyer Maddox, which had been
ordered to operate close to the shore just outside while listening to the
North Vietnamese communication. This attack became the pretext for
launching the major escalation of the Vietnam War.?? The night-officer
at the Pentagon, later Captain Robert Bathurst, told me that he
decided to call the Chief of Naval Operations and wake him up in the
middle of the night. A Vietnamese attack on a US ship was a ‘big
thing’, but, like almost everybody else in the Pentagon as well as
outside, Bathurst knew nothing about the background for the attack.
In the 1990s, US doctrine stated that US forces should not be used
to deceive its own people: ‘Deception operations will not intention-
ally target or mislead the US public, the US Congress, or the US news
media.”?! However, nothing excludes deception operations against US
allies and friends. US Joint Doctrine for Military Deception states:

Deception seeks to create or increase the likelihood of detection of
certain indicators in order to cause an adversary to derive an incorrect
conclusion. Cover stories provide plausible explanations for activities
that cannot be hidden . . . While the goal of OPSEC [operative secur-
ity] is normally to reduce the adversary’s ability to see certain indica-
tors, deception normally seeks to increase the visibility of selected
indicators.’?

The same doctrine writes that these selected indicators will portray a
deception story:

The story must correspond to the deception target’s perceptions . . . The
adversary must be able to verify the veracity of the story. The story
must, therefore, take into account all of the adversary’s intelligence
sources . . . Means [for example ‘electronic and physical decoys’ should
be] tailored to the adversary’s intelligence collection capability.??

The doctrine states about the deception and PSYOP targets:

The deception must target the adversary’s decision maker capable of

taking desired decisions . . . Similar to military deception, military
PSYOP is a systematic process of conveying tailored messages to a
selected foreign audience . . . Groups that might be suitable for target-

ing by PSYOP in support of deception operations include adversary
command groups, planning staffs, specific factions within staffs, non-
military interest groups who can influence military policies and deci-
sions, and intelligence systems analysts . . . Dedicated PSYOP
dissemination assets can discreetly convey intended information to
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selected target audiences through appropriate ‘key communicator’
backchannel networks.3*

Doctrine for Joint Psychological Operations describes PSYOP as:

Planned operations to convey selected information and indicators to
foreign audiences to influence their emotions, motives, objective rea-
soning and ultimately the behaviour of foreign governments, organiza-
tions, groups and individuals . . . so that their behaviors and actions will
promote the attainment of US national goals . . . PSYOP actions convey
information not only to intended target audiences but also to foreign
intelligence systems . . . [and should] operate ‘inside’ an adversary’s
decision cycle . . . It is possible to systematically convey and deny data
to opposing intelligence systems with the objective of causing opposing
analysts to derive selected judgements.>

US deception operations target the political and military leadership
in foreign countries, while PSYOPs also target a wider audience
including news media and the intelligence organizations. Indications
of sub-surface decoys masquerading as Soviet submarines are picked
up by the intelligence service of the host country. Instead of reduc-
ing the adversary’s ability to detect a periscope, deception seeks to
increase the visibility of these indicators and lets them be verified by
other indicators, through ‘back-channel networks’, and by assets
operating ‘inside’ the adversary’s decision cycle, all supporting the
general story. This information is reported to the political and mili-
tary leadership, which has to rely on these reports. Member of the
Submarine Defence Commission, MP Olle Svensson, describes how
the military expert (Bror Stefenson) and the Naval Analysis Group
Report (Emil Svensson) had convinced him that the submarines orig-
inated from the Soviet Union, although there was no indication
pointing to the Soviets (see Chapter 5). And despite the fact that the
Social Democratic government had accused the military leadership
of not being able to present enough evidence pointing to the Soviets,
the political leaders actually believed the information they received.
According to a protocol from a Social Democratic leadership
meeting on 17 May 1983, at least Olof Palme and later Foreign
Minister Sten Andersson believed in Soviet intrusions, but after April
1983 they were reluctant to point to the Soviets because this would
have supported the Conservative Party propaganda. Andersson
stated: ‘In conclusion, we have to let the Russians understand —
through diplomatic and political channels — the consequences of con-
tinued intrusions.” Olof Palme said: ‘The debate on foreign policy is
about to fall to pieces.”*® By sending some ‘sub-surface decoys’, US
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deception and PSYOPs had neutralized the Palme government in less
than a year.

In the 1990s, the principal adviser and coordinator for US PSYOP
was the Assistant Secretary of Defense (for Special Operations/Low
Intensity Conflict).3” Colonel Alfred Paddock, former Director of
Psychological Operations in the Office of the Secretary of Defense,
argues that, since the birth of PSYOP, it had been married with the
special forces.?® In littoral areas of foreign countries, US Navy SEALs
have the responsibility for carrying out such operations. Sub-surface
activities in Swedish waters presented a realistic threat, they were
adapted to Swedish intelligence capabilities and they seemed to have
combined cover stories and tailored messages to the Swedish Military
Intelligence and to civilian analysts in order to ‘verify the veracity of
the story’, to confirm ambitious Soviet operations on Swedish terri-
tory. If the above-mentioned sub-surface activities in Swedish waters
were organized by the CIA and the DIA and carried out by a SEAL
task force they were, in fact, extremely successful. These operations
strengthened Swedish readiness and bolstered its military defence,
they turned the whole nation against the Soviet Union and they turned
the Swedish military organization and particularly the Navy against
the controversial Prime Minister Olof Palme, who preferred a contin-
ued dialogue with Moscow.

Former State Secretary General Alexander Haig said in February
1983 that he ‘knew’ that the submarines in 1982 in Harsfjirden ‘were
nuclear-armed Soviet submarines that the Swedish government let out
on international water, a move the Pentagon in the USA and the lead-
ership in Moscow appreciated’.?® Afterwards, this seemed pretty
strange, because it is almost impossible to believe that the Swedish mil-
itary leadership would have missed a chance to prove a Soviet pres-
ence. And several years later, in the late 1980s, the military leadership
would have done anything to expose the Soviets. Perhaps Alexander
Haig used his invitation to Sweden in February 1983 to leak out a
cover story to the Swedes to put the blame on the Soviets and indi-
rectly on the Swedish government that had ‘released the Soviet sub-
marines’. This story explained a lot of mysterious incidents during the
submarine hunt: the leaks about a damaged submarine, the order to
let a submarine out and the sudden close-down of the military press
centre. Or, to quote a senior intelligence officer from a NATO
country: ‘In a case like this, I would have prepared a cover story that
would explain the incident if anything should go wrong.” Haig’s story
appears to be a cover story providing ‘plausible explanations for activ-
ities that cannot be hidden’.*

Furthermore, this story has some similarities with the telegram sent
from Bonn to the Swedish Defence Staff early on the morning of
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6 October. A man in Hamburg, an alleged Soviet civilian captain, had
said that the submarines in Swedish waters were nuclear-armed Soviet
submarines and that they would detonate their nuclear weapons if
attacked by the Swedes. According to former West German Defence
Attaché Colonel Bachelin, this captain had already on earlier occa-
sions come up with false information. It was a mistake to have sent the
telegram, Bachelin said. However, this captain may also have been
part of a deception operation to put the blame on the Soviets at the
same time as the operation may have been trying to save a Western
submarine desperately trying to get out. A threat of a nuclear detona-
tion would: firstly, test the Swedish willingness to use force even
though confronted with a nuclear threat; and secondly, or rather alter-
natively, create a ceasefire that would save the submarine.

THE TAILORED MESSAGES OF THE MILITARY ANALYSTS

There are also several examples of civilian or military analysts who
have presented totally false stories that would contribute to the
manipulation of Swedish public and military forces, either through
professional military publications or ‘through appropriate “key com-
municator” back-channel networks’. In November 1983, the Swedish
industrialist Peter Wallenberg handed over a British intelligence report
to Commander-in-Chief General Ljung. This document stated,
though it was totally unfounded according to Ljung, that:

the political side [the government] had tried on purpose to make the sub-
marine hunt inefficient and that they [the government] had released sub-
marines on purpose . . . Furthermore, it was stated that the Ministry of
Defence had on purpose tried to prevent the [Swedish] Navy from receiv-
ing an efficient anti-submarine force. It is also indicated that there prob-
ably would appear some kind of Swedish-Soviet pact in the near future.*!

In 1984, CIA operative Lynn M. Hansen wrote — in a public and
widely used study for the US Office of the Secretary of Defense — that
the submarine operations in Swedish waters were Soviet Spetsnaz
operations (see Chapter 6). In the foreword to Jane’s Fighting Ships
(1984-85), Commander John Moore wrote:

While 25 countries, including the USSR, are discussing the easing of
international relations in the various meetings in Stockholm, only a few
miles away Soviet penetration of Swedish territorial waters continues
unabated. As the talks meander on so Soviet submarines and converted
merchant ships are landing reconnaissance parties from the Kronshtadt-
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based Spetsnaz units throughout the Swedish coastline. This flagrant
contravention of international law has continued since 1962, the
present total of such incursions having now passed the 150 mark. All
areas of the Swedish coast have been visited, from Haparanda in the
north to Malmé in the south. The equipment of this elite group, trained
in techniques of raiding, sabotage, reconnaissance, and political murder,
includes small submarines and each group has its quota of assault swim-
mers, some of whom are defecting nationals of the country being
visited.*?

In Jane’s Fighting Ships (1985-86), Commander Moore refers to the
1983 Submarine Defence Commission Report and the Karlskrona
operation in 1984. He argues that Soviet Spetsnaz forces operated in
Swedish waters by the use of

larger submarines outside the skerries as well as smaller vehicles and
divers within the skerries area . . . [Wartime tasks] would be assisted by
the swift elimination of the Swedish Government and High Command
by the specialist assassination group of the Baltic Fleet Spetsnaz brigade
. .. [And] the incursions continue, while the Swedish Navy struggles to
overcome years of governmental neglect.*

The Soviet naval operations in Scandinavia are among the most
important things going on in the world just now, Moore told Dagens
Nybheter.** In early 1986, former British Naval Attaché to Stockholm
Commander M.G.M.W. Ellis wrote in US Naval Institute Proceed-
ings about the Hérsfjarden operation, and the tracks from a bottom-
crawling submarine. Commander Ellis believed that signal intelligence
information was the most likely proof of Soviet involvement.* In
January 1986, John Erickson, the already-mentioned British scholar
and adviser to the Submarine Defence Commission, stated on Swedish
TV news that the Swedish government had released a Soviet subma-
rine after negotiations with Moscow.*® The Swedish Navy had caught
a Soviet submarine — most likely a midget submarine — in Hérsfjirden
in 1982, but the Navy let it leave after diplomatic contacts with
Moscow, he stated in Dagens Nyheter the following day. Professor
Erickson criticized the Swedish military leadership for not being
willing to reveal documents on the dramatic submarine hunt and on
the diplomatic game behind the release.”

Soon after that, two US researchers, Milton Leitenberg*® from the
Washington-based CSIS and Gordon McCormick*® from Rand
Corporation, wrote books that, like Erickson, clearly identified the
Soviets as the intruders and put the blame on the Swedish government
for releasing the submarines and doing nothing to stop the Soviet
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submarine activity. Leitenberg was certainly just a scholar following
the stream of mass media, but he has undoubtedly played a major role
in forming the scholarly view. Senior defence analysts such as Robert
Weinland and Michael MccGwire present Leitenberg’s book Soviet
Submarine Operations in Swedish Waters 1980-1986 as ‘a definitive
analysis of Soviet submarine intrusions into Swedish internal
waters’.>0

John Moore and Richard Compton-Hall wrote in 1986 in their

large volume, Submarine Warfare:

Divers and midget submarines have been spotted at a number of loca-
tions along the Swedish coast, and there can be no real doubt about
where they come from . . . The indications are that Soviet midget oper-
ations are conducted on quite a large scale . . . Why, one asks, are these
incursions aimed, primarily as it appears, at Sweden? The answer is
surely that Sweden is the route to south Norway.’!

Marc Berkowitz’s article on Soviet naval Spetsnaz forces in Naval War
College Review (1988) uses the Harsfjirden operation of 1982 and the
Karlskrona operation of 1984 as the only examples of offensive naval
Spetsnaz operations during the Cold War. Soviet activity in Swedish
waters is described as general naval training, as intelligence gathering
and as psychological warfare ‘to gradually wear down the Swedish
Government’s will to resist’.’? In their book Modern Submarine
Warfare of 1987, David Miller and John Jordan present one example
of the Soviet Spetsnaz forces’ use of mini-submarines: the Harsfjirden
operation in Sweden in 1982. The book even shows a drawing of ‘such
a mini-submarine’; and argues that these small vessels were ‘taken to
the vicinity of their targets by mother-ships, probably the India-class
submarines’.>®> Richard Compton-Hall’s major work of 1988,
Submarine vs. Submarine, refers to the tracks in Harsfjirden and the
Commander-in-Chief’s report of 1987. The book also has a fiction
section on Soviet midgets in Swedish waters.’* Michael Welham’s
Combat Frogmen of 1989 uses the Hérsfjirden incident as the only
evidence for offensive Soviet Spetsnaz operations with several mini-
subs — two of them °‘left tracks on the sea bed’.’> Paul Kemp’s
Underwater Warriors: The Fighting History of Midget Submarines
speaks about physical evidence for Soviet offensive midget operations,
but he has only one reference, a Swedish officer who mentions these
tracks on the sea floor ‘in the middle of a sensitive military installa-
tion’.*® Edward Luttwak and Steven Koehl’s The Dictionary of
Modern War has a paragraph about mini-subs, using the tracks in
Hérsfjirden as the definitive evidence: ‘Soviet naval Spetsnaz are
believed to have used at least two different kind of mini-subs to probe
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the harbors and inshore defenses of Sweden and Japan; one type is
known to have tank-like tracks, to crawl along the bottom.”>”

To the defence analysts and to the scholarly community, the ambi-
tious Soviet submarine operations in the Swedish archipelagos have
become a fact like any other fact, and who is the deceiver and who is the
deceived in this game is difficult to know. But let us have a closer look
at Leitenberg’s scholarly technique. In the case of the Hardangerfjord
operation, we know that the Norwegian Commission and Norwegian
Military Intelligence suspected a French Daphné-class submarine and
not a Soviet submarine. Leitenberg’s presentation is very different:

The most well-known submarine incursions in Norwegian waters took
place . . . in Hardangerfjord from April 27 to May 6, 1983. The 1983
Hardanger events began exactly 24 hours after the Swedish SDC
[Submarine Defence Commission] released its public report in
Stockholm, and, as the operation continued, it overlapped with a major
submarine operation that was taking place in Sweden. Norway has never
officially identified the state to which the submarines belong, claiming
that motor sound recordings were absent. Norwegian naval officers have
implied unofficially at various times, however, that they could only be
Warsaw Pact vessels, which in practice means the USSR or Poland.. . . The
Hardangerfjord submarine was allegedly a diesel-powered vessel and,
from a reported 30-minute visual identification, was suspected of being a
Whiskey-class submarine . . . Soon after these ASW operations, a
Norwegian military officer was quoted as publicly stating that the
Norwegian navy ‘could have destroyed Soviet submarines . . . that
enter[ed] territorial waters this spring, but chose not to do so for politi-
calreasons.’. .. By coincidence, some 10 ships of NATO’s Standing Naval
Force Atlantic (STANAVFORLANT) were only a few miles away in
Bergen harbor all during this submarine hunt and could easily have sup-
plied helicopter as well as other additional ASW support. Nevertheless,
Norwegian authorities decided that only national forces should be used.>®

By using some rumours from the mass media, Leitenberg creates a
story that not only identifies the submarine as a Soviet vessel but also
puts the blame on the government for not doing anything about the
Soviet intrusion. The same technique is used in the Swedish case.
Leitenberg wrote:

Despite his public threats on three occasions between the spring of 1983
and December 1985 regarding the possibility of sinking a submarine,
[Prime Minister] Palme was firmly resolved not to do so . . . The best
understanding of the purpose of these submarine operations was that
they represented some kind of exercise — manoeuvres of specialized units
- and contingency planning . . . [and] either primarily or secondarily to
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exert political pressure on Sweden . . . to force Sweden to acquiesce to
Soviet military movements within its territory both in times of peace and
of war . . . Other external Soviet military programs, in Afghanistan or in
Africa, can be documented by the international community, properly
credited to the Soviet Union and assessed in terms of the goals of Soviet
foreign policy. The submarine operations in Swedish waters are both
covert and denied . . . The operations are the first Soviet military—polit-
ical initiatives against a Western European state since the Berlin crisis of
1960-1961.%°

The submarine operations in Swedish waters are presented as major
Soviet military operations, and Leitenberg believes they should, at
least partly, be understood in the perspective of a political initiative to
change Swedish neutrality. In a report of 1990 for the US Air Force,
Stranger than Fiction: Soviet Submarine Operations in Swedish Waters,
Gordon McCormick argues that these ambitious Soviet operations
continued up to the end of the decade with up to more than 30 per
year.®® In recent years, Professor Gordon McCormick (for Special
Warfare/Low-Intensity Conflict at the Naval Postgraduate School,
Monterey) has been close to the SEAL community. He has been
adviser to special force students writing on SEAL operations, and he
certainly knows about some of these activities. However, in a letter I
received from a US Naval Intelligence captain, he stated that
McCormick’s study ‘does NOT carry the imprimatur of the US Navy’.

In the 1980s, in the yearly review of Soviet naval activity for the
House Armed Services Committee, the directors of Naval Intelligence
(Sumner Shapiro, 1980-82; John Butts, 1983-86; William Studeman,
1987-88; Thomas Brooks, 1989-91) discussed Soviet naval opera-
tions all over the world, in the South China Sea and Vietnam, in the
West Indies and Cuba, in the Mediterranean including the coopera-
tion with Libya and Syria, and various exercises in the Black Sea and
the Baltic Sea, but nothing is mentioned about operations in Swedish
waters. Soviet capabilities and offensive activities are described in
detail on more than a hundred pages in total, but none of these direc-
tors of Naval Intelligence presents the operations in Swedish waters as
being of Soviet origin.®! While described by Leitenberg as the “first
Soviet military-political initiative against a Western European state
since the Berlin crisis’ and by John Moore as ‘one of the most impor-
tant things going on in the world just now’ (translated from Swedish),
they were of no interest to US Naval Intelligence. In a review of Soviet
naval activities for 1982, Rear-Admiral Butts underlines Soviet expan-
sionism, and mentions a new destroyer in the Baltic Sea, and even a
Soviet port visit to Bombay, but there is nothing about Soviet opera-
tions in Swedish waters.? Very differently, McCormick writes:
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Since 1980, Swedish sources indicate that an average rate of between 17
and 36 foreign operations are being conducted per year . . . More often
than not, these operations now involved the use of multiple submarines,
mini-submarines, and combat swimmers operating in a coordinated
manner.® (italics McCormick)

In an interview, McCormick argued that the Swedish Navy had never
got the political green light to use necessary force. The goal of the
Swedish government had never been ‘to sink a Russian submarine or
force it to the surface . . . There is no way that a submarine could
operate in these narrow passages without being sunk if somebody
really tried to get it.”** He argued, similarly to the above-mentioned
British intelligence report, and to John Erickson and Milton
Leitenberg, that the Swedish government was responsible for the
release of Soviet submarines, and if the Swedish Navy had had the
right to use force at the right moment, there wouldn’t have been any
submarines in Swedish waters. It is not clear to me if McCormick
knew about the US operations and wanted to deceive the Swedish and
the international community, or if he was deceived himself by reports
in newspapers and by interviews with Swedish naval officers. His view
has been supported by many naval officers lacking access to more sen-
sitive information. Vice-Admiral Stefenson’s ceasefires were believed
to have been ordered by the government.®> And everybody believ